

Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery and the Role and Process of Physician Advocacy



Promoting and improving patient safety and health service quality across Alberta



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	3
SCOPE	39
PROJECT GOVERNANCE	41
PART A	43
I. REVIEW OF THE QUALITY OF CARE AND SAFETY OF PATIENTS REQUIRING	
ACCESS TO EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT CARE	43
BACKGROUND	43
METHODOLOGY	52
FINDINGS	58
University of Alberta Hospital chart reviews	
Patient experiences	62
Interviews	64
Capital Health's emergency department crowding strategic plan	67
Provincial administrative data review	72
Best practice review	97
Literature review	101
CONCLUSIONS	107
RECOMMENDATIONS	112
PART A	117
II. REVIEW OF THE QUALITY OF CARE AND SAFETY OF PATIENTS REQUIRING	
ACCESS TO LUNG CANCER SURGERY	117
BACKGROUND	117
METHODOLOGY	122
FINDINGS	125
Capital Health's thoracic surgery program chronology	125
Waiting lists of thoracic surgery patients	126
Lung cancer – incidence, mortality, surgery, and disease-stage rates in Alberta (1997-2002)	
(2003-2008)	129
Physician advocacy and thoracic surgery	133
CONCLUSIONS	136
RECOMMENDATIONS	139
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS CONCERNING THE OVERALL	
HEALTHCARE SYSTEM	141
PART B	145
THE ROLE AND PROCESS OF PHYSICIAN ADVOCACY (including physician	
intimidation)	145
BACKGROUND	145
METHODOLOGY	146
FINDINGS	150
Literature review	150
Role and process of physician advocacy survey	155
Analysis of interviews	163
Promoting and improving patient safety and health service quality across Alberta	i



Documentation	review	. 179
ISSUES, ANALY	SES, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	.185
SUMMARY OF RECO	DMMENDATIONS AND REQUIRED ACTIONS	.198
APPENDICES		.205
APPENDIX I:	Ministerial Request	.207
APPENDIX II:	Terms of Reference	.209
APPENDIX III:	Assurance Letters	.211
APPENDIX IV:	HQCA Interim Reports	.219
APPENDIX V:	Emergency Department Provincial Administrative Data Review	.229
APPENDIX VI:	Systematic Literature Review – Overview of Interventions to Mitigate	
	Emergency Department Overcrowding	.247
APPENDIX VII:	Physician Advocacy and Intimidation - A Comprehensive Review	.323
APPENDIX VIII:	Role and Process of Physician Advocacy Survey	.355
LIST OF FIGURES		.405
LIST OF TABLES		.408
ACRONYMS		.409
REFERENCES		.412



Message to Albertans

This review into quality of care and safety of patients requiring access to emergency department (ED) care and cancer surgery and the role and process of physician advocacy was an important undertaking on behalf of Albertans. Serious questions had been raised about the safety and integrity of our healthcare system. Our investigation into these claims was extensive; many highly qualified people participated with us to ensure our work was thorough and fair.

We believe our findings and recommendations will lead to improvements in:

- quality of care and safety for all Albertans, and
- the relationship between physicians and the healthcare system.

It is necessary in a report of this kind to present our findings in great detail to show the depth of data we mined as we undertook this work. It is how our conclusions stand up to scrutiny and it is how we assure all stakeholders that we did our job. At times, this report is weighted down by these data, but when considered in their totality they tell a story. At its core this review was about, and for, people – their lives and livelihoods.

As we carried out our work, we learned of troubling instances of personal suffering by patients in crowded emergency departments; people in pain waiting unacceptably long times for medication; people waiting for many hours, even days, for a hospital bed; very ill people in their last hours of life who needed compassionate, palliative care, who died instead on a stretcher in the ED.

During the course of the many interviews that the quality assurance committees conducted, we heard deeply moving stories. The Albertans who serve as frontline healthcare workers and professionals have not chosen an easy path. People choose these careers because they want to contribute in a meaningful way to a greater good. Some we talked with expressed satisfaction with their careers and emerging hope for the future. Many others described their frustration with a healthcare system that has undergone frequent profound change. They felt physicians were mistreated and felt disillusioned themselves, even defeated and disengaged.

The personal suffering felt by patients and the disillusionment of heathcare professionals are not the characteristics of a heathcare system we value, though we did see promising signs where things may get better. In the pages that follow we share our views on how this can be achieved.

This review would not have been possible without the support and co-operation of many. We thank those who came forward to share their stories and the many physicians who responded to the province-wide survey and we assure them they were heard. We also thank Alberta Health Services staff for retrieving and providing us with vital documentation, facilitating access to patient charts, and co-ordinating emergency department visits.

Dr. John Cowell, Chief Executive Officer, HQCA Calgary, Alberta February 22, 2012

Promoting and improving patient safety and health service quality across Alberta



INTRODUCTION

On March 12, 2011 the Honourable Gene Zwozdesky, Minister of Health and Wellness, directed the Health Quality Council of Alberta (HQCA) to conduct an independent review that closely examines wait times for emergency department (ED) services and for cancer care services in the Province of Alberta pursuant to Section 13 of the *Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation*. (Appendix I)

The minister further directed that the 'independent review shall be provincial in scope and is to be conducted utilizing Section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act* in order to maintain evidentiary privilege over the provision of documents and evidence of participants. The council shall also take whatever steps it deems necessary to maintain confidentiality of the people who participate within this process and the council will establish its own terms of reference for this independent review'. (Appendix II)

The review was initiated as a result of issues raised by ED physicians in a letter made public on October 22, 2010 and in a question raised on February 28, 2011 in the Alberta legislature by the Member for Edmonton-Meadowlark regarding wait times for lung surgery and issues of physician advocacy and intimidation.

The purpose of the review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery and the Role and Process of Physician Advocacy is described in the Terms of Reference released by the HQCA on March 24, 2011. During the course of the review it became evident that the component of the review focused on cancer care services needed to be centred on the specific issue of lung cancer surgery from the late 1990s through the early 2000s at the University of Alberta Hospital in Edmonton. Also, during the course of the review it became evident that the review of physician advocacy had to include the element of physician intimidation and muzzling.

Given the scope of the ministerial request and to ensure the highest possible attention would be given to each part of the review, the HQCA quality assurance committee established three quality assurance subcommittees: one for Part A (*Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery*), one for Part B (*The Role and Process of Physician Advocacy*), and one to serve as an advisory panel of citizen and health experts to counsel on a periodic basis as requested by the HQCA Council or review sponsor (HQCA CEO). The review was conducted under the quality assurance provisions of Section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*.

At the outset of this and the other aspects of the HQCA review, it was understood that some individuals with information that was pertinent to the review would need assurances that they would not be 'punished' for participating. The HQCA put four levels of protection in place to reassure anyone who participated that he or she would not personally be disadvantaged:

- A QAC, constituted under Section 9 of the Alberta Evidence Act, conducted the review.
- Written assurances were obtained from the CEO of Alberta Health Services; the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Calgary; and the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Alberta that no individual would face disciplinary action or any other consequence if it was learned that he or she participated in the HQCA review. (Appendix III)
- Written assurances were obtained from the CEO of Alberta Health Services and the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Calgary that any individual who had signed a non-disclosure



agreement with the organization or a predecessor organization would be exempt from that agreement as it pertained to the HQCA review. (Appendix III)

• The HQCA would keep confidential the list of people whom it did or intended to call as witnesses before its QAC and keep confidential whether an individual chose to appear or not appear before the QAC. Individuals were informed that they were free to reveal that they had participated in the review and were told that if they chose to disclose publicly what they had discussed before the QAC then the protection that they would have had under Section 9 could be compromised.

While the scope of the review did not include advocacy issues among other healthcare workers or professionals, we at times heard of their concerns. It is hoped that the work undertaken as a result of this review can be viewed from the perspective of its applicability to other groups.

Interim reports on the review were issued on June 29, 2011 and October 27, 2011. The final report of the review is provided below. (Appendix IV)



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Part A

I. Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care

BACKGROUND

On October 22, 2010 a letter from the Alberta Medical Association's (AMA) section president for emergency medicine to the Minister of Health and Wellness was made public. In it, Alberta's emergency department (ED) doctors warned of "potential catastrophic collapse" without immediate intervention in the province's major EDs. Also made public was the existence of a list of 321 identifiable patients who attended the University of Alberta Hospital (UAH) ED in 2008 and a second list of nine identifiable patients (AHS communication, March 9, 2011) who attended in 2010 whose care was compromised by prolonged waits. Other communication exchanges between physicians and ministers of health and the Premier were subsequently tabled in the Alberta legislature; all the correspondence dealt with the issues of a worsening crisis of ED crowding in Alberta.

The Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale (CTAS) for ED patients defines five levels of patient acuity, ranging from 'I' (requires resuscitation) to 'V' (non urgent). The Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians (CAEP) recommends maximum waiting times to be seen by a physician for each level of acuity. A person at CTAS I experiencing cardiac arrest, for example, needs immediate help; someone at CTAS II (emergent) or III (urgent) with chest or abdominal pain should wait no longer than 15 and 30 minutes respectively; and a CTAS V patient with a skin rash, for example, should wait two hours at most. When EDs become crowded it is impossible for these ill patients to be assessed in a reasonable time frame. In basic terms ED crowding occurs when the demand for ED services exceeds the capacity of the ED to provide them.

Models or diagrams of patient flow can be useful for understanding ED crowding. The 'input – throughput – output' model is commonly used to categorize factors that lead to or contribute to ED crowding. Input refers to the demand that is placed on the ED (by patients presenting for care); throughput refers to what goes on within the ED that involves providing care to patients; output factors are those that may limit patients' ability to leave the ED, such as whether they can get an inpatient bed, for example.

METHODOLOGY

Since the issue of crowding in Alberta's EDs resurfaced publically in 2010 and 2011 as a result of the advocacy efforts of some ED physicians based at the University of Alberta Hospital (UAH), a large (but not exclusive) focus for this review was on that acute care site and on the former Capital Health. The mandate of the review, however, was to 'make recommendations for system-level improvements in access and wait times for emergency department care' and so the QAC adopted several lines of investigation so as to understand ED crowding in a context for all of Alberta. The QAC examined seven areas of focus: chart reviews of patients who attended the ED at the UAH; selected patient experiences at the UAH ED; interviews; a review of the former Capital Health's strategic plan for ED crowding; analysis



of administrative data from province-wide databases; and reviews of best management practices and the medical literature.

FINDINGS

University of Alberta Hospital chart reviews

UAH ED physicians provided the QAC with a list of more than 300 patients whose care might have been compromised due to long waits for care in the ED. Most cases were dated 2008; several patients were added to the list from 2010 and a few patients from 2009. Additional patient charts from the UAH ED from 2008 were reviewed to ensure that no potentially adverse patient outcomes had been overlooked when the UAH ED physicians compiled their list. The additional charts were selected from those patients aged 18 to 85 who attended the UAH ED in 2008 and who might have suffered serious harm or death due to excessive waiting for ED services.

In total, the charts of 695 patients were reviewed, representing 821 visits to the ED (because some patients came more than once). All the charts of patients with identifiable information were reviewed to determine: (1) patient outcome; (2) if patient outcome had been compromised, then was the outcome likely to have been the result of, or been made worse due to, excessive ED waiting for service(s); and (3) the times required for patients to access various services during their stay in the ED, as well as the time required for the patients to be moved to an inpatient bed if they were admitted.

Chart review data were analyzed separately for those patients listed by the UAH ED physicians (referred to as ED-MD patients) and for those patients identified by the QAC (RT patients) who met specific criteria.

CTAS II and III patients in both 'lists' waited to be assessed by a physician much longer than the times recommended by the CAEP for their level of acuity. Half of the ED-MD patients waited 10 times longer; 20 per cent of patients waited 20 times longer.

In the list of ED-MD patients, approximately one-third had time-sensitive conditions. These patients had similar waits for an ED bed and assessment by an ED physician as did the rest of the patients on the list, demonstrating that the system was incapable of responding faster to patients whose well-being was at more risk.

Half of the patients who were suffering with pain waited to receive analgesia for more than 4.5 hours and 20 per cent of these patients waited more than 7.5 hours from the time they were first seen by the triage nurse.

Overall, half the patients in the ED-MD group who were admitted to hospital spent nearly one full day (22.6 hours) in the ED; 20 per cent of patients spent nearly two full days (47 hours). Results were not much better for the RT identified patients.

No patients in the ED-MD identified group died while in the ED, although some died later in hospital. The QAC did not identify any deaths in this group that could have been attributed to ED waiting. One patient suffered a serious outcome that required urgent, life-sustaining therapy, which happened the day after he left the ED without being seen following a five-hour wait. The patient had been discharged from hospital one week previously after undergoing open-heart surgery. The patient survived his resuscitation in the ED, was admitted to hospital, and then finally discharged home. None of the patients in the RT



identified group had a serious adverse outcome that was the direct or indirect result of ED waits or delays. Of the patient deaths in the RT group that were reviewed, none of the deaths were related to ED waiting in the opinion of the QAC.

A substantial number of people needing end-of-life care came to the ED and had less-than-ideal experiences. Among the patient charts that were reviewed, 21 of the ED-MD patients and 43 of the RT patients had a palliative diagnosis, such as untreatable cancer, or had previously chosen (or had their goals of care determined) to decline life-saving resuscitation in the event they were near death. Although it was not possible from chart reviews alone to determine why patients with these conditions came to the ED, it appeared, in most cases, that it was because of a lack of other options to receive the end-of-life care they needed. Some of these patients died in the ED, which was clearly not the best place for people to spend their last few hours of life.

University of Alberta Hospital patient experiences

The experiences of many patients were documented to highlight some of the challenges that ED patients faced, which included:

- Patients transferred to the UAH from another hospital, and whose care had been accepted by an
 admitting service in the hospital, were still routed through the ED where they were made to wait
 extended periods often more than 24 hours for an inpatient bed.
- Patients whose goals of care were palliative and required only supportive care or pain management came to the ED and often stayed for a prolonged time, waiting for an inpatient bed. Some of these patients spent their last hours of life in the ED, while others died within hours of finally being transferred to an inpatient bed.
- Patients came to the ED who had 'do not resuscitate' orders or had a level-of-care status that had not been clearly documented, despite the patient having a non-curable diagnosis. Sometimes a patient's resuscitation status was not clearly documented and he or she was provided advanced types of medical intervention that did not appear to match the patient's goals of care.
- Patients who required life-sustaining interventions were cared for in the ED for long periods of time despite needing care in an intensive care unit.

Provincial administrative data review

Administrative data include information that is retained in vast databases from distinct sources. These sources include, for example, the ED information system; the admission, discharge, and transfer database (into, from, and between acute care facilities respectively); the inpatient discharge database; and the ambulatory care information system. The QAC analyzed administrative data from Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridge to gain an understanding of how measures of ED crowding and contributing factors changed over the past several years in each of these former health regions. The analysis of the administrative data was undertaken to highlight important system factors that contribute to ED crowding and to address some fundamental issues. Several questions were posed:

• Are the worsening wait times for patients coming to EDs related to consistent increases in the number of patients arriving for care?



- Has population growth greatly increased ED demand?
- Has the type of ED demand changed?
- Are there too many 'low acuity' patients coming to the ED and using up constrained resources?
- Where is the most significant constraint (tightest bottleneck) in patient flow?
- How many acute care beds are being taken up by patients requiring an alternate level of care? How has this changed over time?
- What is the source of demand for inpatient beds and how well did the former health regions manage variability in demand (admissions) and variability in creating capacity (discharges)?

These questions are explored in detail in the main report. Information is presented for the AHS Edmonton Zone (and the former Capital Health) and for individual hospitals in Edmonton. Results for Edmonton and the former Capital Health have been compared to those for the AHS Calgary Zone (and former Calgary Health Region) and the former Chinook Health Region (Chinook).

Among this report's key findings, the time spent by ED patients waiting to have their initial ED physician assessment was 30 to 100 per cent longer in Edmonton and Calgary compared with Chinook. The time spent waiting by CTAS II and III patients for physician assessment, on average, was twice as long in Chinook and four to five times as long in Edmonton and Calgary compared with CAEP guidelines.

Over a six-year period, ED patients in Edmonton who were admitted but waiting for a bed waited considerably longer (around 20 hours) than did patients in Calgary (around 15 hours). In a striking contrast, admitted patients in Chinook consistently waited only about four hours in the ED for an inpatient bed.

This review looked at occupancy rates, which are a function of the number of acute care beds, patient demand for the beds, and their length of stay. Chinook purposely reduced its number of acute care beds in 2003 to free up funds that could then be used to invest in increasing the number of supportive living spaces. Despite reducing acute care capacity, Chinook was able to achieve and maintain desired inpatient occupancy rates by focusing on strategies that reduced length of stay for patients. Edmonton and Calgary have been unable to maintain occupancy rates at an acceptable level although this is somewhat variable between the cities and between the hospitals within each of the cities. Using common conditions as examples, the average length of stay in 2010/11 for a patient with pneumonia in Edmonton was 11.4 days; in Calgary, 12.9 days; and in Chinook 7.6 days. A person with heart failure stayed an average of 14.4 days in hospital in Edmonton, 15.9 days in Calgary, and 9.5 days in Chinook. Average length of stay for other common conditions was also lowest in Chinook.

On a per-population basis, taking into account age, gender, and patients sent to or accepted from other regions, the Edmonton Zone has had more acute care beds than the Calgary Zone or the former Chinook Health Region; has had lower average occupancy rates than Calgary; and yet has had substantially worse ED performance, especially when looking at how long ED patients would have to wait for an inpatient bed once the decision was made to admit them.

A sizeable percentage of hospital inpatient beds are occupied by patients who no longer require acute care services but are waiting for an alternate level of care (ALC) in another type of facility. Chinook reduced the percentage of its acute care beds occupied by ALC patients from approximately 11 per cent to less



than five per cent by making strategic investments in supportive living facilities that better matched the needs of its population. Calgary's percentage of ALC patients almost tripled between 2006 and 2009 (from 2.5 per cent to above seven per cent). Edmonton, more consistently and to a larger degree, opened more long-term care, supportive living, and other types of ALC beds than did Calgary over the past seven years, yet has had and continues to have a greater percentage of ALC patients (seven to eight per cent) than Calgary.

Another key finding, the pattern and sources of demand for hospital inpatient beds, showed that ED demand is much greater on weekend days than scheduled demand for inpatient beds but they are almost equal during the week; and more importantly, from the perspective of managing wait times, the variability in demand is much greater for scheduled admissions than for ED admissions. This is a well-described paradox in many acute care institutions: The source of demand over which an organization has the most control (scheduled admissions) shows the greatest variability. The conclusion from this is that healthcare institutions in Calgary and Edmonton are not managing this variability. A key strategy for managing queues is to reduce (smooth) the variability in demand for a service.

Chinook was found to be an excellent example of best practice in regional healthcare. From its inception as a regional health authority in June of 1994 to its dissolution in 2009 when Alberta Health Services was formed, Chinook articulated a clear vision for a regional healthcare delivery model in which care was 'integrated' to meet the needs of its residents. That is, there was an explicit understanding that the individual components of the healthcare delivery system would be more effective, and offer greater health benefits to patients, if each component operated as part of an integrated system instead of independent silos of care delivery. Chinook leadership sought to reduce costs and improve quality and safety. In so doing, Chinook serves as a model for the effective regional delivery of healthcare. This important finding is explored in the main report.

The analysis of the complete provincial administrative data review is provided in the main report, as are the findings from the interviews; the review of the former Capital Health's strategic plan for ED crowding; and the review of the medical literature.

CONCLUSIONS

Conclusions regarding the group of UAH ED patients

- The waiting times to see an ED physician experienced by a significant percentage of ill patients (CTAS II and CTAS III) identified by the UAH ED physicians in 2008, 2009, and 2010, and those patients identified by the QAC, far exceeded (by 10 to 20 times) Canadian guidelines.
- Once patients were able to access care in the UAH ED the QAC, overall, had no concerns about the quality of care provided by physicians and nurses, other than the crowded and at times inappropriate physical space in which the care had to be provided.
- The crowded space, the excessive waiting times for care, and at times the suboptimal space available to provide necessary care compromised patients' margins of safety. The example of a patient who was in the ED several days after being discharged from hospital (after cardiac surgery), left the ED after five hours without being seen because of the long waiting time and returned to the ED the next day just before suffering a cardiac arrest illustrates how seriously safety margins had been



compromised. In the list of patients identified by UAH ED physicians approximately one-third had time-sensitive conditions. These patients had similar waits for an ED bed and assessment by an ED physician as did the rest of the patients on the list, demonstrating that the system was incapable of responding faster for patients whose well-being was at more risk. This is additional evidence that the safety margins for these patients were substantially compromised.

- Although safety margins had been jeopardized, none of the patients identified by the UAH physicians or by the QAC died as a result of prolonged waiting in the ED. One patient, however, (as described above) met the QAC's definition of suffering serious harm due to excessive waiting.
- Patients who were suffering with pain waited unacceptably long times for medication due to the severe system crowding. Half of the patients with pain (which had been noted by the ED physicians) waited to receive analgesia for more than 4.5 hours and 20 per cent of these patients waited more than 7.5 hours from the time they first presented to the triage nurse.
- There were many unfortunate cases of patients whose goals of care were clearly palliative who received care in the ED, some of whom died there. The needs of these patients, in the last few hours of their lives, had to be met in a setting that was never designed to provide this type of care. It diminished them and only further burdened the ED.

Conclusions regarding the findings about factors contributing to ED crowding

Conclusions are grouped into four major areas: (1) ED output factors; (2) ED throughput factors; (3) ED input factors; (4) research evidence. The areas are listed according to the most important factors related to ED crowding.

ED output factors

- The most serious constraint to patient flow in 2008 at the UAH ED was emergency department inpatients (EIPs), as evidenced by their extremely long waits for an inpatient bed. Half of the admitted patients identified by the UAH ED physicians waited at least 10 hours and 20 per cent waited longer than 33 hours for an inpatient bed. This situation was not unique to the UAH; the other three Edmonton hospitals had similar (Misericordia Community Hospital) or much longer (Grey Nuns Community Hospital and Royal Alexandra Hospital) waiting times for an inpatient bed.
- Over the past six years the average time that admitted ED patients spent waiting for an inpatient bed correlated closely with inpatient bed occupancy rates. This is strong evidence for the close relationship between ED waiting (and ED crowding) and inpatient bed occupancy. Although median wait times for an inpatient bed and numbers of EIPs have declined in the past year, the waits are still unacceptably long. Until this most critical constraint (bottleneck) has been adequately dealt with, targets for ED wait times and crowding will not be met and patients will continue to wait much too long in the ED.

The delay for ED patients in being moved to an acute care bed after a decision has been made to admit them is the greatest constraint and therefore the issue that needs to be addressed first. Until this constraint is addressed all other efforts to improve efficiency, reduce waiting times, and lengths of stay in the ED will have limited benefit. Thus, the focus of efforts to address ED waits and delays is dependent on how a healthcare system manages its hospital inpatient beds.



- High inpatient occupancy rates can be the result of too few beds, high demand, or inefficient use of the resource.
 - The number of required inpatient beds should be based on the sum of bed numbers for the different inpatient services in a hospital. This information was unavailable so it is impossible to comment on whether total bed numbers, or how they are apportioned between inpatient services in Edmonton and Calgary hospitals, are appropriate.
 - The number of patients seen in Edmonton and Calgary EDs and the percentage of patients who are admitted to hospital has increased only slightly; therefore, the demand for inpatient beds from ED patients has been reasonably stable over the past six years.
 - Previous reports suggested that the average length of stay (ALOS) in Edmonton hospitals was too high. This would effectively reduce hospital bed capacity. The analysis in this report found that the ALOS in Edmonton and Calgary was similar and has been increasing over time (with the exception of the UAH over the past two years). In contrast, ALOS in Lethbridge decreased over the same time period.
 - The number of inpatient beds that are used by patients queuing for supportive living and long term care facilities (ALC) is approximately six to eight per cent, which represents an inefficient use of a critically limited resource that further contributes to high inpatient bed occupancy rates.
 - Inefficient use of an important resource can result when there are no clear lines of accountability for managing it. There is no current accountability model for inpatient bed use that is structured around clinical inpatient services. Beds are managed at an organizational level but this is not the centre of control. A proper accountability model requires accurate, valid information by which to manage. Current information systems do not routinely capture or report performance such as inpatient occupancy rates by admitting service or length of stay.
 - The high degree of variability in the number of scheduled inpatient admissions in both Edmonton and Calgary contributes to overcapacity situations. Since scheduled admissions can be controlled by hospital administration, this variability suggests a lack of planning and/or information and models of patient flow that would allow more responsive management. There are three levels of planning and management required that do not appear to exist currently:
 - Long-term planning (months to years) that would specify the amount of resources required to meet certain levels of demand and performance. This planning would require a detailed 'bed map' (numbers of beds for each service in the hospital to meet the needs of their particular patient population).
 - Short-term planning (days) that would reduce variability and improve matching of demand and capacity. This planning would require detailed system models and information systems that would support such an activity.
 - Near-real-time management (minutes to hours) to foresee crises developing and allow quick implementation of strategies at the level of clinical services to avoid system gridlock. This management strategy would require a real-time information system that provides information on scheduled demand, non-scheduled (and non-ED) demand, ED demand, wait times, EIP numbers, wait times for inpatient beds, occupancy rates by inpatient service and unit, pending



discharges, ALC patients, patients who do not require acute care treatment, and cycle (turnaround) times for key services, such as diagnostic imaging, for example.

- The full-capacity protocol (admitting ED patients to an extra bed on an inpatient unit when regular inpatient bed occupancy rates are at 100 per cent) was part of Capital Health's strategic ED crowding plan, first developed in 2006 and implemented in 2007. This is best thought of as a surge-capacity plan to handle unexpected increases in demand for inpatient beds. If used in this way it should rarely be required. Although many people who were interviewed believed that implementing a more effective full-capacity protocol in the past 12 to 18 months has helped improve ED performance indicators, this protocol puts additional strain on an already overburdened acute care system and should not be viewed as a long-term effective strategy. Although some measures have improved, such as ED length of stay for admitted patients, the current results are similar to those from 2006, which at the time were deemed to be unacceptable.
- The promising practice at the UAH, the Care Transformation project, was found to be a good example of how improving efficiencies in medical services at the UAH can improve ED waiting times.

ED - throughput factors

- Notwithstanding the many bottlenecks that limit patient flow in the ED, one of the critical waiting times in the ED is the initial wait by a patient to be assessed by an ED physician; this is especially critical for patients with time-sensitive conditions. Sometimes it is unclear that a patient has a time-sensitive condition until a physician assesses the patient or until the patient has undergone some diagnostic imaging, laboratory, or other types of testing ordered by the physician. Before seeing a physician, a patient first waits to get a bed and then waits for the physician to come to the bed. If an ED is properly staffed with physicians then the time from bed to assessment should be a few minutes. Yet, the data from chart reviews and administrative data from Calgary (the data from Edmonton were not available) suggest that patients wait in a bed for a physician often longer than 30 minutes and at times more than an hour. This indicates problems with staffing models that match physician supply with the predictable fluctuations in arrival rate of patients. The current reimbursement model (fee for service) for ED physicians provides incentives for them to be as busy as possible (100 per cent occupied), which does not allow the ED to cope with large variations in demand.
- There are currently different roles and models of care in place at the large metropolitan EDs in Alberta. Edmonton, before the creation of Alberta Health Services, implemented a triage liaison physician (TLP) role. Many EDs have created rapid assessment zones (RAZs); some EDs are trialling clinical decision units or medical assessment units. To date, the evidence for the effectiveness of most of these strategies is weak. Triage is an inefficient use of valued resources (physician or nursing): it uses experts to sort rather than manage patients. In a high-functioning ED system, triage would be unnecessary. Given the limited resources available for managing ED crowding AHS has an opportunity to determine value for investment and standardize the way that EDs function in Alberta.
- There is little or no accountability for the amount of time a consulting or admitting service (i.e., a specialist unit in the hospital) takes to respond to an ED's request for consultation/admission and there is no accountability for creating enough inpatient space for anticipated demand. For the ED-MD identified patients whose charts were reviewed, the median time from being assessed by an ED



physician until being seen by a consultant was 3.5 to over five hours; the median time until a decision was made for admission was an additional three hours (with 20 per cent of patients waiting nearly seven hours). It is important to note that admitting/consulting services have many demands on their time so that the ED may not always be top priority. In addition, teaching hospitals usually have several levels of trainees who come to the ED to assess a patient before final decisions are made regarding his or her needs.

ED - input factors

 Increasing ED crowding and patient length of stay in Edmonton and Calgary in the years evaluated for this report cannot be attributed to increases in numbers of patients presenting to the EDs. That is, input does not appear to be an important factor contributing to the ED crowding crisis over the past six years. A review completed by the Canadian Health Services Research Foundation reached similar conclusions.

ED - research evidence

• The research evidence for the effectiveness of various interventions to improve ED crowding is weak. In many cases where there may be a promising intervention published in peer-reviewed literature, it is challenging to understand how results from other organizations (quite often from different countries with dissimilar healthcare systems) can be applied locally in Alberta. This reality highlights the need for cycles of continuous tests of change to inform improvement initiatives and to support this with robust evaluation and measurement. Alberta has the capability to make important contributions to the understanding of ED crowding and the successful implementation of effective interventions.



RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendations related to the chart reviews of the UAH ED patients

Analysis

An extensive review of charts was completed. The QAC's concerns about quality-of-care issues were all related to the excessive waits and delays caused by factors leading to ED crowding; these factors are covered in the following recommendations.

1. RECOMMENDATION

No further action is required regarding the patient charts reviewed by the HQCA's quality assurance committee and the lists of patients identified by the University of Alberta Hospital emergency department physicians for the years 2008 to 2010.

Recommendations to reduce ED crowding and address high inpatient occupancy rates

Recommendations are listed together with required actions; these are actions the QAC believes are necessary so that the recommendation is implemented effectively.

Analysis

In both Edmonton and Calgary the biggest constraint to ED patient flow and therefore the most important factor that contributes to extended lengths of stay for patients in the ED is the lack of available inpatient beds and/or high inpatient occupancy rates. To relieve this critical constraint, targets for inpatient occupancy rates should be established that take into account the known variability in demand for the resource. Recommended targets for average inpatient occupancy rates are 85 to 90 per cent. Until this constraint is adequately corrected there will be little chance of reducing ED crowding. Three approaches can be taken to reduce inpatient occupancy rates: (1) increase the number of inpatient beds; (2) improve the efficiency of resource use (reduce length of stay); and/or (3) reduce the variability of demand for inpatient beds.

Effective management of any critical resource like inpatient beds requires detailed, timely information combined with accountability for decisions that are made. Because physicians make decisions that affect patient length of stay and administrators make decisions about expenditures and resource use, there has to be a joint accountability for inpatient bed management. This accountability should be at an operational level in a structure that reflects services that patients require. This is not how inpatient beds are currently managed. The accountability for managing beds needs to be extended to accountability for response times to the ED. Physicians who provide a consulting service for the ED and/or admit patients from the ED should be structured to function in such a way that they can be responsible to the ED for seeing patients quickly and expedite the decision to admit a patient.

A key factor that contributes to increases in hospital length of stay (and therefore increased bed occupancy rates) is the extra time spent in acute care beds by patients who are waiting for a supportive living or long term care space (alternate level of care) in the community.



Reducing inpatient occupancy rates begins with accurately estimating the number of acute care and long term care beds that are required in order to have enough resources available for the demand that exists now and over the next few decades. This estimate should include detailed human resource planning. Detailed mathematical modelling of Alberta's healthcare system is required so that wise investments are made in healthcare infrastructure.

2. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services takes steps to reduce inpatient occupancy to target levels of 85 to 90 per cent for each of its key admitting services in each acute care institution.

- Structure inpatient services in acute care institutions around key patient population care needs rather than historical professional organizational structures.
- Empower inpatient services with the appropriate administrative and clinical structure and authority to manage required resources. In addition to being accountable for inpatient length of stay, these services should also be held accountable for their level of responsiveness to the emergency department for consult and decision-to-admit times. Services should be required to develop surge-capacity plans and target average or median occupancy rates below 90 per cent.
- Gain an accurate estimate of the number of beds required for each inpatient service based on appropriate statistical modelling of demand using historical case-mix-group data and population-age-growth data (see recommendation 4).
- Implement an information system that provides clinicians and administrators with long-term, short-to-medium-term, and near-real-time data about the demand for inpatient beds and capacity at the system, program, and service levels. Such an information system would contribute to the dynamic management of inpatient bed capacity and support an accountability model for inpatient services.
- Take steps to reduce the variability of scheduled patient admissions by developing and implementing – for those inpatient services with large volumes of scheduled admissions – dynamic models of patient flow that more accurately predict length of stay and hence inpatient bed capacity based on the characteristics of current patient populations and projected patient admissions.
- Review length of stay data on common case mix groups across institutions to understand where efficiencies could be gained from reducing length of stay.
- Expand use of information systems that identify patients who meet standard 'readiness for discharge' criteria in an effort to reduce inpatient length of stay.



3. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health and Wellness and Alberta Health Services review the current need for long term care and supportive living facilities based on detailed forecasting created by appropriate models (see recommendation 4) to further reduce the percentage of alternate level of care bed days – preferably below three per cent of all acute care inpatient days.

4. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health Services and Alberta Health and Wellness develop long-term partnerships with Alberta universities to advise on the use and implementation of operations management tools and methods that would assist with medium- and long-term health system capacity projections.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- Further develop system dynamic and discrete-event simulation models of patient flow through Alberta's healthcare systems that would provide more accurate predictions of capacity requirements for long term care, supportive living, rehabilitation and acute care inpatient beds and human resources.
- Ensure that predictions for inpatient beds are specific at the service level rather than at the institution level.

5. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health and Wellness and Alberta Health Services take steps to shorten emergency department throughput including physician response times.

- Alberta Health and Wellness with Alberta Health Services and the Alberta Medical Association strongly consider implementing an alternate reimbursement model for emergency department physicians.
- Alberta Health Services continues with its innovative approaches for reducing emergency department throughput for discharged patients, implementing best practices throughout the province to develop a common emergency department delivery model.
- Alberta Health Services continues to promote ongoing evaluation of emergency department interventions designed to reduce patient waiting by partnering with the faculties of medicine at the University of Alberta and University of Calgary to increase the emergency department clinical outcomes research capacity in the province.
- Alberta Health Services incorporate its diagnostic imaging and laboratory information systems into an overall performance measurement model of emergency department waiting such that it can continuously monitor lapsed time from test ordering to test completion and to test interpretation and use this as a basis to drive improvements.



6. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health Services continue with innovative solutions to support palliative care patients in their community setting and prevent, wherever feasible, the transfer of these patients to emergency departments.

- Alberta Health Services standardize across all healthcare sectors its palliative care terminology, such as "goals of care" and "allow natural death", and dissuade the use of descriptors such as "do not resuscitate".
- Alberta Health Services strive to support palliative patients who have a sudden, unexpected symptom crisis so these patients have options for immediate care at home that can obviate the need to go to an emergency department, and support the patient and family's decision to remain at home.
- Alberta Health Services explore options to admit patients with symptom crises directly to an intensive palliative care unit or medical unit, depending on their needs, rather than to the emergency department.



Part A

II. Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Lung Cancer Surgery

The QAC undertook this part of its review with the following goals: address the allegations that had been made, and based on the findings and analysis of the investigation of current practices make recommendations for system-level improvements in access and waiting times for cancer surgery. The QAC planned its review with the intention of using what was learned about the management of waiting lists for lung cancer surgery to generate recommendations for the best management of cancer surgery in general.

METHODOLOGY

To investigate the claims of the MLA for Edmonton-Meadowlark that "physicians who raised these issues were either punished or driven out of the province or paid out in millions to buy their silence", the QAC undertook extensive interviews and an evaluation of submitted documents. The QAC constructed a detailed chronology of events, pertinent to the thoracic surgery program at the UAH, from the information obtained through interviews and documents that were supplied to the QAC as part of this review. Information had to be confirmed from multiple sources before it could be considered factual enough to be mentioned in this report.

The QAC was able to recover several lists of patients, which were thought to be relevant to the concerns raised about possible waiting lists for lung surgery. These lists, which dated back to the late 1990s through the early 2000s, had limited information that could be used to identify any specific patient. Only first and last names were supplied. There were no corresponding birthdates, hospital or region numbers, or healthcare numbers. This lack of detail precluded access to individual patient hospital charts or to patient-specific electronic information.

The allegations that "250 patients died on a wait list for surgery, many of whom had lung cancer" strongly implied that patients who required curative surgery for lung cancer did not receive it. If these allegations were true, then the magnitude of that number of patients should be reflected in reduced rates of diagnosis and surgical resections, as well as in higher mortality rates (the number of deaths attributed to this type of cancer during a specific period of time). The reference that was made to the former CEO of Capital Health in relationship to this specific allegation suggested that, if there was a problem with lung cancer surgery, then the problem was most likely relevant to Edmonton. The reference to a former Minister of Health and Wellness suggested a time frame of 2000 to 2004.

Using administrative data from large provincial databases, the QAC initially sought to examine the claims about lung surgery, rather than undertake a more focused examination of lung cancer. Data from physician billings (claims for fee for service payment), Vital Statistics, and the provincial cancer registry were requested from Alberta Health Services and Alberta Health and Wellness. The data sources could not, with a high degree of confidence, be used to identify lung operations nor could the data sets be adequately linked to determine mortality rates for thoracic-surgery-related procedures. The HQCA therefore focused its investigation on the alleged deaths of lung cancer patients during their wait for care. Mortality rates for patients with lung/bronchus cancer and incidence rates (the number of new cancer



cases diagnosed during a specific time period) were analyzed over the period of 1997 to 2002 and comparing Alberta with the rest of Canada and comparing Edmonton with Calgary.

To address the second major objective of the review, ("based on the findings and analysis of the investigation of current practices make recommendations for system-level improvements in access and wait times for cancer treatment"), the QAC undertook further interviews with practising physicians and clinical administrators. The purpose of the interviews was to understand current and future plans for improving access of patients with possible or known lung cancer to Alberta Health Services resources for diagnosis and treatment.

FINDINGS

Capital Health's thoracic surgery program chronology

For several years leading up to the late 1990s, the program for thoracic surgery in the former Capital Health experienced numerous changes in how it was organized within and between Edmonton hospitals. At times, there was only one thoracic surgeon working at UAH, for whom it was recognized the workload was high. In around early 2000, concerns surfaced about the management of patients waiting for possible thoracic surgery. Patient lists, for the most part, were managed by surgeons' offices and usually consisted of a paper-based or an electronic spreadsheet on a single office computer; the latter was the case for thoracic surgery at the UAH. A review of patient charts by Capital Health was undertaken around that time to determine if any patients with potentially resectable tumours had been waiting extended lengths of time for an operation. During that review additional concerns were raised about quality of patient care. This led to a more focused analysis of patient outcomes and included a request for an external expert reviewer to participate.

In 2004 a thoracic surgeon who had left in 2000 filed a statement of claim against Capital Health and two Capital Health medical administrators. A settlement was reached without going to trial; allegations in the claim were never proven or disproven and the settlement included a non-disclosure agreement. In 2006 Capital Health decided to review the quality of thoracic surgery care at the UAH; an internal review was supplemented with the opinions of two experts from outside the province, who recommended that Capital Health consolidate thoracic surgery at a single site so as not to have any surgeon practising alone. The reviewers also recommended that one of the surgeons undergo a period of retraining. The surgeon voluntarily withdrew from clinical practice and ultimately reached an agreement with Capital Health about this change. The parties agreed to financial compensation for lost clinical income and to not disclose the details or the circumstances leading up to the agreement. This surgeon does not currently have a medical staff appointment with Alberta Health Services.

As quality-of-care issues about thoracic surgery arose and were reviewed, the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta was involved appropriately. The medical staff bylaws of Capital Health were not used to govern how the quality reviews were undertaken.

Waiting lists of thoracic surgery patients

The detailed review that Capital Health undertook in 2000 in response to concerns about possible patients not gaining timely access to thoracic surgery was aimed at patients who might have been on a 'list' and waiting for additional testing or surgery. The QAC has been able to determine that several lists were



generated—all of which pertained to a single surgeon at the UAH. There were two lists of patient names, generated approximately two months apart, on the surgeon's office computer. One list contained 141 names, the other 133; 110 patient names appeared on both lists. Between the two lists there were 164 unique patient names, half of whom were described as having a 'lung malignancy'.

Reviewers at the time these lists were generated found that some of the patients did undergo surgery, some were ultimately found to have benign disease that did not require surgery, and a substantial number with lung malignancy were found to have inoperable conditions. Some of the details about patients included on these wait lists would clearly indicate that most of them were never candidates for surgery and hence should never have been on a 'surgical wait list'. This left a small number of the listed patients who had 'operable' lung cancer and these patients appeared to have been looked after appropriately, although it was not possible to determine the length of time they waited from diagnosis to resection of the tumour nor what the ultimate outcome was for them.

To find additional patients who may not have been on the surgeon's office computer, Capital Health undertook a search of billing records (claims submitted to the Alberta Healthcare Insurance Plan) to be analyzed for two time periods: The first search included billings from June to September 2000 and a second search was subsequently performed of billings from March to June 2000.

In the first search an office chart and/or a hospital chart with what's called a 'consult sheet' were sought to identify important patient information. A total of 320 patient names were identified from the billing records during that time period. There were no office files or consult sheets for 55 of the patients. Of the 265 files available for review, nearly all patients who were identified had previously also been found on the office-generated waiting lists. There were 23 additional patients identified for whom it was thought there might be a need for surgery. After detailed chart reviews it was determined that 14 of these patients had already been assessed and found to have advanced disease, were therefore not surgical candidates, and had been appropriately referred to the Cross Cancer Institute. Seven patients were noted to have benign, stable disease and two other patients had been referred to a thoracic surgeon at the Royal Alexandra Hospital.

When Capital Health undertook a further review of billing records from March to June 2000 a total of 258 patients were identified, 83 of whom had been identified in the first billing record review, leaving an additional 175 patients for review. A total of 36 patients were thought to require some form of surgical followup or other form of treatment. Of these, only five patients required surgery for a lung malignancy and all of them received it. None of the information suggested that patients with resectable lung tumours had died as a result of waiting too long for surgery. For its own review that is the focus of this report, the QAC was unable to track long-term survival rates for any of the patients who were listed as having a lung malignancy.

Another review of patient charts that Capital Health performed was based on examining the files of patients who had been wait listed with the UAH admitting department between March 1998 and August 2000. There were 174 patient names on this list, with 117 of them having been previously identified through the processes described above. Of the remaining 57 patients, records were available for 51; the other six patients could not be tracked and remained unaccounted for. No additional action was required, in the opinion of the Capital Health review team, for any of the 51 patients identified though this approach presumably because the patients had received appropriate evaluation and treatment.



Lung cancer – incidence, mortality, surgery, and disease-stage rates in Alberta (1997-2002) (2003-2008)

Detailed information on patients with cancer is maintained in Alberta's cancer registry and this information can be used to investigate unexplained changes in treatments and outcomes for cancer patients. The QAC analyzed the provincial registry database to look for unexplained lung cancer outcomes or treatment results. In Alberta approximately 1,400 patients are diagnosed with lung cancer every year and about 17 per cent of them undergo surgery.

The allegation that "250 patients died who were on a waiting list" implies that the patients had potentially curable cancers. The QAC hypothesized that, if that many patients failed to receive surgical treatment, anomalies would show up in statistics for that time that show how many people had lung cancer, died from it, received surgery for it, or were diagnosed with earlier-stage (I or II) cancers. In other words, those patients would show up somewhere else in the statistics. Comparisons were made between Alberta and national data over time to determine if there had been any substantive changes in age-standardized incidence rates (ASIR) or age-standardized mortality rates (ASMRs)ⁱ. Incidence and mortality rates were standardized (adjusted) for the age of patients, since this is known to be a determinant for both of these measurements. No anomalies were found. The data show:

- That Alberta's ASIR and ASMR for lung cancer was consistently below that of the national average.
- There were no changes in Alberta's ASIR and ASMR between 1997 and 2002. (Also, the QAC data analysis shows no change in the years 2003 to 2008.).
- There were no substantive changes in Edmonton's or Calgary's ASIR and ASMR over the same time period.
- Although Edmonton's ASIR and ASMR were slightly higher than Calgary, the differences between the two cities are not statistically significant.

In 2008 Alberta Health Services released a report that examined ASIR and ASMR over a 20-year period (1988 to 2008) and concluded that Alberta rates had not significantly changed over that time period. Based on the national and provincial ASIR data, the QAC did not find any non-statistically or statistically significant change in the incidence of lung cancer in Alberta, Edmonton, or Calgary.

In summary, the QAC is satisfied that the former Capital Health did an extensive search for patients who may not have been offered timely surgery for serious underlying lung, esophageal, pleural, or mediastinal disease. Further, there is no evidence that there was a 'true surgical wait list' (i.e., a list of patients who had completed diagnostic and preoperative workups that showed conclusively that the patients had disease appropriate for surgical resection and they had been evaluated as medically fit for surgery). There

ⁱ Incidence or mortality rates for a given population are mathematically adjusted for the age of the population so that rates can be compared between different populations of different ages.



were multiple lists generated of patients who had been seen; a substantial proportion of these patients did not have cancer and a larger percentage did not require surgery. Legitimate concerns were raised about proper management of surgical wait lists; these concerns were investigated and managed by Capital Health.

The QAC interviewed many knowledgeable people about the thoracic surgery issues at the UAH and developed a thorough understanding of the concerns regarding patient management; how physicians' performance was assessed, including the use of external reviews; as well as the decisions that were ultimately reached about the stopping of surgical practice. The QAC is confident that physician advocacy was not the reason the Capital Health decided to review physician practices and their patients' outcomes. Furthermore, the QAC had no reason to believe that any thoracic surgeon was 'punished or driven out of the province' because of advocacy efforts. Financial settlements were reached with the affected surgeons to reimburse them for lost income that included agreement not to disclose details; in such situations that is standard practice. Characterizing these settlements as 'money to buy silence' is not supported by facts.

CONCLUSIONS

There were two objectives specified in the Terms of Reference for the cancer surgery part of the HQCA review:

- To determine whether the quality of care and the safety of the group of 250 patients on a surgical wait list of 1,200 were seriously compromised due to delayed access to surgery as alleged in a question raised in the Alberta legislature on February 28, 2011.
- Based on the findings and analysis of the investigation and an analysis of current practices, make recommendations for system-level improvements in access and wait times for cancer treatment.

During the course of the review the QAC gained insight into the challenges that were encountered with managing the thoracic surgery program in the former Capital Health.

Conclusions regarding the question of a group of 250 patients on a surgical wait list of 1,200

- The allegation that about 1,200 patients are (*sic*) (were) on a waiting list for lung surgery is unfounded.
- The allegation that 250 patients died waiting on a lung surgery waiting list is unfounded.
- The inference that physicians who raised these issues were punished, driven out of the province, or paid out in millions because of advocating on behalf of patients is not supported by the facts.
- There is no basis for suggesting that former ministers of health and wellness, the former CEO of Capital Health, or the Registrar of the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA) suppressed knowledge of illegal or unethical behaviour or actions.
- The QAC is satisfied that when the issue of the waiting list first surfaced, the former Capital Health launched an appropriate investigation and took actions to ensure that patients were appropriately followed and had an opportunity to receive testing and treatment.
- The QAC cannot, with 100 per cent certainty, conclude that no patients experienced a delay in surgery such that the delay compromised their chances for long-term survival because the QAC did not have sufficient information to identify patients that would have allowed an independent investigation of



patient outcomes. Nevertheless, based on extensive interviews and analysis of data from Alberta, Edmonton, and Calgary for incidence and mortality rates, surgical resection rates, and proportion of patients presenting with early stage lung cancer, no evidence could be found of a systematic worsening of patient outcomes for Edmonton patients.

- There were issues and concerns with how a former surgeon at the UAH was managing a surgical waiting list; concerns included:
 - Appropriateness of patients on a 'surgical wait list'; many patients who were on the list were not candidates for the operation that appeared to have been proposed for them.
 - Appropriate prioritization of patients; that is, which patient would go next to the operating room.
 - Appropriate and timely followup of patients who required additional diagnostic testing.

Conclusions regarding the management of lung cancer surgery waiting lists

- The management of cancer surgery waiting lists has been and continues to be problematic. This is the result of:
 - Variability in the use of the standard approach for disease and procedure classification (e.g., the International Classification of Disease).
 - Non-standardized criteria/definitions for:
 - Indications for surgery
 - Clinical staging of disease
 - Overall (medical) fitness of the patient for surgery.
 - Variability in the workup of patients who may require surgery, with respect to type and timing of investigations and consultations.
 - Variability in the criteria used by surgeons to determine that an operation should proceed; that is, the definition of 'operability'. Future refinements in this definition may lie in developing standardized care pathways, which will also establish definitions and thresholds for surgical and non-surgical treatments.
 - Variability as to when patients are registered (listed) with a specific AHS hospital for an operation.
- Current efforts by Alberta Health Services to standardize and streamline the diagnosis for patients with suspected lung cancer and reduce waiting times for surgery are steps in the right direction. It is possible, however, that current efforts will not help patients or their primary-care physicians know when a patient has been placed on a waiting list or learn (without phoning the surgeon) the estimated date of an operation.

Conclusions regarding the management of thoracic surgery and physician performance in the former Capital Health

• While there was a small group of physicians advocating for additional resources, these efforts had no bearing on what finally transpired between Capital Health and the surgeons. The key findings from



this review centred on whether appropriate procedures, including appeal processes, were followed to ensure administrative fairness in evaluating the performance of the physicians involved.

- There were factual issues of physician behaviour and questions about the quality of patient care that required intervention and review by the UAH and Capital Health senior medical and administrative leaders. Senior leaders' lines of authority were blurred and at times undermined by others who intervened because they had the power to do so. The Capital Health Board of Directors, which had delegated the authority to handle physician performance and privileging issues to senior management, was not involved. There were and remain strong opinions about the appropriateness of the way the issues were handled by those involved. The lessons learned from that time focus on the need to have very clear physician performance review-and-appeal procedures based on medical staff bylaws and administrative contract management. These are characteristics of a 'just culture' in an environment that must be focused on safety, where individuals are encouraged to raise concerns without fear of reprisal – a common concept in healthcare. While the handling of physician performance issues frequently requires leadership judgment, ignoring procedures – or, worse, having no procedures – can result in multi-faceted human resource management problems that will and do have a devastating effect on the individuals involved (both those making the decisions and those on the receiving end). When there are no clear rules, or the clear rules are not followed, disagreements invariably arise that can lead to ad hoc involvement of the CPSA.
- There was considerable confusion among the parties as to the manner and timing of CPSA's involvement. Generally there is a pervasive fear among physicians of even the appearance of the CPSA's involvement, given that the CPSA has ultimate control over a physician's right to practise medicine. Involving the CPSA must always be handled in the most appropriate manner.
- The focus of Capital Health reviews into quality-of-patient-care issues in thoracic surgery appeared to rest primarily on individual physician performance with little emphasis on important system issues that no doubt contributed to patient outcomes. Some of these issues would include:
 - Surgeons practising in isolation without the ability to review cases with similarly trained colleagues or having access to highly skilled surgical assistance for complicated cases.
 - Excessive night and weekend 'call'.
 - Excessive workload.
 - Excessive fatigue (contributed to by call and workload).
 - Lack of leadership training among physicians.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendations related to the alleged list of 1,200 patients

Analysis

The following allegations were made by the MLA for Edmonton–Meadowlark on February 28, 2011 in the Alberta legislature that: (1) "about 1,200 Albertans are on a wait list for lung surgery, and 250 died



waiting on that list, many with lung cancer"; (2) "this happened under Minister Mar and the Hon. Member for Sherwood Park and that Dr. Trevor Theman of the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta, and Capital Health and Sheila Weatherill knew about this"; and (3)"physicians who raised these issues were either punished or driven out of the province or paid out in millions to buy their silence and the costs buried in the books under the former Capital Health Region."

The allegations implied that physician advocacy for patients, physician intimidation, and 'muzzling' associated with financial payments played a part in the 1,200-patient waiting list and the involved thoracic surgeons.

These allegations were examined very thoroughly through extensive, semi-structured interviews protected by the quality assurance provisions of Section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*, informal confidential conversations, extensive documentary reviews and careful analysis of patient wait lists.

7. **RECOMMENDATION**

The Government of Alberta take no further action, and not establish a judicial or health inquiry, to examine:

- The allegation of a list of 1,200 patients on a lung surgery wait list or patients who may have died who were on such a list.
- The allegation regarding the roles and actions of former health ministers, the former CEO of Capital Health, and the Registrar of the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta.
- The allegation that the physicians who raised the issues regarding a 1,200-patient waiting list were either punished or driven out of the province or paid millions to buy their silence and the costs buried in the books under the former regional health authority.

Recommendations to improve the management of (lung) cancer surgical waiting lists

8. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health Services develop standardized approaches for the creation of surgical waiting lists making surgical oncology waiting lists a priority.

- Alberta Health Services develop a patient care and patient flow map for common oncology
 operations that documents work up and clinical decision-making up to the point that a patient
 meets criteria for requiring a surgical operation and hence placement on a wait list.
- Alberta Health Services develop standard criteria for when patients are officially placed on a wait list.



9. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services invite key stakeholders (e.g., patients and non-surgical healthcare providers) to participate in the Lung Cancer Surgery project so that stakeholder needs are considered.

REQUIRED ACTION

 Alberta Health Services ensures that stakeholders contribute to all phases of the project, including the design of a public portal to an information system, which would allow them to determine when they are on an 'official' surgical waiting list and their current status on that list.

10. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services develop a comprehensive physician staffing plan (that at a minimum would include respirologists, thoracic surgeons, radiation oncologists, and medical oncologists) to ensure long-term viability of its Lung Cancer Surgery project.



CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS CONCERNING THE OVERALL HEALTHCARE SYSTEM

During Part A of the review the QAC found evidence of, and reached conclusions about, the overall functioning of Alberta's healthcare system that pertain to more than just emergency department (ED) or cancer surgery. A brief analysis is followed by the QAC's conclusions and recommendations.

Issue: The impact of restructuring the healthcare system

Analysis

It is widely accepted that ED performance (waiting times, number of patients waiting) is the 'canary in the coalmine' indicator of overall healthcare system performance because EDs serve as the healthcare safety net for a population. Following the formation of Alberta Health Services, several key indicators of ED and hospital crowding became substantially worse:

- Median length of stay for admitted patients.
- Waiting time for an inpatient bed following a decision to admit.
- ED beds occupied by emergency inpatients.
- Inpatient bed occupancy rates.

After some stability in leadership over the past year, noticeable improvements have occurred, but results have only now reached the levels of 2006/07.

Conclusion

Health system performance deteriorated for several years following major restructuring in 2008 and only now are the performance measures starting to show a return to 'pre-AHS' levels. This conclusion supports recommendation 1 in Part B of this report.

Issue: Healthcare administrative structure and organization

Analysis

In comparison to Calgary, on a per-population basis, Edmonton has more acute care inpatient bed capacity, long term care/supportive living spaces and slightly lower hospital occupancy rates, yet has had substantially worse ED lengths of stay for patients requiring admission to hospital. These results suggest fundamental differences in how these two healthcare systems previously functioned (and in many respects continue to function). Based on many interviews, the QAC concluded that the differences between Edmonton and Calgary are likely best explained by the historical differences in how they were structured and organized. In Calgary, programs and departments used to be, and mostly still are, regional in structure; that is, there are single departments of emergency medicine, surgery, medicine, obstetrics and gynecology, anesthesiology, etc. In contrast, departments and programs and two of the hospitals (Grey Nuns Community Hospital and Misericordia Community Hospital) are under a separate governance structure.



In the review of thoracic surgery, one of the important issues that surfaced was the two-site model for the delivery of thoracic surgery that evolved in a region that did not have the population base or surgical volume to justify it. Competition between acute care institutions leads to duplication of services and missed opportunities to develop strong regional (zonal) programs of care delivery.

Conclusion

Historically, the performance of Edmonton's healthcare system has been hampered by having strong sitebased programs at its two largest acute care sites and having an independent healthcare system governing its two smaller acute care sites.

11. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services implement a clinical program management model within its geographical zones that fully integrates all hospitals and urgent care facilities under single-program or service-based leadership.

Issue: Organizational learning regarding strategic planning and leadership

Analysis

Capital Health's strategic plan to address ED crowding, the Emergency Services and System Capacity (ESSC) project, was not clearly articulated to key stakeholders, such as the ED physicians, despite a sizeable investment in the project. The plan to address crowding was by necessity a broad, system-wide approach rather than a quick fix. The ESSC project was not on the agenda of the region's Board of Directors or its Regional Medical Advisory Committee. The QAC concluded from this that ED crowding was not a high priority in the former Capital Health. In an evaluation of the ESSC project done in spring of 2009 it was determined that the project did not deliver the anticipated improvements in ED crowding. One of the deficiencies of the project was that it did not have a clear strategy to address the fundamental causes of severe ED crowding that being high inpatient occupancy.

Although longer-than-average length of stay for key case mix groups was highlighted in the report as an important issue, there were no fundamental changes to how inpatient care was structured or delivered and average length of stay did not change.

In contrast to the lack of results in Edmonton, the former Chinook Health Region developed a strong strategic plan, consistent top-level leadership with an excellent understanding of quality improvement and change management, successful engagement of frontline clinicians, and transformation of acute care beds to long term care/supportive living beds while still maintaining workable inpatient occupancy rates. This was accomplished by shortening inpatient length of stay at a time when it continued to lengthen in both Calgary and Edmonton. The former Chinook Health Region, albeit less complex than the two larger centres, exemplifies what has been described as common habits of high-value healthcare systems:

• Specification and planning: Both operational decisions (e.g., patient flow through an ED) and core clinical decisions are based on explicit criteria.



- Infrastructure design: A deliberate design of clinical microsystems (the core units that deliver care to populations of patients) including staff, information and clinical technology, physical space, business processes, and policies and procedures that support patient care.
- Measurement and oversight for internal process control: Measurement is integrated with other organizational priorities so that it is an integral part of accountability and performance management.
- Self study: Organizations study positive and negative deviances in their processes and outcomes of care, which allows them to make improvements.

Conclusion

There is an opportunity for Alberta Health Services and other healthcare organizations to broaden their knowledge of organizational leadership and strategy. Developing case studies would help develop 'corporate memory' and provide clinical and administrative leaders with key lessons about organizational planning, accountability, engagement of frontline providers, and the importance of developing and following key performance metrics and change management protocols.

12. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services develop and use case studies about: (1) the strategic planning and implementation of system-wide interventions that the former Chinook Health Region undertook; and (2) the former Capital Health's Emergency Services and System Capacity project.

Issue: Empowering clinical programs and services to conduct quality assurance reviews

Analysis

The QAC found no evidence that the ED physicians in the former Capital Health were supported in leading their own formal quality assurance reviews. Rather, the QAC was provided with examples of quality assurance reviews that were led by one or more individuals from outside of the department or by an administrator with authority for the department. This approach to quality assurance can be, and was, perceived as potentially punitive, which does not support the development of a just culture that is a fundamental underpinning of a safety culture.

Conclusion

A complete understanding of how quality assurance reviews can and should be used in a manner that supports a safety culture was not evident in the former Capital Health's EDs.

13. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services ensure that its departments or services develop the expertise and the accountability for conducting their own quality assurance reviews with the sole purpose of the review being to improve the reliability and safety of the patient-care delivery system.



Part B – The Role and Process of Physician Advocacy (including physician intimidation)

The purpose of the quality assurance review under Part B was:

- To investigate the role and ability of physicians to advocate for patients whose quality of care and safety they believe is or could be compromised due to system resources or policies.
- Based on the findings and analysis of the investigation, to make recommendations for system-level improvements in the policies and practices relating to physicians' ability to advocate in the best interests of patients and the public.

METHODOLOGY

This review was conducted by an appointed quality assurance subcommittee (QAC) of the HQCA QAC and was conducted in accordance with Section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*.

There were four major sources of information used for this review:

- A comprehensive review of the healthcare literature on physician advocacy and intimidation.
- A province-wide survey, *Role and Process of Physician Advocacy*, to Alberta physicians to gain an understanding of their knowledge and experience related to advocacy in Alberta.
- Interviews to gain perspective on historical and current practices related to physician advocacy.
- Documentation review. Documents relevant to organizational factors and processes that may influence
 physician advocacy were obtained through several sources. These included documents provided by
 interviewees, additional literature sourced and reviewed by the QAC, and multiple documents
 requested from and provided by Alberta Health Services (AHS). Relevant documentation was
 reviewed and analyzed by the QAC and referenced during the analysis and report writing process.

FINDINGS

The major findings from the survey, interviews, and review of documentation are summarized below. The complete findings are discussed in detail in the main report.

Role and process of physician advocacy survey

Quantitative results

Overall 7,957 survey packages were sent to the registered physicians throughout Alberta. There was a 26% response rate.

Slightly more than half of physicians who responded (51%) feel their ability to advocate had been limited in the past year; 64% report their suggestions are acted on only "sometimes" and 18% report "never". Twenty per cent (20%) of physicians who advocated experienced "active harmful obstruction" for advocating; and a total of 37% experienced some form of negative outcome, including 10% who reported that their requests were simply ignored. These negative outcomes are much more likely to occur in a



healthcare organization. Organization administration, department administration, or executive are identified as the party who restricted advocacy for as many as 50% of respondents.

Fifty-six per cent (56%) of physicians report their ability to advocate is limited by an unclear process for advocacy, 37% were not aware of a process through which they could advocate and an additional 23% simply didn't know. Many (69%) reported that their contract didn't address advocacy and 45% reported that organization policies did not directly address advocacy. Finally, 69% of physicians report no formal training in advocacy, and physician advocacy remains poorly defined despite an 82% acceptance of its importance as a professional responsibility.

When asked who *enhanced* their ability to advocate, 49% of physicians cite their peers; 13% cite department administration, and 7% cite organization administration. Likewise, 55% identify organization administration as having *restricted* their ability to advocate, as opposed to 20% who identify peers.

Qualitative results

A total of 478 responses to the final question of the survey, an open-ended question that asked respondents to identify "any additional comments, concerns, or suggestions regarding physician advocacy issues as you have experienced them in your practice", were analyzed. All the comments were collated and a thematic analysis was completed.

Physicians' experiences with advocacy and intimidation

Respondents provided many noteworthy comments about their experiences with advocacy:

- Advised to "not continue speaking"; "labelled negative, misinformed, or speaking out of turn".
- "I was never persecuted but was certainly placated, censored, and then ignored."
- Several were threatened with loss of privileges, having their mental competency questioned, and being 'fired' for advocating ("which was traumatic").
- "Intimidation is real but subtle"; "It's extremely difficult to advocate due to undertones of intimidation and being told to stop being so outspoken".
- "No matter what anyone says, a culture of fear, intimidation, apathy, elitism, inequality, and manipulation exists and has existed for some time."
- "Obvious systemic harassment and intimidation that can/does/may have a negative effect on patient safety."

Some respondents had not experienced intimidation themselves but they described intimidation that happened to colleagues and its impact on those around them. Even the rumours of intimidation were enough to stop some doctors from advocating. A number of respondents indicated they had "never seen or witnessed any negative issues related to physician advocacy", nor had they ever been "intimidated" or "obstructed in any way". Some described positive advocacy experiences, and tended to associate that success with having "legitimate needs". Several responses described an emerging hope within AHS, and that AHS, the AMA, and the CPSA were to be commended for their progressive support of advocacy.



Challenges identified with advocating

Some of the challenges identified with advocacy within AHS were related to a perceived lack of stable leadership since its creation. A prevalent theme was the perception that AHS managers and administrators were "far too removed from patient care issues" and the priority for AHS was "not on patient care but on budget concerns".

Why physicians chose not to advocate

A variety of reasons were mentioned as to why some physicians chose not to advocate, including not feeling prepared to advocate (no formal training), thinking others are better at it, and that it takes an inordinate amount of time (away from family) to advocate. It was felt that "many colleagues have long since checked out ... and remain disengaged". Other reasons for not advocating included:

- "20 years of pointless, non-productive advocacy causing advocacy fatigue"
- Physician input is "not wanted nor valued"; input was "trivialized, not taken seriously"; "it's not intimidation, it's being ignored and marginalized"
- Contract signed with AHS is "muzzling", "prohibiting them from pursuing advocacy in any manner that may damage the reputation of AHS"
- Potential ethical issues in advocating for one patient or group of patients at the expense of others.

Enabling effective advocacy

Numerous respondents indicated that the "avenues" and "processes" to advocate within AHS and to the media needed to be clearer. Many respondents commented on difficulties working through the "behemoth, unresponsive organizations challenging healthcare providers' ability to provide quality care" and "labyrinth of bureaucracy" in AHS, which was perceived to be "remarkably disconnected from actual care delivery". Some expressed frustration, noting that local administration, while being receptive to concerns, had limited ability to make meaningful decisions.

Lines of authority and accountability

Survey respondents commented on "bureaucratic and political interference" with "increasing control among unelected deputy ministers and assistant deputy ministers". One respondent labelled the "monopoly power (of one provincial region) as extremely intimidating".

Several respondents spoke to the 'fear' associated with the CPSA. They felt "intimidated" and said that physicians were "afraid to speak out" and that if you spoke out you would "be in trouble and punished". Punishment for speaking out was described as "having charts audited" and then being blamed for not advocating enough when patients had received poor care.

Interviews

Participation in a quality assurance review is voluntary. The QAC spoke with 99 people, some of whom more than once, for a total of 106 separate interviews; five people who were invited declined to participate. All interviews were conducted under Section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*. The names of


people who either initiated an interview with the QAC or were invited to participate, and whether or not they participated, will be kept confidential by the QAC.

All interviewees were asked about their perceptions of physicians advocating for their patients, groups of patients, and community, and where appropriate for their insights into advocacy associated with the emergency department (ED) and/or lung cancer surgery in the former Capital Health.

Definitions and descriptions of advocacy varied widely among interviewees, ranging from "letting the system know that there may be a need for improvement" to the idea that advocacy is a "process you can follow if you are well connected" (to decision makers or other influential people). Another perspective was that "docs (physicians) and others speaking to patients' needs is not advocacy, rather is part of your responsibility to the patient; we all have responsibility to put patients first".

Advocacy was seen to be required in several situations:

- When decisions regarding the allocation of finite resources in healthcare are being considered.
- When a resource allocation decision has been made that appears unfair.
- "If money is being wasted, you have to blow the whistle on that."
- When trying to coordinate care for an individual patient meets with barriers due to "lack of coordination" between various components of the system and individuals "working in silos".

Experiencing intimidation and muzzling while advocating

Interviewees expressed widely varied perspectives on how widespread intimidation and muzzling are when advocating for patients. Some thought comments describing "a culture of fear of intimidation in the health system" to be a "grand generalization with no substantiation presented, designed to attract media attention and jeopardize public confidence and further inflame others in their profession." Other interviewees were unaware of any physician ever being "bought off" to remain quiet or being muzzled as a result of advocating for their patients.

On the other hand many interviewees identified, through their own personal experiences or experiences of others, disturbing situations where leaders (most often physician or administrative leaders) had attempted to 'muzzle' or intimidate physicians to prevent or cut short their advocacy. In some cases, this was attributed to leaders being 'directed' from external sources, such as politicians or the government, to stop the advocacy.

Interviewees described numerous situations in which physicians or prominent senior leaders had experienced severe negative repercussions while advocating for patients or system improvements. In some cases the intimidation was "subtle and nuanced and was career destructive", and in others the intimidation was "direct and focused". These experiences caused significant stress for some of the individuals involved and, in some instances, were life-altering, resulting in career changes or a move out of the province. These situations were seen to have sent a clear message that "if you speak up, this is what can happen to you", and were seen as having a 'chilling effect' on others. Other individuals used strong language when describing their experience; one said "it was like I had rabies". Equally concerning were experiences of people being told not to get involved in situations where a colleague's behaviour or performance was being reviewed, with an implication that "it can only hurt you".



Lines of authority and accountability

Throughout the interviews the importance of role clarity and clear lines of authority and accountability in relation to physician advocacy was referenced many times. Interviewees emphasized the importance of well-defined roles and responsibilities and clear boundaries within and between elected officials and the ministry, healthcare organizational governance and administration, health professional colleges and associations, and individual physicians for effective and appropriate advocacy.

Governance of Alberta Health Services

Interviewees identified a continuing lack of clarity between the roles, responsibilities, and lines of authority of elected officials (including the Minister of Health and Wellness), the ministry (or Department of Health and Wellness including the Deputy Minister), the former regional health authorities and now the AHS Board and AHS administration. This was described as "each organization playing in the other's sandbox". There was an indication from some of the interviews that in the current environment the hope is that the lines of accountability between the most recently appointed Minister, the Department, and the AHS Board will become more apparent and adhered to.

Views about Alberta Health Services (AHS) following reorganization in healthcare

It was identified during the interviews that the frequent restructuring of the healthcare system was a major challenge. It was pointed out that healthcare gets "redirected on the political priority of the moment, and the noise in the paper, which takes us off course, so never finish and carry through". In particular, the initial transition year for AHS (2008) "was extremely difficult for everyone in the system because all existing pathways were broken and changed", therefore physicians "had no idea how to advocate successfully". Many interviewees shared past experiences where they knew exactly "who to go to (in order) to get things fixed" but "now I have to start from scratch as to who could approve".

Views about the CPSA (College)

It was suggested that some healthcare administrations have been and are seen as too close to the College, particularly the administration in the former Capital Health: "what disturbs me most is the regulatory body and health system should be functioning separately". It was also felt that physician advocacy can "sometimes be interpreted as disruptive behaviour, especially when it becomes zealous and/or political". Suggestions were made during the interviews that the College was used to silence "disruptive" physicians who were advocating appropriately. It was apparent through the interviews that some physicians do not fully understand the role of the CPSA. The CPSA was described as "heavy handed" and instilling fear if and when it called. The threat of reporting a physician to the CPSA was described as a tactic used by a colleague or administration to intimidate physicians and that "they are going to take my licence".

Documentation Review

Lines of Authority and Accountability

Key documents were reviewed to gain an understanding of the established definitions and descriptions of current health system structures, roles and responsibilities.

In order for the health system to function effectively, the separation of roles, responsibilities and accountabilities between the various authorities must be clearly defined and articulated to ensure the



public interest is served. This separation and clarity removes ambiguity provides explicit lines of reporting and delineates the accountability frame. This was echoed in the 2007 report *At a Crossroads: The Report of the Board Governance Review Task Force,* which stated "successful governance requires defined lines of authority, responsibility and accountability".



In 2010 the Minister's Advisory Committee on Health report recognized the need to delineate "clearer roles and lines of accountability between government, health delivery systems, providers and the public". In *The Public Agencies Governance Framework*, which was adopted by the Government of Alberta in response to the *At a Crossroads* report, it is clearly stated that "authority flows from the public, through the Minister to the agency directors; accountability returns from the agency, through the chair to the Minister, who is held accountable to the public".

The AHS Mandate and Roles document states that the AHS board is "established, appointed by and overseen by the Minister of Health and Wellness". The *At a Crossroads* report emphasizes that "making sure the best people are appointed to agency boards is absolutely critical to ensuring that good governance happens". It goes on further to say that "board appointments cannot be left to chance when the work of agencies is such an important part of how government provides services to the public". The task force then recommended that the process for the appointment of directors to public agencies should be "transparent, non-partisan and competence-based".

The *Regional Health Authorities Act* (RHAA) states the "Minister may give direction to an RHA for the purpose of providing priorities and guidelines" for it to follow. The Minister can approve or amend the health plan submitted by the RHA (i.e., AHS Board) or refer the plan back to the RHA with direction "to take any further action the Minister considers appropriate". If the Minister "considers that it is in the public interest to do so", the Minister can do "any other thing the Minister considers necessary to promote and ensure the provision of health services in Alberta".

The AHS Board's role is defined within the AHS Mandate and Roles document. The Board, through the Board Chair, is accountable to the Minister for the "delivery and operation of the public health system in Alberta". The Board guides the strategic direction, approves and monitors the AHS health and strategic plans (subject to the approval of the Minister) and financial results. The RHAA, however, also states that



the AHS Board is the "final authority" for promoting and protecting the health of the population, assessing health needs, determining priorities and allocation of resources for providing health services, and ensuring reasonable access to health services within the health region.

As per the AHS Mandate and Roles document, the CEO is "accountable to the board and provides leadership and management for AHS" and administration for all of its programs and services, and ensures "financial, human, capital and other resource management". The CEO reports to and accepts instructions from the AHS Board directly or through the chair, however, the AHS Mandate and Roles document states that the Deputy Minister "coordinates" with the CEO to "provide direction, communicate government expectations, and outline the strategic goals, guidelines, and directions of the department to AHS".

The Alberta Health Services Medical Staff Bylaws and Medical Staff Rules govern the "creation, organization and operation of the medical staff" including the administrative structures, committees, and positions for the governance of the medical staff. They define the accountability, responsibilities and duties for the various medical staff administrative positions and committees. Physicians working within AHS report through the medical staff organizational structure. Their clinical responsibilities are defined in the AHS Medical Staff Bylaws and Rules and/or medical services agreement. Their administrative services, if applicable, are articulated through a medical administrative services agreement with AHS, which also describes the reporting requirements and from whom the physician will receive general directions on the provision of those services.

Physicians are encouraged, in fact have the "right and obligation", as per the Medical Staff Bylaws to advocate on behalf of their patients. The AHS medical administrative services agreements align with the bylaws. The agreements state "Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Contractor from advocating on behalf of his/her patients. The Contractor will ensure that should h/she choose to advocate by making public statements, for example to news media, that h/she will take appropriate steps to avoid confusion that h/she is expressing his/her views and not necessarily those of AHS".

The College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta website states that the CPSA "regulates the practice of medicine in Alberta". The privilege of self-regulation is granted through Alberta's *Health Professions Act* (HPA). The CPSA also provides a number of programs designed to support physicians, such as continuous professional development, the triplicate prescription program, a physician achievement review program, and the physician health-monitoring program. Confidentiality is a key element described throughout the CPSA's programs.

ISSUES, ANALYSES, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Several key issues emerged from the analysis of the survey responses, interviews, literature review, and review of key documents. The analysis of each issue is summarized below and expanded upon in the main report.

Issue and analysis: Stability and consistency in the health system

The magnitude, frequency, and at times abruptness of the restructuring of the health system in the past, including the formation of AHS, created a sense of chaos and instability. This has been further complicated by repeated reorganization within AHS. The frequent disruption of established processes and relationships caused by the restructuring was identified by physicians as a barrier to effective advocacy.



1. RECOMMENDATION

The Government of Alberta and Alberta Health Services undertake no further major restructuring in Alberta's healthcare system without first having a clear rationale for the change including a transition plan that specifies the potential ramifications to safety and quality of patient care, the well-being of frontline providers, and the overall integrity of the health system.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- If major restructuring of the Alberta healthcare system is being considered the government of Alberta must establish a process for effective consultation with relevant stakeholders, the public, and expert advisors.
- If further major internal restructuring of Alberta Health Services is being considered an effective, open, and transparent process engaging its staff and stakeholders must be implemented.

Issue and analysis: Lines of authority and accountability in the health system

Lines of authority and accountability between the Minister of Health and Wellness, the Department of Health and Wellness, AHS governance, and AHS administration and operations are blurred. In this context there is a perceived improper use of authority, especially by the Minister and/or the Department, which causes mistrust between the government and AHS administration. The cascading effect of this mistrust is that frontline providers (physicians and others) are unclear about the genuine authority of the AHS Board of Directors and AHS administration to make decisions that directly affect healthcare service delivery. Physicians are then confused about whom they should advocate to and the appropriate avenues to follow when advocating.

It was also recognized that clear lines of authority and accountability are required for successful governance. This requires that the appointment of directors to public agencies is not "left to chance" but entails a process that is "transparent, non-partisan and competence-based" as recommended in the *At a Crossroads: The Report of the Board Governance Review Task Force*.

2. RECOMMENDATION

The Government of Alberta establish a task force, similar to the one that released *At a Crossroads: The Report of the Board Governance Review Task Force,* to review and make recommendations to the Government of Alberta to clearly delineate the lines of authority, roles and responsibilities, and accountabilities between the Minister of Health and Wellness, the Department of Health and Wellness, Alberta Health Services (including the appointment of the Board of Directors), and the medical profession.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

• The membership of the task force must have an equitable balance of health experts, governance experts, government officials, and members of the public.



 The Minister of Health and Wellness must use a process that is transparent, non-partisan, and competence-based when making appointments to the Alberta Health Services Board of Directors.

Issue and analysis: Culture within AHS

Evidence gathered from the interviews and from the physician survey suggests there is a significant level of mistrust in the system. As long as individuals in the organization, including physicians, feel uncertain as to the consequences of advocating for patients and resources, they will be constrained in the manner in which they participate. The full benefit of the various perspectives that lie within the organization will not be captured. Mistrust fosters disengagement and conflict, which makes it very difficult to develop supportive relationships critical to participation in discussion and decision-making and the goal of delivering safe, effective patient care.

There appears to be an 'organizational memory' of negative outcomes that certain individuals have experienced in the past. Some describe a 'culture of fear' or 'a culture of silence', both a key symptom of mistrust in an organization.

Both the interviews and physician survey responses identified a range of beliefs about the current healthcare environment. Some believe the issues of intimidation have been overblown, while others describe severe, life-altering repercussions. That said, the frequency with which experiences of threats, intimidation, censorship, punishment, ridicule, bullying, or termination are cited is concerning. The impact of this intimidation is that many Alberta physicians motivated to speak out in defence or promotion of the health of patients or populations censure themselves before initiating any advocacy measures. For some, it was to 'tone down' their comments; other chose not to bother at all.

3. **RECOMMENDATION**

The Alberta Health Services Board of Directors accelerate the development and implementation of an overarching just culture policy that provides the structure and supporting processes to guide the entire organization.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- The just culture policy must serve as the foundation for all of the organization's policies and procedures, including the medical staff bylaws. To ensure the just culture policy is fully implemented and achieves its maximum impact throughout the organization it must be adequately resourced and supported and must be periodically evaluated.
- The just culture policy specifies, as clearly as possible, responsible and accountable behaviour, particularly as it applies to decisions and actions that affect patient care, including advocacy.

Issue and analysis: Structures and processes to support effective physician advocacy

Within AHS and other organizations, many physicians do not know what channels they should pursue to advocate for patients and populations, what constitutes appropriate and responsible advocacy, under what circumstances it might be appropriate to move from internal to external advocacy, what policies and



guidelines address their role in advocacy, or what processes the health system will use to review their concerns, examine their validity, and determine next steps.

4. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health Services, in collaboration with Alberta universities, the Alberta Medical Association, the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta, and other organizations develop and implement clear policies and procedures to guide physicians on how to ethically, appropriately, responsibly, and effectively advocate.

5. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services, Alberta universities, the Alberta Medical Association, the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta, and other organizations explore the need for and feasibility of a provincial independent process for physicians who, despite exhausting all internal processes, believe their advocacy efforts have not been adequately addressed.

Issue and analysis: Physician education in effective advocacy

There was significant agreement among interviewees and survey respondents that many physicians had received little if any formal education on how, when, and under what circumstances one can and should advocate appropriately, responsibly, effectively, or constructively. Many expressed support for and interest in formal education on advocacy. Most indicated they were generally familiar with the notion of advocacy for an individual patient, but less comfortable advocating for communities, populations, or system-level changes.

6. **RECOMMENDATION**

The faculties of medicine in Alberta ensure that the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada CanMEDS 2005 physician competency framework be the foundation for an advocacy curricula for undergraduates and postgraduates and that it be made available for continuing medical education.

Issue and analysis: Leadership responses to physician advocacy

Physicians advocating for their patients or system improvements may run into conflict with leaders in an organization or government. Ensuring that organizational leaders are prepared and authorized to respond effectively to these advocacy efforts will help resolve the issue in the most constructive manner. Sharing a common understanding of what responsible advocacy looks like in their organization, all parties can differentiate between 'constructive advocacy' and performance issues.

A disturbing number of physicians reported that their privileges, positions, or contracts have been inappropriately threatened or affected as a result of their advocacy efforts. It was also felt that administrators or leaders abused their authority by "cracking down" on physicians who spoke up, concealing this abuse under the guise of addressing problems in physician performance. In some cases where physicians' performance was investigated, established processes were circumvented. The process outlined in the medical staff bylaws was not used because it was seen by health administrators to be too



heavy-handed or onerous. In some cases, physician administrators and colleagues expressed concern over the process used to evaluate their performance and identified the need for more explicit processes.

7. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services and other organizations that work with physicians train and support physicians and administrators in leadership roles to acquire skills and comfort with conflict resolution, responding effectively to physicians advocating for their patients, and differentiating appropriately between constructive advocacy and physician performance/behaviour issues.

REQUIRED ACTION

 Alberta Health Services and other relevant organizations must ensure that processes and procedures, including those articulated in the medical staff bylaws, used by those initiating physician performance reviews clearly differentiate between issues that are performance based versus those that are advocacy based.

Issue and analysis: College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta

There exists a perceived lack of transparency and definition between physician-support functions of the CPSA and those functions within it that deal with complaints and investigations of physicians. Many physicians perceive the CPSA has acted and been used inappropriately, which has led to widespread fear of the CPSA.

8. RECOMMENDATON

The College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta have clearer lines of separation and clarity between the roles, programs, and services of investigations and complaints versus education and support, and improve how it communicates those roles so that they are well understood by its stakeholders.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- The College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta must enhance transparency regarding investigative processes and emphasize its programs of education and support for physicians in order to counterbalance the perception of fear that is prevalent among Alberta physicians.
- The Minister appoint an independent task force to review the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta's roles, programs, and services to make clear the distinction between the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta's investigative and support roles and to ensure they are better understood by physicians, outside agencies, and the public.



SCOPE

Part A

Inclusion

I. Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care

- 1. A chart review of those patients identified by ED physicians at the UAH in a letter made public on October 22, 2010.
- 2. A chart review of any patient identified by the quality assurance committee, using administrative data, in 2008 at the UAH ED who either died or required life-saving interventions that were possibly related to ED waiting times at the UAH.
- 3. A review and comparison of administrative records and data, structures, and processes (historical and current) across Alberta to determine health system factors that have contributed to prolonged ED waiting times.
- 4. Key informant interviews to gain perspective on historical and current actions to address ED waiting times in Alberta.
- 5. A review of best practices in Canada and abroad searching for health systems that have made substantial and sustained improvements in ED overcrowding and reducing patient waiting times for ED care.

II. Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Lung Cancer Surgery

- 1. A chart review of the 250 thoracic surgery patients alleged to have died, many with lung cancer, while on a waiting list of 1,200 as posed in a question raised in the Alberta legislature on February 28, 2011.
- 2. A review and comparison of administrative records and data, structures, and processes (historical and current) across Alberta to determine health system factors that have contributed to waiting times for thoracic surgery.
- 3. Key informant interviews to gain perspective on historical and current actions to address waiting times for thoracic surgery in the former Capital Health/AHS Edmonton Zone.

Exclusion

- 1. This review will not examine additional cases of alleged excessive waiting times other than those identified publicly on October 22, 2010 and February 28, 2011.
- 2. The review will not focus on waiting times throughout the healthcare system per se; rather, the review will focus only on those waiting times directly related to ED care or lung surgery care.
- 3. The review will not investigate issues of financial or administrative irregularities or suspicion of criminal behaviour.



- 4. The review will not (for either individual providers or administrators):
 - assign blame
 - investigate individual performance
 - make recommendations regarding individual performance improvement.

Part B - The Role and Process of Physician Advocacy (including physician intimidation)

Inclusion

- 1. Key informant interviews to gain perspective on historical and current practices related to physician advocacy.
- 2. Review of administrative documents including but not limited to Alberta legislation, medical staff bylaws and rules, professional codes of conduct and codes of practice, AHS policies and procedures, AHS committees' terms of reference to determine organizational factors and processes that affect physicians' knowledge, skills, and attitudes to advocate for their patients and the public.
- 3. A review and comparison of structures and processes (historical and current) across Alberta to determine factors that have affected the ability of physicians to safely and appropriately advocate for patients and the public.
- 4. A province-wide survey of Alberta physicians to gain an understanding of their knowledge, skills, attitudes, and experiences with advocating for their patients.

Exclusion

- 1. The review will not investigate issues of financial or administrative irregularities or suspicion of criminal behaviour.
- 2. The review will not (for either individual providers or administrators):
 - assign blame
 - investigate individual performance
 - make recommendations regarding individual performance improvement.
- 3. The review will not investigate advocacy issues among other healthcare workers or professionals.



PROJECT GOVERNANCE

Ultimate accountability for this review lies with John Cowell BSc, MSc, MD, CCFP, FRCPC, Chief Executive Officer (CEO) HQCA and project sponsor, as authorized by the HQCA Governing Council.

Part A - Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care and Lung Cancer Surgery

The following members have been appointed to the Part A quality assurance subcommittee (QAC) of the HQCA's quality assurance committee by Dr. John Cowell:

- W. Ward Flemons, MD, FRCPC, Chair Part A QAC, HQCA
- Donna MacFarlane, RN, Administrative Lead HQCA
- Charlene Blair, BScPharm, RPh, PGDM, Patient Safety Lead HQCA

Additional members of the QAC have been appointed by Dr. Ward Flemons and include HQCA staff and external consultants:

- Jan Davies, MSc, MD, FRCPC, Quality and Safety Expert Consultant, Professor, Department of Anesthesia, Faculty of Medicine and Adjunct Professor of Psychology, Faculty of Arts, University of Calgary
- Carmella Duchscherer, RRT, BHS(RT), MPA, Quality and Safety Consultant
- Chris Brown, MD, FRCPC, Executive Physician Consultant, Professor of Medicine, Adjunct Professor of Engineering, University of Calgary
- John McGurran, MSc, Clinical Epidemiologist Consultant, Adjunct Professor, Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of Toronto
- Kim Trufyn, MT, Program Assistant HQCA
- Markus Lahtinen, PhD, Healthcare Quality Analyst HQCA
- Jody Pow, BA, MA, Health Data Analyst HQCA
- Ed Enns, MEc, Health Data Analyst Consultant

*We acknowledge Dr. Robert Hilsden's input and expertise regarding lung cancer epidemiology.

Part B - The Role and Process of Physician Advocacy (including physician intimidation)

Dr. John Cowell, Chair Part B QAC, HQCA

Additional members have been appointed by Dr. John Cowell to the Part B QAC of the HQCA quality assurance committee and include HQCA staff and external consultants:

- Charlene Blair, BScPharm, RPh, PGDM, Administrative Lead HQCA
- Charlene McBrien-Morrison, RT (CSLT), MBA, Executive Director HQCA
- Ernie Higgs, MD, Executive Physician Consultant



- Arlene Weidner, RN, MSc, CHE, Healthcare Systems Consultant
- Al-Noor Nenshi Nathoo, BSc, MA, Bioethicist, Executive Director Provincial Health Ethics Network
- Dennis Kendel, MD, FRCPC, Executive Physician Consultant, former Registrar of The College of Physicians and Surgeons of Saskatchewan
- Rinda LaBranche, RN, BEd, MEd, Patient Safety Lead HQCA
- Anette Mikkelsen, BScPsych, BScPT, MBA, Quality and Safety Initiatives Lead HQCA
- Donna McFarlane, RN, Patient Safety Lead HQCA
- Kim Trufyn, MT, Program Assistant HQCA

Advisory Panel

The HQCA named an advisory panel to provide advice and counsel to the HQCA Council and CEO in its review of the quality of care and safety of patients requiring access to emergency department care and cancer surgery and the role and process of physician advocacy.

Advisory panel members are:

- Zaheer Lakhani, CM, MD, FRCP, cardiologist Royal Alexandra Hospital, clinical professor University of Alberta Department of Medicine
- The Honourable A. Anne McLellan, PC, OC, former MP Edmonton Centre, former federal Minister of Health and Deputy Prime Minister
- Art Price, PEng, Chair and CEO Axia NetMedia Corporation, Executive Director, founder and principal owner, The Sunterra Group
- Simon B. Sutcliffe, MD, FRCP, president International Network for Cancer Treatment and Research, past president British Columbia Cancer Agency
- The Honourable Allan H. Wachowich, QC, LLD, former Chief Justice Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta
- Doug Tupper, PEng, former Executive Director Edmonton Police Commission, former HQCA Council member



PART A

I. REVIEW OF THE QUALITY OF CARE AND SAFETY OF PATIENTS REQUIRING ACCESS TO EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT CARE

BACKGROUND

On October 22, 2010, a major news story broke in Alberta when a letter from the Alberta Medical Association's (AMA) section president for emergency medicine to the Health Minister was made public. In the letter, Alberta's emergency department (ED) doctors warned of "potential catastrophic collapse" in the upcoming months without immediate intervention in the province's major EDs.¹ Also made public was the existence of a list of 321 identifiable patients who attended the University of Alberta Hospital (UAH) ED in 2008 and a second list, confirmed by Alberta Health Services, of nine patients who attended in 2010 whose care was compromised by prolonged waits. Other communication exchanges between physicians and ministers of health and the Premier were subsequently tabled in the Alberta legislature; all the correspondence dealt with the issues of a worsening crisis of ED crowding in Alberta. On March 12, 2011 the Minister of Health and Wellness, in a letter to the Chair of the Health Quality Council of Alberta wrote: "Pursuant to Section 13 of the *Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation*, I hereby direct the Health Quality Council of Alberta (the Council) to conduct an independent review that closely examines wait times for emergency department services and for cancer care services in the Province of Alberta. The central purpose of this independent review is to identify and analyze issues related to these two important services and to make recommendations to improve system performance."

ED crowding in Alberta's urban centres, leading to unacceptable wait times for services, has been an issue in Alberta for well over a decade. In Calgary the issue resulted in a public inquiry in 2003² and a review by the Health Quality Council of Alberta (HQCA) in 2007.³ This issue is not unique to Alberta or Canada;^{4,5,6,7} indeed, many healthcare systems in the developed world describe similar challenges to address the problems.^{8,9,10,11,12,13,14,15} There have been major task force reports about EDs released in Manitoba and Ontario dating back several years.^{16,17,18} In addition, position statements have been issued by the Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians (CAEP)¹⁹ and the British Columbia Medical Association.²⁰ In 1998 the CAEP, the National Emergency Nurses Affiliation (NENA), and the L'association des médecins d'urgence du Québec published the Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale (CTAS) for ED patients, which defined five levels of patient acuity and identified the recommended maximum waiting time until a patient was assessed by a physician.^{21,22} The CTAS system for adults has undergone two revisions.^{23,24} The recommended maximum waiting times by ED patients for an initial assessment by a physician are listed in Table 1.



Table 1. Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale (CTAS)) recommended maximum waiting times for an
ED patient to be assessed by a physician	

CTAS level	Diagnosis example	Recommended maximum waiting time
CTAS I – resuscitation	Cardiac arrest	None
CTAS II – emergent	Chest pain – possible MI	15 minutes
CTAS III – urgent	Abdominal pain (normal vital signs)	30 minutes
CTAS IV – less urgent	Fractured arm	1 hour
CTAS V – non urgent	Skin rash	2 hours

MI = myocardial infarction

Vital signs = blood pressure, pulse rate, respiratory rate

Of the five CTAS levels, CTAS III patients have traditionally been considered to be at highest risk of a poor outcome related to treatment delays. This is because as a group they represent a significant percentage of patients in most large urban EDs and they wait proportionately longer than the CAEP/NENA recommended time than do patients with other CTAS scores. Patients in CTAS levels I, II, IV, and V are generally thought to be at lower risk of poor outcomes caused by treatment delays. CTAS I and II patients historically have represented a small percentage of the overall ED patient population (5 – 10 per cent)²⁵ and are usually seen relatively quickly because of their (potentially) life-threatening conditions (higher acuity level). In recent years, however, the number of CTAS II patients has increased, as have their waiting times to be seen by a physician. CTAS IV and V patients are lower risk because of their lower acuity level and can therefore wait longer for assessment.

Prolonged waiting creates at least five important issues for ED patients, healthcare providers, and healthcare organizations:

Patients' safety margins are reduced

Delayed diagnosis of and treatment for time-sensitive conditions increases the likelihood that some patients will suffer harm that might not occur if the patient was seen and treated more promptly. In addition, long waiting times will trigger some patients to leave the ED without being seen, which may also contribute to their suffering harm.

Negative patient experience

Prolonged waiting times often do not match expectations, leading to patients being disappointed with their care and creating feelings of dissatisfaction. In many cases these have translated into negative media coverage and subsequent public reaction. Patients' expectations of their ED care were studied in Calgary in 2001 using structured focus group discussions with recent ED users and non users.²⁶ The study highlighted several themes, the most important of which was related to appropriate waiting times. A follow-up telephone survey of 837 recent users of a Calgary ED found that most patients felt they should be moved into a treatment space (and presumably assessed by a physician) within 30 to 60 minutes if they had a non-life-threatening condition and in less than five minutes for a life-threatening condition.²⁷ The majority of respondents felt that a reasonable total time to spend in the ED if they



were then discharged was two to four hours. The majority also felt that two to four hours was a reasonable time to wait for an inpatient bed if they were admitted to hospital.

Patient satisfaction and experience with the health system in Alberta has been assessed five times by the Health Quality Council of Alberta (HQCA) since 2003. In 2010, 59 per cent of respondents reported being satisfied with ED services; 22 per cent were dissatisfied.²⁸ Of the wide range of healthcare services that Albertans were asked to rate, their satisfaction with ED services was third lowest. The main factors influencing satisfaction/dissatisfaction with ED services was the time patients had to wait to be assessed by a physician and the ED staff's explanations of the reasons for the wait.

Healthcare provider dissatisfaction

The inability to provide optimal, timely care to all patients leads to frustration and is cited as being a major contributing factor to high rates of turnover of personnel and difficulty in recruiting replacements, resulting in understaffing of EDs with experienced healthcare providers.²⁹

Healthcare organization reputation

Repeated stories in the media highlighting long ED waiting times for groups of or even specific patients erodes the public's trust in an organization's ability to meet its mandate of providing high-quality care.

Community safety

Emergency Medical Service (ambulance) crews are held in EDs waiting, often for many hours, to transfer patients to the care of ED staff. This results in a reduction of the number of ambulance crews available to respond to other emergency calls in the community.

The following provides a context for ED crowding and for understanding: (1) how patients typically move (or flow) into, through, and out of an ED, and (2) the reasons or theories about why ED crowding occurs, which provides a framework for analyzing what has happened across Alberta over the past six to seven years.

Understanding ED crowding - contributing factors and analysis

To better understand ED crowding, it is important to first define the term (sometimes referred to as overcrowding). Experts do not easily agree on a common definition;³⁰ however, in basic terms crowding is a situation where the demand for ED services exceeds the capacity of the ED to provide them. This results in patients lining up (queuing) to wait for service.

Models (or diagrams) of patient flow can be a useful aid for understanding ED crowding. The 'input – throughput – output' model,³¹ is shown in Figure 1. Input refers to the demand that is placed on the ED (by patients presenting for care); throughput refers to all process(es) provided within the ED that involves providing care to patients; output refers to where patients go after leaving the ED.





Figure 1. Input, throughput, output model of ED patient flow (modified from Asplin et al)³¹

Patients arrive at an ED in different ways (e.g., walk-in, ground ambulance, air ambulance), from different places (home, nursing home, doctor's office, another hospital) and require many different types of services. When patients first arrive at the ED they are assessed by one or more of the ED staff – typically nurses and occasionally physicians – to briefly determine the nature of a patient's problem and to check vital signs. This assessment, called triage, determines the urgency of a patient's condition. After a variable waiting time, patients are admitted to an ED treatment space; this is usually a stretcher (bed) but in some situations may be a chair. There, an initial assessment by an ED physician takes place, usually followed by some tests (e.g., blood tests or X-rays). If necessary, a patient may undergo a procedure and/or treatment. The ED physician coordinates this care; in some cases the physician will determine that a specialist (consultant) with particular expertise is needed to assist in either the diagnosis or treatment of a patient's condition. Most patients will be discharged from the ED back to their home (or from wherever they originally came); a smaller percentage of patients (10 to 20 per cent) will need to be admitted to hospital. For most patients who return home from the ED, 'output' is not a barrier to patient flow; rather, 'output' is often a barrier for patients needing admission to hospital.

Large hospitals in Edmonton and Calgary (like other major centres in Canada) are places where physicians who are in training (medical students and residents) work with consultants and are organized into teams called 'services'. When patients come into hospital they are admitted to one of these services and stay until they are well enough to be discharged home. For some patients, their needs are such that they cannot be adequately cared for in a home setting and require additional support at a level of care that is different from what is required in hospital; that is, an 'alternate' level of care, such as rehabilitation, a nursing home, or a supportive living facility. When patients need this type of care and it is unavailable, they wait in hospital for a bed in the type of care facility they require. The numbers of days that patients who are in hospital waiting for an alternate level of care (ALC) are characterized as ALC days. These ALC days are an inefficient use of an expensive resource (hospital bed) and prevent or 'block' the use of that bed by another patient who needs it.



Some patients need an 'alternate level of care' (ALC), such as rehabilitation, a nursing home, or a supportive living facility. Sometimes they wait in hospital for a bed in the type of care facility they require. The numbers of days they wait in hospital are characterized as ALC days, which are an inefficient use of an expensive resource (hospital bed) and prevent or 'block' the use of that bed by another patient who needs it.

The journey that patients follow into and out of the ED can be seen as a pathway and the 'flow' of patients along this pathway can be measured and characterized by several factors. When patients have to queue for a service or a resource, it is because there is a bottleneck or constraint to flow. The amount of time spent waiting and the number of patients in a queue are reliable indicators of how seriously constrained the resource is.

Factors that contribute to ED crowding

To the casual observer, two obvious explanations for ED crowding would be too many patients coming to the ED (demand is too high) or insufficient ED beds, nurses, or doctors (capacity is too low). It may be that there is an insufficient availability of a resource (e.g., beds, nurses, physicians, diagnostic imaging technicians, or consultants) or the resource is being used inefficiently (wasted). Figure 2 shows the interaction of many contributing factors in the community, the hospital, and the ED that directly or indirectly lead to ED crowding. Most of these factors lead to inefficient use of critical resources (e.g., ED beds or hospital beds). When patients are in a queue rather than undergoing assessment, testing, or treatment, they are usually using a resource (like an ED bed) that could be made available for another patient. Queuing is therefore not only a waste of time for patients but is a waste of a resource, effectively reducing (constraining) the availability of the resource for others. A simplified example of this would be a 20-bed ED that, when working efficiently, could see 20 patients within four hours. In a 24-hour period 120 patients could be seen. If there was a delay in one of the required services, so that on average patients are in the ED for six hours rather than four, only 80 patients could be seen.

EDs have the ability to see and treat many patients at the same time. Many services may be brief (e.g., having vital signs measured by a nurse or physician, having a blood test, or going for an X-ray) but there is often a period of waiting for test results or for the next required service. One of the rate-limiting factors is the number of beds in an ED and the time that each patient spends in a bed. Anything that keeps a patient waiting, instead of moving out of the bed (either home or into hospital), makes the bed unavailable to a new ED patient. Factors contributing to inefficient use of ED resources are shown in Figure 2. ED input is generated from the community where there are several factors that influence the number of patients coming to the ED. Throughput factors are with those within the ED; output factors are based in the hospital and extend back out into the community. Some common input factors are an increasing population base; increasing population age that correlates with an increase in the number of patients with chronic, complex medical conditions; and patients being unable to access physicians, and availability of lab testing, diagnostic imaging tests, and consultants. The key output factor is the lack of available hospital (inpatient) beds; however, there are many different factors that reduce the availability of inpatient beds, some of which are shown in Figure 2









When patients are in a queue rather than receiving assessment, testing, or treatment, they may be using an ED bed that could otherwise be available for another ED patient. Queuing is therefore not only a waste of time for patients but is a waste of a resource, effectively constraining the availability of the resource for others.

There is one additional important factor that contributes to queuing and therefore to crowding – variability. In any ED, the rate at which patients arrive is not constant but is irregular, or variable. Similarly, the time required to provide a service varies with each patient. Variation in the rate of arrival of patients and/or in the time required to provide a service is the usual explanation for queuing when, on average, there is sufficient capacity to meet demand.

The study of queuing and flow falls under the broad heading of operations management research. While this area of research has traditionally been applied to industry, especially to manufacturing, increasingly more research is being applied to the study of complex healthcare services to consider the relationship between demand, capacity, variability in either, efficiency, and wait times.

The flow of patients through an ED can be compared to 'manufacturing' since patients receive multiple services; that is, they go through multiple 'processes'. Operations management theories and tools can therefore be used to understand, measure, and predict the outcome of improvements. For example, the Theory of Constraints predicts that in a multiple process (service) system like the ED, overall improvements in patient flow will only occur when the most seriously constrained resource (or bottleneck) is found and fixed.^{32,33,34} Although fixing other, less-constrained processes may result in isolated benefits, these 'fixes' will likely not increase throughput and output. Queuing Theory predicts that, in situations where patients require a service, the wait for that service (and the length of the queue) is determined by how well service demand and service capacity are matched.^{35,36,37,38} Even when average demand matches average capacity, variability in either one will result in queues and waiting. If there is a highly predictable demand for a service and little variability in the time it takes for the service to be delivered, then a facility can be designed and staffed to use all of its resources efficiently, even at very high rates of use. In situations where there is variability in either the arrival rate of the demand or the time it takes to deliver a service, however, waiting will result. Logically, it is impossible for a resource or service to both be used nearly 100 per cent of the time and also be responsive (i.e., have short queue times); there will always be a trade-off. Queuing Theory can be used to predict how likely it is that a queue of any particular length will develop and how long a patient will, on average, have to wait for a service, given the variability of demand and/or capacity (which is determined by the number of servers and the duration of service time). As a general rule, when demand is variable and the average use of capacity is running above approximately 85 per cent, then there is an exponential increase in waiting time (Figure 3). The exact level of use where waiting time increases exponentially and the shape of the curve are unique to the specific system being studied.

Queuing is not just a symptom of the mismatch between capacity and demand or even a 'simple' lack of sufficient capacity. Queuing is often a symptom of incomplete planning to address the variability of demand. Although it is possible to construct mathematical models of queuing that can assist with capacity planning, such models do not work well for complex systems like the ED or hospital inpatient services. For planning purposes, modelling approaches like system dynamics and discrete event simulation are recommended.^{39,40}



Using this type of approach, researchers at the University of Calgary, working with the HQCA in 2007, created an ED system dynamics model that demonstrated the complexities of input and output³ highlighting the profoundly difficult decisions healthcare administrators face when trying to address ED crowding.

Although Figure 3 shows the effect that high use of a single service has on queuing in a simple system, the principle applies to more complex systems. Any healthcare system that has critical resources, such as inpatient beds or ED beds, operating at nearly 100 per cent average occupancy, creates exceedingly long queues that contribute to gridlocks in many other parts of the system.



Figure 3. Relationship between waiting time and utilization of a resource or service

Figure 3 shows the amount of time spent in 'the system', such as an ED (pink line). The time spent in the system is the sum of the time in the queue (blue line) and the time receiving the service (in this very simple example this time has been fixed at one unit or block of time). When demand is low (shown as the low part of the curve) the chance of having to queue for that service is small and the overall time in the queue is minimal. When demand increases so the provider is working at 50 per cent capacity then the queue time has increased by one unit of time (as has the service time) so that the overall time that a patient remains in the system is now two blocks of time. If demand increases to the point where, on average, 80 per cent of the provider's capacity is being used, then the time spent in a queue will be four times the duration of receiving the service, and the total time in the system will be at five units; in other words, 80 per cent of the time a patient spends in the 'system' will be spent in the queue. This is wasted time. (Diagram and explanation courtesy of Dr. Paul Rogers, University of Calgary.)

This context is useful for understanding the complexity of ED management in all healthcare systems.



Queuing is not just a symptom of the mismatch between capacity and demand or even a 'simple' lack of sufficient capacity. Queuing is often a symptom of incomplete planning to address the variability of demand. Existing queuing models do not work well for complex systems like the ED... and the profoundly difficult decisions healthcare administrators face when trying to address ED crowding.

The analysis of ED crowding in Alberta

The scope of this review into Alberta's ED crowding was broad; therefore, several approaches for gathering information were used to reach conclusions about the important factors contributing to the issue as well as understanding the experience of patients. The QAC completed hundreds of chart reviews; examined many documents from the former Capital Health; conducted numerous interviews; performed a detail review of administrative data from several provincial databases; completed a review of best practice in managing system capacity and ED crowding; and commissioned a systematic review of the literature. For the administrative data review three areas of Alberta were examined. The former Capital Health was chosen because this is where the concerns of ED physicians surfaced. The former Calgary Health Region was an obvious comparator to Edmonton, being of similar size and offering similar services. The former Chinook Health Region was chosen because it was a focus of the best practice review of this report. Each of these three health regions made different strategic decisions about how to manage system capacity so it was possible to examine the effect these different approaches had on ED crowding. Although this section is focused on ED crowding, measures of crowding and waiting times for patients are powerful indicators of the overall performance of a healthcare system.



METHODOLOGY

Since the issue of crowding in Alberta's emergency departments (ED) resurfaced publically in 2010 and 2011 as a result of the advocacy efforts of some ED physicians based at the University of Alberta Hospital (UAH), a large (but not exclusive) focus for this review was on that acute care site and on the former Capital Health. The mandate of the review, however, was to 'make recommendations for system-level improvements in access and wait times for emergency department care' and so the quality assurance committee (QAC) adopted several lines of investigation so as to understand ED crowding in a context for all of Alberta. The QAC examined seven areas of focus: chart reviews of patients who attended the ED at the UAH; selected patient experiences at the UAH ED; interviews; Capital Health's strategic plan for ED crowding; administrative data from province-wide databases; best practices; and the medical literature.

Chart reviews of UAH ED patients

UAH ED physicians had been asked by former Capital Health executives in Edmonton to collect examples of patients whose care might have been compromised due to long waits for care in the ED. More than 300 cases were collected, most of which were dated 2008; a few patients were added to the list in 2010. This list was provided to the QAC by the UAH ED physicians; when the list was reviewed it was noted that a few patient visits to the ED in 2009 were also included.

The list had enough 'identifiable information' to assure the QAC it was following the same person through each stage of his or her journey in the ED as the QAC looked through patient charts. Identifiable information would include things like first and last name, year of birth, and healthcare number, for example.

All the charts of patients with identifiable information were reviewed to determine: (1) patient outcome; (2) if patient outcome had been compromised, then was the outcome likely to have been the result of, or been made worse due to, excessive ED waiting for service(s); and (3) the times required for patients to access various services during their stay in the ED, as well as the time required for the patients to be moved to an inpatient bed if they were admitted to hospital.

Additional patient charts from the UAH ED from 2008 were reviewed to ensure that potentially important adverse patient outcomes had not been overlooked by the non-systematic method the UAH ED physicians used to add patients to the list. The additional charts were selected from those patients aged 18 to 85 who attended the UAH ED in 2008 and who might have suffered serious harm or death due to excessive waiting for ED services. The following is a breakdown of the additional charts reviewed:

- 34 patients who died while in the ED and who had spent at least four hours in the department.
- 74 patients who spent at least 10 hours in the ED and were subsequently admitted to an inpatient bed but died within 72 hours from the time a decision to admit had been made.
- 249 patients (in 288 visits) who spent at least 10 hours in the ED and were subsequently admitted to an intensive care unit (ICU). These ICUs included: Medical/Surgical ICU, Burn ICU, Cardiac Surgery ICU, Coronary Medical ICU, Neurosurgery ICU. The charts were reviewed specifically to determine if any patients had required resuscitation or ventilation either in the ED or an ICU.



In total, the charts of 695 patients were reviewed, representing 821 visits to the ED (because some patients visited the ED more than once). These included the charts collected by the ED physicians and the additional charts identified by the QAC.

The QAC's chart review team consisted of four senior physicians, a senior ED nurse, and two senior patient safety specialists. If a reviewer thought that a patient might have suffered an adverse outcome, then the event was flagged and reviewed by at least two physicians. For each chart the following information was extracted:

- Mode of arrival (e.g., by ambulance)
- If the patient had a time-sensitive conditionⁱⁱ during his/her initial presentation and assessment
- Presence of a serious adverse outcome related to excessive ED waiting times
- Reviewers' subjective impressions of the quality of care provided
- Times
 - ED arrival
 - Triage nurse assessment
 - ED bed assignment
 - First ED physician assessment
 - Consult service request (it was not possible to report this for most patients because the time was often not recorded in patients' charts)
 - Consult service arrival
 - First lab test result
 - First diagnostic imaging result
 - Inpatient bed request (if admitted)
 - ED discharge (if discharged)
 - Inpatient bed admission (if admitted)
 - Effective treatment or diagnosis (if a time-sensitive condition)
 - EKG (if patient presented with chest pain of possible cardiac origin)

ⁱⁱ Time sensitive was defined where with reasonable probability the prognosis would be improved if treatment was initiated within a short period of time; for example, patients who presented with chest pain that could be related to a heart attack.



Patient experiences at the UAH ED

The experiences of several patients were documented to highlight some of the challenges that ED patients faced. Two members of the QAC reviewed each chart and extracted relevant information, which was then summarized. The following important themes were identified:

- Patients whose admission to hospital had been prearranged before coming to the ED but who were required to wait in the ED because an inpatient bed wasn't yet available.
- Patients who were at the end of their lives and therefore whose goals of care were clearly palliative.
- Patients who had already decided that they did not want to be resuscitated if they suffered a cardiac or respiratory arrest.
- Patients who waited extremely long times to be assessed by an ED physician.
- Patients with life-threatening illnesses who had to undergo prolonged periods of resuscitation in the ED.
- Patients who experienced long waiting times to be transferred to an inpatient bed that resulted in conflicts between the ED staff and the inpatient unit staff.

Interviews

The QAC interviewed individuals to gain, in part, first-hand insights into factors contributing to ED crowding. Detailed notes were kept and almost all interviews were recorded with the permission of the interviewee to ensure accuracy. Interviews were analyzed and information was highlighted around the following themes:

- Factors that contributed to ED crowding.
- How the ED crowding issue was managed.
- How physicians advocated for improvement, as well as the responses from the former Capital Health administration.
- The approach used to review cases where patient outcomes might have been compromised due to delays within the ED.
- The understanding and opinions of individuals about the Emergency Services and System Capacity (ESSC) project – the former Capital Health's key approach for addressing the ED crowding crisis – that started in 2006 and finished in 2008.
- Promising practices in Alberta Health Services (AHS). Although the QAC did not set out to do an exhaustive review of important initiatives that have been or may be implemented by AHS, in some interviews these initiatives were discussed and a brief summary has been included in the report.

Capital Health's ED crowding strategic plan

Capital Health developed a strategic approach called the ESSC project, which was designed to address issues that contributed to ED crowding. The project began in 2006 and a detailed assessment of it was completed in 2009 after its scheduled December 2008 end date. The QAC analyzed the project evaluation report in detail and summarized key findings, as well as reviewing: (1) more than 1,000 pages of ESSC



project documents (including the minutes of the ESSC project working group meetings and presentations); and (2) minutes of Capital Health's Board of Directors and senior leadership meetings (Executive Committee and Regional Medical Advisory Committee). In addition, many of the people who were interviewed as part of this review were asked to provide their insights into the ESSC project.

Provincial administrative data review

Administrative data include information that is retained in vast databases from distinct sources in Alberta. These sources include, for example, the ED information system; the admission, discharge, and transfer database (into, from, and between acute care facilities respectively); the inpatient discharge database; and the ambulatory care information system. The QAC analyzed administrative data from Edmonton (Capital Health), Calgary (Calgary Health Region) and Chinook Health Region to gain an understanding of how measures of ED crowding and contributing factors changed over the past several years in each of these former health regions. Each region made different investments and took different approaches to improve healthcare delivery; for example, different administrative management structures and physical/human resources, quality improvement methodology, quality improvement leadership, levels of physician engagement, as well as numbers of acute care beds and long term care/supportive living beds. The QAC rationalized that there would be lessons to learn from these 'natural history experiments'. The data are for the most part presented in a series of graphs (Figure 4 to Figure 17 and Figure 18 to Figure 30). Details about the graphical information is provided in Appendix V and include data definitions/calculations, database source, inclusions/exclusions, time period, geographical sites, and comments about the data analysis.

The approach used for the data analysis

The historical context of ED crowding was examined and analyzed in three different healthcare systems in Alberta: the former Capital Health (now the AHS Edmonton Zone), the former Calgary Health Region (now the AHS Calgary Zone) and the former Chinook Health Region (now part of the AHS South Zone). The goal of this data analysis was to evaluate different aspects of ED crowding and therefore this report examines:

- Evidence whether ED crowding is actually an issue or not, considering waiting times for patients' first assessment by a physician (Figures 5 to 7) and the total duration of patients' ED stay (Figures 8 and 9).
- Data regarding input, including population growth (Figures 10 and 11), increases in the number of ED and urgent care visits (Figures 12 to 14), and the changing nature of patient complexity (Figures 15 through 17).
- Data regarding throughput, including the length of time that ED patients who are admitted to hospital spend at different 'stages' of their journey (Figure 19) and, using limited data from the UAH chart reviews, the turnaround time for laboratory testing, diagnostic imaging, or consulting services.
- Data regarding output, including ED bed capacity tied up by patients admitted to hospital but waiting for an inpatient bed (Figures 20 and 21); inpatient bed capacity (Figure 22) and how it has changed over the years relative to population growth (Figures 23 and 24). Further, the data



analysis examined the average length of stay (ALOS) in inpatient beds (Figures 25 and 26), inpatient bed capacity taken up by patients waiting for an 'alternate level of care' (ALC) bed in another facility (Figure 27) and how the number of ALC beds (long term care, supportive living and other) in the healthcare regions have changed over time (Figure 28).

• The final part of the output analysis examines competing demands for inpatient beds (Figure 29) as well as how well variation in demand and variation in creating capacity (discharging patients) are managed (Figure 29 and 30).

Best practice review

The primary objective of the best practice review was to identify one or more acute care facilities where: (1) ED performance was improved and sustained as a result of a deliberate and strategic system-wide initiative that involved all elements of the healthcare delivery system (and, in this context, where quality and performance benefits accrued not just to the ED but across the continuum of care); and (2) the experience was translatable into an Alberta context. Contacts with key healthcare opinion leaders were sought to identify healthcare systems (primarily Canadian) that met these criteria; only one healthcare system was found – the former Chinook Health Region (Lethbridge and surrounding area). The Chinook Health Region (Chinook) was an excellent example of a high-performing healthcare system with a framework and culture conducive to improving quality across the continuum of care. Chinook was profiled by the Centre for Healthcare Quality Improvement at The Change Foundation in Ontario, as an example of a health region's success in integrating service delivery across the continuum of care and being able to create a strategy starting in the community that improved patient flow in its acute care facility and ED.⁴¹

Chinook was therefore selected as the subject of this review based on information describing its significant performance improvements and its methods; Chinook became well known for its vision, leadership and comprehensive integrated approach to improving the quality of care provided to its residents.^{41,42}

The review of Chinook was undertaken as a qualitative case study consisting of document review and interviews with individuals with the goal of understanding what contributed to the improvements seen in the ED.^{43,44} Documents describing the changes undertaken were identified through personal communication with ED quality improvement leaders in Canada and semi-structured internet searches using Google and Google Scholar.

Five in-person interviews and two telephone interviews were conducted as part of this study.

Information from the documents, websites, and interviews were combined to shed light on the former Chinook's system-wide approach to change, which resulted in improved ED performance and patient flow throughout the hospital.

A second objective for this review was to describe the attributes that made Chinook an exemplar of a high-performing healthcare system. To this end, Canadian⁴⁵ and Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)⁴⁶ documents were reviewed to identify two salient features of high-performing systems and in that light to evaluate the work undertaken in Chinook. High-performing systems focus on quality improvement and engage all staff in the pursuit of quality and patient safety.



The former Chinook Health Region (Lethbridge and surrounding area) was an excellent example of a high-performing healthcare system with a framework and culture conducive to improving quality across the continuum of care.

Literature review

Because the main focus of the overall ED review was to look forward and to establish recommendations for future system improvements that would address ED crowding, the HQCA commissioned the University of Calgary's Institute for Public Health, which partnered with the University of Alberta to conduct a systematic literature review. The review focused on interventions that have improved ED crowding and patient flow. A detailed description of the methods used for this literature review is included in Appendix VI. Electronic databases were searched (including PubMed, ISYS, CADTH, NICE, AHRQ, EPOC and SCOPUS) using combinations of keywords and thesaurus terms related to the different interventions that addressed ED crowding. The search was aimed at finding previous systematic reviews, randomized controlled trials, quasi-randomized trials, before-and-after studies, cohort studies, case-controlled studies, interrupted time series, cluster randomized controlled trials, and prospective observational studies. Summaries of previous systematic reviews are provided in the report (Appendix VI) as well as tables describing results of individual trials.



FINDINGS

University of Alberta Hospital chart reviews

Chart review data were analyzed separately for those patients listed by the UAH ED physicians (ED-MD patients) and for those patients identified by the quality assurance committee (QAC) (RT patients) who met the criteria specified in the Methodology section (group **a**: patients who died in the ED; group **b**: patients who were admitted to an inpatient bed but died within 72 hours; group **c**: patients who were admitted to an ICU). The UAH ED physicians identified the majority of their cases in 2008 (96.6 per cent); a small percentage were identified in 2009 (1.5 per cent) and in 2010 (2.0 per cent). All of the RT patients were selected based on visits made to the UAH ED in 2008. The two lists of patients (ED-MD and RT) differed in a number of respects (Table 1). A greater percentage of the ED-MD patients were female (48 per cent) and on average they were a few years younger. A much larger percentage of the RT patients (66 per cent) were classified as CTAS I or II (higher acuity) than were the ED-MD patients (27 per cent). As explained previously, CTAS is the Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale, which rates the seriousness of an ED patient's condition, with 'I' being the most serious.

Group		Age (years)	Sex	Per cent CTAS level				
		Mean \pm SD	Per cent M:F	Level I	Level II	Level III	Level IV & V	
ED-MD patients $n = 338$		56.3 (20.8)	52 : 48	0	27	62	11	
	Total n = 357	60.8 (15.4)	63 : 37	15	51	30	4	
RT patients	Group a n = 34	65.4 (12.2)	53:47	50	42	4	4	
	Group b n = 73	67.8 (12.2)	58 : 42	12	51	30	7	
	Group \mathbf{c} n = 250	58.1 (15.9)	66 : 34	12	53	32	3	

i unic 2, chui uctor intento di the ci dupo di puticito	Table 2.	Characteristics	of the	groups	of	patients
---	----------	-----------------	--------	--------	----	----------

SD = standard deviation

Some of the ED-MD patients and RT group **c** patients had more than one visit in the year that was under review; in these cases, the data from multiple visits were summarized. For the ED-MD patients, 67 made more than one visit to the ED while 29 of the RT group **c** patients did so. In total, 821 visits were reviewed (426 ED-MD visits and 395 RT visits).

One of the goals of the chart review was to document the times at which standard services or resources were provided to patients so that results could be summarized for the two groups. The length of time between several key services or resources that patients required in the ED is shown for both groups of patients in Table 3. Although the time for some activities was always recorded and found in the charts (e.g., triage time or initial assessment by a triage nurse) there were some patient visits where some of the time stamps were not recorded (e.g., consultant/specialist review time). The number of patients for whom



data were available to capture the times is therefore reported. Times are summarized as median, which means that 50 per cent of patients waited longer than this time; and 80th percentile, which means that 20 per cent of patients waited longer than this time. Additionally, whereas all patients who were admitted to hospital were seen by at least one consultant, many patients who were discharged saw only the ED physician.

Table 3. Median [and 80th percentile] times (in minutes) for various ED patient 'services' for the ED-MD identified patients and the RT identified patients

Times Patient	Tria	ge to Bed	Bed to ED PhysicianED Physician to ConsultantConsultant to Decision or 		Decision to Inpatient Admission					
group	n	minutes	n	minutes	n	minutes	n	minutes	п	Minutes
Admitted	206	184 [403]	120	30 [70]	114	203 [439]	143	175 [410]	194	602 [2023]
Discharged	129	179 [419]	87	30 [79]	31	282 [553]	37	310 [1224]		
CTAS II	96	129.5 [295]	64	20 [45]						
CTAS III	192	231 [441]	116	37 [85]						
Enter										Exit
 Tria	ige	∎ EI Be	D d	E	D DC	Consu in E	ultant ED	∎ Decis to Ac	sion Imit	

a. ED-MD Patients

b. RT Patients

Times	Triage to Bed		Friage to Bed Bed to ED Physician		ED Physician to Consultant		Consultant to Decision or Discharge		Decision to Inpatient Admission	
group	n	minutes	п	minutes	п	minutes	п	minutes	п	Minutes
Admitted	318	31 [155]	223	25 [60]	217	180 [389]	262	191 [447]	291	665 [1577]
Discharged	39	13 [111]	25	27 [93]	14	75 [236]	16	315 [514]		
CTAS II	180	22 [65]	129	20 [55]					-	
CTAS III	112	124 [246]	83	40 [77]						

CTAS II and III patients in both 'lists' waited to be assessed by a physician much longer than the times recommended by the Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians (CAEP) for their level of acuity



(CTAS II recommendation: 15 minutes maximum; CTAS III recommendation: 30 minutes maximum).^{22,23} In the ED-MD group, half of the CTAS II patients waited *10 times* longer than CAEP guidelines and one-fifth of them waited more than *20 times* longer. Results were almost as bad for CTAS III patients in this group. Patients waited many hours for a consultant to see them (median time: 3.4 hours; 20 per cent of patients waited longer than seven hours) and then many more hours waiting for a decision to be made about whether they required admission to hospital. The median time for these patients waited for an inpatient bed, once the decision had been made that they required admission, was more than10 hours; 20 per cent of patients waited more than 33 hours. Overall, half the patients in the ED-MD group who were admitted to hospital spent nearly one full day (22.6 hours) in the ED; 20 per cent of patients spent nearly two full days (47 hours). Results were not much better for the RT identified patients.

Of the 426 ED-MD visits reviewed, 26 patients left the ED without being seen or against medical advice (6.1 per cent). (No comparable results were determined for the RT patients because of the selection criteria used to choose the chart to be reviewed.)

CTAS II and III patients waited to be assessed by a physician much longer than the times recommended by the Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians (CAEP) for their level of acuity (CTAS II recommendation: 15 minutes maximum; CTAS III recommendation: 30 minutes maximum). Overall, among the cases brought to light by ED physicians, half the patients who were admitted to hospital spent nearly one full day in the ED; 20 per cent of them spent nearly two full days in the ED waiting for an inpatient bed.

Table 4 shows how long it took for patients to get their initial diagnostic imaging studies (i.e., X-ray, ultrasound, CT scan), their initial lab results and, for patients presenting with chest pain, their initial EKG completed after they had been assessed by a physician. There were some substantial delays for some patients to obtain any of these tests -20 per cent of patients in the ED-MD group waited longer than five hours for their first diagnostic imaging study, two hours for a lab test and three hours for an EKG.

Table 4. Median [and 80th percentile] time (in minutes) for patients to receive an initial diagnostic imaging study, lab test, and EKG following an MD assessment

ED Physician to Diagnostic Imaging Study			ED	Physician to	Lab test	ED Physician to EKG			
	п	Median	80 th percentile	п	Median	80 th percentile	п	Median	80 th percentile
ED-MD patients	188	102	311	148	45	131	61	59	178
RT patients	282	70	183	224	30	75	50	38	174

A total of 111 ED-MD patients and 73 RT patients were classified by the reviewers as having presented with a time-sensitive condition. Table 5 shows median and 80th percentile times for several time



measures. Examples of these include the time required for a patient to receive effective treatment, such as the time required for a patient with appendicitis to undergo an appendectomy or, in cases where there was no effective treatment, the time required to reach a diagnosis, such as the time required for a patient with an inoperable cerebral hemorrhage to obtain a CT or MRI scan confirming the diagnosis. Half the ED-MD patients waited about three hours for an ED bed and 20 per cent of patients waited about six hours or more. Once in an ED bed, 50 per cent waited about another half an hour or more to be assessed by a physician and 20 per cent waited more than an hour. After that, 20 per cent waited more than 12 hours to obtain effective treatment or a definitive diagnosis that showed there was no effective treatment.

Table 5. Median [and 80th percentile] time (in minutes) for patients with time-sensitive conditions to gain access to an ED bed, be assessed by a physician and to receive an effective treatment or diagnostic test

Group	Triage to ED Bed			ED	Bed to ED I	Physician	ED Physician to Effective Treatment or Diagnosis			
Group	п	Median	80 th percentile	п	Median	80 th percentile	п	Median	80 th percentile	
ED-MD patients	101	169	345	61	25	79	54	145	751	
RT patients	68	18	72	45	15	40	36	56	192	

Patients who presented or developed pain while in the ED were identified and the length of time they waited to receive analgesia (usually pain-relieving narcotics) was recorded. A total of 102 patients in the ED-MD group and 81 patients in the RT group had symptomatic pain that was noted in their charts; not all the charts had the time-relevant information. The median and 80th percentile waiting time before they received medication is shown in Table 6.

Half of the patients suffering with pain waited to receive an analgesic for more than four-and-a-half hours; 20 per cent of these patients waited more than 7.5 hours from the time they first saw the triage nurse.

Table 6. Median [and 80th percentile] time (in minutes) for patients suffering with pain to receive an analgesic from the time they were seen at triage or by an ED physician

Group	Dur	ation from Tria	ge to Analgesic	Duration from ED Physician to Analgesic			
Group	<i>n</i> Median 80		80 th percentile	п	Median	80 th percentile	
ED-MD patients	99	276	472	65	69	177	
RT patients	79	141	328	70	45	213	

Each of the ED-MD patient visits was scrutinized to determine if any patients suffered an adverse outcome that was likely related not solely to their underlying disease or condition. An *a priori* definition



of a serious outcome was created: death; complete (or nearly complete) loss of limb or organ function; or the requirement for urgent, life-sustaining intervention (e.g., cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR)/intubation). No patients in the ED-MD identified group died while in the ED, although some died later in hospital. The QAC did not identify any deaths in this group that could have been attributed to ED waiting. One patient suffered a serious outcome that required urgent, life-sustaining therapy, which happened the day after he left the ED without being seen following a five-hour wait for service. The patient had been discharged from hospital one week previously after undergoing open-heart surgery. The patient survived his resuscitation in the ED, was admitted to hospital and then finally discharged back to his home. None of the patients in the RT identified group had a serious adverse outcome that was the direct or indirect result of ED waits or delays. Of the patient deaths in the RT group that were reviewed, none of the deaths were related to ED waiting in the opinion of the QAC.

No patients among those listed by the ED physicians at UAH died while in the ED, although some died later in hospital. The QAC did not identify any deaths in this group that could have been attributed to ED waiting. Among the additional charts scrutinized by the QAC, none of the patients had a serious adverse outcome that was the result of ED waits or delays.

A substantial number of people needing end-of-life care came to the ED and had less-than-ideal experiences. Among the patient charts that were reviewed, 21 of the ED-MD patients and 43 of the RT patients had a palliative diagnosis, such as untreatable cancer, or had previously chosen (or had their goals of care determined) to decline life-saving resuscitation in the event they were near death. Although it was not possible from chart reviews alone to determine why patients with these conditions came to the ED, it appeared, in most cases, that it was because of a lack of other options to receive the end-of-life care they needed. There was no question the patients required care; however the ED was not an appropriate location for that care. Some of these patients died in the ED, which was clearly not the right place for people to spend their last few hours of life.

Patient experiences

Prior arrangements for an inpatient admission

Some patients were transferred to the UAH from another hospital and were considered a 'direct admit' because an admitting service had already accepted care of the patient. However, instead of going directly to an appropriate inpatient unit, these patients were routed through the ED to wait for a bed. In one such case, a patient was transferred from a less acute, rural hospital to be admitted to a specialty service. The patient's diagnostic imaging was completed and a diagnosis had been made before the patient was transferred to the UAH. The patient then spent one hour and 45 minutes on an ambulance stretcher before being seen by the specialty service. The patient continued to wait on a spine board with EMS present for an additional three hours and 15 minutes before being placed in a bed in the ED. After the specialty service agreed to admit the patient to the UAH, the patient waited an additional 36 hours in the ED before being transferred to an inpatient bed. Even as a 'direct admit', with paperwork in order, this patient waited 42 hours in the ED.

Another example was that of a patient who had been discharged from hospital one week previously. Paramedics brought the patient in from a rural hospital. Admission orders were written by the specialty



service on the triage record, meaning the specialty service knew the patient needed to be admitted before the patient was even taken to the ED. Still, the patient waited in the ED for 80 hours before being admitted to an inpatient bed.

A patient who had already been approved for admission to an inpatient unit was routed through the ED and waited there 80 hours before being admitted to the inpatient unit.

Palliative/end-of-life care

A number of patients (64) whose goals of care were palliative, and who required only supportive care or pain management, came to the ED. These patients often stayed in the ED for a prolonged time, waiting for an inpatient bed. Some of these patients spent their last hours of life in the ED, while others died within hours after being transferred to an inpatient bed.

In one such case, a patient with lung cancer experiencing shortness of breath spent 12 hours sitting in the waiting room in a wheelchair, where an assessment was performed, lab tests were drawn, and the patient was sent to X-ray before being transferred to an emergency bed. One hour and 15 minutes later, admission orders were written. The patient died in the ED, 21 hours later, before an inpatient bed could be found.

A second example is that of a patient with palliative goals of care who was brought to the ED by family members because they were no longer able to care for the patient at home. The patient waited with EMS on a stretcher for 10 hours before being moved into a bed in the ED and being assessed by an ED physician. More than 10 hours later an admission order was written by the consultant service. The patient remained in the ED for another 48 hours before being transferred to an inpatient bed, where the patient subsequently died.

A cancer patient who had sought care at another hospital came to the UAH ED and spent more than five hours in a wheelchair in the waiting room. Alone, and too weak to go home, the patient spent 91 hours in the ED before being admitted to another unit where the patient died a few days later.

Patients with 'do not resuscitate' orders

A number of patients who visited the ED had 'do not resuscitate' orders or had a level-of-care status that had not been clearly documented, despite the patient having a non-curable diagnosis. Sometimes a patient's resuscitation status was not clearly documented and he or she was provided advanced types of medical intervention that did not appear to match the patient's goals of care.

An example of this issue is the experience of an elderly patient who was transferred from an assisted living facility by STARS (Shock Trauma Air Rescue Society) air ambulance. In the ED, the patient required CPR (cardiopulmonary resuscitation), which included mechanical ventilation. Once the medical team was able to determine that the patient had previously expressed a desire not to have this level of care (in the form of a 'do not resuscitate' order), mechanical ventilation was stopped and the patient died a few hours later.



Sometimes patients' 'do not resuscitate' orders were not clearly documented and they received advanced medical intervention that did not match their own goals of care.

Long wait times to see ED physicians (not meeting CAEP guidelines)

Most patients experienced long waits in the ED. Of particular concern was the length of time required for an initial assessment by an ED physician. A physician should, according to Canadian guidelines, assess patients who are classified as a CTAS level II within 15 minutes of the patient arriving in the ED. Patients classified as CTAS level III should wait no longer than 30 minutes. Most patients classified as CTAS II or III waited three to four times longer than the recommended times.

The experience of a CTAS II patient who presented with respiratory-related symptoms provides an example of this issue. The patient waited 90 minutes to be placed in an ED bed, spent an additional 30 minutes before being seen by an ED physician, and had stayed for a total of 78 hours in the ED before being admitted. Another patient (CTAS III), who was feeling short of breath, waited more than two hours to see a physician and spent a total of 51 hours in the ED. In a third such case, a patient suffering from cancer came to the UAH ED after trying to access care at another hospital. The patient spent 5.5 hours in the waiting room in a wheelchair waiting for an ED stretcher. The patient's wish was to go home but the patient, who came alone, was too weak even to call for a taxi. The patient spent 91 hours in the ED before being admitted to an inpatient unit. The patient died several days later.

Long periods of stabilization/resuscitation in the ED

Some patients who required life-sustaining interventions were cared for in the ED for long periods of time despite needing care in an ICU.

In one case, a patient was brought in by ambulance feeling short of breath. In the ED, the patient was unable to breathe adequately and required a special mask and machine to support breathing. After a 24-hour period of care in the ED with this treatment, the patient deteriorated and required intubation (or placement of a tube into the windpipe) and mechanical ventilation. The patient was in the ED for a total of 39 hours before being moved to an ICU.

Interviews

The following are the common themes and related insights that were expressed by the interviewees to the QAC regarding ED crowding:

Factors that contributed to ED crowding

- Patients were older and more ill (had a greater number of concurrent illnesses) and required longer periods of time to assess and treat.
- Long waits to have consult service assess and admit. One of the issues was the existing teaching model that meant a physician with decision-making authority was often preceded by two or three trainees (medical students or residents), which delayed the final decision.
- ED inpatients (EIPs) patients in the ED who have been admitted to hospital but are waiting in the ED for a hospital bed, thereby tying up an ED bed.



- Inpatient services full refusing to admit an ED patient.
- Reduced number of patients being discharged on weekends.
- Shortages of nurses, resulting in some funded inpatient beds being closed due to the lack of staff.
- Inability to get inpatient services engaged in the issues and solving problems.
- Excessive number of patients requiring alternative levels of care. Alternate level of care (ALC)
 patients block inpatient beds that in turn were increasing the number of EIPs. The ALC issue was not
 given as much attention as other higher-profile initiatives.

Management of ED crowding

- Capital Health's administrators were acutely aware of the ED crowding issues but it was a very complex issue to fix.
- There was increasing ED physician frustration with the inability of Capital Health to relieve the pressure on the EDs. Administrators were willing to engage in discussions about the issues but there was little if any noticeable, sustained change.
- The tension between ED physicians and administration increased over time. ED physicians would call senior administrators on call in the evening or at night when the EDs were gridlocked with EIPs and from some of them would get a response akin to 'what do you want me to do?'. There was a sense of resignation that the administrators were powerless to help much during crises.
- The University of Alberta's Department of Emergency Medicine has a national and international reputation yet the expertise in that department was seldom used to formulate strategic plans for dealing with ED crowding.
- There was too much dependency on external consultants to do the analysis, and evaluation and recommend improvements without an attempt to use local expertise.
- Physicians felt that there was a lack of transparency with data and they were not successful at being engaged with decision-making.

ED physicians advocating for improvement and the former Capital Health's response

- Physicians tried advocating at multiple levels and through several different groups within hospital sites, within the region, and province-wide.
- Physicians became politically active due to the lack of results from advocating within Capital Health.
- There were no direct requests to stop advocating but there was a definite sense of indirect requests. There were no direct threats to ED physicians but physicians felt vulnerable because they knew some of the care they were providing was not optimal, due to the suboptimal environment in the ED where care was being provided. However, physicians felt that if cases were formally reviewed, then they – rather than the system – might be held accountable for the quality of care, including adverse patient outcomes.



Approach used to review cases where patient outcomes might have been compromised due to delays within the ED

• The former Capital Health quality assurance process to review cases of poor patient outcomes that was undertaken by administrators or non-ED reviewers seemed to focus on assessing individual performance rather than system and patient factors. Healthcare providers found this intimidating and felt the process perpetuated a perception that physicians and other frontline providers were going to be held accountable in cases where patients' care was seriously compromised by ED crowding.

Emergency Services and System Capacity (ESSC) project

- Few individuals who were interviewed could remember either the name of the ESSC project or even that there was a project designed to address ED crowding.
- Some ED physicians recalled that a report had been completed about the (then) current state of system issues that were contributing to ED crowding and potential solutions. (The QAC surmised these individuals might have been referring to a report that the external consultants prepared in 2006 as part of Phase I/II of the ESSC project.) Still, no physician believed they had actually seen a copy of a report that had to deal with current state of, or strategic plans to deal with, ED crowding.
- None of the interviewees was familiar with the final evaluation of the ESSC project. While some of the interviewees could name some of the design elements (e.g., TLP, ED navigators – see page 33), almost none of them could describe the ESSC project in any detail or describe the comprehensive plan behind the ESSC project.

Promising practices

- The General Internal Medicine (GIM) services at the UAH admit a large number of the medical patients at this site. In 2010 these services began the Care Transformation project, the goal of which was to consolidate patients to their 'home-base' units. Prior to this project, patients who were admitted to one of four GIM services could be placed on one of 13 different units. These patients are termed 'off-service' and being placed in units not designed for their particular needs created incredible inefficiencies for the team, which contributed to increased length of stay and delayed responsiveness to the ED. For example, a patient in early pregnancy with severe congenital heart and lung disease could be admitted to an orthopedic ward. By being allowed some authority over the location for patients' admissions and by actively working to transfer these 'off-service' patients back to the GIM's home unit, many efficiencies and improvements were gained. These improvements shortened patients' length of stay (LOS), enabled the GIM services to respond sooner to the ED for consult requests and, importantly, got patients out of the ED and into inpatient beds sooner.
- The Rockyview General Hospital (RGH) in Calgary has recently piloted the ability to have available nearly real-time electronic information about several ED performance measures (e.g., time from triage by a nurse to the time when a patient is first seen by the ED physician, decision-to-admit times, and time from decision to admit until an admitted patient leaves the ED). These measures are being used collaboratively to engage ED and admitting physician groups, as well as inpatient units, on the times that fall within their accountability. This is an excellent initial step towards building a framework of appropriate accountability and authority that will allow for continuous improvement.


A project launched at UAH in 2010 has improved patient care. Whereas before, for example, a patient in early pregnancy with severe congenital heart and lung disease could have been admitted to an orthopedic ward – clearly not designed or intended to provide the care she would need – patients are now being cared for more often in the appropriate unit. It has led to shorter lengths of stay, quicker responses to the ED, and shorter wait times for ED patients needing an inpatient bed.

Capital Health's emergency department crowding strategic plan

In Alberta, ED crowding was not a new issue in 2005. The Calgary Health Region had been the focus of the Motta inquiry in 2002/2003.² ED physicians in both Calgary and Edmonton had been advocating with senior administrators for several years in an attempt to have more focused attention on, and resources committed to, the issue so that measureable improvements could be realized. Capital Health made a decision to engage external consultants for assistance in developing a strategic plan for the region that would address and improve ED crowding. In early 2006 the Emergency Services and System Capacity (ESSC) project was started. Recognizing that ED crowding was a wider system issue, the project was set up to address issues of patient flow into and out of the ED. There were three phases to the project: I. Assessment; II. Design of intervention strategies; III. Implementation and evaluation. The external consultants facilitated the first two phases of the project. The impact of the project was formally evaluated in the spring of 2009, looking at results up to the end of December 2008.

Phases I and II of the project involved identifying opportunities for improvement. Recognizing that one issue that led to crowding was the number of admitted patients waiting in ED beds due to a lack of inpatient beds, the consultants evaluated inpatient average length of stay (ALOS) in Capital Health, benchmarking its four major acute care hospitals to other similar hospitals in Canada. (The UAH, given its role as a teaching hospital, was benchmarked to different hospitals than were the other acute care sites in Edmonton.) Comparisons were made across similar patient groups using the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) data on diagnostic groups (case mix groups or CMGs). Capital Health's inpatient ALOS was higher than the mean of other hospitals when patients were compared across the most common CMGs (medical/surgical only). It was estimated that Capital Health could add the equivalent of 135 acute care beds by reducing ALOS to the mean of the Canadian comparison hospitals. These were referred to as 'saveable days'. By saving days through reducing ALOS, a calculation was made that there would then be more available space for ED inpatients without additional cost.

The ESSC project leadership elected to pursue 15 major interventions across the continuum of care, focused primarily on four areas or issues: the ED, inpatient bed management, inpatient care management, and community care services. In addition there were a few overarching system initiatives. The 15 interventions are briefly described below. The original target date for project completion was March 2008, but after the project was launched and progress was monitored a decision was made to extend the date to December 2008.

Emergency department

• ED navigator for patients: A new position in the ED providing comfort, assistance, and information to patients and families as well as monitoring patients for changes in their health status.



- Triage liaison physicians (TLPs): A role designed to improve patient flow through the ED and assist with initial assessment of patients, taking all phone calls regarding urgent/critical patients coming to the ED, liaising with Emergency Medical Services, and coordinating ED patient consults.
- ED care coordinators: A new role designed to review the medical necessity for admission with the TLP and to work with Community Care Services (CCS) to determine whether to admit or to return CCS patients in the ED to their community location.
- ED clinical practice guidelines: Designed to allow more timely initiation of tests or procedures by the TLP or triage nurse. The tests and procedures would be linked to research-evidence-based guidelines for best practices and could be implemented sometimes without having to wait for a patient to be given an ED stretcher and a full assessment by an ED physician. For example, a patient presenting with chest pain could have an EKG and blood tests ordered at the stage of triage by the triage nurse.
- ED patient service plan: Provided new training and support to ED staff to improve the ED patient experience (e.g., ED staff customer service training, information brochures, patient pager system, ED navigator's 'comfort cart', and TVs for waiting rooms that could provide information and messages to patients).
- Physician consult assignments: A new process designed to support timely decision-making about ED patient admission and patient placement with an inpatient service by using decision algorithms.

Inpatient bed management

- Site-based centralized bed-hub: New roles and positions were created to manage and coordinate acute care beds in each of the four acute care sites. The roles were created with the expectation that they would improve a site's ability to align supply and demand. Each site bed-hub exchanged information during daily regional bed calls with other sites, the CCS access hub, regional patient transport office, and regional mental health.
- Escalation plan and full-capacity protocol: Introduced a new plan for situations when the number of ED inpatients (EIPs) who were awaiting an inpatient bed reached a specified threshold at which point the EIPs would be moved to overcapacity bed locations on inpatient units.

Inpatient care management

- Care management model (focus on length of stay and discharge planning): New roles were developed for care managers and coordinators who were responsible for directing care management processes and ensuring that patient care/discharge plans were carried out and working to reduce patient discharge delays.
- Inpatient physician advisors: A new physician role that was intended to be a resource for site care coordinators to help resolve problems and educate physician colleagues about care management.

Community Care Services (CCS)

• Centralized access bed-hub: A process established to manage admission from acute care and the community to all types of community care beds ensuring equitable flow of patients requiring CCS.



• Crisis intervention team: New roles were envisioned to create a team that could respond to a patient health crisis in a community care setting, providing short-term interventions that would avoid an ED visit or acute care admission.

Overall

- Acute care to community transitions workgroup: Focused on improving transitions for patients moving from an acute to a community care setting and also considered opportunities to plan transitions of complex patients from acute care to the community.
- Interface management process: Development of a process to improve communication (information about diagnoses made, treatments administered or started, and patient status) between the EDs and primary care physicians or community care services when a patient had been seen in the ED and discharged home or admitted to an inpatient bed.
- Care management and ED 'dashboard' (measurement): New measures that reflected input, throughput, and output functions were illustrated and shown in a 'dashboard' format so that the project team and operations managers/directors could monitor progress and make continuous program improvements. These 'dashboard' reports were produced weekly.

The ESSC project had a plan for evaluation that was designed to assist the ESSC project team with implementing the project and developing performance indicators and standard reports. The ultimate goal was for the evaluation to measure the extent to which the ESSC project achieved important benefits for patients, staff and system capacity. Surveys of physicians, staff, and ED patients were conducted but the last one did not take place until after the ESSC project evaluation report was completed.

Findings

ESSC project final evaluation

- Project costs: Total projected costs, which do not include costs of external consultants, from October 2006 to December 2008 were \$18.74 million plus an additional \$0.42 million for supplies, less staff deployment (\$5.60 million), for final projected costs of \$13.57 million. There were \$0.88 million temporary costs (until the end of December 2008) for the implementation team. Actual costs were expected to be much lower than this (approximately \$9.6 million) due to incomplete project implementation (see below). Actual ESSC project spending could not be reported because individual sites tracked project costs in different ways and through different types of cost centres.
- Implementation: Of the 15 ESSC project approved design solutions, by the completion of the project in 2008, nine of them had been implemented. The six solutions that were not implemented included:
 - ED care coordinators
 - ED clinical practice guidelines
 - Physician consult assignments
 - Inpatient physician advisors
 - Crisis intervention team



- Interface management process.
- Medical or surgical 'saveable days' were not realized during the ESSC project. There was no
 reduction of ALOS for medical or surgical patients in 2007 or 2008 compared to 2006, which is also
 reflected in the finding of no increase in the number of medical or surgical patient discharges.
- Savings from reducing the staff and other costs required to care for EIPs were projected to be over \$4 million. This was not realized as the number of EIPs over the time of the project did not change.
- Emergency patient LOS did not decrease overall nor did LOS for admitted patients.
- There was no reduction in Emergency Medical Services handover time (the length of time required for EMS staff to turn responsibility of a patient over to ED staff and hence allow the EMS crew to be available for other 911 calls in the community).
- Acute care EDs were almost continuously over EIP thresholds for their full-capacity protocol, suggesting that some or all of these beds were almost always in use.
- There was no sustained increase in demand for ED services over the three-year period (2006–08).
- For the four EDs, on average there were 19 additional inpatient admissions per week (3 per cent increase) in 2008 compared with 2006.
- Increases in numbers of beds from January 2007 (implementation of ESSC project) to December 2008:
 - ED stretchers: 1.9 per cent increase (156 to 159)
 - Acute care inpatient beds: From January 2006 to January 2007 there was an increase of 105 beds (1,910 to 2,015 (5.5 per cent)). The number of funded medical beds increased. The actual functional increase was quite limited and variable, however, due to 'blocked beds'. (Blocked beds represent those beds that, in some months, could be 'blocked' or closed because of staff shortages, infection control, or room renovation.) The number of funded surgical beds remained stable over the project until the fall of 2008 when there was an increase; again, blocked beds reduced the functional number of surgical beds.
 - Over-capacity beds represent an extra inpatient bed that was not part of the usual complement of beds on a particular unit. The total number of over-capacity beds began with 48 beds and increased to 72 beds across the four acute care sites over the time of the project.
 - Community Care Services (CCS) beds: There was a 17.1 per cent increase (1,070) in the number of community beds from 6,262 to 7,332.
- At the same, time, there was an increasing trend in the number of inpatients waiting for a CCS bed. Although CCS bed capacity steadily rose over the period of the ESSC project, it did not keep pace with the increase in demand.
- Introduction of the TLP shifts had a small positive effect in reducing the number of ED patient 'walkouts'; that is, patients who left the ED either without being seen or against medical advice. However, there was no sustained impact on ED patient length of stay.



- Patient/family concerns and commendations specific to the ESSC project were recorded: The specific ESSC project-linked change that raised the most public concern was the placement of patients in full-capacity protocol (FCP) beds, especially at the UAH site. (At that hospital, FCP beds were located in semi-private rooms, which meant that there were three patients in a room designed for two patients.) Patients and families were asked about positive experiences with ESSC project interventions; all commendations were related to the ED patient navigator role.
- Critiques (from the project evaluation) of the ESSC project:
 - The project scope and scale was extremely broad.
 - The design solutions had a limited evidence base; the rationale for, and the linkages between, the different design elements and the expected results were not clear. In addition, introduction of standardized design solutions across sites may have decreased local physician and staff enthusiasm, empowerment, and participation.
 - There was not enough engagement of acute care site personnel (especially frontline managers and staff) in planning. Physicians for the most part were never successfully integrated into the project governance and management structure, despite attempts to involve them.
 - Organizational readiness to change was not assessed at the level of the frontline staff or physicians. There were no incentives for most physicians and frontline staff to change the way they worked so as to align with the project. The long-term benefits of ESSC project to patients, staff and physicians—and the specific behavioural changes required of them—were unclear.
 - ESSC project governance and management roles, responsibilities and accountabilities were not always clear, especially at the site level. Accountability for project outcomes, including who was responsible for achieving certain outcomes by certain times—was unclear
 - The evaluation plan was developed and most performance measures were identified after the project was already underway. Only two ESSC project performance targets were set (other than the original Capital Health Executive 'saveable days' target). There was no formal ongoing measurement of processes once implemented to ensure that design solutions maintained strength, consistency and quality over time.
 - Beyond the first few months of the project there was limited formal communication about implementation progress or results to the staff members of the organization at large or to the public.
 - Early in 2007, the response of the Capital Health's executive to ED crowding and the advocacy efforts of physicians resulted in quicker implementation of full-capacity protocol, which may have compromised people's support for subsequent design solutions. During the final year of the ESSC project, restructuring within Alberta Health Services created organizational uncertainties that further undermined the implementation of some of the design elements.

Minutes of Capital Health committees

The minutes from three Capital Health committees (Board of Directors, Capital Health Executive Committee, and Regional Medical Advisory Committee) were examined for 2003/04 to 2008 to



determine references to or mentions made of plans intended for the ED crowding issues and the ESSC project in particular.

- Board of Directors: The issue of ED crowding or the ESSC project was never raised as an independent agenda item.
- Capital Health Executive Committee: The ESSC project was a regular agenda item; however, the ESSC project was an item for information and there were no regular performance measures brought forward or discussed at the meetings.
- Regional Medical Advisory Committee: ED crowding and the ESSC project was never raised as an independent agenda item.

Provincial administrative data review

The administrative data were analyzed and are first presented by geographic site and then according to the 'input – throughput – output' model of ED patient flow (Figure 1). The analysis was undertaken to highlight important system factors that contribute to patient flow barriers/ED crowding and to address some fundamental issues. For example, the question was posed: 'Are the worsening waiting times for patients coming to EDs related to consistent increases in the number of patients presenting for care?' Data were analyzed over several years to draw comparisons and illustrate how changes in different system factors have or have not correlated with changes in ED crowding/waiting times.

Results for the former Capital Health and individual hospitals in Edmonton have been compared to those for the former Calgary Health Region and the former Chinook Health Region (Chinook). Geographical data for the former Capital Health and Calgary Health Region (e.g., population base and facilities within the geographic area) are comparable to the current Edmonton and Calgary zones, respectively, within the current structure of Alberta Health Services. However, this is not the case for the former Chinook and the current Alberta Health Services South zone. Therefore the report refers to the Edmonton Region/Zone, the Calgary Region/Zone and Chinook, meaning the former Chinook.

Calgary was used as a comparator to Edmonton because of similarities in patient demographics and the range of health services provided. Since some of the system factors in Calgary have historically been different from those in Edmonton, the comparison between the two cities allowed additional conclusions to be drawn about important system factors that contribute to the problem of ED waiting. A third comparison was made with the former Chinook Health Region. It was chosen because of strategic decisions made by that former region's executive, which improved ED patient flow over several years. The 'Chinook story' is highlighted in the next section.

Much of the data for this analysis were derived from the Calgary and Edmonton ED information systems. Calgary had a functioning electronic information system that predated Edmonton's. Comparisons between the two EDs are therefore only possible dating back to the start of Edmonton's system in 2005. Data about inpatients (number of acute care beds, rates of occupancy, and LOS) are derived from a different data source so they can be compared farther back in time. The former Chinook Health Region did not have a separate ED information system and thus for some of the data presented it was not possible to compare results.

Most of this analysis focuses on the four acute care adult sites in Edmonton (University of Alberta Hospital or UAH; Royal Alexandra Hospital or RAH; Misericordia Community Hospital or Mis; and



Grey Nuns Community Hospital or GN) and the three acute care sites in Calgary (Foothills Medical Centre or FMC; Peter Lougheed Centre or PLC; and the Rockyview General Hospital or RGH). Patients in both Edmonton and Calgary have access to other sites they can visit for ED care (Figure 4). Although more patients are seen each year in Calgary than in Edmonton in the urgent care centres and EDs combined, in the fiscal year 2010/11 there were approximately 10 per cent more visits to the acute care ED sites in Edmonton than in Calgary. Approximately nine per cent of ED visits in Edmonton are by patients from outside that region/zone compared to four per cent for both Calgary and Lethbridge.



Figure 4. Total patient visits to emergency departments and urgent care centres by region/zone and site for fiscal year 2009/10

Inpatient beds in Calgary and Edmonton are reasonably comparable; however, there are a few differences between the two centres that are acknowledged:

Edmonton has additional specialized inpatient care beds in hospital settings that are separate from the four main acute care sites for patients requiring rehabilitation (Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital), cancer treatment (Cross Cancer Institute), and psychiatric care (Alberta Hospital Edmonton). In contrast, in Calgary, patients who require rehabilitation, such as those who have suffered a stroke, undergo rehabilitation at one of the three acute care hospitals and often in the Foothills Medical Centre (FMC) because there is no stand-alone rehabilitation facility. Although Calgary does have a separate facility for the treatment of cancer, the Tom Baker Cancer Centre (TBCC), the TBCC does not have any inpatient beds. Cancer patients who require inpatient services in Calgary are admitted to one of the three acute care hospitals and most are admitted to the FMC. Comparing data about 'discharges' of patients from acute care facilities in Edmonton versus Calgary must therefore be interpreted within the context of the location where the care is provided.



- More acute care bed days are used in Edmonton hospitals to look after patients from outside that zone ("imports") compared to Calgary or Chinook (14.3 per cent versus 5.6 per cent versus 3.2 per cent, respectively, for the fiscal year 2010/11), whereas a greater percentage of Chinook patients receive care in another region's/zone's beds ("exports") compared with Calgary or Edmonton (12.8 per cent versus 1.4 per cent and 1.4 per cent, respectively).
- Edmonton (UAH) looks after all Alberta patients undergoing heart, lung, and liver transplants while Calgary (FMC) looks after all Alberta patients requiring bone marrow transplants.

In the following analysis data are presented about either (1) the population of patients cared for in a region/zone, or (2) patients cared for in a particular hospital. When data about regional acute care (inpatient) beds are presented, the data include beds available at the Cross Cancer Institute and the Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital. However, the data do not include beds at Alberta Hospital (which provides care for psychiatric patients only).

Geographic comparison between Calgary, Chinook, and Edmonton

Waiting times for ED care: The average time patients spent waiting to be assessed by an ED physician and how this time changed over six years in Edmonton, Calgary, and Chinook is illustrated in Figure 5.

Figure 5. Average time spent by emergency department patients waiting to see a physician after being assessed by triage at city adult hospitals by fiscal year and region/zone



Standards established by the Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians (CAEP) for maximum wait times experienced by patients of different acuity (CTAS level) are useful in establishing how well or how poorly EDs in the three cities are able to perform. Figure 6 shows wait times for patients with a CTAS acuity level of III (require care emergently) in relation to the CAEP recommended standard.



Figure 6. Average time spent by emergency department patients waiting to see a physician after being assessed by triage at city adult hospitals by fiscal year and region/zone for patients classified as CTAS III



Chinook outperformed Calgary and Edmonton by a factor of two to three over the past five years for CTAS III (Figure 6) and CTAS II (Figure 7) patients with respect to waiting times for a patient's first contact with an ED physician.

Figure 7. Average time spent by emergency department patients waiting to see a physician after being assessed by triage at city adult hospitals by fiscal year and region/zone for patients classified as CTAS II



The length of time that patients spent in the ED is substantially different depending on whether they were discharged (not admitted) from the ED or were admitted to an inpatient bed. While there were insignificant differences between the three regions/zones for patients who were discharged from the ED, admitted patients in Edmonton on average waited considerably longer than did patients in Calgary. There



was also a striking difference in the duration of time admitted patients in Chinook Health Region spent compared to the two larger centres (Figure 8).

	25						
	20 -	•	-0				
	15 -	•			X	X	X
ູ່ທ	10 -						
our	5 -				-		
I	0	-					
	0	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11
Edmonton admitted		18.4	20.2	20.6	23.2	20.2	20.7
-B-Edmonton not admitted		4.6	5.0	5.1	5.5	5.3	5.4
	10.8	13.1	13.0	16.2	15.5	15.1	
-B-Calgary not admit	4.5	5.1	4.9	5.2	4.8	4.7	
Chinook admitted		3.6	3.6	3.7	3.7	3.6	
-B- Chinook not admi		2.7	2.6	2.6	2.6	2.6	

Figure 8. Average length of emergency department stay at city adult hospitals by fiscal year and region/zone for patients admitted and for patients not admitted to hospital

When comparing length of stay (LOS) for patients who were admitted (Figure 9a) and those who were discharged (Figure 9b), there were substantial differences between the different acute care sites in Edmonton and Calgary. For several years the Grey Nuns Community Hospital has had the longest lengths of ED stay for patients admitted to hospital; however, over the past year this measurement has improved, as have those for other hospitals in Edmonton and Calgary. The RAH has tended to have the longest lengths of stay for ED patients who are then discharged. The ED is able to influence the amount of time a patient remains in the ED and is discharged because the entirety of this patient's healthcare stay is within the confines of the ED. Once a specialist is consulted for the patient, the ED loses control over a patient's ED LOS as the availability of the specialist and the availability of inpatient hospital beds are major determining factors for that LOS.

Over a six-year period, ED patients in Edmonton who were admitted but waiting for a bed, waited considerably longer (around 20 hours) than did patients in Calgary (around 15 hours). In a striking contrast, admitted patients in Chinook Health Region consistently waited about four hours in the ED for an inpatient bed.



Figure 9a. Median length of stay for emergency department patients at city adult hospitals who are admitted to hospital by fiscal year



Figure 9b. Median length of stay for emergency department patients at city adult hospitals who are not admitted to hospital



Results by the input - throughput - output model

Input

One reason that EDs may become crowded and patients experience long waiting times or lengths of stay is that 'demand' (numbers of patients presenting to the ED for care) increases without matching increases



in 'capacity' (e.g., number of beds, number of personnel, and diagnostic testing). The population of both the Calgary and Edmonton regions/zones has increased significantly over the past decade (Figure 10) and resulted in some added demand for and on emergency services (Figure 11), especially in Calgary.

Has population growth resulted in large increases in ED demand?



Figure 10. Population of region/zone by year as of June 30 of each year





Another way of looking at these numbers is to consider the number of visits to the ED made for every 1,000 people living in or seeking care in the region/zone. Given their populations, Calgary and Edmonton currently have about the same number of visits per 1,000 population while Chinook has substantially more (Figure 12).







Urgent care centres (UCC) and advanced ambulatory care centres (AACC) provide assessment, diagnostic, and treatment services for unscheduled patients who require immediate medical attention for injuries or illnesses needing greater human and technical resources than are available in physicians' offices.⁴⁷ The growth in the number of ED/urgent care centre visits was greater in the Calgary Zone than the Edmonton Zone (Figure 11) over the past seven years. Whereas the demand for ED/urgent care centres services remained stable in the Edmonton Zone over many years (Figure 13a), the increase in demand seen in Calgary was primarily the result of increased visits to facilities outside of the city of Calgary (Figure 13b) (shown as non city of Calgary facilities).





Part A: I. Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care FINDINGS





Figure 13b. Number of emergency department/urgent care centre patient visits to Calgary region/zone facilities by fiscal year

Despite rising populations in the province and consequent rising demand on the EDs/UCCs, the total demand at the major acute care ED sites in Edmonton and Calgary increased only slightly and remained stable in Chinook (Figure 14). In short, the increase in demand on the EDs has been less than the population growth in the three urban centres; with the exception of the increase in Chinook in 2010/11.





Has the type of ED demand changed?

While the demand for services from the major acute care site EDs increased only slightly, the type of demand changed. Patients presenting for ED care have had higher acuity ratings (more CTAS I, II, and III patients), and more of them have required admission to hospital (Figures 15 and 16 respectively). In most



EDs there has been a slight upward trend in the percentage of older (65 years of age and up) patients who attend the ED (Figure 17). These data would support the observations made by ED physicians that patients who present for care have more complicated conditions now than they did several years ago; thus, these patients often take longer to assess and treat in the ED.





Figure 15b. Per cent of emergency department patient visits at Calgary city adult hospitals by CTAS level and by fiscal year









Figure 17. Per cent of city adult hospital emergency department patients who are 65 years of age or older by fiscal year





Are there too many 'low acuity' patients coming to the ED and using up constrained resources?

Over the years a commonly held belief has been that ED crowding is primarily a result of too many 'low acuity' (CTAS IV and V) patients coming to the ED. Compared with national averages published by the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI), the major acute care sites in Edmonton and Calgary have a low percentage of CTAS IV and V visits. CIHI ED data are collected only for approximately onethird of all ED visits nationally. (Its database includes data from all EDs in Ontario, one in Prince Edward Island, four in Nova Scotia, two in British Columbia, seven in Manitoba, and one in the Yukon.).⁴⁸ CIHI reports that 38.1 per cent of the visits in 2009/10 captured in its database were by patients who were classified as CTAS IV and that approximately seven per cent of the visits were by patients who were classified as CTAS V (total CTAS IV and V were 45 per cent). In contrast, during the same time period, the percentage of CTAS IV and V patients in Edmonton's major acute care EDs was 28 per cent and in Calgary it was 19 per cent (Figure 15a and 15b) and the percentage has been trending downwards. Considering all ED/urgent care centre visits in Calgary in fiscal year 2004/05, 26 per cent of the triage levels IV and V cases were treated at the major acute care sites. In contrast, by fiscal year 2010/11, only 14 per cent of the triage levels IV and V cases were treated there. In Edmonton the change was not as dramatic: 47 per cent of the triage levels IV and V cases were treated at the major acute care sites in 2004/05, dropping to 42 per cent in 2010/11.

Throughput

The length of time that ED patients wait for various types of services can provide insight into where the major bottlenecks (constraints) are that prevent them from being discharged home or admitted to an inpatient bed. A patient's ED 'journey' can be broken down into six or seven broad steps (Figure 18), although not all patients require all these 'services' on their journey. To examine the durations for each step requires determining the times at which each of the services were provided. In EDs without an ED information system, most of these times are not captured electronically. In Calgary times are captured electronically for most patients for steps A, B, C, D, F, G, H, and I. Times for lab and diagnostic imaging (DI) are captured in different information systems and are not readily available for analyzing the journeys of individual ED patients without some challenging efforts to link databases. This linkage was not performed for this analysis; however, many of these times were captured by manual data extraction in the chart reviews of the UAH ED patients. The Edmonton ED information system captures the same data as does Calgary's, although the time that it took a patient to be placed in a bed in the ED (Step C) was not available as of the writing of this report. Neither the Calgary nor Edmonton information systems accurately capture times for when patients in the ED were first seen by a consultant (Steps F and G).





The time that it takes a patient to go from Step A (entry to the ED) to Step H (when a decision is made to admit or discharge a patient) is considered the 'throughput time'. The time between steps H and I – for



admitted patients – reflects issues regarding output (see below). In this analysis it was not possible to carry out a detailed analysis of different throughput times because of the limitations of the available data. The length of time patients wait to see a physician after first contact (triage) is shown in Figures 19a (Edmonton) and 19b (Calgary). The Calgary time is subdivided into time to a bed (white), or Steps A to C, and from bed to a physician (purple), or Steps C to D. Although these times would appear relatively short, they are actually excessive compared with the Canadian guidelines (as has already been highlighted in Figures 5 to 7). The time taken to make a decision to admit or discharge a patient is on average four to five times as long as the total of Steps A to D and represents six to seven hours. This time is similar in Edmonton and Calgary (Figures 19a and 19b, beige bar segment) and there has been little change in this time over the past six years. Based on the analysis of lab and DI waiting times it would not appear that a substantial portion of this time is spent by the patient waiting for laboratory testing or diagnostic imaging. As well, a major component of the duration of time from first physician contact until a decision to admit is the time spent waiting for a consulting service to respond to the request for involvement in a patient's care and then the time it takes for the service to make a decision about what to do with the patient.



Figure 19a. Average time spent in different stages by patients visiting Edmonton city adult hospital emergency departments who were admitted to hospital by fiscal year

Hours



Figure 19b. Average time spent in different stages by patients visiting Calgary city adult hospital emergency departments who were admitted to hospital by fiscal year



Hours

Output

Waiting for an inpatient bed

Over the past five to six years, the time from when a decision is made to admit a patient until the patient leaves the ED to go to an inpatient unit has been 30 to 40 per cent longer in Edmonton than in Calgary (Figure 8; Figures 19a and 19b). Both the total amount of time spent waiting for an inpatient bed and the percentage that this represented of total ED length of stay substantially increased in fiscal year 2008/09 in both cities. Historically, in Edmonton, the Misericordia Community Hospital and the Grey Nuns Community Hospital have had the longest ED lengths of stay for patients admitted to hospital (10 to 25 per cent longer than the UAH or RAH). This is important because the time that a patient spends waiting for an inpatient bed adds nothing of value to the care that patient receives and indeed takes away from the care's value because of delays in treatment as well as the general discomfort endured by the patient while in a crowded ED versus a bed on a quieter nursing unit. In addition, the fact that the patient remains in the ED means that the space is not available for another patient and is therefore a waste of limited ED resources. Furthermore, although information was not specifically sought about this topic, in some EDs difficulties arise when ED nurses are expected to function as nursing unit nurses and to provide what is often considered to be specialized inpatient nursing skills in which they may not have training or experience. In response some hospitals have moved inpatient nurses into the ED to care for EIPs. While this helps the ED, the nursing units then suffer relative shortages in staffing and a decline in morale. Although fewer than 20 per cent of ED patients are admitted (19.8 per cent in Calgary; 15.6 per cent in Edmonton; 12. 2 per cent in Chinook Health Region), these 'admitted' patients occupy a disproportionate amount of ED bed space (40 to 45 per cent). This is shown in Figure 20. Although data for the fiscal year



2010/11 is shown, the relative percentage of bed hours for admitted patients versus non-admitted patients has not changed substantially over the past six years.



Figure 20. Per cent of city adult hospital emergency department patients who are admitted to hospital and per cent of total ED patient time that admitted patients used (fiscal year 2010/11)

Consistent with other reports^{16,17,18,49,50,51,52} and the experiences of ED Medical Directors,⁵ issues related to output in Edmonton and Calgary represents the major factor leading to ED crowding and extended wait times. Admitted ED patients waiting for an inpatient bed are typically referred to as boarded patients or emergency inpatients (EIPs). These patients occupy ED bed space that could be used for newly arriving patients. The number of beds that EIPs used is shown in Figure 21a (Edmonton) and 21b (Calgary). This number is calculated at a single point in time of the day (12:00 pm), just as EDs are facing the highest number of patients presenting each hour (or patient arrival rate). Figures 21a and 21b show that at noon, on 20 per cent of the days, there would be at least this number of EIPs in the EDs. The number of EIPs has been relatively constant at the Grey Nuns Community Hospital and Misericordia Community Hospital over the past six years. Although these two hospitals have lower total numbers of EIPs than do the other acute care sites in Edmonton and Calgary, as a percentage of total ED beds in the hospital they are similar. Starting in 2008 and continuing until the end of fiscal year 2010/11, about one-third of available ED beds in Edmonton and Calgary's major acute care sites were unavailable 20 per cent of the days of the year (70 days) at the beginning of the busiest time in the ED because of EIPs.

Over the past five to six years, patients in Edmonton EDs are waiting 30 to 40 per cent longer than ED patients in Calgary to be moved to an inpatient unit after a decision is made to admit them.



Figure 21a. 80th percentile of number of occupied city adult hospital emergency department beds taken by emergency inpatient (EIP) patients at 12:00 noon by site and fiscal year quarter – Edmonton



Figure 21b. 80th percentile of number of occupied city adult hospital emergency department beds taken by emergency inpatient (EIP) patients at 12:00 noon by site and fiscal year quarter – Calgary



Several health systems have established targets for ED LOS. The National Health Service in the UK set four hours as the maximum LOS for all ED patients; Ontario set targets of four hours and six hours, similar to Alberta's four hours and eight hours for discharged and admitted patients, respectively. In



2010/11, if Edmonton's acute care ED sites had reduced the LOS of EIPs from 11 hours (Figure 19a) to one hour (which would have taken them close to the target total ED LOS of eight hours) then the number of ED bed hours 'freed up' would have been approximately 385,000 hours or the equivalent of 44 ED beds. In Calgary, this same exercise would have freed up 240,000 hours or the equivalent of 27 beds.

The delay in ED patients being able to access an inpatient bed when the decision has been made to admit them represents the greatest constraint (or 'tightest bottleneck') and is therefore the issue that needs to be addressed first. Until this issue is resolved, all other efforts to improve efficiency and reduce the waiting times and lengths of stay of patients in the ED will have limited benefit. Thus, the focus of efforts to address ED waits and delays is dependent on how a healthcare system manages its hospital inpatient beds. Occupancy rates have to be low enough to be able to deal with the inevitable variability experienced in the demand for this resource. Optimal average occupancy rates are estimated to be approximately 85 per cent.⁵³ When a system has very high inpatient occupancy rates it becomes gridlocked and inefficient.

Occupancy of acute care beds

Acute care inpatient capacity in Edmonton and Calgary has been problematic for many years, peaking in 2008 (Figures 22a and 22b). In Edmonton, the Misericordia Community Hospital and the Grey Nuns Community Hospital experienced close to 100 per cent occupancy for several years. The inpatient occupancy rates for Calgary's hospitals were notably higher than Edmonton's between 2006 and 2010, especially when comparing the larger sites. In contrast Chinook Health Region kept inpatient occupancy rates below 90 per cent (Figure 22c).









Figure 22b. Calgary city adult hospital inpatient bed occupancy rates by fiscal year

Figure 22c. Chinook Regional Hospital inpatient bed occupancy rates by fiscal year





Number of acute care beds and their use

Occupancy rates are a function of the number of acute care beds, patient demand for the beds, and LOS. Figure 23 shows the number of acute care beds per thousand population in Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridgeⁱⁱⁱ and how these numbers have fluctuated over the years. The former Chinook Health Region purposely reduced its number of acute care beds in 2003 to free up funds that could then be used to invest in increasing the number of supportive living spaces. Despite the reduction in acute care capacity, Chinook Health Region was able to achieve and maintain desired inpatient occupancy rates (Figure 22c) by focusing on strategies that reduced LOS for patients.





Requirements for acute care bed capacity are primarily related to the population of patients that a region or zone serves; however, some of the acute care beds in Calgary and Edmonton are used for patients from outside that region or zone. Edmonton provides this service to a larger population of 'out-of-region' patients than does Calgary. In contrast, Chinook Health Region sends more of its patients to other regions for specialized care and therefore, on the basis of the population served (actual numbers of local patients to whom care is provided locally), Chinook Health Region requires fewer beds than Edmonton or Calgary. The data in Figure 23 are adjusted to the number of people in the local population. Similar data are shown in Figure 24, although those data are also adjusted for the number of 'out-of-region' patients (imports) looked after and the number of people sent to another region (exports) for care. The data are also adjusted for age since an older population requires more beds. The latter calculation is achieved by reviewing yearly the number of acute care beds that a fixed number of patients of a certain age would require. The data from Figure 24 shows that, once adjusted for import/export patients and age, Edmonton used more acute care capacity when compared to Calgary or Chinook Health Region.

ⁱⁱⁱ 'Lethbridge' refers to the Lethbridge hospital only. 'Chinook' refers to the former Chinook Health Region or its geographical equivalent under today's organizational structure.



Figure 24. Number of acute care beds used per 1,000 populations, adjusted for age, gender, and for import / export patients by fiscal year and region/zone



Chinook was able to maintain its lower occupancy rates because of lower average length of stay (ALOS) when compared Calgary and Edmonton (Figure 25). Chinook was also able to reduce its ALOS over the past eight years, unlike Calgary or Edmonton where ALOS steadily increased (which functionally reduces inpatient bed capacity).





ALOS was calculated after excluding maternal/newborn cases because the UAH does not have an obstetrics unit. Calgary and Edmonton have had similar ALOS over most of the past eight years although there has been a decline in Edmonton's in the past two years. When the ALOS in Calgary and Edmonton



is corrected for patients transferred from a major urban hospital to a sub-acute care facility or rural hospital the ALOS for the two cities was the same.

In the 2010/11 fiscal year there is variability in ALOS among Edmonton and Calgary hospitals (Figures 26a and 26b). The UAH has shown a decline in ALOS in the past two years compared to other Edmonton hospitals, coincident with the implementation of its Care Transformation project. Although the UAH has more complex patients, its ALOS is lower than the community hospitals. In Calgary, as expected, the Foothills Medical Centre has the highest ALOS, which in part reflects the more complex patient population at that facility.

Figure 26a. Average length of stay for patients admitted to city adult hospitals in Edmonton by fiscal year (excluding maternal/newborn)



Figure 26b. Average length of stay for patients admitted to city adult hospitals in Calgary by fiscal year (excluding maternal/newborn)





When the ALOS data are analyzed in more detail by looking at four common medical conditions for which patients are treated, Lethbridge has notably lower ALOS for all four (Table 7).

	Edmonton			Calgary			Lethbridge		
Condition	No. of cases	Average Age (years)	ALOS (days)	No. of cases	Average Age (years)	ALOS (days)	No. of cases	Average Age (years)	ALOS (days)
Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (COPD)	1,453	72	13.1	1,379	74	12.1	231	72	10.2
Pneumonia	1,152	61	12.7	1,303	66	12.2	349	56	9.0
Heart failure	888	77	14.4	896	78	14.3	179	79	14.2
Enteritis (bowel inflammation)	506	48	5.2	563	60	7.5	157	43	4.9

 Table 7a. Average length of stay in 2008/2009 fiscal year for patients with common medical conditions

Table 7b. Avera	ige length of sta	y in 2010/2011	l fiscal year	for patients	with common	medical
conditions						

	Edmonton			Calgary			Lethbridge		
Condition	No. of cases	Average Age (years)	ALOS (days)	No. of cases	Average Age (years)	ALOS (days)	No. of cases	Average Age (years)	ALOS (days)
COPD	1,582	71	11.5	1,422	73	10.8	246	73	8.7
Pneumonia	1,306	60	11.4	1,414	67	12.9	348	54	7.6
Heart failure	1,032	79	14.4	1,043	78	15.9	181	80	9.5
Enteritis	537	52	5.7	639	59	6.2	205	32	3.4

If Edmonton or Calgary reduced the ALOS by half a day for patients with these four conditions only, then both cities would add an additional six beds. If they were able to do this for all patients with common medical conditions, or if they were able to reduce the number of ALC days, then they might be able to 'create' more than 100 additional acute care beds in each region/zone at no additional cost to the system.

How much acute care capacity is taken up by patients requiring an alternate level of care (ALC)? How has the number of ALC beds changed over time?

Patients who need an alternate level of care at another facility stay in hospital until a bed is available at the facility they need. ALC patients take up the critical percentage of beds that would allow lower occupancy rates and the ability of hospitals to better manage the variability in their demand. Over the past decade, Edmonton, Calgary, and Chinook Health Region have taken different approaches to building long term care and supportive living facilities. These different approaches in part explain the disparity in the



number of ALC patients in each respective region's acute care beds. Figure 27 shows the percentage of acute care bed days that are taken up by ALC patients in Edmonton, Calgary, and Chinook. The reduction of ALC bed days in Chinook starting in 2002/03 represents a planned strategy to convert acute care beds to supportive living and long term care beds. Edmonton, more consistently and to a larger degree, opened more long term care, supportive living and other types of ALC beds than did Calgary. Although Calgary did open some of these beds, it wasn't enough to match the demands based on the growth in the population aged 65 years and older (Figure 28). While Edmonton started with more of these beds and has opened more over the past six to seven years compared to Calgary, Edmonton has consistently had more ALC bed days (when adjusted for the population aged 65 years and older) except for 2009/10.

Figure 27. Per cent of city adult hospital bed days that are used by patients requiring an alternate level of care (ALC) by fiscal year and region/zone



Figure 28. Long term care, supportive living, residential mental health, hospice and community support beds per 100,000 population aged 65 and older by fiscal year and region/zone



Part A: I. Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care FINDINGS



What is the source of demand for inpatient beds and how well do the regions manage variability in demand and variability in creating capacity?

When inpatient occupancy rates are very high (above 90 per cent) as in Edmonton and Calgary, managing variations in demand for services or resources is difficult, which then increases queue time and LOS. Another challenge with high occupancy rates is that the number of admissions (demand) has to closely align with discharges (capacity). Demand for inpatient beds comes from three major sources: patients admitted from the ED; patients admitted for scheduled procedures/treatment or investigations; and unscheduled patients transferred from another facility or outpatient clinics.

The pattern and sources of demand for hospital inpatient beds in Edmonton and Calgary is shown in Figures 29a and 29b. These figures, in which variability is depicted by the vertical lines, show two important features: (1) ED demand is much greater on weekend days than scheduled demand but they are almost equal during the week; and (2) more importantly, from the perspective of managing waiting, the variability in demand is much greater for scheduled admissions than for ED admissions. This is particularly evident on Mondays. In fact, this finding is a well-described paradox in many acute care institutions – the source of demand over which an organization has the most control (scheduled admissions) shows the greatest variability. The conclusion from this is that healthcare institutions in Calgary and Edmonton are not managing this variability for some reason. A key strategy for managing queues is to reduce (smooth) the variability in demand for a service.







Figure 29b. Average number of admissions at city adult hospitals by weekday and admission entry group in fiscal year 2010/11 – Calgary



Another source of variability is that of matching demand and capacity. Average demand (number of admissions) exceeds number of discharges predictably on certain days. The daily difference (number of patients) between admissions and discharges is shown in Figure 30; more admissions than discharges are represented by bars on the positive side or upper area of the figure, while fewer admissions than discharges are represented by bars on the negative side or lower area. The pattern of admissions exceeding discharges on Mondays and Tuesdays and the reverse pattern on Fridays and Saturdays are seen in all three regions; however, this pattern is amplified in Edmonton and Calgary. The Chinook Health Region's lower occupancy rates would have allowed it to cope with this variability without it necessarily translating into longer waiting times for admitted ED patients. In Calgary and Edmonton, though, with their much higher occupancy rates, the scenario of admissions surpassing discharges would more than likely have led to a worsening of EIP length of stay and ED crowding.

Variability in demand is much greater for scheduled admissions than for ED admissions, particularly on Mondays. This is a well-described paradox in many acute care institutions—the source of demand over which an organization has the most control (scheduled admissions) shows the greatest variability. Healthcare institutions in Calgary and Edmonton are not managing this variability.





Figure 30. Average difference in the daily number of admissions/discharges at city adult hospitals by day of week and region/zone in fiscal year 2010/11

Best practice review

From its inception as a regional health authority in June of 1994 to its dissolution in 2009, the Chinook Health Region (Chinook) articulated a clear vision for a regional healthcare delivery model in which care was 'integrated' to meet the needs of its residents. That is, there was an explicit understanding that each of the individual components of the healthcare delivery system would be more effective, and greater health benefits would accrue to residents, if each component operated as part of an integrated system instead of independent silos of care delivery. Informed by the successes of the Veterans Administration (United States) in achieving exemplary levels of quality and patient safety, Chinook leadership sought to reduce costs and improve quality and safety. In so doing, Chinook serves as a model for the effective regional delivery of healthcare.

Chinook served a population of approximately 150,000 residents in southwestern Alberta. In late 2011, Chinook had 274 beds distributed through nine service areas: 64 medical, 64 surgical, 41 psychiatric, 25 postpartum/gynecology, 11 pediatric, 14 ICU, 20 NICU, 20 sub-acute, and 25 specialized geriatric.

In 2005, long waits in the ED (for assessment of patients by ED physicians) and subsequent queues were prevalent in Chinook. While some regional health authorities may have seen and addressed these as ED issues alone, Chinook saw these problems as symptomatic of an integrated system of care delivery that was not functioning effectively. Every morning there would be "sleep-overs" in the ED: patients attending the ED at night and needing inpatient care but for whom no inpatient bed was available. Chinook understood that, while changes could be made to the way care was delivered in the ED – and



indeed had been – if the changes were undertaken in isolation then any benefits would likely be short lived and, worse, might result in problems elsewhere in the system.

Chinook Health Region leadership sought to reduce costs and improve quality and safety. In so doing, Chinook serves as a model for the effective regional delivery of healthcare.

ED congestion was not an isolated phenomenon in Chinook.⁵⁴ The acute care system was stressed and the staff were dissatisfied. There was unacceptably high occupancy on the inpatient units (90 per cent in surgery and 98 per cent in medicine); this constrained admissions, including patients from the ED. Inpatient beds were 'blocked', with ALC patients accounting for nearly seven per cent of patient days at one point. Additionally, 15 per cent of patient days were defined as 'off-service' (not on an inpatient unit that specialized in the clinical service the patients required).

The targets for improvement

Recognizing early on that improving ED patient flow and reducing ED LOS was dependent on addressing pressures in other parts of their healthcare system, the leadership of Chinook began evaluating opportunities for relieving pressure points across their system rather than focusing initially on the ED. To quote one of the leaders involved:

"You can measure how well your system is doing with the ED and inpatient performance metrics but that's the last place you would start to fix things."^{iv}

Community Care Services

Taking a system-wide approach to resolving its problems of ED crowding and inappropriate bed use, Chinook leadership sought to address what it determined to be the major factor: the lack of an appropriate mix of beds and services in the community to which patients could be discharged. If this was addressed, the backlog of (and future) ALC patients on the surgical and medical wards could be discharged sooner to an appropriate level of care. As documented by McIntosh-Murray and colleagues⁴¹ Chinook leadership identified early on the need to increase the capacity and type of care available in the community. This being done, patients could be discharged from the acute care hospital into the right care at the right place and at the right time.

This strategy had the potential to remove or at least minimize 'blocked' beds, making them available for new admissions. This initiative was successful; in fact enough acute care beds were freed up in the region that some could be closed. In part, Chinook's approach was to close relatively costly long term care

^{IV} A corollary to this might be that by focusing on one element of a system—the ED for example—may have negative effects elsewhere in the system.



(LTC) beds and to increase the level of nursing care provided in lodges to reflect what was actually needed by patients. Chinook executive had determined that many of the region's LTC beds were not being appropriately used; in one review only 20 per cent of LTC patients were deemed suitably placed. Chinook made enhancements to its supportive living and assisted living arrangements to complement LTC beds.

Addressing patient flow within the hospital

A second element of the system-wide approach to performance improvement was Chinook's Hospital Flow Initiative. Initiated in 2006,⁵⁵ this project has been judged successful in improving the patient's journey into, through, and out of the Chinook Regional Hospital. Seven teams made up of frontline staff and managers, along with a leadership committee, examined every aspect of a patient's hospital experience. The teams identified problems with flow, safety, and quality and tested initiatives to make improvements. All areas of the hospital were engaged in this work. Importantly, this initiative became an integral part of everyone's job.

Chinook's operational improvement teams focused on intensive care, emergency, surgical services, inpatient beds, diagnostic imaging, laboratory, and patient outflow. Each group charted the patient journey through the hospital focusing on input, throughput, and output. The teams participated in learning sessions inspired by the Institute for Healthcare Improvement. The leadership committee developed the infrastructure needed to complete the work and reviewed proposals for quality improvement before they were implemented.

McIntosh-Murray and colleagues describe some of the flow initiative's interventions.⁴¹

- The ED team reviewed the data describing patient arrivals, identified predictable patterns, and adjusted physician shifts accordingly. As a result, the average waiting time for low acuity/urgency (CTAS IV and V) patients decreased by approximately 30 per cent.
- The surgery team reviewed operating room (OR) times for procedures and made changes, generating an additional 13.7 hours of OR time each week.
- The laboratory team looked at how it provided service to the nursing units; an extra courier was added to transport such items as blood samples and delivery time improved by approximately 50 per cent.
- The diagnostic imaging team reworked access to CT scanning and reduced waiting times from 32 days to four days for outpatients and achieved same-day access for inpatients.⁵⁵

An overview of the results of the flow initiative shows a number of significant improvements,⁵⁴ most of which are sustained today:

With regard to bed use, occupancy on the two surgical wards declined from 90 per cent in 2006/07 to 83 per cent in 2010/11. On the two medical floors, occupancy declined from 96 per cent to 91 per cent. In that same period the percentage of off-service patient days decreased from 11 per cent to six per cent, and the percent of ALC patient days was reduced from seven per cent to less than one per cent.



At Chinook Regional Hospital, seven teams made up of frontline staff and managers, along with a leadership committee, examined every aspect of a patient's hospital experience. The teams identified problems with flow, safety, and quality, and tested initiatives to make improvements. All areas of the hospital were engaged in this work. Importantly, this initiative became an integral part of everyone's job.

As described above, the gains in ED and acute care performance were achieved through a system-wide integrated approach indicative of what has been labelled a high-performing healthcare delivery system.⁴⁶ This is characterized by a corporate vision for a continuous and comprehensive approach to improving quality and effective leadership from governance and management within a culture that engages all staff in achieving that vision. Chinook, since its inception in 1994 through to its assimilation into AHS in 2009, maintained its integrated region-wide focus on quality improvement. Chinook leadership sustained this vision over time and built trust between clinicians and managers at all levels, thus allowing and facilitating change to take place.

What set Chinook apart from other hospitals and regional health authorities facing acute problems with crowding and congestion is that Chinook sustained a belief that changes in the way care was delivered in the ED, while necessary to improve performance and safety, by themselves would not deliver the sought-after improvement in the quality of care across the region and across the continuum of care.

A second characteristic of a high-performing system that Chinook exhibited through its history is effective leadership, at the board and management levels, in a culture that engaged all staff. This characteristic was further described by Deloitte⁵⁶ in its 2007 review. Deloitte found evidence of visible leadership with a focused vision and strategy, a systems-thinking approach, and commitment to standardization and an integrated service delivery model.

Chinook culture – the attitudes and actions of all – was focused on patients' needs across the continuum of care. This is exemplified in the daily bed 'huddle', a short but highly operational meeting of managers from all areas within and outside the hospital, a practice that continues today. Those who cannot attend in person do so by phone. The explicit purpose of these meetings is to discuss patient flow and bed requirements in the hospital and in the community for that particular day. Should the total bed occupancy reach 95 per cent, a second huddle will be held to avoid unnecessary delays in patient care. Previously, each inpatient unit and department addressed, in isolation, its own needs for beds; the bed huddle has made patient flow across the system everybody's responsibility. The bed huddles reinforce Chinook's commitment to an integrated approach to care – key component of its culture.

Summary

While the literature on emergency department congestion and overcrowding describes many ED-specific interventions to improve quality, safety, and flow, this case study identified an alternative approach taken by a regional health authority in rural, southwestern Alberta that looked at each element of its delivery system in the context of the whole region. The approach and the successes enjoyed by Chinook are possible to achieve in larger urban or academic centres because the key elements of Chinook's success –



vision and leadership – can flourish in any environment as long as there is the will to do so. Chinook took its role as a health authority seriously and has been praised for its results. Others can learn from Chinook's success.

Postscript

With the disbanding of the Chinook Health Region in 2009 some staff engaged in the improvement initiatives left the system. Many remain and continue the work. At an AHS Board meeting in October 2010⁵⁵ the CEO reported that the performance improvements started in Chinook in 2006 had been sustained and that the quality processes remain in place in the AHS environment. The lesson is that system-wide quality improvement is possible; while making changes are not easy, the longer the problems are ignored then the harder the changes are to initiate.

What set Chinook apart from other hospitals and regional health authorities facing problems with crowding is that Chinook sustained a belief that changes in the way care was delivered in the ED, while necessary to improve performance and safety, by themselves would not deliver the sought-after improvement in the quality of care across the region and across the continuum of care.

Literature review

The literature review covered different types of interventions and strategies over four broad areas: input, throughput, output, and system-wide. A brief summary of the findings is presented below; details of the findings can be found in Appendix VI. Brief descriptions of the intervention are italicized and enclosed in square brackets.

Input interventions

- Media campaigns/diversions: [*an effort by a health region to inform the public about the appropriate use of EDs.*] There is no evidence that media campaigns reduce visits to (or demand on) the ED.
- Telephone health line: [a process whereby calls from people in the community are streamed through a central telephone service and are received, assessed, and managed by nurses following standardized protocols for advice or referrals to appropriate services]. A systematic review published in 2009 and a study from Quebec were both reviewed; conclusions were similar: There is some evidence that this intervention reduces primary care visits but there is little evidence that it reduces the number of ED visits and some evidence that it actually increases the number of ED visits.
- Ambulance diversions: [the practice of rerouting ambulances away from the closest ED; it is commonly used when an ED and/or hospital has exceeded its capacity to care for additional patients]. A comprehensive, systematic review was published in 2006. This strategy appears to be a commonly used tool in the management of ED crowding but its effects are unclear; the strategy has been found to delay time to treatment for some time-sensitive conditions, such as myocardial infarction.



• Walk-in clinics: [*internal or external ambulatory clinics dealing with minor illnesses and injuries, where services in an ED may not be required*]. Research on this topic was difficult to identify; the notion that opening walk-in clinics represents a solution for ED crowding seems tenuous at best.

Throughtput interventions

- ED navigators: [non-healthcare professionals who assist patients coming into the ED before their assessment in an ED bed]. There is no formal research evidence that could be identified that evaluated the impact of this intervention on lengths of stay (LOS) in the ED.
- Triage activities: [triage staff, who are usually nurses, attempt to prioritize patients according to their urgency for medical care by assessing chef complaint, vital signs, and other details such as nature and duration of pain]. The 2006 CADTH report⁵⁷ identified six studies examing the use of triage to address ED crowding. Two studies reported triage activities reduced waiting times; three studies reported that they increased them. Two studies reported a decrease in the number of patients who left without being seen and one study reported no change. The triage results are inconclusive.
- Triage nurse ordering: [triage nurses initate laboratory and radiology tests for patients who have specific medical and injury presentations]. In 2011 a comprehensive systematic review was published; a total of 14 studies were summarized. Methodologically all studies were judged as weak. The review concluded that there was some evidence that this intervention could reduce ED LOS, especially in cases of injury or suspected injury.
- Triage liaison physicians: [*physicians who work with triage staff to expedite the care of patients, based on medical need*]. A comprehensive systematic review was published in 2011 that synthesized 28 studies; 23 of these were judged to suffer from weak methodology. Based on two randomized controlled trials, physician triage reduced LOS in the ED, on average by 36 minutes compared with nurse-led triage, and one study showed a reduced time for initial physician assessment. While there is evidence that a TLP is an effective mechanism to mitigate the effects of ED crowding, more research is required before there is widespread implementation of this strategy as a mechism to reduce LOS in the ED.
- Rapid assessment zones (RAZ): [units within existing ED space adapted for clinician assessment and procedure; patients can have their investigations started, wait for results, and/or receive treatment in a chair or a stretcher]. In 2011 a comprehensive systematic review was published. Of the four studies that met predefined criteria for inclusion in the review, and only one whose methods were rated as moderately high quality, the conclusions were that low acuity patients (CTAS V) benefit (with reduced LOS) the most from an RAZ strategy; there is limited available evidence to support its implementation.
- Fast track areas for minor injuries/illnesses: [*a system that assesses and treats both acutely and minimally ill or injured ambulatory patients within an ED*]. A 2003 systematic review concluded that fast tracks were safe, did not compromise quality of care and were cost effective; however, it was acknowedged that the published literature was methodologically weak. For this report a literature search was conducted and no additional studies or information was found on this intervention. The conclusion was that there is some support (albeit the research is not robust) for a fast-track system in most high-volume urban EDs; however, the data are not applicable to rural EDs.


- Computerized physician order entry (CPOE): [physicians directly entering orders (e.g. lab, imaging, medications, and consultations directly into a computer rather than giving verbal or written orders to other ED staff]. No systematic reviews of this strategy were uncovered but there were several individual studies found via a search of the literature. Most of the studies focus on the barriers to the implementation of the CPOE (and change-management strategies to deal with these) but do not tend to focus on the benefits for ED patients. Only two studies were found that documented the impact of CPOE on LOS in the ED. To date there is sparse evidence that CPOE reduces LOS.
- Improving laboratory testing access: [*improving access/decreasing turnaround time for ED patients to laboratory testing*]. This element of care has been included in previous systematic reviews and additional studies were uncovered as part of this review. Point-of-care testing (lab tests performed in a lab set up in EDs rather than in a centralized lab) have been shown to reduce the turnaround time for obtaining lab results; however, there is limited evidence that such a service reduces LOS.
- Improving imaging access: [improving access/decreasing turnaround time for ED patients to imaging studies, including timely radiologist reporting]. No systematic reviews were uncovered that addressed this intervention; however, the concept has been included as part of a series of interventions. One study documented that having dedicated radiology staff and re-engineering the diagnostic imaging service reduced the time for patients to undergo these investigations. Still, the evidence that this approach leads to an overall reduction in LOS in the ED is lacking, though there is some evidence to support using this stategy to manage specific time-sensitive conditions (e.g., chest pain or stroke).
- Bedside ultrasound in the ED: [small diagnostic units that can aid an ED physician in detecting fluid or blood in trauma victims or in patients with suspected aneurysms or fluid around the heart]. There is reasonably robust evidence documenting the benefits of bedside ultrasounds for certain conditions and they do reduce LOS; however, it was thought that the significance of the findings may be controversial. On consideration, using bedside ultrasound more often was justified provided that issues of appropriate training and the monitoring of costs were undertaken.
- Nurse practitioners (NPs) in the ED: [nurses with advanced training who participate with physicians in the care of patients]. An American systematic review published in 2007 reported that several studies demonstrated reduced waiting times for patients that could be attributed to the presence of NPs. However, it was difficult to compare the studies directly or to combine results because of the mixed roles that NPs had in the different types of study designs. None of these reviewed studies had taken place in a Canadian setting. There have been isolated studies published in Canada that report reduced LOS for lower-acuity patients when NPs are involved and lower rates of patients leaving without being treated. The impact of NPs is likely context-specific and as a result the relevant literature remains limited.
- Physician/staffing models: [strategies that attempt to adjust physician and nurse schedules to accommodate changes in volume of patients during a 24-hour period or day of the week]. Studies of staffing changes have approached this question in unique ways, making it difficult to generalize results. In general these strategies have been found to reduce LOS in the ED, waiting times and patients who left without being seen. While there is support for volume-based staffing models, there are concerns about availability of well-trained and experienced emergency staff in North America, and without addressing other constraints (e.g., space to see patients) the benefit from increased staffing may not be realized. There is no high-quality evidence in support of this approach.



- Discharge facilitators: [staff (usally nurses) who assist clinicians with details regarding discharge patient planning]. There were only three limited studies that addressed this intervention; each used a different approach with different periods of follow-up. The specific nature of the study population makes it difficult to generalize about the effectiveness of discharge facilitators.
- Allied healthcare professionals: [social workers who work in the ED and assist clinicians with details regarding discharge patient planning and social services on an as-needed basis]. There were only a few quantitative studies on the role or impact of social workers in the ED, highlighting the lack of robust evidence about its effectiveness. As with other interventions, the use of social workers is very likely context-specific.
- Clinical practice guidelines/care maps: [recommendations for patient management that are based on systematic reviews of research evidence and designed to help clinicians with clinical decision making]. There is evidence of effectiveness in the acute care inpatient setting, but limited evidence that this approach reduces complications or LOS in the ED. Overall, topic-specific clinical practice guidelines, especially those with bedside tools such as care maps, may be most applicable and effective in an ED.
- Clinical decision rules: [a decision-making rule, designed from original research, that incorporates three or more variables from the patient history, physical examination, or simple tests that help clinicians with diagnostic or therapeutic decisions at the bedside]. These are unique components of clinical practice guidelines, often focusing on a specific diagnostic test or work up. The evidence for effective implementation of clinical decision rules is complex and the results are variable.
- Medical consultants in the ED: [many consultations in the ED are with general medical specialists to assist in decision-making and/or to admit a patient to hospital]. There has been limited research on consultations. A systematic review was published in 2008. Given the delays associated with consultation requests that have been identified in the literature, it would be expected that interventions to reduce consultation delays would greatly reduce LOS in the ED; however, based on available evidence, there is limited support for this type of intervention to date. A promising area appears to be that of increasing the interaction between ED physicians and hospitalists/general internists.
- Computerization: [an information system dedicated to the ED that enables physicians to sign up for patients and track them through the ED journey]. No systematic reviews dealing with ED information systems (EDIS) were identified; however, the literature search identified several qualitative studies and two relevant quantitative studies. Overall, EDIS appear to be effective in reducing LOS and the number of patients leaving without being seen, but the evidence is limited by the small number of studies and the variability in approaches; further research is required.

Output interventions

Clinical decision units (CDUs)/observation units (OUs): [specialized units designed to manage patients who require prolonged ED observation, investigation, and/or treatment]. The available evidence on CDUs/OUs is limited by the small number of studies, poor study methodologies, and incomplete reporting. It is unclear if the efforts required to establish a CDU/OU will affect patient flow and LOS.



- Medical admission units (MAUs): [short-stay unit in the hospital that functions in coordination with the ED for admitted patients; patient stay is usually less than 48 hours]. This type of intervention for improving patient flow is relatively new and therefore research evidence is scarce. What has been reported to date suggests MAUs may be effective for reducing ED and inpatient LOS; however, further research is required to determine if they are truly effective and economically feasibile.
- Full-capacity/over-capacity protocols (FCP/OCP): [protocols that are implemented to transport admitted ED patients to temporary care spaces thereby freeing up some ED capacity; the protocols are implemented when predefined critieria for ED crowding are met]. A comprehensive review was published in 2011 examing the effectivenes of FCP/OCP on ED crowding. One primary study and four studies of system-wide interventions that contained an FCP component have been reviewed. While some reports on FCP implementation are encouraging, there is limited available evidence to date to support FCP implementation.
- Inpatient bed capacity: [*the number of beds within a hospital, often reported as the percentage of beds occupied*]. There is consensus in the available literature that inpatient bed capacity is a significant factor in ED crowding. There does not appear to be any research published on interventions that increase inpatient bed capacity and its impact on LOS in the ED.
- Bed coordination: [the daily allocation of inpatient beds and balancing the supply of beds with multiple sources of demand; often involves team meetings, dedicated bed coordinators, and/or electronic bed-tracking tools]. Evidence is limited; what is currently available suggests that bed coordination and appropriate training may be effective in reducing ED crowding.
- Care maps/clinical practice guidelines (CPGs): [recommendations for patient management that are based on systematic reviews of research evidence and that are designed to help clinicians with clinical decision- making]. Although there is evidence that CPGs improve patient outcomes, their influence on hospital LOS is less understood. Current research is inconsistent regarding the effect of introducing CPGs within different hospital settings. The lack of adherence by physicians to CPGs, due to several internal and external barriers, has limited the effectiveness of these guidelines.
- Specialized inpatient teams responding to the ED: [a specific inpatient service that provides a dedicated service to the ED]. A single study of an acute care emergency surgery service being implemented in an Ontario teaching hospital (with before and after comparisons) showed reduced LOS for patients requiring general surgery consultation and improved overall ED crowding. Additional research is required about this promising approach.
- Increased long term care (LTC) beds: [LTC beds provide secure settings with 24-hour nursing care and supervision]. Since ALC (alternate level of care) patients use a lot of acute care beds (16 per cent in Ontario) they need to be considered when attempting to increase acute care inpatient bed capacity. No research studies were quoted that addressed the effect that increasing LTC/supportive-living facilities has on ED LOS; however, a positive effect is likely given that the two issues are tightly coupled.
- Inpatient discharge planning: [*discharge plans that are tailored to individual patients, the goal of which is to reduce LOS and unplanned readmissions to hospital*]. A systematic review was published in 2010 that included 21 studies (all randomized controlled trials) that compared individualized discharge plans to those with routine, non-individualized discharge care. Hospital LOS and



readmissions were significantly reduced in the group with individualized discharge plans, demonstrating that inpatient discharge planning is effective.

Discharge lounges: [areas within hospitals where admitted patients can be sent to wait on their day of discharge until arrangements (e.g., tranport, home-care interviews) can be made]. No studies could be found that specifically evaluated the effect of this strategy on reducing LOS in the ED or general admissions.

System-wide interventions

- Multi-faceted interventions: [a number of different interventions that are bundled together into a strategy that addresses ED crowding]. A previous comprehensive review evaluated 29 studies, 15 of which originated from the United States. Only one study was rated as high quality. The available evidence is limited by variability of interventions, poor methodologies, and incomplete reporting.
- Pay-for-performance incentive models: [an intervention in which providers (or their institutions) are rewarded for achieving a certain level of healthcare service]. Despite the widespread implementation of 'pay for performance' in some healthcare systems, evidence from the limited research into its impact shows mixed results. Concern has been generated that such approaches may change the focus from the quality of healthcare delivered to the volume of services supplied.
- Accountability frameworks: [a written document that articulates responsibilities and establishes clear expectations against which activities and productivity can be measured and results evaluated]. There are no studies of this intervention used alone. As part of the rule in the UK of the 'four-hour LOS', an accountability framework was introduced for hospital administrators and staff. Physician remuneration in the UK and Canada are different, however, and in the UK accountability was part of a wider, multi-faceted intervention.
- Benchmarking/reporting: [a process by which the performance of a unit is compared to similar metrics from similar units or to best practices from the healthcare field]. No systematic reviews of ED benchmarking exist and no primary studies of the intervention were identified. It seems unlikely that benchmarking without accountability or consequences can be evaluated in isolation. The evidence for the effectiveness of public reporting is lacking.



CONCLUSIONS

There were two objectives specified in the Terms of Reference for the emergency department (ED) part of the HQCA review:

- To determine whether the quality of care provided to, and the safety of the group of patients who accessed services at the UAH and were identified by the ED physicians at the UAH, was significantly compromised due to extended lengths of stay awaiting diagnosis and treatment in the ED.
- Based on the findings and analysis of the investigation and an analysis of current practices, make recommendations for system-level improvements in access and wait times for ED care.

Conclusions regarding the group of UAH ED patients

- The waiting times to see an ED physician experienced by a significant percentage of ill patients (CTAS II and CTAS III) identified by the UAH ED physicians in 2008, 2009, and 2010, and those patients identified by the QAC, far exceeded (by 10 to 20 times) Canadian guidelines (Table 3a) and expectations previously identified by ED patients as being reasonable.
- Once patients were able to access care in the UAH ED the QAC, overall, had no concerns about the quality of care provided by physicians and nurses, other than the crowded and at times, inappropriate physical space in which the care had to be provided.

The crowded space, the excessive waiting times for care, and at times the suboptimal space available to provide necessary care compromised patients' margins of safety.

- The crowded space, the excessive waiting times for care, and at times the suboptimal space available to provide necessary care compromised patients' margins of safety. The example of a patient who was in the ED several days after being discharged from hospital (after cardiac surgery), left the ED after five hours without being seen because of the long waiting time and returned to the ED the next day just before suffering a cardiac arrest illustrates how seriously safety margins had been compromised. In the list of patients identified by UAH ED physicians approximately one-third had time-sensitive conditions. These patients had similar waits for an ED bed and assessment by an ED physician as did the rest of the patients on the list, demonstrating that the system was incapable of responding faster for patients whose well-being was at more risk. This is additional evidence that the safety margins for these patients were substantially compromised.
- Although safety margins had been jeopardized, none of the patients identified by the UAH physicians or by the QAC died as a result of prolonged waiting in the ED. One patient, however, (as described above) met the QAC's definition of suffering serious harm due to excessive waiting.
- Patients who were suffering with pain waited unacceptably long times for medication due to the severe system crowding. Half of the patients with pain (which had been noted by the ED physicians) waited to receive analgesia for more than 4.5 hours and 20 per cent of these patients waited more than 7.5 hours from the time they first presented to the triage nurse.
- There were many unfortunate cases of patients whose goals of care were clearly palliative who had to accept care in the ED, some of whom died there. The needs of these patients, in the last few hours of



their lives, had to be met in a setting that was never designed to provide this type of care. It diminished them and only further burdened the ED.

Patients with time-sensitive conditions had similar waits for an ED bed and assessment by a physician as other patients on the list, meaning the system was incapable of responding faster for patients whose well-being was at more risk. This further shows how the safety margins for patients were seriously compromised.

Conclusions regarding the findings about factors contributing to ED crowding

Conclusions are grouped into four major areas: (1) ED output factors; (2) ED throughput factors; (3) ED input factors; (4) research evidence. The areas are listed according to the most important factors related to ED crowding.

ED output factors

- The most serious constraint to patient flow in 2008 at the UAH hospital ED was emergency department inpatients (EIPs), as evidenced by their extremely long waits for an inpatient bed. Half of the admitted patients identified by the UAH ED physicians waited at least 10 hours and 20 per cent waited longer than 33 hours for an inpatient bed. This situation was not unique to the UAH; the other three Edmonton hospitals had similar (Misericordia Community Hospital) or much longer (Grey Nuns Community Hospital and Royal Alexandra Hospital) waiting times for an inpatient bed (Figure 9a).
- Over the past six years the average time that admitted ED patients spent waiting for an inpatient bed correlated closely with inpatient bed occupancy rates (Figure 19 and 22 respectively). This is strong evidence for the close relationship between ED waiting (and ED crowding) and inpatient bed occupancy. Although median wait times for an inpatient bed and numbers of EIP patients have declined in the past year (Figures 9 and 21 respectively), the waits are still unacceptably long. Until this most critical constraint (bottleneck) has been adequately dealt with, targets for ED wait times and crowding will not be met and patients will continue to wait much too long in the ED.
- The delay for ED patients in being moved to an acute care bed after a decision has been made to admit them is the greatest constraint and therefore the issue that needs to be addressed first. Until it is, all other efforts to improve efficiency and reduce waiting times and lengths of stay in the ED will have limited benefit. Thus, the focus of efforts to address ED waits and delays is dependent on how a healthcare system manages its hospital inpatient beds.
- High inpatient occupancy rates can be the result of too few beds, high demand, or inefficient use of the resource.
 - The number of required inpatient beds should be based on the sum of bed numbers for the different inpatient services in a hospital. This information was unavailable so it is impossible to comment on whether total bed numbers, or how they are apportioned between inpatient services in Edmonton and Calgary hospitals, are appropriate.



- The number of patients seen in Edmonton and Calgary EDs and the percentage of patients who are admitted to hospital has increased only slightly; therefore, the demand for inpatient beds from ED patients has been reasonably stable over the past six years.
- Previous reports suggested that the average length of stay (ALOS) in Edmonton hospitals was too high. This would effectively reduce hospital bed capacity. The analysis in this report found that the ALOS in Edmonton and Calgary was similar (Figures 25 and 26) and has been increasing over time (with the exception of the UAH over the past two years). In contrast, ALOS in Lethbridge decreased over the same time period.
- The number of inpatient beds that are used by patients queuing for supportive living and long term care facilities (alternative levels of care (ALC)) is approximately six to eight per cent (Figure 27), which represents an inefficient use of a critically limited resource that further contributes to high inpatient bed occupancy rates.
- Inefficient use of an important resource can result when there are no clear lines of accountability for managing it. There is no current accountability model for inpatient bed use that is structured around clinical inpatient services. Beds are managed at an organizational level but this is not the centre of control. A proper accountability model requires accurate, valid information by which to manage. Current information systems do not routinely capture or report performance such as inpatient occupancy rates by admitting service or LOS.
- The high degree of variability in the number of scheduled inpatient admissions in both Edmonton and Calgary contributes to overcapacity situations. Since scheduled admissions can be controlled by hospital administration, this variability suggests a lack of planning and/or information and models of patient flow that would allow more responsive management. There are three levels of planning and management required that do not appear to exist currently:
 - Long-term planning (months to years) that would specify the amount of resources required to meet certain levels of demand and performance. This planning would require a detailed 'bed map' (numbers of beds for each service in the hospital to meet the needs of their particular patient population).
 - Short-term planning (days) that would reduce variability and improve matching of demand and capacity. This planning would require detailed system models and information systems that would support such an activity.
 - Near-real-time management (minutes to hours) to foresee crises developing and allow quick implementation of strategies at the level of clinical services to avoid system gridlock. This management strategy would require a real-time information system that provides information on scheduled demand; non-scheduled (and non-ED) demand, ED demand, wait times, EIP numbers, wait times for inpatient beds, occupancy rates by inpatient service and unit, pending discharges, ALC patients, patients who do not require acute care treatment, and cycle (turnaround) times for key services, such as diagnostic imaging, for example.
- The full-capacity protocol (admitting ED patients to an extra bed on an inpatient unit when regular inpatient bed occupancy rates are at 100 per cent) was part of Capital Health's strategic ED crowding plan, first developed in 2006 and implemented in 2007. This is best thought of as a surge-



capacity plan to handle unexpected increases in demand for inpatient beds. If used in this way it should rarely be required. Although many people who were interviewed believed that implementing a more effective full-capacity protocol in the past 12 to 18 months has helped improve ED performance indicators, this protocol puts additional strain on an already overburdened acute care system and should not be viewed as a long-term effective strategy. Although some measures have improved, such as ED LOS for admitted patients, the current results are similar to those from 2006, which at the time were deemed to be unacceptable.

• The promising practice at the UAH, the Care Transformation project, was found to be a good example of how improving efficiencies of medical services at the UAH can improve ED waiting times.

ED - throughput factors

- Notwithstanding the many bottlenecks that limit patient flow in the ED, one of the critical waiting times in the ED is the initial wait by a patient to be assessed by an ED physician; this is especially critical for patients with time-sensitive conditions. Sometimes it is unclear that a patient has a time-sensitive condition until a physician assesses the patient or until the patient has undergone some diagnostic imaging, laboratory, or other types of testing ordered by the physician. Before seeing a physician, a patient first waits to get a bed and then waits for the physician to come to the bed. If an ED is properly staffed with physicians who are not busy doing extraneous tasks, then the time from bed to assessment should be a few minutes. Yet, the data from chart reviews and administrative data from Calgary (the data from Edmonton were not available) suggest that patients wait in a bed for a physician often longer than 30 minutes and at times more than an hour. This indicates problems with proper staffing models that match physician supply with the predictable fluctuations in arrival rate of patients. The current reimbursement model (fee for service) for ED physicians provides incentives for them to be as busy as possible (100 per cent occupied), which does not allow the ED to cope with large variations in demand.
- There are currently different roles and models of care in place at the large metropolitan EDs in Alberta. Edmonton, before the creation of Alberta Health Services, implemented a triage liaison physician (TLP) role. Many EDs have created rapid assessment zones (RAZs); some EDs are trialling clinical decision units or medical assessment units. To date, the evidence for the effectiveness of most of these strategies is weak. Triage is an inefficient use of valued resources (physician or nursing): it uses experts to sort rather than manage patients. In a high-functioning ED system, triage would be unnecessary. Given the limited resources available for managing ED crowding AHS has an opportunity to determine value for investment and standardize the way that EDs function in Alberta.
- There is little or no accountability for the amount of time a consulting or admitting service (i.e., a specialist unit in the hospital) takes to respond to an ED's request for consultation/admission and there is no accountability for creating enough inpatient space for anticipated demand. For the ED-MD identified patients whose charts were reviewed, the median time from being assessed by an ED physician until being seen by a consultant was 3.5 to over five hours; the median time until a decision was made for admission was an additional three hours (with 20 per cent of patients waiting nearly seven hours). It is important to note that admitting/consulting services have many demands on their time so that the ED may not always be top priority. In addition, teaching hospitals usually have several



levels of trainees who come to the ED to assess a patient before final decisions are made regarding his or her needs.

There is little or no accountability for the amount of time a consulting or admitting service (i.e., a specialist unit in the hospital) takes to respond to an ED's request for consultation/admission and there is no accountability for creating enough inpatient space for anticipated demand.

ED - input factors

Increasing ED crowding and patient LOS in Edmonton and Calgary in the years evaluated for this report cannot be attributed to increases in numbers of patients presenting to the EDs. That is, input does not appear to be an important factor contributing to the ED crowding crisis over the past six years (Figure 14). A review completed by the Canadian Health Services Research Foundation reached similar conclusions.⁵⁸

ED - research evidence

• The research evidence for the effectiveness of various interventions to improve ED crowding is weak. In many cases where there may be a promising intervention published in peer-reviewed literature, it is challenging to understand how results from other organizations (quite often from different countries with dissimilar healthcare systems) can be applied locally in Alberta. This reality highlights the need for cycles of continuous tests of change to inform improvement initiatives and to support this with robust evaluation and measurement. Alberta has the capability to make important contributions to the understanding of ED crowding and the successful implementation of effective interventions.



RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendations related to the chart reviews of the UAH ED patients

Analysis

An extensive review of charts was completed. The QAC's concerns about quality-of-care issues were all related to the excessive waits and delays caused by factors leading to ED crowding; these factors are covered in the following recommendations.

1. RECOMMENDATION

No further action is required regarding the patient charts reviewed by the HQCA's quality assurance committee and the lists of patients identified by the University of Alberta Hospital emergency department physicians for the years 2008 to 2010.

Recommendations to reduce ED crowding and address high inpatient occupancy rates

Recommendations are listed together with required actions; these are actions the QAC believes are necessary so that the recommendation is implemented effectively.

Analysis

In both Edmonton and Calgary the biggest constraint to ED patient flow, and therefore the most important factor that contributes to extended lengths of stay (LOS) for patients in the ED, is the lack of available inpatient beds or high inpatient occupancy rates. To relieve this critical constraint, targets for inpatient occupancy rates should be established that take into account the known variability in demand for the resource. Recommended targets for average inpatient occupancy rates are 85 to 90 per cent. Until this constraint is adequately corrected there will be little chance of reducing ED crowding. Three approaches can be taken to reduce inpatient occupancy rates: (1) increase the number of inpatient beds; (2) improve the efficiency of resource use (reduce LOS); or (3) reduce the variability of demand for inpatient beds.

Effective management of any critical resource like inpatient beds requires detailed, timely information combined with accountability for decisions that are made. Because physicians make decisions that affect patient LOS and administrators make decisions about expenditures and resource use, there has to be a joint accountability for inpatient bed management. This accountability should be at an operational level in a structure that reflects services that patients require. This is not how inpatient beds are currently managed. The accountability for managing beds needs to be extended to accountability for response times to the ED. Physicians who provide a consulting service for the ED and/or admit patients from the ED should be structured to function in such a way that they can be responsible to the ED for seeing patients quickly and expedite the decision to admit a patient.

A key factor that contributes to increases in hospital LOS (and therefore increased bed occupancy rates) is the extra time spent in acute care beds by patients who are waiting for a supportive living or long term care space (alternate level of care) in the community.



Reducing inpatient occupancy rates begins with accurately estimating the number of acute care and long term care beds that are required in order to have enough resources available for the demand that exists now and over the next few decades. This estimate should include detailed human resource planning. Detailed mathematical modelling of Alberta's healthcare system is required so that wise investments are made in healthcare infrastructure.

2. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services takes steps to reduce inpatient occupancy to target levels of 85 to 90 per cent for each of its key admitting services in each acute care institution.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- Structure inpatient services in acute care institutions around key patient population care needs rather than historical professional organizational structures.
- Empower inpatient services with the appropriate administrative and clinical structure and authority to manage required resources. In addition to being accountable for inpatient length of stay, these services should also be held accountable for their level of responsiveness to the emergency department for consult and decision-to-admit times. Services should be required to develop surge-capacity plans and target average or median occupancy rates below 90 per cent.
- Gain an accurate estimate of the number of beds required for each inpatient service based on appropriate statistical modelling of demand using historical case-mix-group data and population-age-growth data (see recommendation 4).
- Implement an information system that provides clinicians and administrators with long-term, short-to-medium-term, and near-real-time data about the demand for inpatient beds and capacity at the system, program, and service levels. Such an information system would contribute to the dynamic management of inpatient bed capacity and support an accountability model for inpatient services.
- Take steps to reduce the variability of scheduled patient admissions by developing and implementing – for those inpatient services with large volumes of scheduled admissions – dynamic models of patient flow that more accurately predict LOS and hence inpatient bed capacity based on the characteristics of current patient populations and projected patient admissions.
- Review length of stay data on common case mix groups across institutions to understand where efficiencies could be gained from reducing length of stay.
- Expand use of information systems that identify patients who meet standard 'readiness for discharge' criteria in an effort to reduce inpatient length of stay.



3. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health and Wellness and Alberta Health Services review the current need for long term care and supportive living facilities based on detailed forecasting created by appropriate models (see recommendation 4) to further reduce the percentage of alternate level of care bed days – preferably below three per cent of all acute care inpatient days.

4. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health Services and Alberta Health and Wellness develop long-term partnerships with Alberta universities to advise on the use and implementation of operations management tools and methods that would assist with medium- and long-term health system capacity projections.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- Further develop system dynamic and discrete-event simulation models of patient flow through Alberta's healthcare systems that would provide more accurate predictions of capacity requirements for long term care, supportive living, rehabilitation, and acute care inpatient beds and human resources.
- Ensure that predictions for inpatient beds are specific at the service level rather than at the institution level.

5. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health and Wellness and Alberta Health Services take steps to shorten emergency department throughput including physician response times.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- Alberta Health and Wellness with Alberta Health Services and the Alberta Medical Association strongly consider implementing an alternate reimbursement model for emergency department physicians.
- Alberta Health Services continues with its innovative approaches for reducing emergency department throughput for discharged patients, implementing best practices throughout the province to develop a common emergency department delivery model.
- Alberta Health Services continues to promote ongoing evaluation of emergency department interventions designed to reduce patient waiting by partnering with the faculties of medicine at the University of Alberta and University of Calgary to increase the emergency department clinical outcomes research capacity in the province.
- Alberta Health Services incorporate its diagnostic imaging and laboratory information systems into an overall performance measurement model of emergency department waiting such that it



can continuously monitor lapsed time from test ordering to test completion and to test interpretation and use this as a basis to drive improvements.

6. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health Services continue with innovative solutions to support palliative care patients in their community setting and prevent, wherever feasible, the transfer of these patients to emergency departments.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- Alberta Health Services standardize its palliative care terminology across all healthcare sectors such as "goals of care" and "allow natural death" and dissuade the use of descriptors such as "do not resuscitate".
- Alberta Health Services strive to support palliative patients who have a sudden, unexpected symptom crisis so these patients have options for immediate care at home that can obviate the need to go to an emergency department and support the patient and family's decision to remain at home.
- Alberta Health Services explore options to admit patients with symptom crises directly to an intensive palliative care unit or medical unit, depending on their needs, rather than to the emergency department.



PART A

II. REVIEW OF THE QUALITY OF CARE AND SAFETY OF PATIENTS REQUIRING ACCESS TO LUNG CANCER SURGERY

BACKGROUND

On March 12, 2011, the Minister of Health and Wellness directed the Health Quality Council of Alberta (HQCA) to "conduct an independent review that closely examined wait times for cancer care services in the Province of Alberta pursuant to Section 13 of the *Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation*". The Minister also directed the HQCA to establish its own terms of reference.

The review was initiated as a result of statements made and a question raised in the Alberta legislature on February 28, 2011 by the MLA for Edmonton-Meadowlark:⁵⁹

"Thank you, Mr. Speaker. It has been brought to my attention that due to fierce competition for finite operating time between surgeons about 1,200 Albertans are on a wait list for lung surgery, and 250 died waiting on that list, many with lung cancer. I've also been told by others that this happened under Minister Mar and the Hon. Member for Sherwood Park and that Dr. Trevor Theman of the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta, and Capital Health and Sheila Weatherill knew about this. Is the Minister of Health and Wellness aware of this, and will he call the Health Quality Council of Alberta and carry out a fatality review?"

"Thank you, Mr. Speaker, and thank you, Minister. Given that it has also come to my attention that physicians who raised these issues were either punished or driven out of the province or paid out in millions to buy their silence and the costs buried in the books under the former Capital Health Region, I'm not surprised that this was never made public. Will the Hon. Minister commit to investigating and auditing these payouts in addition to the deaths and delays in cancer care?"

The Minister of Health and Wellness specifically directed the HQCA to determine, to the extent possible, if a group of patients waiting to receive cancer care, and who were alleged to have died while waiting for care, could be identified.

The quality assurance committee (QAC) undertook this part of its review with the following goals: address the allegations that had been made, and based on the findings and analysis of the investigation of current practices, make recommendations for system-level improvements in access and waiting times for cancer surgery. The QAC planned its review with the intention of using what was learned about the management of waiting lists for lung cancer surgery to generate recommendations for the best management of cancer surgery in general.

To appreciate the results of this review about lung cancer surgery, some basic understanding of lung cancer, its diagnosis, and its management is required.



Lung Cancer

Statistics

Lung cancer is the most common cause of cancer deaths in Canadians, killing more men than does prostate cancer, and more women than does breast cancer.⁶⁰ In 2009, there were 1,857 new cases of lung cancer in Alberta and by the end of 2012 this number is expected to reach 2,000 new cases. In 2011 it was estimated that 25,300 Canadians would be diagnosed with lung cancer and 20,600 would die of it.⁶¹ One in 11 Canadian men and one in 15 Canadian women are expected to develop lung cancer during his/her lifetime; one in 13 men and one in 17 women are expected to die of the condition.⁶⁰ The fact that almost as many people who develop the disease will die from it indicates that the overall prognosis for lung cancer is poor, but like many cancers prognosis is dependent on the type of cancer and the stage of disease at the time of diagnosis.

There are two common forms of lung cancer: small cell and non-small cell.⁶² About 15 per cent of lung cancers are small cell⁶² that are treated with radiation and chemotherapy; except in rare cases, surgery is not an option for treatment. The prognosis depends on whether the cancer is limited or extensive (metastatic disease outside of the chest). The median survival for patients with limited-stage disease is approximately 17 months if they undergo treatment.⁶³ The prognosis for patients with non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) depends very much on the stage of the disease when a patient first presents. Staging is based on size and location of the tumour, degree of involvement of lymph nodes in the chest, and the presence or absence of metastatic disease (meaning the cancer has spread within the body). The best chance for survival is with surgical resection of a localized tumour (stage I or II). Patients with stage IV disease (metastatic) are not candidates for curative surgical resection. Most patients with stage III disease have too much cancer in the lymph nodes to undergo surgical resection. Overall, the prognosis for patients with NSCLC is poor: overall five-year survival rates are 10 to 15 per cent but range from approximately 65 per cent for patients with stage I disease to one per cent for patients with stage IV disease.⁶⁴ Unfortunately, when most patients finally develop symptoms that indicate the possibility of lung cancer, their disease is too far advanced for surgery and the cancer cannot be cured with chemotherapy and/or radiation therapy. Only a small number of patients (15 to 20 per cent) with lung cancer are candidates for curative surgical resection, which in part explains the overall poor prognosis.

Diagnosis

The process of diagnosing lung cancer starts when a patient has symptoms such as hoarseness or shortness of breath; or signs such as coughing up blood (hemoptysis); or, more commonly, has a chest X-ray for another reason that shows a mass. The patient sees a physician, such as his or her family doctor, to obtain a chest X-ray. If a 'suspicious lesion' is shown then the patient requires extensive evaluation or a 'work up' to determine the most appropriate type of care. This work up may be undertaken by one or more physicians, including family practitioners, specialists in respiratory medicine (respirologists), and lung cancer (thoracic) surgeons. Patients must be referred by their family practitioner to see a respirologist and/or a surgeon.

Patients with possible lung cancer need to undergo CT scans of the chest and abdomen and often of the head to estimate the extent of lung cancer in the chest and the likelihood of metastatic disease. Patients may require a positron emission tomography (PET) scan, which helps detect tumours. Almost all patients



will require bronchoscopy (or passage of a special scope down into the lungs). During bronchoscopy, samples of tissues can be taken to confirm a diagnosis and to document the type of cancer (small cell versus non-small cell). In general, a patient with small-cell lung cancer is referred to an oncologist for assessment of her or her suitability for chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy. A patient with non-small-cell lung cancer also needs further evaluation to determine if the lung cancer can be surgically resected. For example, tissue samples of the lymph nodes in the chest are obtained to make sure that the lung cancer has not spread outside the lung. By the end of this diagnostic phase, the patient and his or her physicians will have reached a point known as the 'decision to treat'. For some patients, the decision will be made that his or her case merits surgical resection of the cancer.

Lung cancer surgery

Surgery for lung cancer is performed in Edmonton and Calgary by physicians who have successfully passed special training (a fellowship) in thoracic surgery under the direction of the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (RCPSC). To do this, physicians must have first attained their Royal College certification in general surgery. Previously, surgeons qualified in both cardiac and thoracic surgery as a combined specialty; training also commonly involved vascular surgery. Thoracic surgery was therefore often undertaken by surgeons who also performed cardiac and vascular surgery. In some centres, general surgeons who had undertaken additional training in thoracic surgery might also perform lung surgery on a part-time basis. In 1994, the RCPSC accepted a recommendation to separate training for cardiac surgery and thoracic surgery.⁶⁵ Eventually this change in training was also reflected in a shift in the organization of doctors in hospitals, with different sections or divisions of cardiac (or cardiovascular) surgery and thoracic surgery. Thoracic surgeons diagnose and treat many conditions of the lung, pleural space (chest cavity), chest wall, the esophagus, and the mediastinum (the middle part of the chest where blood vessels, lymph nodes, esophagus, and trachea reside).

The management of patients who may require surgery has evolved over many years. Since many surgeons practise independently, they usually maintain a list of patients who they have seen and who may require additional diagnostic tests and/or procedures, including surgery. The point in time when a surgeon decides that a patient requires surgery and is a candidate for the operation being considered is variable and depends on several factors. These factors include those related to the lung cancer itself, as described above. In addition, patients usually undergo preoperative consultation and evaluation by a general internist, anesthesiologist, and/or respirologist to ensure that the patient's underlying cardiac or lung disease is properly diagnosed and managed so as to reduce the risk of death or complications as a result of the operation. The risk of dying from surgical removal of a lung cancer is quite dependent on the extent of the resection and the surgical approach used. The risk of surgical mortality is quoted as 4.6 per cent for removal of an entire lung for non-small-cell lung cancer.⁶⁶ Mortality is much lower for patients only requiring the removal of one lobe of a lung.⁶⁷

All of these investigations and consultations help a surgeon make a two-fold decision:

- About the type of tumour and the extent of disease, which determines if the patient has lung cancer that *could* be resected; in other words, is an operation *feasible*? and
- About whether or not the patient has sufficient lung function and cardiac reserve to withstand an operation; that is, if the patient has lung cancer that *should* be resected or, is an operation *advisable*?



A decision that an operation is feasible and advisable helps determine a patient's 'operability'. But there is no standard provincial definition of 'operability' for (lung) cancer patients. Historically operability has been defined by the thoracic surgeon. Yet many patients who are assessed by a respirologist are found to have inoperable disease and are never referred to a surgeon. Thus a respirologist or a thoracic surgeon could direct a patient to a non-surgical or surgical care pathway; only a thoracic surgeon commits a patient (with their consent) to a surgical pathway.

Surgeons make and maintain their own list ('surgeon's waiting list') of patients whom they have seen while collecting information about them to determine operability. Once a decision is made to operate, then the patient is considered 'ready to treat' and the surgeon's office contacts the hospital admitting department and operating room to schedule a patient for an operation and start to establish the date and time for one. At this point the patient is considered to be on a hospital's surgical waiting list.

The distinction between 'decision to treat' and 'ready to treat' is important. The former indicates that the patient is a candidate for a surgical procedure that has the potential to be effective and deliver a good outcome. The latter indicates that the patient is physically and mentally able to undergo the procedure; that the appropriate diagnostic workup is complete; and that post-operative recovery, convalescence, and discharge issues have been planned (and ideally are in place).

The point at which a surgeon decides to book a patient during a workup is variable. Some surgeons will book patients shortly after they first see them, before any diagnostic tests are completed; some surgeons will book a patient when most of the testing has been completed and nothing has been found that precludes an operation and there are only a few final tests, the results of which are still pending; other surgeons will only book patients when all of the tests are completed indicating that an operation is feasible *and* the patient has signed a consent form.

Thus the experiences of patients can be highly variable with respect to when they are considered to be on a 'surgical waiting list' and if it is a surgeon's private list or the hospital's list. Over the past five to 10 years surgeons more commonly have worked in groups and 'shared' the patients who are referred to them. This sharing may or may not involve having a common surgical waiting list. In some groups, once a patient is assigned to a surgeon, that physician will still maintain an independent list of patients waiting for surgery. There may also be variable practices within a group about when to register a patient with the hospital for an operating room date and time. Hospitals and health regions have evolved over time as well and many now try to keep a central registry of patients waiting for surgery, so that waiting times for patients can be tracked and reported.

Geographical and historical context

It is important to put this review into proper geographical and historical context. Although surgical waiting times have been an issue for years in Canada and elsewhere, there were particular challenges following the initial stage of regionalization in Alberta in 1994/95. In those years, substantial cutbacks to healthcare funding were made and most healthcare programs were struggling to maintain a reasonable level of service and access to that service.

Edmonton and the former Capital Health have had a stable thoracic surgery program for several years; however, this was not always the case. The allegations that the MLA for Edmonton–Meadowlark made refer to a time that goes back many years. It was challenging for the QAC to review events from so many



years ago because of the many changes that have occurred since then, lack of access to patient charts, and fading recollections of people who were involved. The QAC believed it was important to examine the past as thoroughly as possible to address the allegations; to learn lessons from the management of surgical waiting lists that could inform recommendations for future improvements; and to gain insight into the management of Capital Health's thoracic surgery program in the past to determine if this could inform recommendations for the management of such programs today and in the future.



METHODOLOGY

At the outset of this quality assurance review, it was understood that some individuals with information that was pertinent to the review would need assurances that they would not be 'punished' for participating. The quality assurance committee (QAC) put four levels of protection in place to reassure anyone who participated that he or she would not personally be disadvantaged:

- A QAC constituted under Section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*⁶⁸ conducted the review. The relevant subsections of Section 9 of the act that affords protection to witnesses who come forward to provide information are:
 - a. Subsection 2 A witness in an action, whether party to it or not,
 - i. is not liable to be asked, and shall not be permitted to answer, any question as to any proceedings before a quality assurance committee, and
 - ii. is not liable to be asked to produce and shall not be permitted to produce any quality assurance record in that person's or the committee's possession or under that person's or the committee's control.
 - b. Subsection 5 Neither
 - i. the disclosure of any information or of any document or anything contained in a document, or the submission of any report, statement, memorandum or recommendation, to a quality assurance committee for the purpose of its quality assurance activities nor
 - ii. the disclosure of any information, or of any document or anything contained in a document, that arises out of the quality assurance activities of a quality assurance committee,

creates any liability on the part of the person making the disclosure or submission.

- Written assurances were obtained from the CEO of Alberta Health Services; the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Calgary; and the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Alberta that no individual would face disciplinary action or any other consequence if it was learned that he or she participated in the QAC review.
- Written assurances were obtained from the CEO of Alberta Health Services and the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Calgary that any individual who had signed a non-disclosure agreement with the organization or a predecessor organization would be exempt from that agreement as it pertained to the QAC review.
- The QAC would keep confidential the list of people that it did or intended to call as witnesses before
 its QAC and keep confidential whether an individual chose to appear or not appear before the QAC.
 Individuals were informed that they were free to reveal that they had participated in the review and
 were told that if they chose to disclose publicly what they had discussed before the QAC, then the
 protection that they would have had under Section 9 could be compromised.

To investigate the claims of the MLA for Edmonton-Meadowlark that "*physicians who raised these issues were either punished or driven out of the province or paid out in millions to buy their silence*", the QAC undertook extensive interviews and an evaluation of submitted documents. The QAC constructed a



detailed chronology of events, pertinent to the thoracic surgery program at the UAH, from the information obtained through interviews and documents that were supplied to the QAC as part of this review. Information had to be confirmed from multiple sources before it could be considered factual enough to be mentioned in this report. Although in most quality assurance reviews extensive details are not usually included in a final report, because of the nature of the allegations underlying this review the QAC thought that it was important to include sufficient detail so that there could be ready recognition of what the basis was for its conclusions and recommendations.

The QAC was able to recover several lists of patients, which were thought to be relevant to the concerns raised about possible waiting lists for lung surgery. These lists, which dated back to early 2000, had limited information that could be used to identify any specific patient. A first and last name only was supplied. There were no corresponding birthdates, hospital or health region numbers, or healthcare numbers. This lack of detail precluded access to individual patient hospital charts or to patient-specific electronic information.

The allegations that "250 patients died on a wait list for surgery, many of whom had lung cancer" strongly implied that patients who required curative surgery for lung cancer did not receive it. If these allegations were true, then the magnitude of that number of patients should be reflected in reduced rates of diagnosis and surgical resections, as well as in higher mortality rates (the number of deaths attributed to this type of cancer during a specific period of time). The reference that was made to the former CEO of Capital Health in relation to this specific allegation suggested that, if there was a problem with lung cancer surgery, then the problem was most likely relevant to Edmonton. The reference to a former Health and Wellness Minister suggested a time frame of 2000 to 2004.

Using administrative data from large provincial databases, the QAC initially sought to examine the claims about lung surgery, rather than undertake a more focused examination of lung cancer. Data from physician billings ('claims for fee for service payment'), Vital Statistics, and the provincial cancer registry were requested from Alberta Health Services and Alberta Health and Wellness. The data sources could not, with a high degree of confidence, be used to identify lung operations nor could the data sets be adequately linked to determine mortality rates for thoracic-surgery-related procedures. The QAC therefore focused its investigation on the alleged deaths of lung cancer patients during their wait for care. Mortality rates for patients with lung/bronchus cancer and incidence rates (the number of new cancer cases diagnosed during a specific time period) were analyzed over the period of 1997 to 2002 and comparing Alberta with the rest of Canada and comparing Edmonton with Calgary.

To address the second major objective of the review, ("based on the findings and analysis of the investigation of current practices make recommendations for system-level improvements in access and wait times for cancer treatment"), the QAC undertook further interviews with practising physicians and clinical administrators. The purpose of the interviews was to understand current and future plans for improving access of patients with possible or known lung cancer to AHS resources for diagnosis and treatment.

Information was sought about management practices for lung cancer patients, including:

- Assessment of patients with possible lung cancer
- Management of waiting lists for (thoracic) surgery



- Allocation of operating room time
- Evaluation of current initiatives to improve the quality of care for patients in Alberta with (possible) lung cancer
- Description of future directions for the improvement of care of patients in Alberta with (possible) lung cancer
- Explanation of the Alberta Health Services policy for the care of patients with (possible) lung cancer.

Interviewees were also asked to provide a copy of any documents describing lung cancer care in Alberta that might be helpful to the QAC in making recommendations for improving cancer care. This process was protected under Section 9 confidentiality described above.



FINDINGS

Capital Health's thoracic surgery program chronology

Currently, thoracic surgery in Edmonton is based at the Royal Alexandra Hospital (RAH) only but over the years some thoracic surgery has been performed at most of the hospitals in the city, including the Edmonton General, the RAH, the University of Alberta Hospital (UAH), and the Misericordia Community Hospital. The major programs were located at the UAH and the RAH.

By the late 1990s Capital Health had evolved varying models of organizing doctors in hospitals and in this era surgical programs were established within a regional structure. In 1999 the surgical programs, along with some other large regional programs, were returned to a site-based model for organizing physicians, and thoracic surgery at the UAH was realigned within the cardiac sciences program.

In 1999 a second thoracic surgeon joined the sole thoracic surgeon at UAH; however, that individual decided to leave less than a year later. In early 2000, Capital Health and the UAH recognized that the workload for a single thoracic surgeon was high and continued their efforts to recruit a second surgeon. Also around that same time, concerns surfaced about the management of patients waiting for possible thoracic surgery. Patient lists, for the most part, were managed by surgeons' offices and usually consisted of a paper-based or an electronic spreadsheet on a single office computer; the latter was the case for thoracic surgery at the UAH. In the second half of 2000 a second thoracic surgeon was again recruited to a position at the UAH. A review of patient charts was undertaken around that time to determine if any patients with potentially resectable tumours had been waiting extended lengths of time for an operation. The original surgeon left on sabbatical and was not available to participate in that review of patients. During that review additional concerns were raised about quality of patient care. This led to a more focused analysis of patient outcomes and included a request for an external expert reviewer to participate. Although a plan had been made and communicated in 2001 to reintegrate the original surgeon into the UAH thoracic surgery program upon returning from sabbatical leave, for several reasons this plan never materialized. Details and findings from the Capital Health chart reviews are described in the following section of the report.

In 2001 Capital Health undertook a review of its lung transplant program, in part to address some issues of different surgical approaches used to perform the operation by surgeons with different training. A lung transplant expert from the United States completed the review and recommended that one of the surgeons stop performing lung transplants and that there should be a change in the program's leadership.

Between 2001 and 2003 the two surgeons performing thoracic surgery at the RAH retired and two additional surgeons were recruited to the UAH; however, operating room time at the RAH was retained and some thoracic surgery continued to be performed at this site. Later in 2003 Capital Health committed to a two-site thoracic surgery model when two of the three surgeons at the UAH moved their offices and their surgical practices full time to the RAH; once again this left a single thoracic surgeon at the UAH.

In 2004 the thoracic surgeon who had left in 2000 filed a statement of claim in a lawsuit against Capital Health and two Capital Health medical administrators; allegations in the claim were never proven or disproven. A settlement was reached without going to trial; part of the settlement involved this surgeon signing a non-disclosure agreement about the details and circumstances surrounding the statement of claim and the settlement. Such an agreement under these circumstances is common practice.



In 2005 an additional thoracic surgeon was recruited initially to the UAH but later moved to the RAH. The following year Capital Health decided to review the quality of thoracic surgery care at the UAH; an internal review was supplemented with the opinions of two experts from outside the province. The external reviewers recommended that Capital Health consolidate thoracic surgery at a single site so as not to have any surgeon practising alone. The reviewers also recommended that one of the surgeons undergo a period of retraining. The surgeon voluntarily withdrew from clinical practice and ultimately reached an agreement with Capital Health about this change. The parties agreed to financial compensation for lost clinical income and to not disclose the details or the circumstances leading up to the agreement. This surgeon does not currently have a medical staff appointment with AHS.

Thus over many years quality-of-care issues about thoracic surgery arose several times and were the subject of a number of reviews, some of which included external experts. The College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA) was appropriately involved to fulfill its legislated mandate. The medical staff bylaws of Capital Health were not used to govern how the quality assurance reviews were undertaken and the privileges of the surgeons were never officially revoked. These reviews had two major recurring themes: first, the impact that practising thoracic surgery in isolation has on the surgeon and on patients, as well as on the organization; and second, the challenge of creating a high-functioning team of professionals who collaborate effectively.

Waiting lists of thoracic surgery patients

In 2000, in response to concerns about possible patients not gaining timely access to thoracic surgery, Capital Health undertook a detailed review to locate patients who might have been on a 'list' and waiting for additional testing or surgery. The QAC has been able to determine that several lists were generated – all of which pertained to a single surgeon at the UAH. There were two lists of patient names, generated approximately two months apart, on the surgeon's office computer. One list contained 141 names, the other 133; 110 patient names appeared on both lists. Between the two lists there were 164 unique patient names, half of whom were described as having a 'lung malignancy' (Table 8).

Condition	Numbers of patients
Lung – malignancy	82
Lung – benign	49
Pleural disease	10
Esophageal – malignant	6
Esophageal – benign	17
Total	164

At the time, the reviewers determined for the list of 133 patients how many of them had undergone surgery; nine patients had had minor procedures while 20 patients had had major operations (e.g., tumour resections). Another 23 patients, who had been listed for pulmonary resection of presumed malignant nodules, were ultimately found to have benign disease, not requiring surgery, and arrangements were made to follow those patients clinically. A substantial number of patients with lung malignancy (25) 'awaiting surgery' were found to have metastatic disease (i.e., they had inoperable conditions). Some of



the details about patients included on these wait lists would clearly indicate that most of them were never candidates for surgery and hence should not have been on a 'surgical wait list'. A small number of the listed patients had 'operable' non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and these patients appeared to have been looked after appropriately, although it was not possible to determine the length of time the patients waited from diagnosis to resection of the tumour nor what the ultimate outcome was for these patients.

To find additional patients who may not have been on the surgeon's office computer, Capital Health undertook a search of billing records (claims submitted to the Alberta Healthcare Insurance Plan) to be analyzed for two time periods: the first search included billings from June to September 2000 and subsequently a second search was performed of billings from March to June 2000.

In the first search an office chart and/or a hospital chart with what's called a 'consult sheet' were sought to identify important patient information. A total of 320 patient names were identified from the billing records during that time period and the breakdown of what was found is shown in Figure 31. There were no office files or consult sheets for 55 of the patients.

Figure 31. Patient files uncovered as a result of a review of physician billings from June to September 2000

Total billings:	320
	No office file or hospital consult sheet: $n = 55$
	265 files for review
	→ 129 - Lung (malignant)
	─── > 9 - Esophagus (benign)
	6 - Mediastinal (malignant)
	────⊳ 2 - Mediastinal (benign)
	27 - Other

Of the 265 files available for review, nearly all patients who were identified had previously also been found on the office-generated waiting lists. There were 23 additional patients identified for whom it was thought there might be a need for surgery. After detailed chart reviews it was determined that 14 of these patients had already been assessed and found to have advanced disease, were therefore not surgical candidates, and had been appropriately referred to the Cross Cancer Institute. Seven patients were noted to have benign, stable disease and two other patients had been referred to a thoracic surgeon at the Royal Alexandra Hospital.

When Capital Health undertook its second review of billing records, this time from March to June 2000 a total of 258 patients were identified, 83 of whom had been identified in the first billing record review,



leaving an additional 175 patients for review. The breakdown of diagnoses for these 175 patients is shown in Figure 32.

Figure 32. Patient files uncovered as a result of a review of billings from March to June 2000

Total billings:	258	
	Patients identified in the first billing review: n = 83	
Total files sought:	175	
	► No office record (but hospital chart reviewed): n = 44	
	131 files for review	
	→ 41 - Lung (malignant)	
	→ 30 - Lung (benign)	
	5 - Esophagus (malignant)	
	6 - Esophagus (benign)	
	7 - Mediastinal (malignant)	
	5 - Mediastinal (benign)	
	→ 7 - Deceased	
	→ 30 - Other	

A total of 36 patients were thought to require some form of surgical followup or other form of treatment. Of these, only five patients required surgery for a lung malignancy and all of them received it. None of the information suggested that patients with resectable lung tumours had died as a result of waiting too long for surgery. For its own review that is the focus of this report, the QAC was unable to track long-term survival rates for any of the patients who were listed as having a lung malignancy.

Another review of patient charts that Capital Health performed was based on examining the files of patients who had been wait listed with the UAH admitting department between March 1998 and August 2000. There were 174 patient names on this list, with 117 of them having been previously identified through the processes described above. Of the remaining 57 patients, records were available for 51; the other six patients could not be tracked and remained unaccounted for. No additional action was required, in the opinion of the Capital Health review team, for any of the 51 patients identified though this approach presumably because the patients had received appropriate evaluation and treatment.

In summary, the QAC is satisfied that:

- The former Capital Health did an extensive search for patients who may not have been offered timely surgery for serious underlying lung, esophageal, pleural, or mediastinal disease.
- There is no evidence that a surgical wait list of 1,200 patients ever existed.



- There is no evidence that there was a 'true surgical wait list'; i.e., a list of patients who had completed diagnostic and preoperative work ups that showed conclusively that the patients had disease appropriate for surgical resection and they had been evaluated as medically fit for surgery.
- There were multiple lists generated of patients who had been seen; a substantial proportion of these patients did not have cancer and a larger percentage did not require surgery.
- Legitimate concerns were raised about proper management of surgical wait lists; these concerns were investigated and managed by the former Capital Health.
- Allegations that patients died who were on a surgical wait list and, where it was implied that such patients had curable disease, are unfounded.

Lung cancer – incidence, mortality, surgery, and disease-stage rates in Alberta (1997- 2002) (2003-2008)

Detailed information on patients with cancer is maintained in Alberta's cancer registry and this information can be used to investigate unexplained changes in treatments and outcomes for cancer patients. The QAC analyzed the provincial registry database to look for unexplained lung cancer outcome or treatment results. In Alberta approximately 1,400 patients are diagnosed with lung cancer every year and about 17 per cent of them undergo surgery. The allegation that "250 patients died who were on a waiting list" implies that the patients had potentially curable cancers. The QAC hypothesized that, if this number of patients failed to receive surgical treatment, then anomalies would show up in incidence rates,^v mortality rates,^{vi} surgical rates, and/or the proportion of patients who were diagnosed with earlier-stage (I or II) cancers for that time. Incidence and mortality rates were standardized (adjusted) for the age of patients^{vii} since this known to be a determinant for both of these measurements. Comparisons were made between Alberta and national data over time to determine if there had been any substantive changes in age-standardized incidence rates (ASIR) or age-standardized mortality rates (ASMRs).

The main time frame for which data were analyzed was 1997 to 2002, because the QAC found that thoracic surgery wait lists seemed to be an important issue at the UAH in 1999 and 2000. If there had been a major lapse in patients obtaining curative surgery for lung cancer then it would be expected that this breakdown would be reflected in either a lower ASIR (fewer cases diagnosed) or higher ASMRs (more patients dying). The QAC calculated that a decrease of approximately 38 patients each year in Edmonton diagnosed with lung cancer would be detectable statistically comparing one year to another or comparing Edmonton with Calgary. The QAC also predicted, based on the lack of variability in the data,

^v Incidence rate –the number of new cases per population, over a given time period; for cancer the incidence rate per 100,000 members of the population in a single year is commonly used

^{vi} Mortality rate – the number of patents who die per population, over a given time period; cancer mortality rates are often quoted as the number of people who died as a result of disease per 100,000 population in a single year

vⁱⁱ Incidence or mortality rates for a given population are mathematically adjusted for the age of the population so that rates can be compared between different populations of different ages



that a change of 10 fewer cases in Edmonton in any given year would be detectable, even though the finding would not be statistically significant.

The allegation that "250 patients died who were on a waiting list" implies that the patients had potentially curable cancers. The QAC hypothesized that, if 250 patients failed to receive surgery, then anomalies would show up in statistics for that time that show how many people had lung cancer, died from it, received surgery for it, or were diagnosed with earlier-stage (I or II) cancers. In other words, those patients would show up somewhere else in the statistics. No such anomalies were found.

Figures 33a and 33b show the ASIRs and ASMRs for Alberta and Canada, respectively. Figures 34a and 34b show the same data for Calgary and Edmonton. Figures 33 and 34 show:

- That Alberta's ASIR and ASMR for lung cancer was consistently below that of the national average.
- There were no changes in Alberta's ASIR and ASMR between 1997 and 2002. (Also, the QAC data analysis shows no change in the years 2003 to 2008.)
- There were no substantive changes in Edmonton's or Calgary's ASIR and ASMR over the same time period.
- Although Edmonton's ASIR and ASMR were slightly higher than Calgary, the differences between the two cities are not statistically significant.

In 2008 Alberta Health Services released a report that examined ASIR and ASMR over a 20-year period (1988 to 2008) and concluded that Alberta rates had not significantly changed over that time period.⁶⁹



Figure 33a. Age-standardized incidence rates (ASIRs) of lung/bronchus cancer (Statistics Canada)





Figure 33b. Age-standardized mortality rates (ASMRs) of lung/bronchus cancer (Statistics Canada)

Figure 34a. Age-standardized incidence rates (ASIRs) of lung/bronchus cancer for Calgary and Edmonton





Figure 34b. Age-standardized mortality rates (ASMRs) of lung/bronchus cancer for Calgary and Edmonton



Based on the national and provincial ASIR data, the QAC did not find any non-statistically or statistically significant change in the incidence of lung cancer in Alberta, Edmonton, or Calgary.

Using Alberta cancer registry information the QAC identified 6,901 Albertans with lung/bronchus cancer over the five-year period April 1, 1997 to March 31, 2002. Of these 6,901 patients, 2,328 were from Edmonton, 2,127 from Calgary, and 2,446 from elsewhere in the province. Surgery for cancer can be appropriate for either diagnosis or treatment, but as a diagnostic method surgery is rare. For instance, in Calgary and Edmonton surgery for diagnosis was conducted only 0.5 per cent and 0.4 per cent of the time, respectively, between 1997 and 2002. In Alberta during those years, 17 per cent of patients with lung/bronchus cancer (1,199 patients) underwent surgery. As shown in Figure 35, for all years except 2000, there was a higher – not lower – rate of surgery among Edmonton undergoing surgery in 2000 reflects a trend downwards over several years and parallels slight decreases over the same time period in the incidence of lung cancer. The only year in which the results are statistically different between years or between Edmonton and Calgary is 1997/98. The proportion of patients from Edmonton undergoing surgery in 1999/2000 is not statistically different from the year preceding or the year following and is not different from the rate in Calgary.





Figure 35. Proportion of patients with lung cancer undergoing surgery in Calgary and Edmonton

Further, a systematic study of the Alberta cancer registry showed no regional discrepancies for lung cancer patients in sex ratio (male or female), age, or percentage of patients with early stage disease.

Physician advocacy and thoracic surgery

There is little question that thoracic surgeons at the UAH, like many physicians, were active advocates for additional resources to try to improve access for patients with lung cancer and other conditions in which thoracic surgery is needed. Allegations have been made that "physicians who raised these issues were either punished or driven out of the province or paid out in millions to buy their silence".⁵⁹ The QAC interviewed many knowledgeable people about the thoracic surgery issues at the UAH and developed a thorough understanding of the concerns regarding patient management, how physicians' performance was assessed including the use of external reviews, as well as the decisions that were ultimately reached about the stopping of surgical practice. The QAC is confident that physician advocacy was not the reason Capital Health decided to review physician practices and their patients' outcomes. Furthermore, the QAC had no reason to believe that any thoracic surgeon was "punished or driven out of the province" because of advocacy efforts. The former Capital Health reached financial settlements with the affected surgeons to reimburse them for lost income. In such situations it is standard practice that the parties to such a settlement agree not to disclose the details about it or the issues that led up to it. The characterization of these settlements as 'money to buy silence' is not supported by the facts.

Physician advocacy was not the reason Capital Health reviewed physician practices and their patients' outcomes. There is no reason to believe that any thoracic surgeon was "punished or driven out of the province" because of advocacy efforts. Financial settlements were reached with the affected surgeons to reimburse them for lost income that included agreement not to disclose details; in such situations this is standard practice. Characterizing these settlements as 'money to buy silence' is not supported by the facts.



Examination of current plans for managing lung cancer surgery patients

On December 16, 2011 Alberta Health Services (AHS) announced that lung cancer patients would have faster access to treatment through the new Expedited Management of Lung Cancer (EMLC) program.⁷⁰ This program is based on work undertaken over the past year by clinicians who provide care to patients with confirmed or suspected lung cancer; these are respirologists, lung surgeons, and oncologists. The EMLC program was established through the work of the AHS Cancer Care Clinical Network, a team of cancer physicians, surgeons, and managers working with a range of experts. The EMLC is considered to be the "first coordinated, province-wide initiative of its kind for lung cancer in Canada".⁷⁰

The EMLC program will establish two specialized clinics to provide 'rapid access' for patients in Calgary and Edmonton and increase the number of operations performed annually for lung cancer. By March 2013 the EMLC program should decrease the time that three-quarters of patients with suspected lung cancer have to wait for a decision to treat (to 30 days) and (if eligible) for surgery (to 60 days).

Patients will be streamed through the clinics, which will be staffed by "specially trained nurses and nurse practitioners, with physician support".⁷⁰ Patients will be assessed and triaged in these clinics, which will also provide patients with the assistance of 'navigators', whose role is to help patients make their way through the various investigations and consultations required to make a decision about treatment options. To assist with decision-making, standardized provincial guidelines, which define which patients should be referred to which kinds of specialists (and when), as well investigations and treatment, will be available by July 2012.

By 2013 the two clinics are expected to handle about 4,000 patients in total, eventually providing a "single point of entry for all patients".⁷⁰ Up to now, primary-care physicians (and other doctors) could refer patients anywhere in the province to a range of specialists, such as internists, respirologists, and thoracic surgeons. As a result the waiting times for treatment for some patients were prolonged by the highly variable process of undergoing investigations, consultations, and decision-making.

The EMLC program is budgeted to cost \$15.4 million for the first three years of operation. Funding will also provide for:

- A 70 per cent yearly increase in the number of diagnostic bronchoscopies (lung examination and biopsy) to a total of 3,150.
- A 46 per cent yearly increase in the number of CT-guided biopsies for lung cancer, for a total of 1,582.
- A 13 per cent yearly increase in the number of lung cancer operations performed in Calgary and Edmonton, for a total of about 1,600.

Even before the announcement last December, additional resources had been made available in Calgary and Edmonton for lung cancer patients, under the provision of extra funding for "Tier 1 Measures", as part of the AHS plan for performance (or improvement) measurement. This funding covered the purchase of a PET scanner for Calgary as well as increased operating room (OR) time in Edmonton and Calgary for lung cancer operations. Tier 1 funding, however, covers not only lung cancer care but also such procedures as heart bypass, cataract extraction, and hip/knee joint replacement. Deciding which procedures should be carried out – for which group of patients (young, old, male, female) and in what time frame – is one that governments, AHS, and the public all need to discuss.



Other problems in the system that have yet to be dealt with include:

- Patients do not have any standardized methods of communication with their providers that would allow them to determine how their journey of care is progressing. For example, patients have to rely on phoning their referring family doctor, their surgeon, or another physician to learn if they are on a 'surgical waiting list' and how long their wait will be.
- Physicians are working at or over their capacity to deal with the increased numbers of cancer patients requiring care in clinics, in the OR, on the inpatient units, and in the oncology centres. While such efforts can be maintained in the short term, doing so in the longer term could be harmful to both physicians and patients. Sustainability has not been discussed or planned.
- Alberta Health Services does not have a province-wide surgical patient registry that would allow the tracking of referral of patients from a family doctor to a respirologist or thoracic surgeon, nor any way of determining how many patients are waiting for assessment or surgery.
- While there are provincial and zonal data or information systems about patients (Alberta NetCare and Picture Archiving and Communications System (PACS)), these systems do not always allow access by physicians across zones who may be providing care to patients with (suspected) lung cancer. Because the results of investigations are not always accessible, some patients must undergo repeated investigations or face longer waits. Such unnecessary repetition wastes time, effort, investigative resources, and financial resources. With respect to information systems about ORs, the Calgary Zone has the most advanced, with an OR Information System (ORIS) that allows patients to be classified as 'urgent' versus 'scheduled' and to generate reports on times for 'waiting for an operation' for both groups. In contrast, in Edmonton, each of the hospitals uses different operating management systems and so acquiring zone-level information would require linking quite different hospital-based systems. There should be one system across all AHS surgical services.
- In any hospital, the number of operations that can be undertaken is limited by the number of ORs, surgeons, anesthesiologists, nurses, intensive care unit (ICU) beds, and inpatient beds. Restrictions in any one of these can mean that operations are postponed.

Physicians are working at or over their capacity to deal with the increased numbers of cancer patients requiring care in clinics, in the operating room, on the inpatient units, and in the oncology centres. Over the longer term this could be harmful to both physicians and patients. Sustainability has not been discussed or planned.



CONCLUSIONS

There were two objectives specified in the Terms of Reference for the cancer surgery part of the HQCA review:

- To determine whether the quality of care and the safety of a group of 250 patients on a surgical wait list of 1,200 were seriously compromised due to delayed access to surgery as alleged in a question raised in the Alberta legislature on February 28, 2011.
- Based on the findings and analysis of the investigation and an analysis of current practices, make recommendations for system-level improvements in access and wait times for cancer treatment.

During the course of the review the QAC gained insight into the challenges that were encountered with managing the thoracic surgery program in the former Capital Health.

Conclusions regarding the question of a group of 250 patients on a surgical wait list of 1,200

- The allegation that about 1,200 patients are (*sic*) (were) on a waiting list for lung surgery is unfounded.
- The allegation that 250 patients died waiting on a lung surgery waiting list is unfounded.
- The inference that physicians who raised these issues were punished, driven out of the province, or paid out in millions because of advocating on behalf of patients is not supported by the facts.
- There is no basis for suggesting that former Ministers of Health and Wellness, the former CEO of Capital Health, or the Registrar of the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta suppressed knowledge of illegal or unethical behaviour or actions.
- The QAC is satisfied that when the issue of the waiting list first surfaced, the former Capital Health launched an appropriate investigation and took actions to ensure that patients were appropriately followed and had an opportunity to receive testing and treatment.
- The QAC cannot, with 100 per cent certainty, conclude that no patients experienced a delay in surgery such that the delay compromised their chances for long-term survival because the QAC did not have sufficient information to identify patients that would have allowed an independent investigation of patient outcomes. Nevertheless, based on extensive interviews and analysis of data from Alberta, Edmonton and Calgary for incidence and mortality rates, surgical resection rates and proportion of patients presenting with early stage lung cancer, no evidence could be found of a systematic worsening of patient outcomes for Edmonton patients.
- There were issues and concerns with how a former surgeon at the UAH was managing a surgical waiting list; concerns included:
 - Appropriateness of patients on a 'surgical wait list'; many patients who were on the list were not candidates for the operation that appeared to have been proposed for them.
 - Appropriate prioritization of patients; that is, which patient would go next to the operating room.
 - Appropriate and timely follow-up of patients who required additional diagnostic testing.



Conclusions regarding the management of lung cancer surgery waiting lists

- The management of cancer surgery waiting lists has been and continues to be problematic. This is the result of:
 - Variability in the use of the standard approach for disease and procedure classification (e.g., the International Classification of Disease).
 - Non-standardized criteria/definitions for:
 - Indications for surgery
 - Clinical staging of disease
 - Overall (medical) fitness of the patient for surgery.
 - Variability in the workup of patients who may require surgery, with respect to type and timing of investigations and consultations.
 - Variability in the criteria used by surgeons to determine that an operation should proceed; that is, the definition of 'operability'. Future refinements in this definition may lie in developing standardized care pathways, which will also establish definitions and thresholds for surgical and non-surgical treatments.
 - Variability as to when patients are registered (listed) with a specific AHS hospital for an operation.
- Current efforts by Alberta Health Services to standardize and streamline the diagnosis for patients with suspected lung cancer and reduce waiting times for surgery are steps in the right direction. It is possible, however, that current efforts will not help patients or their primary-care physicians know when a patient has been placed on a waiting list or learn (without phoning the surgeon) the estimated date of an operation.

Conclusions regarding the management of thoracic surgery and physician performance in the former Capital Health

- While there was a small group of physicians advocating for additional resources, these efforts had no bearing on what finally transpired between Capital Health and the surgeons. The key findings from this review centred on whether appropriate procedures, including appeal processes, were followed to ensure administrative fairness in evaluating the performance of the physicians involved.
- There were factual issues of physician behaviour and questions about the quality of patient care that required intervention and review by the UAH and Capital Health senior medical and administrative leaders. Senior leaders' lines of authority were blurred and at times undermined by others who intervened because they had the power to do so. The Capital Health Board of Directors, which had delegated the authority to handle physician performance and privileging issues to senior management, was not involved. There were and remain strong opinions about the appropriateness of the way the issues were handled by those involved. The lessons learned from that time focus on the need to have very clear physician performance review-and-appeal procedures based on medical staff bylaws and administrative contract management. These are characteristics of a 'just culture' in an environment that must be focused on safety, where individuals are encouraged to raise concerns without fear of reprisal a common concept in healthcare. While the handling of physician performance issues



frequently requires leadership judgment, ignoring procedures – or, worse, having no procedures – can result in multi-faceted human resource management problems that will and do have a devastating effect on the individuals involved (both those making the decisions and those on the receiving end). When there are no clear rules, or the clear rules are not followed, disagreements invariably arise that can lead to ad hoc involvement of the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA).

- There was considerable confusion among the parties as to the manner and timing of CPSA's involvement. Generally there is a pervasive fear among physicians of even the appearance of the CPSA's involvement, given that the CPSA has ultimate control over a physician's right to practise medicine. Involving the CPSA must always be handled in the most appropriate manner.
- The focus of Capital Health reviews into quality-of-patient-care issues in thoracic surgery appeared to rest primarily on individual physician performance with little emphasis on important system issues that no doubt contributed to patient outcomes. Some of these issues would include:
 - Surgeons practising in isolation without the ability to review cases with similarly trained colleagues or having access to highly skilled surgical assistance for complicated cases.
 - Excessive night and weekend 'call'.
 - Excessive workload.
 - Excessive fatigue (contributed to by call and workload).
 - Lack of leadership training among physicians.

There were factual issues of physician behaviour and questions about the quality of patient care that required the UAH and Capital Health senior medical and administrative leaders to intervene. Senior leaders' lines of authority were blurred and at times undermined by others who intervened because they had the power to do so. There were and remain strong opinions about the appropriateness of the way the issues were handled by those involved.


RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendations related to the alleged list of 1,200 patients

Analysis

The following allegations were made by the MLA for Edmonton-Meadowlark on February 28, 2011 in the Alberta legislature that: (1) "about 1,200 Albertans are on a wait list for lung surgery, and 250 died waiting on that list, many with lung cancer"; (2) "this happened under Minister Mar and the Hon. Member for Sherwood Park and that Dr. Trevor Theman of the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta, and Capital Health and Sheila Weatherill knew about this"; and (3) "physicians who raised these issues were either punished or driven out of the province or paid out in millions to buy their silence and the costs buried in the books under the former Capital Health Region."

The allegations implied that physician advocacy for patients, physician intimidation, and muzzling associated with financial payments played a part in the 1,200-patient waiting list and the involved thoracic surgeons.

These allegations were examined very thoroughly through extensive, semi-structured interviews protected by the Quality Assurance Provisions of Section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*, informal confidential conversations, extensive documentary reviews, and careful analysis of patient wait lists.

7. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Government of Alberta take no further action, and not establish a judicial or health inquiry, to examine:

- The allegation of a list of 1,200 patients on a lung surgery wait list or patients who may have died who were on such a list.
- The allegation regarding the roles and actions of former Health Ministers, the former CEO of Capital Health, and the Registrar of the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta.
- The allegation that the physicians who raised the issues regarding a 1,200-patient waiting list were either punished or driven out of the province or paid millions to buy their silence and the costs buried in the books under the former regional health authority.

Recommendations to improve the management of (lung) cancer surgical waiting lists

8. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health Services develop standardized approaches for the creation of surgical waiting lists making surgical oncology waiting lists a priority.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

• Alberta Health Services develop a patient care and patient flow map for common oncology operations that documents work up and clinical decision-making up to the point that a patient meets criteria for requiring a surgical operation and hence placement on a wait list.



 Alberta Health Services develop standard criteria for when patients are officially placed on a wait list.

9. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services invite key stakeholders (e.g., patients and non-surgical healthcare providers) to participate in the Lung Cancer Surgery project so that stakeholder needs are considered.

REQUIRED ACTION

 Alberta Health Services ensures that stakeholders contribute to all phases of the project, including the design of a public portal to an information system that would allow them to determine when they are on an 'official' surgical waiting list and what their current status on that list is.

10. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services develop a comprehensive physician staffing plan (that at a minimum would include respirologists, thoracic surgeons, radiation oncologists, and medical oncologists) to ensure long-term viability of its Lung Cancer Surgery project.



CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS CONCERNING THE OVERALL HEALTHCARE SYSTEM

During Part A of the review the QAC found evidence of, and reached conclusions about, the overall functioning of Alberta's healthcare system that pertain to more than just emergency department (ED) or cancer surgery. A brief analysis is followed by the QAC's conclusions and recommendations.

Issue: The impact of restructuring the healthcare system

Analysis

It is widely accepted that ED performance (waiting times, number of patients waiting) is the 'canary in the coalmine' indicator of overall healthcare system performance because EDs serve as the healthcare safety net for a population.⁷¹ Following the formation of Alberta Health Services, several key indicators of ED and hospital crowding became substantially worse:

- Median length of stay for admitted patients (Figure 9a).
- Waiting time for an inpatient bed following a decision to admit (Figure 19a and 19b).
- ED beds occupied by emergency inpatients (Figure 21).
- Inpatient bed occupancy rates (Figure 22a and 22b).

After some stability in leadership over the past year, noticeable improvements have occurred, but results have only now reached the levels of 2006/07.

Conclusion

Health system performance deteriorated for several years following major restructuring in 2008 and only now are the performance measures starting to show a return to 'pre-AHS' levels. This conclusion supports recommendation 1 in Part B of this report.

Issue: Healthcare administrative structure and organization

Analysis

In comparison to Calgary, on a per-population basis, Edmonton has more acute care inpatient bed capacity (Figures 23 and 24), long term care/supportive living spaces (Figure 28) and slightly lower hospital occupancy rates (Figure 22) yet has had substantially worse ED lengths of stay for patients requiring admission to hospital (Figure 19). These results suggest fundamental differences in how these two healthcare systems previously functioned (and in many respects continue to function). Based on many interviews the QAC concluded that the differences between Edmonton and Calgary are likely best explained by the historical differences in how they were structured and organized. In Calgary, programs and departments used to be, and mostly still are, regional in structure; that is, there are single departments of emergency medicine, surgery, medicine, obstetrics and gynecology, anesthesiology, etc. In contrast, departments and programs in Edmonton are mostly site-based, meaning each acute care facility has its own departments and programs and two of the hospitals (Grey Nuns Community Hospital and Misericordia Community Hospital) are under a separate governance structure.



In the review of thoracic surgery, one of the important issues that surfaced was the two-site model for the delivery of thoracic surgery that evolved in a region that did not have the population base or surgical volume to justify it. Competition between acute care institutions leads to duplication of services and missed opportunities to develop strong regional (zonal) programs of care delivery.

Conclusion

Historically the performance of Edmonton's healthcare system has been hampered by having strong sitebased programs at its two largest acute care sites and having an independent healthcare system governing its two smaller acute care sites.

11. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services implement a clinical program management model within its geographical zones that fully integrates all hospitals and urgent care facilities under single-program or service-based leadership.

Issue: Organizational learning regarding strategic planning and leadership

Analysis

Capital Health's strategic plan to address ED crowding, the Emergency Services and System Capacity (ESSC) project, was not clearly articulated to key stakeholders, such as the ED physicians, despite a sizeable investment in the project. The plan to address crowding was by necessity a broad, system-wide approach rather than a quick fix. The ESSC project was not on the agenda of the region's Board of Directors or its Regional Medical Advisory Committee. The QAC concluded from this that ED crowding was not a high priority in the former Capital Health. In an evaluation of the ESSC project done in spring of 2009 it was determined that the project did not deliver the anticipated improvements in ED crowding. One of the deficiencies of the project would have to be that it did not have a clear strategy to address the fundamental causes of severe ED crowding: high inpatient occupancy. Although longer-than-average length of stay for key case mix groups was highlighted as an important issue, there were no fundamental changes to how inpatient care was structured or delivered; average length of stay did not change. In contrast to the lack of results in Edmonton, the former Chinook Health Region developed a strong strategic plan, consistent top-level leadership with an excellent understanding of quality improvement and change management, successful engagement of frontline clinicians, and transformation of acute care beds to long term care/supportive living beds while still maintaining workable inpatient occupancy rates. This was accomplished by shortening inpatient length of stay at a time when it continued to lengthen in both Calgary and Edmonton. The former Chinook Health Region, albeit less complex than the two larger centres, exemplifies what has been described as common habits of high-value healthcare systems:⁷²

- Specification and planning: Both operational decisions (e.g., patient flow through an ED) and core clinical decisions are based on explicit criteria.
- Infrastructure design: A deliberate design of clinical microsystems (the core units that deliver care to populations of patients), including staff, information, and clinical technology, physical space, business processes, and policies and procedures that support patient care.



- Measurement and oversight for internal process control: Measurement is integrated with other organizational priorities so that it is an integral part of accountability and performance management.
- Self study: Organizations study positive and negative deviances in their processes and outcomes of care, which allows them to make improvements.

Conclusion

There is an opportunity for Alberta Health Services and other healthcare organizations to broaden their knowledge of organizational leadership and strategy. Developing case studies would help develop 'corporate memory' and provide clinical and administrative leaders with key lessons about organizational planning, accountability, engagement of frontline providers, and the importance of developing and following key performance metrics and change management protocols.

12. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services develop and use case studies about: (1) the strategic planning and implementation of system-wide interventions that the former Chinook Health Region undertook; and (2) the former Capital Health's Emergency Services and System Capacity project.

Issue: Empowering clinical programs and services to conduct quality assurance reviews

Analysis

The QAC found no evidence that the ED physicians in the former Capital Health were supported in leading their own formal quality assurance reviews. Rather, the QAC was provided with examples of quality assurance reviews that were led by one or more individuals from outside of the department or by an administrator with authority for the department. This approach to quality assurance can be, and was, perceived as potentially punitive, which does not support the development of a just culture that is a fundamental underpinning of a safety culture.

Conclusion

A complete understanding of how quality assurance reviews can and should be used in a manner that supports a safety culture was not evident in the former Capital Health's EDs.

13. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services ensure that its departments or services develop the expertise and the accountability for conducting their own quality assurance reviews with the sole purpose of the review being to improve the reliability and safety of the patient-care delivery system.



PART B

THE ROLE AND PROCESS OF PHYSICIAN ADVOCACY (including physician intimidation)

BACKGROUND

On March 12, 2011 the Honourable Gene Zwozdesky, Minister of Health and Wellness, directed the Health Quality Council of Alberta (HQCA) to conduct an independent review that closely examines wait times for emergency department (ED) services and for cancer care services in the Province of Alberta pursuant to Section 13 of the *Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation*. Linked to the issue of wait times for cancer care services (lung surgery) were allegations that physicians had been intimidated after advocating for more resources.

Following the Minister's request for the review, there continued to be ongoing pressure from opposition party politicians and the Alberta Medical Association (AMA) for a judicial inquiry into the issue of physician advocacy. The Minister and then Premier Ed Stelmach upheld the decision to have the HQCA conduct a review.

Through March and into April 2011 political pressure mounted. On April 15, the AMA called on the provincial government to launch a full judicial inquiry into growing concerns over allegations of physician intimidation in the health system. The Minister reiterated his decision to have the HQCA conduct a review. During this time, some physicians came forward with alleged cases of intimidation and the calls for a judicial inquiry intensified. As a result, the scope of the physician advocacy component was revised to include a review of the allegations of physician intimidation and muzzling.



METHODOLOGY

This review was conducted by an appointed quality assurance subcommittee (QAC) of the Health Quality Council of Alberta QAC and was conducted in accordance with Section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*.⁶⁸

Any reports issued by the QAC contain only findings and recommendations aimed at system-level improvements for healthcare delivery in Alberta.

There were four major sources of information used for this review:

- A comprehensive review of the healthcare literature on physician advocacy and intimidation.
- A province-wide survey, *Role and Process of Physician Advocacy*, to Alberta physicians to gain an understanding of physician knowledge and experience related to advocacy in Alberta, and the extent to which their advocacy for patient care was supported or obstructed by healthcare provider organizations, government, professional colleges, and others. (see Appendix VIII)
- Interviews to gain perspective on historical and current practices related to physician advocacy.
- Documentation review.

A comprehensive review of the healthcare literature

The University of Calgary's Institute for Public Health was commissioned to conduct a literature review on physician advocacy and intimidation. (Appendix VII) A search to retrieve potentially relevant papers from appropriate databases included the following key terms: 'physician', 'advocate', 'physician advocacy', 'patient(s)', 'intimidation', 'government', 'consumer advocacy', 'health policy', 'policy reform', 'Canada', 'healthcare reform', and 'patient rights'. These databases covered the broad topics of healthcare, psychology, sociology, philosophy (for ethics papers) and the law. The review also encompassed a variety of grey literature^{viii} databases and websites for professional associations and research reports. The grey literature databases and sources were also searched.

A province-wide survey to Alberta physicians

Prairie Research Associates Inc. (PRA) was contracted to coordinate the logistics of the survey. A public mail contact list for 7,964 registered physicians was obtained from the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA). The names of seven physicians were removed from the database because their mailing addresses could not be verified.

The process for mailing and follow-up is outlined below:

viii Refers to material that might not be peer reviewed, indexed on major databases, or published commercially; examples would include publications of government or non-profit organizations and conference proceedings.



- The 7,957 invitation letters and surveys were mailed to physicians on October 20 and 21, 2011.
- The names of physicians who had completed the survey, withdrawn from the study, or whose invitation letter had been returned to the HQCA as undeliverable, were removed from the contact list. On November 15, 2011, 6,948 physicians were mailed reminder postcards to encourage them to complete the survey.
- A second survey package, including a letter and another copy of the survey, was mailed to 6,523 physicians November 29 and 30, 2011, again removing 'completes', 'withdrawns' and 'undeliverables'.

Consistent with privacy regulations, private mail and email addresses were not provided. Given the expectation this public contact list would miss some potential respondents; that physician survey response rates are generally low; and that some breakdown was required for the analysis by physician type and location, the HQCA chose to use a census rather than a sampling approach, meaning an attempt was made to reach all physicians in Alberta.

A modified Dillman⁷³ mail survey protocol was used with an initial mailing of the survey and supporting material, a reminder postcard and a repeat mailing of the full survey package. The protocol was modified in that physicians were able to complete their individual survey via a secure web address if they chose to do so.

Overall, 7,957 survey packages were mailed, 212 (2.7 per cent) were returned as invalid addresses, 36 (0.5 per cent) declined, 2,046 were completed (1,589 by mail and 457 by web form) resulting in a response rate of 25.7 per cent. Returned paper surveys were scanned and validated using Teleform and Web forms were filled and submitted directly by physicians. Data were cleaned and merged into an SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) data file, which is software for statistical analysis. Open-ended "other" responses were coded and multiple-mention "choose all that apply" items were formatted as multiple response sets. Univariate (one variable), bivariate (the connection between two variables), and multivariate analysis was undertaken in both SPSS and STATA (portmanteau of the words *statistics* and *data*) software.

A total of 478 responses to the final question of the survey, an open-ended question that asked respondents to identify "any additional comments, concerns, or suggestions regarding physician advocacy issues as you have experienced them in your practice", were analyzed. All the comments were collated and a thematic analysis was completed. This resulted in subjective descriptors to provide a sense of the frequency of times the QAC read comments that seemed to reflect similar ideas. Individual quotes reflect the specific language and tone of interviews, and were used to build the shared themes. In the analysis, only quotes that were not identifiable or attributable to a specific individual were used to exemplify the breadth of experiences within themes. These comments should be considered together with the quantitative analysis to get a comprehensive perspective of survey respondents' views.



Interviews to gain perspective on historical and current practices related to physician advocacy

Interview participant selection

Participation in the quality assurance review was voluntary. The QAC invited those who were believed to have insights on historical and current practices related to physician advocacy to be interviewed. Subsequently, interviewees were asked to suggest others whom they thought should be interviewed. Physicians were encouraged to come forward on their own initiative.

As well, the (former) Premier, Ed Stelmach, made an open invitation during question period in the legislature on April 27, 2011, stating, "This government does not ignore any healthcare worker. They are all free to come forward, before the Health Quality Council and deliver evidence, ways of improving cancer treatment, reducing emergency waiting times, ensuring that the good healthcare system is sustainable (and) is here well into the future. The opportunity is there. We welcome all of them to come forward."⁷⁴ AHS encouraged anyone associated with the organization to participate in the review. The CPSA and the AMA both supported physician participation in the review.

In 106 separate interviews, the QAC spoke with 99 people; five people who were invited declined to participate.

Interview process

A semi-structured process was used for each interview. At the beginning of each interview, an overview of Section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*⁶⁸ was provided and any questions about the interview process were answered. All interviewees who had an association with Alberta Health Services (AHS), the University of Calgary Faculty of Medicine, or the University of Alberta Faculty of Medicine were provided with letters assuring interviewees that there would be no repercussions to them, from these organizations, for participating in this review. (Appendix III) All interviewees were asked for verbal consent to record their conversation; if they preferred not to be recorded, only typed and written notes were taken. The interview recordings, notes, and relevant documentation provided by interviewees were used to assure accuracy and for the qualitative thematic analysis. Interviewees were reassured that all recordings and notes would be kept confidential and would be destroyed at the end of the review.

All interviews were conducted under Section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*.⁶⁸ The names of people who either initiated an interview with the QAC or were invited to participate, and whether or not they participated, will be kept confidential by the QAC.

All interviewees were asked about their perceptions of physicians advocating for their individual patients, groups of patients and communities, and where appropriate, for their insights into advocacy associated with the (ED) and/or lung cancer surgery in the former Capital Health.



Qualitative data analysis

An exploratory descriptive methodology^{ix} was used to analyze the interview data. A working group of three members of the QAC developed the methodology for and conducted the qualitative analysis of the interviews.

The first 10 interviews were used to establish inter-rater reliability, to confirm that all working group members were using the same focus when examining the interview data. While independently listening to the taped interviews and/or reviewing the notes from the interviews, the working group members documented key expressions, which were then grouped as preliminary common perspectives or emerging themes. These themes were validated through the analysis of the next 20 interviews and were then used to analyze the remaining interviews. These themes were validated with all members of the QAC.

It is important to remember that the interview data reflect subjective perspectives shared by the individuals interviewed by the QAC. Individual quotes reflect the specific language and tone of interviews and were used to build the shared themes. In the analysis, only quotes that were not identifiable or attributable to a specific individual were used to exemplify the breadth of experiences within themes. As this analysis used an exploratory descriptive methodology, every attempt was made to provide a comprehensive picture of the diversity of the comments received.

The objective of the review was not to test specific hypotheses, which could then be generalized to all physicians, but rather to explore and describe the current state of understanding related to physicians in Alberta advocating for their patients as experienced by the 99 interviewees. Consequently, there are no references to the frequency with which any one theme emerged. Instead, subjective descriptors are included to provide an order of magnitude of the number of times comments were made that seemed to the QAC to reflect similar themes. Ideas expressed by one individual were included to limit interpretation bias and to reflect the range of perspectives and opinions that currently exist about physicians advocating for patients.

Documentation review

Documents relevant to organizational factors and processes that may influence physician advocacy were obtained through several sources. These included documents provided by interviewees, additional literature sourced and reviewed by the QAC, and multiple documents requested from and provided by Alberta Health Services. Relevant documentation was reviewed and analyzed by the QAC and referenced during the analysis and report writing process.

ix Approach used when there is limited knowledge in the topic: presents a picture focusing on the "what", "how", and "who"



FINDINGS

Literature review

The University of Calgary's Institute for Public Health completed a comprehensive review of both the scholarly and grey literature on physician advocacy, with a focus on the issue of intimidation of physicians when advocating for patient populations. The review highlighted evidence for effective strategies that address the issue of physician advocacy on matters of health policy and public policy, with emphasis on articles relevant in the context of Alberta and Canada. (Appendix VII)

The comprehensive literature review specific to physician advocacy and additional literature obtained by the QAC were used.

Defining and describing advocacy

The literature review highlighted the problem of the lack of a clear definition of advocacy. Earnest et al (2010) defined physician advocacy as "action by a physician to promote those social, economic, educational and political changes that ameliorate the suffering and threats to human health and well-being that he or she identifies through his or her professional work and expertise".⁷⁵ Other authors identify principles of advocacy, which included "must be structured to be as free from conflict of interest as possible, requires competence and vehemence on the part of the advocate guided by a clear understanding of the social situation, and not undertaken from a neutral position". Hurley (2007) specifically identified the qualities of knowledge, passion, skilled communication, vigilance, and perseverance as needed for successful advocacy.⁷⁶

The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada's' (RCPSC) work on CanMEDS (2005) is often referenced as a key source of direction on physician advocacy.⁷⁷ This work describes seven interconnected roles that are embodied by competent physicians. The central role, medical expert, is supported by six other roles: communicator, collaborator, manager, scholar, professional, and health advocate. The health advocate role emphasizes concepts of advocacy for individual patients, recognizing determinants of health in populations served, and identification of larger public health issues. As health advocates, "physicians responsibly use their expertise and influence to advance the health and well-being of individual patients, communities and populations".

The literature review included numerous references affirming physicians should advocate, most often in the role of care provider to individual patients, and less often for populations or society. Interestingly Huddle (2011) makes a case as to why physicians should not be *obligated* to advocate, arguing that "there are compelling reasons why physicians ought not to regard the achievement of societal health through the political process as necessary ... professional morality must not demand that physicians always favour spending more resources on health and less on, say, pensions or police".⁷⁸ There are, however, examples provided from the literature, where physician advocacy has made significant changes to the health of the public, such as safety measures to stop preventable traumatic events.

Furthermore, health advocacy is appropriately expressed by individual and collective actions of physicians in influencing public health and policy. The CanMEDS work describes the elements of advocacy (e.g., fiduciary duty to care, responsible use of authority and influence, patient safety, and



mobilizing resources as needed), key competencies (e.g., responding to individual patient health needs and issues, responding to the health needs of the communities they serve, identifying the determinants of health of the populations they serve, and promoting the health of individual patients, communities, and populations), enabling competencies (e.g., describing the ethical and professional issues inherent in health advocacy including altruism, social justice, autonomy, integrity, and idealism, and appreciating the possibility of conflict inherent in their role as health advocate with that of manager or gatekeeper and appreciating the possibility of competing interests between the communities served and other populations), and emphasizes the interdependence between and among the other roles.

Earnest (2010) identified the unique status or position physicians enjoyed that allowed them to advocate more directly with key decision makers, such as politicians and administrators.⁷⁵

Organizational culture: the impact on behaviour

Current literature contains a broad range of dissertations on organizational culture with the basic premise that culture represents the shared values and beliefs that guide behaviour in the organization. It is the road map for how members of the organization relate to each other and get their work done. Development and recognition of culture requires organizational stability, usually of key leaders, to allow the organization to recognize, with consistency, what is valued and rewarded.

Ron Westrum in his article on organizational cultures states that there is a widespread belief that organizational culture shapes many aspects of performance. He defines culture as the "organization's pattern of response to the problems and opportunities it encounters".⁷⁹ Culture therefore reflects the basic values of the organization and will most often define its response to internal and external events. While these intrinsic values can be responsive to significant events such as change in leadership or a change in organizational strategy, it often takes a significant period of time for new values and beliefs to become engrained in the mainstream culture. How an organization views internal advocacy activities and how it reacts to a perceived transgression of its values or beliefs can be interpreted as a reflection of the culture of the organization. Using this frame of reference it is possible to view individual perceptions and organizational behaviour in these terms.

Daft and Armstrong identify that a critical function of culture in organizations is to integrate members so that they know how to relate to one another. It defines the behaviours that are required to work in that environment and the latitude that will be accepted. The strength of a culture, in their view, "is related to uniformity (no antagonistic subcultures), organizational age (strong culture takes time to form), and turnover (culture requires stable relationships)".⁸⁰

Just culture and trust

James Reason's work on accident management in high-risk industries such as aviation and nuclear science describes the high value that is placed on developing an organizational culture of safety.⁸¹ Foundational to this is a 'just culture', where people are seen to be, and are, treated appropriately and fairly and there is an element of trust underlying relationships in the organization. In this environment, individuals are encouraged to speak up without fear of retribution, to bring forward safety concerns for action. Without this psychological safety, issues may linger, corrective solutions can be delayed, or a



preventable adverse event may occur as issues remain hidden. A just culture is therefore critical for safe healthcare organizations.

As early as 1982, Deming wrote about fear-based cultures and the detrimental effect they had in keeping people from speaking up or sharing ideas for fear of punishment.⁸² In a culture of fear, there is no trust. Sally Bibb, in her article "Trust: An Organization's Most Valuable Commodity", states that "building and maintaining trust should be high on the agenda of CEOs and Human Resource directors because it underpins a range of issues" in the organization.⁸³ She describes several elements of a low-trust culture:

- Skepticism about the leader: If people are skeptical about their leader, it means they don't trust him or her.
- Cynicism: "A symptom of mistrust (whereby) it closes off possibilities and is damaging to
 organizations because its underlying attitude is 'I don't believe this; it will never work'. It drains
 people's energy, causes them to lose hope and not to even bother".
- Fear: Low-trust cultures are characterized by "fear of the boss and fear of making a mistake because of repercussions".
- Spin: This kind of communication is a sign of lack of openness and transparency. "When messages are managed very carefully people become suspicious of what is really going on."

Organizations with a trusting culture have characteristics such as shared values, including "integrity and honesty" and "open authentic leadership", where the leader is trusted, trusts others in the organization, and values that trust. It is a basis for high employee engagement as open, honest discussions are encouraged and supported.

In a 'just culture', people are seen to be treated appropriately and fairly and there is an element of trust underlying relationships in the organization. In this environment individuals are encouraged to speak up without fear of retribution, to bring forward safety concerns for action. Without this psychological safety, issues may linger, corrective solutions can be delayed, or a preventable adverse event may occur as issues remain hidden. A just culture, therefore, is critical for safe healthcare organizations.

Galford and Seibold Drapeau, in their *Harvard Business Review* article "The Enemies of Trust", describe three distinct but linked types of trust in an organization: strategic trust, which is trust in people running the organization; personal trust, the trust in your manager; and organizational trust, the trust that the organization's processes are consistent and fair.⁸⁴ A breach of trust in any one area, can influence trust on the other two levels. These authors also describe the virtues of having a trustworthy organization: "If people trust each other and their leaders, they will be able to work through disagreements. They take smarter risks … if they don't trust the organization, they will disengage from their work." J. Firth-Cozens in his article on organizational trust, notes the "difficulty in building trust in a culture of fierce competition for resources and a general climate of social distrust".⁸⁵



Physician education on advocacy

The literature review identified barriers to physician advocacy, including not feeling prepared, insufficient time for advocacy activities, and evidence of resistance from the medical establishment, public, and governments. Two papers found that medical residents felt inadequately prepared to take on the role of health advocate and a literature search in 2005 found no studies on the curriculum of healthcare advocacy in residency education in Canada. The papers identified barriers to teaching health advocacy, including time pressure with other curriculum requirements, no role modelling of health advocacy among teaching faculty, uncertainty among faculty members about their roles in teaching advocacy (never having learned it in their own training), and lack of remuneration for advocacy activities. These two authors recommended ways to integrate advocacy-related competencies into medical training, identified what the teaching of physician advocacy would ideally include, and provided some current examples where health advocacy has been highlighted in the curriculum in the U.S. and one example from the Toronto Emergency Medical Subspecialty Training program. A recent article by Dharamsi et al (2011) from the University of British Columbia identifies the CanMEDs competencies as a means to operationalize social responsibility in medicine, especially the competencies that deal with professionalism and health advocacy. They point out that advocacy is a "difficult role to teach and evaluate" and identify that "medical schools, future physicians, and the communities they have a mandate to serve will need to work together to identify appropriate advocacy opportunities, what specifically should be learned and why, how it can be best taught, and how learning should be assessed."⁸⁶

Physician advocacy effectiveness

Bergman (1994) provided some pragmatic suggestions on how to effectively advocate, describing his approach as the 'politics of the powerless', explaining how to realize effective advocacy without personally having the power or influence over someone to change laws.⁸⁷ Suggestions such as the need to have staying power, focus on the ultimate goal (not on the noise or hype you may be creating), pick the right goal and make it focused, pick a topic relevant to your own practice, observe how role models advocate, try to garner support from different parts of the political spectrum and different occupations, and if necessary get public opinion through the use of the media.⁸⁸ He also suggested some things not to do such as "crying with like-minded people about a difficult situation for your patients" or "telling people how morally superior you are as part of your advocacy". Other authors described explicit processes to follow, including the importance of diagnosing the political nature of the health issue, understanding the key political decision makers and determining a specific strategy. A common theme in the literature is that physicians need to engage as constructively as possible by focusing on issues and positive change, rather than on shame and negativity.⁸⁸

The Canadian Medical Protective Association writes that conflict can arise when physicians advocate, but this conflict should not always be viewed as negative as "issues may be more fully understood through differences exposed through that conflict".



In 2006 the CMPA (Canadian Medical Protective Association) wrote about the changing relationship between physicians and hospitals and identified six areas of concern, one being physicians as advocates, which they perceive will take on an increasingly important role in the future.⁸⁹ CMPA writings point out that conflict can arise when physicians advocate, but this conflict should not always be viewed as negative as "issues may be more fully understood through differences exposed through that conflict". They also noted increasing efforts to stifle advocacy on behalf of organizations and government.⁹⁰ Published accounts of physicians being subject to intimidation are evident in both in the peer-reviewed and grey literature. The CMPA article provides examples of attempts to constrain physicians from advocacy, noting this is contrary to lessons learned in safety-driven organizations where employees are encouraged to speak out. They also identify examples from the National Health Service in the United Kingdom and the U.S. of intimidation of whistleblowers. Consistent with other writings, there is a theme that governments and health system administrators need to embrace physician advocacy and that the physician voice, on behalf of the public, needs to be welcomed. They are also encouraged to use processes based on procedural fairness and fundamentals of natural justice.

This sentiment was echoed by David Saltman (2011) who proposed that physician advocacy activities may result in physicians being in conflict with government healthcare priorities and agendas, but reaffirming that advocacy should be welcomed, not constrained.⁹¹

Physician intimidation

Intimidation can take many forms; it can be insidious, or overt; it may involve some manner of incivility (deliberate discourtesy), verbal or perceived threats, active bullying, or in the extreme, violence. These disruptive behaviours undermine any attempt to create a just culture where people are free to speak up on issues of concern. In a 2002 publication, the CMPA reported 100 cases of physician intimidation that had been presented to them from across Canada.⁹⁰ While not unique to physicians, in a study of healthcare workplaces Felblinger (2008) described the negative consequences of "bullying, incivility and their associated disruptive behaviours" and highlighted the organizational responsibility to develop processes to manage threatening and intimidating actions.⁹² Gary Namie, in his article "Workplace Bullying; Escalated Incivility" (2003), puts forward a model of workplace disruption where incivility, bullying, and physical violence lie on a 10-point continuum.⁹³ Incivilities range from 1 to 3, bullying extends from 4 to 9, which describes the level of interference with work productivity, and finally a score of 10, which defines violence that stops work from taking place. Any of these disruptive behaviours can be perceived as intimidating and, if not addressed, can lead to a culture of fear and mistrust. Namie describes fear as silencing not only those who have been directly affected but also their co-workers who are looking to avoid a similar experience.

Marshall and Robson in their article "Preventing and Managing Conflict: Vital Pieces in the Patient Safety Puzzle" (2005) suggest that fear, in creating anxiety and mistrust, leads to failures in communication and lack of co-operation and teamwork.⁹⁴ "The inevitable result is high levels of conflict among and between healthcare professionals" and that this "unacknowledged and unresolved conflict" is a significant contributor to unsafe cultures. Furthermore, in the experience of the authors, there is a reluctance to acknowledge that "unresolved conflict is pervasive in today's healthcare systems" and they cite a number of characteristics of the healthcare system that would suggest that it is almost



inevitable. The article described their recommendations for a multi-faceted approach for organizations to build "conflict management strength". In the course of this review, interviewees did not specifically identify 'conflict' as a source of intimidation but, as these authors indicate, "most of us are loath to admit we are in the middle of conflict" so it is reasonable to consider conflict as the source of some of their experiences of intimidation.

Role and process of physician advocacy survey

A province-wide survey, *Role and Process of Physician Advocacy*, developed by the HQCA was sent to Alberta physicians to allow the QAC to better understand physician knowledge and experience related to advocacy in Alberta, and the extent to which one's advocacy for patient care is supported or obstructed by healthcare provider organizations, government, professional colleges, and others. The survey was supported and participation encouraged by both the Alberta Medical Association (AMA) and the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA).

Overall, 7,957 survey packages were mailed, 212 (2.7 per cent) were returned as invalid addresses, 36 (0.5 per cent) declined, 2,046 were completed (1,589 by mail and 457 by web form) resulting in a response rate of 25.7 per cent.

Quantitative results

Advocacy: obstruction or support^x

(Note: may not add to 100% due to rounding)

- Overall, 51% of responding physicians reported that in the past year, their ability to advocate on behalf of their patients had been limited in some way; 49% reported their ability to advocate on behalf of their patients had not been limited.
- It was reported by 22% that in the last year they usually (19%) or always (2%) stopped themselves from advocating for their patients because they felt that nothing would happen to address the issue; 48% reported they sometimes stopped themselves and 30% never stopped themselves.
 - Specialists and general practitioners (GPs) working in an organization, compared with other care settings, were more likely to stop themselves from advocating because they felt nothing would happen to address the issue.
 - GPs who felt they had the necessary skills to effectively advocate were less likely to stop themselves compared with GPs who felt they lacked the necessary skills.

^x Multivariate analysis results, when mentioned, controlled for factors such as years of practice, gender, specialty, work setting, AHS zone, whom they advocated to, and whether they felt they had necessary skills to advocate.



- Male GPs were less likely to stop themselves compared with female GPs.
- It was reported by 9% that they always (2%) or usually (7%) stopped themselves from advocating for fear of negative repercussions for them as a physician; 26% sometimes stopped themselves and 65% never stopped themselves.
- Considering their "professional responsibility for advocacy" in the past year, 30% reported they were somewhat (22%) or greatly (8%) obstructed; 33% reported they were neither supported nor obstructed; and 37% reported they were somewhat supported (31%) or greatly supported (6%).
- 15% of physicians reported in the last year being pressured to withdraw a request, and 15% reported being intimidated. In addition 8% reported being censored, threatened (5%), or punished (3%). Given a list of possible responses (multiple responses allowed), 18% of physicians said they had experienced at least one of these responses in the past year. An open-ended category was selected by an additional 16% of physicians.
 - Specialists who advocate to their organizational department, executives of their healthcare organization, or the AMA (as compared with specialists who advocated elsewhere) are more likely to experience one of the listed negative outcomes. Likewise, GPs who advocated to the executive of their healthcare organization were more likely to experience a negative outcome than were GPs who advocated elsewhere. Male GPs who advocated were less likely to experience a negative outcome than were female GPs. Specialists and GPs who advocated to executives of their healthcare organization were more likely to have been asked to withdraw a request, as compared with others who advocated elsewhere.
- Combining closed and coded open-ended responses, 20% of physicians experienced what the HQCA defined as *active harmful obstruction* including such things as threats, intimidation, censorship, punishment, ridicule, being bullied and, in rare cases, being terminated or perceiving intended negative consequences to their patients. Of the 15% who were pressured to withdraw their request, 10% also experienced *active harmful obstruction* (already counted above); leaving 5% who uniquely reported being pressured to withdraw their request. On the basis of open-ended responses alone, 15% of physicians experienced some form of what was defined as *passive obstruction*: 4% were discouraged, patronized, minimized, or outright refused; 10% were simply ignored and 1% reported being limited by policy, process, or organizational resources. All categories combined, 37% of physicians experienced either active harmful obstruction, pressure to withdraw their request, or some form of passive obstruction. In contrast, 63% did not report these negative experiences.
 - Specialists who advocate to their organizational executive or to MLAs are more likely to experience active harmful obstruction than other specialists who advocate elsewhere. Specialists who work in the emergency department (ED) are less likely to experience active harmful obstruction compared with specialists working in other settings.
 - Likewise, GPs who advocated to their organizational executive were more likely to experience passive obstruction, compared with other GPs who advocated elsewhere. Male GPs were less likely to experience passive obstruction than were female GPs.



- Considering negative advocacy experiences at different times, approximately 13% of physicians reported having a negative experience in each of the following periods: more than 10 years ago, six to 10 years ago and three to six years ago. More notable, 32% reported having a negative experience in the last three years. Nearly half of respondents, 48%, reported not having a negative experience in any time period.^{xi}
- For the 88% of physicians who advocated in the past year, 18% reported their suggestions were never acted upon in a meaningful way when they advocated for patients; 64% reported only sometimes; 18% reported their suggestions were usually (17%) or always (1%) acted upon.
- 66% of physicians report their role as an advocate for patients sometimes had a positive outcome for their patients, whereas 10% reported "never". In contrast, 32% of physicians report their role as an advocate for patients never had a positive outcome for them as a physician.

Thirty-seven per cent of physicians experienced either active harmful obstruction (threats, intimidation, and so on), pressure to withdraw their request, or some form of passive obstruction, such as being discouraged, patronized, or ignored. In contrast, 63 per cent did not report these negative experiences when they advocated in the past year.

Factors influencing advocacy

- The 51% of physicians who reported their ability to advocate for their patients had been limited in the last year were asked what restricted their ability to advocate. Multiple responses were permitted:
 - 62% noted lack of resources to provide requested care
 - 60% reported unsupportive organizational policies
 - 56% reported an unclear process for advocacy
 - 51% reported lack of time to advocate
 - 39% reported inadequate communication between providers
 - 31% reported being restricted by their lack of training and education in advocacy
 - 23% identified their inexperience in advocating for their patients
 - 23% reported uncertainty in their role as an advocate

^{xi} Note: recall bias may be an issue in considering these earlier periods.



- When asked who restricted their ability to advocate:
 - 55% identified organization administration
 - 37% said Alberta Health Services (AHS)
 - 35% said organization leadership or executive
 - 33% identified department or division administration
 - 27% reported Alberta Health and Wellness (AHW)
 - 20% identified physician peers
 - 8% identified the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA)
 - 2% said the Alberta Medical Association (AMA)
- The 49% of physicians reporting that their ability to advocate had *not* been limited in the last year were asked what enhanced their ability to advocate; 42% cited their experience in advocating for their patients, while only 14% cited their training and education. Notably, only 11% of physicians cited supportive organizational polices, 8% 'a clear understanding of physician advocacy where I work' and 5% a clear process for advocacy. Agreement on the best course of care was reported by 23% of physicians and having available resources for requested care by 16%.
- When considering who enhanced their ability to advocate: 50% cited physician peers and 19% cited a
 mentor. In contrast, 14% cited department or division administration, 7% organization administration,
 7% organization leadership or executive, and 2% AHW. In addition, 12% of physicians cited the
 CPSA as having enhanced physician ability to advocate.
- Considering their usual work context in the past year, 37% of physicians reported not being aware of a process through which they could advocate for their patients to address such issues as quality, safety, or resources. Furthermore, 23% reported they did not know. In contrast, 40% were aware of a process for advocating.
- For those physicians on contract, 69% reported that the contract did not address advocacy, whereas 21% reported it limited their ability to advocate and 10% reported it enhanced their ability.
- For those physicians working in a healthcare delivery organization, 45% reported that organizational policies did not address advocacy directly, whereas 38% reported that policies limited their ability to advocate. Only 17% reported that policies enhanced physician ability to advocate.

Physicians' perspectives on their advocacy role and preparation for it

 Considering the three levels of advocacy roles identified in the CanMEDs competency statement (multiple responses allowed), 82% of physicians believe it is their professional responsibility to advocate for their individual patients, 82% for their clinical population of patients, and 71% for populations within the broader community.



- 69% of physicians report having no formal training in advocacy; 14% report receiving training in medical school, 15% in residency and 16% as continuing medical education (multiple responses allowed).
- 45% believe they have the necessary skills to advocate effectively for their patients, whereas 20% do not and 35% do not know.
- When asked about sources of advocacy information used in the last year, 50% of physicians reported using none; 25% reported using information from medical journals or other literature, 23% from the CPSA, 16% from the Canadian Medical Association (CMA), and 9% from the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (multiple responses allowed).

Discussion

Slightly more than half of physicians (51%) feel their ability to advocate had been limited in the past year; 64% report their suggestions are acted on only "sometimes" and 18% report "never". Twenty per cent (20%) of physicians who advocated experienced "active harmful obstruction" for advocating; and a total of 37% experienced some form of negative outcome, including 10% who reported that their requests were simply ignored. These negative outcomes are much more likely to occur in a healthcare organization. Organization administration, department administration, or executive are identified as the party who restricted advocacy for as many as 50% of respondents.

Fifty-six per cent (56%) of physicians report their ability to advocate is limited by an unclear process for advocacy, 37% were not aware of a process through which they could advocate, and an additional 23% simply didn't know. Many (69%) reported that their contract didn't address advocacy and 45% reported that organization policies did not directly address advocacy. Finally, 69% of physicians report no formal training in advocacy, and physician advocacy remains poorly defined despite an 82% acceptance of its importance as a professional responsibility.

When asked who *enhanced* their ability to advocate, 49% of physicians cite their peers; 13% cite department administration and 7% cite organization administration. Likewise, 55% identify organization administration as having *restricted* their ability to advocate, as opposed to 20% who identify peers.

As the survey was exploratory it does not adequately distinguish between historical and current challenges in physicians' advocating. There are no baseline data for comparison; this is the initial attempt in Alberta to identify factors that influence physicians' advocating.

Sixty-nine per cent of physicians report no formal training in advocacy, and physician advocacy remains poorly defined despite an 82% acceptance of its importance as a professional responsibility.

Qualitative results

Four hundred and seventy-eight (478) comments from the one open-ended question (question 32) (Appendix VIII) that asked if respondents had "any additional comments, concerns, or suggestions regarding physician advocacy issues as you have experienced them in your practice" were analyzed. Words, phrases, or sentences in quotations indicate direct quotes from the narrative survey responses.



Physicians' experiences with advocacy and intimidation

A number of respondents had not experienced intimidation themselves but they described intimidation that happened to colleagues and its impact on those around them; even the rumours of intimidation were enough to stop some doctors from advocating. Some respondents indicated they had "never seen or witnessed any negative issues related to physician advocacy", nor had they ever been "intimidated" or "obstructed in any way". Some described positive advocacy experiences and tended to associate that success with having "legitimate needs". Several responses described an emerging hope within AHS and that AHS, the AMA, and the CPSA were to be commended for their progressive support of advocacy.

Respondents provided many comments of an explicit nature regarding personal experiences with advocacy that are noteworthy:

- Advised to "not continue speaking"; "labelled negative, misinformed, or speaking out of turn"
- "People who push too hard get 'whacked', marginalized, or put in their place"
- "I was never persecuted but was certainly placated, censored, and then ignored"
- Several were threatened with loss of privileges, having their mental competency questioned, and being 'fired' for advocating ("which was traumatic")
- "Intimidation is real but subtle"; "It's extremely difficult to advocate due to undertones of intimidation and being told to stop being so outspoken"
- "No matter what anyone says, a culture of fear, intimidation, apathy, elitism, inequality, and manipulation exists and has existed for some time"
- "Obvious systemic harassment and intimidation that can/does/may have a negative effect on patient safety"
- "The atmosphere in Alberta has been negative in terms of advocating"; "well known but an unwritten rule that in Alberta, physician advocacy is not welcome"
- Perspective of 'newer' graduates was that "attempts to advocate meet with limited interest, minimization, or frank disrespect from organizational or government bodies with the power to enact change"

Challenges identified with advocating

A number of respondents described challenges advocating with or within specific AHS clinical services. One description of a workplace was a "living hell and poor quality" and there were concerns about being "threatened" by their physician leaders while management dismissed their concerns, branding them as "complainers and nuisances".

A number of clinical services external to AHS were described as challenging to advocate with. These included specialists' offices (orthopedics, neurosurgery, neurology, geriatric assessments, psychiatry), Worker's Compensation Board (WCB), Alberta Aids to Daily Living (AADL), and Persons with Developmental Disabilities (PDD). Another issue with many health organizations was described as,



"When I have tried to advocate for change I keep getting referred to another organization to address my concerns. I do not know how best to advocate for my patients anymore."

Some of the challenges with advocacy within AHS were related to a perceived lack of stable leadership for the past four years. The initial AHS Code of Conduct created a "frosty" atmosphere, and though it was retracted and revised, it still lingers as a "sort of warning to keep silent". A prevalent theme was the perception that AHS managers and administrators were "far too removed from patient care issues" and the priority for AHS was "not on patient care but on budget concerns". There was also the sentiment that "administrators who orchestrated pervasive intimidation have simply been promoted" and "trust cannot be rebuilt under these conditions" so the sense that "any disagreement will be handled in much the same way as in the past" still persists.

Some of the challenges with advocacy within AHS were related to a perceived lack of stable leadership for the past four years. A prevalent theme was the perception that AHS managers and administrators were "far too removed from patient care issues" and the priority for AHS was "not on patient care but on budget concerns".

Why physicians chose not to advocate

The CPSA, the AMA, the WCB, hospital legal departments, and AHS are "barriers to effective advocacy" say some respondents; some have "no trust" with health services organizations; "any attempt to advocate for patients that challenges the establishment is met with serious reprisal".

A variety of reasons were mentioned as to why some physicians chose not to advocate, including "not feeling prepared" to advocate (no formal training), thinking "others are better at it", that it "takes an inordinate amount of time (away from family)" to advocate. It was felt that "many colleagues have long since checked out ... and remain disengaged". Others reasons for not advocating included:

- "Twenty years of pointless, non-productive advocacy causing advocacy fatigue."
- Physician input is "not wanted nor valued"; input was "trivialized, not taken seriously", "it's not intimidation; it's being ignored and marginalized".
- Contract signed with AHS is "muzzling", "prohibiting them from pursuing advocacy in any manner that may damage the reputation of AHS".
- Putting requests in writing for MLAs was understood to be violating physician agreements.
- Potential ethical issues in advocating for one patient or group of patients at the expense of others.

Physician education on advocacy

Several individuals noted that advocacy is difficult to teach and evaluate while others expressed interest in learning more skills. One respondent expressed the opposite, and couldn't understand why physicians had to be taught as it "was drummed into my head at all stages of my training".



Impact of culture on advocacy

There was mention of "glossy magazine" articles describing how well things are working while it is a totally different story on the front line. Some comments identified that the current culture discourages advocacy and some physicians have developed a 'culture of silence' so as not to experience the negative consequences that may result from speaking out.

Impact of restructuring of healthcare on advocacy

The restructuring of the healthcare system over the past several years, including the creation of AHS, prompted some respondents to identify issues such as:

- Middle management's "inability to be effective leaders and decision makers" and "the inability to balance resources between hospitals and programs". The term 'substandard' care was used several times; "we have learned to accept the unacceptable as routine" and that administrators and managers continued with that standard of care due to the lack of resources.
- Inability to streamline the various silos of care that result in inefficiencies and duplication of services. "We don't necessarily need more resources, we need to be more efficient and effective with the resources we currently have."

Enabling effective advocacy

- Some suggestions for making advocacy more effective included:
- "Developed relationships ... that allow me to make a case ... arguments are logically and unemotionally presented, which allows for debate and discussion."
- "Putting patients first and communicating effectively with the party that will help."
- "Best done in conjunction with patient-led or disease-specific advocacy organizations ... includes the voices of patients (read voters), which resonates more loudly than those of physicians who can be seen as self-interested."
- Frequent comments related to the "need for a system that encourages physicians to tell administration about their problems without losing their jobs, careers, and reputations".
- Access to an "independent body" (one person used the term 'health ombudsman') that physicians "can go to when medical leaders are compromising patient care" and would "have authority to investigate the complaint and if legitimate correct the situation".
- "Online service where advocacy challenges and potential improvements could be recorded with a quarterly report on the most frequent issues pertaining to advocacy could be available".
- AHS needs to "develop a system with the AMA and the CPSA to ensure there was no fallout financially, legally, or professionally for physicians advocating on behalf of their patients, and the CMPA did not have to be the go-to response"; "need for whistleblower protection if we're ever going to risk speaking out".
- A few individuals specifically stated that a judicial inquiry was needed.



Lines of authority and accountability

Elected officials (Minister of Health and Wellness) and the Department of Health and Wellness

Survey respondents commented on "bureaucratic and political interference" with "increasing control among unelected deputy ministers and assistant deputy ministers". Other such comments included:

- "Advocacy has become political".
- "There is clear political interference in the functioning of AHS" which was described as "counterproductive".
- The impact this had on effective use and distribution of healthcare resources was described as "injustice to some and the 'waste' of resources on relatively ineffective strategies for those with a political voice".
- Concerns that politicians were and are using healthcare as an issue for "political gain" or for "pushing personal agendas".
- It was also stated, however, that "physicians have a duty to advocate and government has an electoral duty to listen" and concerns were expressed about the non-responsive approach of AHW.

Alberta Health Services (AHS)

Frustration was expressed with the "bureaucratic challenges" or "indifference to advocating within AHS" and the "non-responsive approach" or "inability to make decisions". Respondents commented on difficulties working through the "behemoth" and "unresponsive organizations" that challenge "healthcare providers' ability to provide quality care" and that "the present structure makes it impossible to find a contact so that you can advocate". One respondent said the "real or at least perceived monopoly power (of one provincial region) is extremely intimidating".

College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA)

Several respondents spoke to the 'fear' associated with the CPSA. They felt "intimidated" and said that physicians were "afraid to speak out" and that if you spoke out you would "be in trouble and punished". Punishment for speaking out was described as "having charts audited" and then being blamed for not advocating enough when patients had received poor care.

Analysis of Interviews

Introduction

The interviews were conducted in order to answer the following two objectives from the Terms of Reference:

• To investigate the role and ability of physicians to advocate for patients whose quality of care and safety the physicians believe is or could be compromised due to system resources or policies.



• Based on the findings and analysis of the investigation and an analysis of current practices, make recommendations for system-level improvements in the policies and practices relating to physician advocacy intended to serve the best interests of patients.

While there were numerous topics, stories, and perspectives, three key themes emerged from the interview data: advocacy, lines of authority and accountability, and culture. The following reflects the perspectives expressed by the 99 people who were interviewed.

Advocacy

How interviewees described advocacy

Definitions and descriptions of advocacy varied widely among interviewees, ranging from "letting the system know that there may be a need for improvement" to the idea that advocacy is a "process you can follow if you are well connected" (to decision makers or other influential people). Another perspective was that "docs (physicians) and others speaking to patients' needs is not advocacy, rather is part of your responsibility to the patient; we all have responsibility to put patients first".

A generic description of advocacy referenced "putting forth a position when speaking out on behalf of others". Most interviewees believed that physicians have a "responsibility or duty to advocate on behalf of their patients", seeing physician advocacy as a "very legitimate, important contributing factor to the functioning of the healthcare system". Physicians were seen as having a "right and accountability" for standing up when they see a need. Advocating for individual patients was most often identified as the expected form of advocacy, and an obligation and primary responsibility to the individual patient was consistently referenced. This kind of 'advocacy' (though some respondents would not see this as advocacy, but "part of their job") carries "little threat" to the one advocating, although it does take considerable time and effort.

The opinion was expressed that advocating for an individual patient "trumps anything", once you have accepted responsibility for that patient. It was identified that the needs of individual patients and the needs of a population may come into conflict especially in the context of finite resources. Furthermore, "when you take on another person's issue as if it was your own and take responsibility for presenting facts and figures and evidence to substantiate their concerns or their allegations, it's up to the system to respond accordingly when there's sufficient substantiation to do something". Advocating for groups of patients, the entire population, or communities was referenced less often and described as being used less frequently.

Several interviewees saw public health physicians as those who are most often appropriately involved with advocating for populations and communities, in essence advocating for the health of the public. Advocating was seen as one of their core functions as they were often the most involved with politically sensitive issues, such as sour gas well location and water fluoridation and one "couldn't and shouldn't try to stop them". Public health physicians use the media and politicians as legitimate 'tools' in order to create broader awareness of a public health issue. As aptly stated by one interviewee, the "media is to a public health physician as a scalpel is to a surgeon".



It was noted that as professionals, physicians have been given autonomy to self-regulate, but with that right comes a responsibility. "Your responsibility as a profession is to look at the benefit of others including patients, society, and community before your own benefit." This included a responsibility to advocate for system access and system reform if patients' needs are not met because of system inefficiencies or gaps. However, the thought was expressed that not all physicians may believe this is an obligation.

Physicians were seen as playing an essential role in advocating for patients, as they often make the final judgment on healthcare interventions. This made it hard for some interviewees to comprehend that physicians are not able to advocate and be successful in getting the resources they need to look after their patients effectively. It was suggested that one would be more inclined to think other professions (e.g., nurses) could be muzzled; however, this discussion was not pursued as the experience of other professions was beyond the scope of this review.

Occasions when interviewees said advocacy is required

Advocacy was seen to be required in several situations:

- When decisions regarding the allocation of finite resources in healthcare are being considered.
- When a resource allocation decision has been made that appears unfair.
- "If money is being wasted, you have to blow the whistle on that."
- When trying to coordinate care for an individual patient meets with barriers due to "lack of coordination" between various components of the system and individuals "working in silos".

Interviewees said they would feel motivated to advocate in cases related to system challenges that limit patient access, the desire for high-quality care in purpose-built space, or decision making around the allocation of finite resources. Some individuals reflected on how orthopedic surgeons in Alberta were able to achieve significant success "without lying in front of a train" (having concerns about care highlighted in the media). Essentially they "escalated the discussion to a higher level (board and political) so that appropriate attention and resources were put into it". It was noted that this kind of alignment doesn't always happen easily in resource allocation decisions. Several interviewees said that physicians are "obligated to improve the system" by advocating at the system level, but wondered how many physicians believed they had an obligation to system improvement.

The development of purpose-built space for cardiac services at the Mazankowski Alberta Heart Institute was described by some interviewees as an outcome of physicians advocating for patients. It was acknowledged by some interviewees that the cardiac surgeons deserved credit for being "better at politics than physicians in other areas".

Some interviewees indicated that advocacy for illness prevention and determinants of health is a legitimate motivation for advocacy and physicians need to "speak to public policy". One challenge in doing so, however, was reflected in the comment that "unfortunately all too often the urgent trumps the important".



Interviewees' perceptions of internal versus external advocacy

Some interviewees differentiated between advocacy activities occurring *within* the organization, (such as attempting to influence internal resource allocation), and activities and comments that were *external* to the organization, such as contacting politicians, writing in the local newspaper, or contacting the media. One individual characterized a physician holding a press conference as the "ultimate expression of democracy".

Views on appropriate and responsible advocacy

Interviewees often referenced two descriptors that were associated with advocacy: *appropriate* and *responsible*. Appropriate and responsible advocacy were not necessarily seen as equivalent to *effective* advocacy, which referred to the successful outcome of advocacy efforts. While the interpretation of appropriate or responsible advocacy varied, there was general agreement that *appropriate* advocacy involves an onus to raise concerns with those who are able to make decisions *within the organization* before advocating externally (such as approaching the media or politicians). Advocating *responsibly* was seen by some individuals as "needing to keep the needs of others and the 'bigger picture' in mind rather than just your own issues and your individual patients' needs". Many individuals emphasized that there are "limited or finite resources and they need to be used for the best of society". Consequently, there is a need to "understand the multiple needs in the system, cooperate with others, advocate in light of everything else going on, and recognize you work within a system where there are competing pressures". Several interviewees mentioned that many physicians perceived that healthcare funding is 'never ending', with limited awareness of the implications of funding decisions. If advocacy efforts are successful for a particular population group, there is "little appreciation that there may be a negative impact on another group".

Some interviewees felt strongly that the "rules of the game" were not known by all physicians, with some believing strongly that advocacy should be based on evidence, not based on "lobbying and who you know", which was seen as wrong even if it had been identified by others as how "decisions are made in the real world". Similarly, when one group of physicians was particularly successful with advocacy, it was described as "breeding cynicism when it appeared that one group had a more direct channel to decision makers" and those contacts resulted in significant funding decisions. While cardiac and orthopedic surgeons were identified as appearing particularly successful in their advocacy efforts, one physician commented that there are no 'have not' groups in the system.

Irresponsible advocacy was described by some as the use of frightening or emotional stories that were half-truths, or "sort of true", with "an agenda embedded in it that is more about you". Several interviewees spoke about what advocacy is not. "I don't think it (physician advocacy) is indiscriminate pleading or demanding through the media or any available channel for changes in the health system".

How interviewees described the process of advocating

How advocacy was carried out was seen as a significant issue and a source of frequent frustration. Interviewees contemplated how one goes about making change if it is seen to be needed. Some highlighted the importance of maintaining an atmosphere of mutual respect in any advocacy activity. Many identified the need to find out the organizational structures and processes in place to advocate



effectively and respectfully start with the 'chain of command' in an organization, "assuming people will act in good faith". "People take responsibility for presenting facts and figures and evidence to substantiate their concerns or their allegations. It's up to the system to respond accordingly when there's sufficient substantiation to do something about whatever the question is." "In a proper way advocacy begins at the lowest level in the organization and works its way up and if you're not listened to then you go a different route but you don't start at the top." Interviewees emphasized the importance of building alliances at the local level in order to "have many voices speaking to the issue" (seen as more powerful) and ensuring "bottom-up and top-down coordination". "A big flaw of our profession is trying to work too much alone." Others highlighted the importance of "understanding the political system and identifying who is making decisions and allocating resources".

Some interviewees described the importance of the process of advocating, and using "factual or true information, having a point of view that was well thought out, not being unreasonable or doing anything rash or irrelevant, and using a means of communication that is appropriate". These individuals anticipated that even if people disagreed with their point of view, if one has a well-thought-out, solid case, they would not feel constrained. "I would pick my spots and be very careful, and would always take into consideration the political ramifications of taking action."

It was proposed that to advocate *effectively* and achieve the desired outcome, one needed a "planned problem-solving process" including a clear statement of the issues or problems needing to be addressed; options to resolve the problem ("we need to be solution providers"); a business case including "indisputable data and delineating benefit"; and support from key individuals such as department heads. Other perspectives on the process of advocacy recommended a "specific goal, purpose and advocate to that end" and "the best way to get helpful response is identify a problem along with options for dealing with it". The observation was made that while this kind of problem-solving process was often used in dealing with a patient's medical concerns, "physicians didn't necessarily use the same process in advocating for patients". A few individuals mentioned the onus was on the person doing the advocating to get his or her message across. "If you are not able to make administration hear your case, you are at fault; it's how you present your case. While you may not always agree with the decision, you have to find a way to try to influence it."

In responding to advocacy it was seen as the leaders' responsibility to deal openly and honestly with the problem or issue as identified and ensure that the person who advocated has all the facts. It was understood that there may need to be some "give and take" but ultimately both parties need to know whether the proposed change is going to happen or not. If necessary, the issues may need to be taken to the next level (of decision maker), and ultimately one "may need to blow the whistle and initiate external communication" if the issue is not addressed. Following the chain of command is important to "ensure issues are addressed in a constructive and congenial manner". Approaching politicians was identified by many as a last resort, although politicians can help "blow the whistle more loudly".

Some individuals mentioned that advocacy required an investment of time and energy and the following quote reflects one person's tenacity: "I would start by speaking with one person, and if they're not prepared to listen, I may go to a second person; and depending on the response, I may decide to go to anyone who will listen."



Views on ethical considerations

Interviewees frequently mentioned the need for physicians, in their advocacy efforts, to balance responsibility towards individual patients with their obligation to society (labelled as 'civic professionalism' by one interviewee). The dual commitments to safeguarding the best interests of their patients and protecting the resources of the health system/society were often in conflict and placed physicians in a difficult position. This predicament was not seen to be limited to questions of allocating resources at a larger level, but also applied to everyday decisions that cumulatively drive up the cost of healthcare delivery.

Several individuals identified an inherent conflict of interest that arises when physicians advocate: "are they advocating for themselves, their personal interest, the patient(s), or the system?" The concern was that in advocating for patient well-being or system improvements, it may sometimes be unclear to physicians and others that such advocacy efforts may benefit the physicians themselves. Because these lines can become easily blurred "it is not always black and white and the real reason for the advocacy is not always apparent".

Individuals having dual or multiple positions in an organization (e.g., those with both clinical and administrative responsibilities) were commonly cited as being in a situation that may be a source of ethical concern. It is the "rare doctor that only wears one hat, and without roles clearly articulated, it might not be evident what role they're filling while advocating". "Whether taxpayer, patient, or physician, inherent in those roles alone there is some tension with biases in each of these roles that needs to be reconciled." Some suggested that when speaking out on an issue, physicians need to identify which 'hat' they are wearing.

Ethical issues were also seen to arise in the way that physicians were treated by others and by the system when they advocated for resources. Terms that were used included "procedural justice", "fairness", and "due process". A number of interviewees felt that a transparent, equitable process that evaluated the merit of advocacy efforts was lacking and sometimes resulted in decisions being made without "due diligence".

Leadership and advocacy

Interviewees believed that leaders within organizations (physician or administrators) may not have been "formally educated or prepared" in how to effectively deal with physicians advocating. Thus, there may be widely varying responses to advocacy depending on the individual leader's experience, knowledge, and personal leadership style. It was noted that physicians may not always have all the information about an issue and leaders may not always communicate that information in a timely way. Interviewees felt that this lack of feedback or communication adds to the physician's frustration such that he or she may feel the need to go external to the organization to have their concerns heard.

Many interviews included discussions about the relationship between effective leadership and physician engagement, with personal experiences pointing to the effectiveness of including and working with physicians as part of the team. Some believed that if the focus in the organization is on patient care ("which it needs to be"), people and resources start to align and people become focused on where they can improve patient care. A key attribute of effective leaders as identified by the interviewees was "authenticity" and a "demonstrated commitment to following up on issues" identified by physicians



advocating, acknowledging they've been heard, and providing ongoing feedback regarding any progress in attempting to deal with or resolve the issue.

Some interviewees acknowledged that people are busy and in such an environment communication may break down; "even if a clear, succinct message is provided to your superior, s(he) may not get the message, or the issue just may not get to their priority list".

Whether people felt intimidated as a result of their advocacy efforts was often related to a communication style and interaction between a given physician and administrative leader. Some interviewees stressed the importance of differentiating advocacy from disruptive behaviour in order to respond appropriately. Skills in responding to both are required. Some physician leaders indicated they would like to see a model for physician leadership to be "better managers of disruptive behaviours (not assuming that advocacy is disruptive behaviour) created". Physicians advocating may not always understand that their issue or perspective may not prevail given the reality of finite resources. In those situations "it is easy to say there is something not right in the relationship, or the tone of the interaction may result in some people thinking they are intimidated. In that case usually it's a two-way street and both individuals need to reflect on how they may be contributing to the misunderstanding".

Whether people felt intimidated was often linked to a communication style and interaction between a given physician and administrative leader.

Physician inexperience may contribute to not knowing how to advocate well. If an issue "hasn't been 'actioned' or resolved within a certain amount of time, the individual raising the concern may feel discounted and disrespected", highlighting the importance of ongoing feedback to keep people informed of progress. One individual summarized it as realizing that "sometimes you get what you want and sometimes you don't, but it's all part of working in a large organization".

A few interviewees raised the challenges of working with someone who is "constantly negative", though from that individual's perspective they may believe they are advocating for an important cause. Over a period of time this ongoing (perceived) negativity may lead to increasing frustration on the part of the leader, and the individual advocating increasingly feeling marginalized, frustrated, and angry. Interviewees speaking to this issue indicated there may come a time that having the individual leave his or her position or the organization may need to be considered.

Use of the media in advocating for patients

Many interviewees identified the media as legitimate tools in advocating for their patients. As mentioned earlier in this section, public health physicians in particular are seen as legitimately using the media as a key strategy in getting messages out to the public.

For organizations (AHS or government) and individuals sensitive to negative media coverage, proposing to go to the media could be used or viewed as a "threat". Others expressed the need for more caution when using the media, as they believed that "one engages the press with trepidation because you don't know what direction it's going to go". Another interviewee identified using the media as a "landmine", with the risk of losing control of the message and the difficulty in predicting the motivation of the media.



The use of the media was generally seen as requiring "rules of the road". Some articulated that you "didn't want people going to the media because they felt disrespected, but going there because they have had a good hearing but still wanted to step into a public setting". People were seen as using the media when they perceived they were powerless, and not accomplishing their objectives. It was observed that going public could be disconnected from what the organization wants, and depending on how a conversation goes between an individual physician and the department head, for example, if the latter requests or directs the individual not to go to the media, it could be perceived as muzzling.

Interviewees indicated there are no clear rules or policies on when it is appropriate to involve the media. People are aware that when physicians speak out, "it will be picked up by the media, as they are perceived as credible sources". It was identified the "media will believe a physician over a politician any day", so there was an incentive for physicians to go to the media.

Several interviewees thought that most physicians believed the "only way to get attention focused on their issues was to go through the media" even though most indicated they would prefer not to do so. They believed it would be preferable to have a system that is working so that approaching the media would be unnecessary.

Many thought that as a general rule one wants to work initially within the system and work with the people who are actually responsible for making changes. "The media is not going to fix the system; you need to advocate within the system for change". Some, however, believed if physicians are truly speaking on behalf of patients, the system and quality, they may "need to do whatever they need to do to move things forward".

Several interviewees thought that most physicians believed the "only way to get attention focused on their issues was to go through the media" even though most indicated they would prefer not to do so. They believed it would be preferable to have a system that is working so that approaching the media would be unnecessary.

Accessing the media was and is seen as a powerful strategy because governments and regions including AHS, are "sensitive to negative media coverage, as the issues being raised may imply organizational failure to resolve them". In providing a rationale for using the media, one individual said, "The only way I can mobilize 3.7 million people in Alberta is to go to the media and embarrass the government. One weakness we have today is a lack of systems in place to allow frontline workers to report what is broken; if there is a system, it isn't apparent that it is available in Alberta."

For some, using the media was inconsistent within a culture of a "learning organization", implying that issues should be resolvable internally through a process of ongoing learning and continuous improvement, meaning threats to make unresolved issues more public would be unnecessary.

Several interviewees talked about the need to learn how to use the media, and some physicians indicated they already took every opportunity for media training.



Physician education on advocacy

Interviewees generally agreed that, for most physicians, effective advocacy had not been taught in either medical school or ongoing continuing medical education. Many physicians indicated they had no formal education on how, when, and under what circumstances one can advocate but believed it would be a "good thing to have education on advocacy". It was suggested that newer graduates from medical schools may have received some orientation in how to advocate. Other interviewees were knowledgeable about advocacy for a single patient, but knew less about advocacy for system-level changes. Without training or orientation in how to advocate, interviewees questioned how anyone was to know what was expected of them.

Interviewees speculated that it would be difficult to put a training program together for physicians on how to advocate effectively, yet it was seen as being "useful to have some medical schools discuss how to use good judgment when advocating for patients" and ensure medical students understood the context of doing so. Individuals suggested that it is necessary to teach medical students about the dual roles of advocating for individual patients as well as the population or system as a whole, and what it means. It was noted that the balance between patient- and system-level advocacy is essential and to be "unaware of the need for this balance would be irresponsible" in the opinions of interviewees.

Medical schools were seen to have lagged behind in teaching effective advocacy, only now incorporating it into their curriculum. Other organizations such as the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (RCPSC) and the Canadian Medical Association (CMA) were seen as beginning to work on physician advocacy in the last several years. As part of helping physicians understand their responsibilities, the CMA was identified as "having a responsibility to collect data, begin a national dialogue, identify the key themes, root causes and then begin to identify the solutions".

Interviewees identified many reasons for more education on advocacy, including, the fact that many physicians are engaged with the healthcare system in different ways. Increasingly, physicians are involved in different relationships and payment methods, often in a contract or employee/employer relationships, rather than functioning in a manner that is solely autonomous, which historically was more the norm.

Experiencing intimidation and muzzling while advocating

Interviewees expressed widely varied perspectives on how widespread intimidation and muzzling are when advocating for patients. Some thought comments describing "a culture of fear of intimidation in the health system" to be a "grand generalization with no substantiation presented, designed to attract media attention and jeopardize public confidence and further inflame others in their profession." Other interviewees were unaware of any physician ever being "bought off" to remain quiet or being "muzzled" as a result of advocating for their patients.

On the other hand, many interviewees identified through their own personal experiences or experiences of others disturbing situations where leaders (most often physician or administrative leaders) had attempted to muzzle or intimidate physicians to prevent or cut short their advocacy. In some cases, this was attributed to leaders being 'directed' from external sources, such as politicians or the government, to stop the advocacy.



Interviewees described numerous situations in which physicians or prominent senior leaders had experienced severe negative repercussions while advocating for patients or system improvements. In some cases the intimidation was "subtle and nuanced and was career destructive", and in others the intimidation was "direct and focused". These experiences caused significant stress for some of the individuals involved and in some instances were life-altering, resulting in career changes or a move out of the province. These situations were seen to have sent a clear message that "if you speak up, this is what can happen to you", and were seen as having a 'chilling effect' on others. Other individuals used strong language when describing their experience; one said "it was like I had rabies". Equally concerning were experiences of people being told not to get involved in situations where a colleague's behaviour or performance was being reviewed, with an implication that "it can only hurt you".

Several of these situations were described as being handled through ad hoc processes. The physician or administrative leaders chose not to use the medical staff bylaws in place at the time, as they wanted to use a "less forceful and formal process" to see if the issues could be resolved without having to involve the CPSA. Physicians described being intimidated with false accusations, having their contracts cancelled after verbal promises of renewal, being threatened with "being reported to the CPSA", and being subjected to clinical reviews that "fell outside of due process". Whether the loss involved position or privileges, the physicians in question, as well as others who were aware of or involved in the process, perceived a lack of procedural fairness. One interviewee asked: "Where do physicians with wrongful dismissal go?"

Interviewees expressed widely varied perspectives on how widespread intimidation and muzzling are when advocating for patients.

Some individuals identified that involving the CPSA was used as a "threat" to deter physicians from advocating. While this was commonly perceived among interviewees that this was why the CPSA was involved, several interviewees pointed out that "the statistics don't support that view", and as one individual stated, "If I got a letter from the College (CPSA), I would read it, and if it was about advocating for patient care, I'd say let's talk!"

Lines of authority and accountability

Throughout the interviews the importance of role clarity and clear lines of authority and accountability in relation to physician advocacy, was referenced many times, both historically and in the current healthcare environment. Interviewees emphasized the importance of well-defined roles and responsibilities and clear boundaries within and between elected officials and the ministry, healthcare organizational governance and administration, health professional colleges and associations, and individual physicians for effective and appropriate advocacy.

Interviewees' perceptions about elected officials and Alberta Health and Wellness

Interviewees identified a continuing lack of clarity between the roles, responsibilities, and lines of authority of elected officials (including the Minister of Health and Wellness), the ministry (or Department of Health and Wellness including the Deputy Minister), the former regional health authorities and now the AHS Board and AHS administration. This was described as "each organization playing in the other's



sandbox". It was identified that "it is different from one quarter or one crisis or one Minister to the next" and so the boundaries between these entities were constantly changing or the lines between them were blurred, leaving the perception that the authority attached to specified roles was superficial. Consequently, those advocating would circumvent the formal organizational line of authority to go directly to those perceived as the decision makers – in this case, elected officials. "You go to politicians and start advocating." "If you have a system set up to deal with issues and then you bypass that system … you start messing the waters."

Advocating politically was common practice in the former Capital Heath "because cabinet ministers were readily accessible". If going public or involving politicians resulted in decisions being made or more timely action taken on specific issues, there was more incentive for others to use that route, too. It was apparent to several that "if you talked with this minister, you could get things done." This path of advocacy was not always consistent, however, it was identified there was wide variation in physicians' ability to access the Minister of Health and Wellness or other cabinet ministers. This was highly dependent on who was in the position at the time and how they functioned in relation to the health region, moving from a very arms-length approach to direct operational intervention. One interviewee described this as "a revolving door of leadership and it changes with every one of them". This led many to conclude that there is little consistency in what the role of the minister should and shouldn't be and so the effect on physician advocacy was that the "rules are different depending who you are; is it physician advocacy obeying the rules or is it whoever gets there wins?" Inconsistent responses by elected officials were underscored during the interviews when it was heard there was often little if any transition process between ministers.

There was a common belief among interviewees that the "squeaky wheel gets the grease" and this "creates some difficulty in the system when that happens". It was observed that direct interference by the Minister or Department in operational decision making caused confusion and created an environment in which physicians felt that "political decisions trumped evidence-based decision making". This was reflected in statements such as "political forces trumped the right, and priority switched from fixing community first to full-capacity protocol because the Minister was pushing for something now" (regarding the issue of ED crowding) and "decisions (regarding) resource allocation (were) based on who was advocating rather than evidence and prioritized needs". Some individuals spoke to significant resource allocation decisions as a result of advocating to politicians as "the government thinks they are doing a good thing to clear up the backlogs but in the meantime they were creating problems in other areas." One example provided was the Premier announcing there would be two institutes in the province, one in Edmonton (Mazankowski Alberta Heart Institute) and one in Calgary (Alberta Bone and Joint Health Institute). The approval for the institutes was viewed as a "politically motivated decision". Interviewees also felt that funding these types of decisions reduced funds available for other health system priorities or other societal sectors, such as education, social services, and so on. These "one-off decisions without apparent regard for the impact on other priorities" were seen by some to be "irresponsible" and "inappropriate".

Some interviewees viewed the involvement of politicians by physicians in advocacy activities as doing 'end runs'. This behaviour was not always viewed favourably. "I don't like people going around me and I don't go around them. I think too many people are running to the Minister," said one participant. Others



cited situations where this was viewed as appropriate advocacy: "Advocacy happens at the lowest level and works its way up and if you're not listened to then go to the Minister so somebody's making decisions; and in this case it was health ministers making decisions and allocating resources; but it was done with complete support; not as an end run". Involving politicians did not automatically result in the same or desired outcome, with some individuals describing great success with the use of this strategy and others achieving very little.

There was a common belief among interviewees that the "squeaky wheel gets the grease" and this "creates some difficulty in the system when that happens". It was observed that direct interference by the Minister or Department in operational decision-making caused confusion and created an environment in which physicians felt that political decisions trumped evidencebased decision- making.

Interviewee comments regarding Alberta Health and Wellness focused on confusion about the department's role, particularly in relation to AHS ("substantial confusion between the role of AHS and the role of government") and how "politicized the department had become". This was particularly evident in the initial formation of AHS where the Deputy Minister and the Department were perceived as "interventionist" and that the Deputy Minister should "run the Department effectively, not be partisan politically". This blurring of lines between health policy administration and health service delivery was further expressed as "if you are not going to let the Board and its management team deliver the operational side of the business then bring it inside and run it by the Department – we have clearly mushed those two in the last 18 months". An example of this brought forward during the interviews was the Five-year Action Plan for Mental Health. During the interviews, it was suggested that AHS executive and AHS Board "had not heard about it", that the decision came from the Department and this was simply "political posturing that the government was doing something".

Governance of Alberta Health Services

Interview themes about the role of AHS governance and physician advocacy identified concerns regarding the Board's ability to remain at arm's length from government. This began with the formation of AHS, which was viewed as having occurred without ensuring that the structure for effective governance and oversight was in place: "AHS hadn't yet put in place the governance norms needed". Interviewees felt it was further compounded by the appointment of the former Deputy Minister of Health and Wellness into the position of AHS executive operating officer, which created "considerable confusion between the role of AHS and the role of government". It was seen that "ambiguity remains, no one is clear who is running the show and making decisions (and) nobody really believes that AHW is overall leadership and AHS is operational". To some, this set a pattern of direct government or Department intervention into the role of AHS governance.

Political interference was again identified when the then Minister of Health and Wellness reversed the cost-cutting decisions AHS was implementing to make "a billion dollar correction". These cost-cutting decisions were the closing of a significant number of mental health beds at the Alberta Hospital Edmonton and the plan to reduce 300 acute care medical beds over three years. In addition, the sudden


release of the AHS CEO in the fall of 2010 was seen as the "Minister became directly involved" versus an AHS Board decision and was perceived as evidence that the AHS Board of Directors was not being allowed to work at arm's length from the Minister. This "loss of a CEO" was cited as the cause of "the loss of a third of the Board". This continued with what were perceived as inappropriate appointments to the Board, including former regional CEOs, where it was seen that "here is a CEO now telling the next CEO how to run the health service. I worry about that line being crossed." The frustration with the perceived circumvention of the AHS Board's line of authority was further expressed by the remark that "if you are going to have a board of directors let them make the decisions and let them stand at the pointy end of the stick. Step back, Minister, and let them do their job."

Physicians perceived that the Board was being circumvented or politically motivated, thus creating confusion as to the accountability frame in which physicians operated and advocated. This confusion was recognized by some as not a new phenomenon but one they had experienced throughout their careers in the Alberta health system. The "lines between operations, Board, and government are not clear enough but never are".

There was also an indication from some of the interviews that in the current environment the hope is that the lines of accountability between the most recently appointed Minister, the Department and the AHS Board will become more apparent and adhered to.

Views about advocating within Alberta Health Services (AHS)

It was identified during the interviews that the frequent restructuring of the healthcare system was a major challenge. It was pointed out that healthcare gets "redirected on the political priority of the moment, and the noise in the paper, which takes us off course, so never finish and carry through". In particular, the initial transition year for AHS (2008) "was extremely difficult for everyone in the system because all existing pathways were broken and changed", therefore physicians "had no idea how to advocate successfully". Many interviewees shared past experiences where they knew exactly "who to go to (in order) to get things fixed" but "now I have to start from scratch".

Interviewees also described advocacy efforts that were not responded to or were "seemingly lost" within the AHS bureaucracy. This would result in physicians circumventing the appropriate chain of command as, "having followed appropriate lines" and "receiving no reasonable or perceived to be reasonable response or action", this kind of behaviour was perceived as justified.

Interviewees described a lack of local decision-making authority as a barrier to effective advocacy. It was felt that "if you can get it down (to) a level that people could advocate – within the zone they would know where it stops". There was acknowledgement that AHS was moving towards more local autonomy and decision-making authority but there was an identified need to "delineate what should be central and how to allow for local variation".

Several interviewees talked about the importance of having an intentional and explicit conversation about roles and responsibilities of physicians when taking on a specific appointment within an organization. Without that explicit discussion, "you are setting yourself up for failure". Without clear role definition, "everyone has their own perception and assumptions of their boundaries and freedom to speak out, which can lead to significant misunderstandings". "If you don't lay out expectations when people take AHS



appointments, most docs have a strong sense of their obligations to patients; when you push it out to advocacy, out to the public, the understanding might not be so clear."

Interviewees identified that taking on an administrative role changes the degrees of freedom in which the physician can advocate. These physicians have obligations to their own patients but also have obligations in terms of the goals and direction of the organization. As one interviewee stated, "What is appropriate physician advocacy does change based on your role, in part because you have taken on other trustee-type positions in the universe to help make it better." Some saw it as a limiting factor in that it might restrict what one would like to say, as there is a "need to consider the obligations of that role in determining your ability to advocate". This was summarized in this interviewee comment: "If you're carrying on a clinical practice and you're head of a clinical program at the same time, you've got obligations to the patients that you're directly treating and then in the other hat you've obviously got obligations to the organization in terms of the goals and direction of the organization. I think where a physician or anyone would need guidance is if they believe they've reached a circumstance where there (were) two things conflicted." Others felt that holding an administrative role provided them more opportunity to advocate.

Views about the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA)

It was apparent through the interviews that some physicians do not fully understand the role of the CPSA. However, others described the CPSA as the organization that oversees physician practice and behaviour, licensing (registration), complaints, and professional or personal conduct.

The CPSA was described as "heavy handed" and instilling fear if and when it called. The threat of reporting a physician to the CPSA was described as a tactic used by a colleague or administration to intimidate physicians and that "they are going to take my licence". Some healthcare administrators expressed similar views indicating they "always have approached the physician directly" because many physicians experience "terrible anxiety with any call from the CPSA".

It was suggested that some healthcare administrations have been and are seen as too close to the CPSA, particularly administration in the former Capital Health: "What disturbs me most is the regulatory body and health system should be functioning separately; CPSA (is) working too closely with administration." It was also felt that physician advocacy can "sometimes be interpreted as disruptive behaviour especially when it becomes zealous and/or political". Suggestions were made during the interviews that the CPSA was used to silence "disruptive" physicians who were advocating appropriately.

Some noted that formal investigations and outcomes by the CPSA can be prolonged (describing a "process (that) went on for years"), the communication of the investigation process sparse, and the outcome imprecise. Because the CPSA is bound to principles of strict confidentiality in dealing with both patient and physician issues, it was described as "secretive" and "punitive". To help alleviate the fear of the CPSA, interviewees suggested that the CPSA needs to be more transparent in its processes and emphasize its programs of education and support for physicians and provide a more timely process for validating and responding to a complaint.



Alberta Medical Association (AMA)

Some interviewees described the AMA as "no more than a union and behaves like a union", as one of its primary roles is the negotiation of physician fee agreements. This function is sometimes seen to be in conflict with advocacy as it is not always clear whether the AMA is advocating for patients or for physicians.

A joint submission was presented to the QAC by the AMA and Canadian Medical Association (CMA) and made public to all the AMA members.⁹⁵ It was identified by the AMA and CMA that, at the creation of AHS, "disruption in local relationships" had resulted in "increased distance between governance at a system level and decision-making at the patient level" that "fostered an environment of misunderstandings and distrust between providers and those responsible for managing Alberta's healthcare system". These relationships were described as "long-standing informal processes" through which physicians could advocate for their patients that "allowed for a degree of mutual understanding and stability". The AMA and CMA also acknowledged that physician groups that went public were often rewarded through funding of their particular area of healthcare without sufficient regard for the effect to the rest of the healthcare system. This resulted in the perception that the system promoted advocacy outside of "normal channels".

Physicians' relationship to the health system

Some interviewees described the first wave of regionalization in 1994 as if it were a sentinel or critical event. "Physician engagement has been an issue even if we just go back as far as 1994 ... because they were not involved; they were purposefully excluded, actively excluded." Prior to this, physicians were seen as full partners in the healthcare system and were highly involved in planning and decision-making throughout the province. With the elimination of the previous local governance structures, physicians felt excluded from decision-making processes, and for many these feelings of exclusion continue to this day. This, in the opinion of some interviewees, has led physicians to "focus on their own interests" and less so on the system perspective.

Interviewees identified that as each regional health authority (RHA) developed its own organizational structure and culture, each chose its own strategies to deal with physician engagement. A few individuals felt that some RHAs were able to retain good relationships with their physicians and that others took an active approach to improving physician participation and communication. Calgary, for example, chose to make physician engagement a strategic priority and implemented an administrative model of leadership dyads, with a physician leader and an administrative leader for each major program or portfolio. Some interviewees spoke of this as an initiative that addressed the "real fracture between the physicians and the health region … that was a huge step towards physician engagement".

Interviewees who spoke of the former Capital Health consistently identified the management style of the corporate office to be "command and control but they were all good people and they all got the control message". There was a perception that "certainly the culture in Capital Health was tightly controlled – don't get out of alignment – in (the) executive team for sure and also the case more broadly". The reputation of the organization was paramount and "there was nothing but good news that came out of Capital Health".



In the view of some interviewees, it was also felt that the Capital Health Board was as tightly controlled as the organization and that the senior executive had considerable influence over the information presented to the Board. Some interviewees spoke about physicians having open access to the senior executive and to the Board and in fact, the Board was very interested in hearing from physicians. Others spoke of access to senior executive and the Board as being a case of "favourites who had direct, unfettered access and those who did not", fostering a culture of disparity. One person noted that "there are no 'have not' groups in the Alberta system but there was disparity in funding allocations".

There was a clear perception of disparity and stratification of funding priorities, with cardiac sciences appearing to be at the "top of the list". Rivalry between the two largest centres, the University of Alberta Hospital and the Royal Alexandra Hospital, was commonly recognized. As the academic site, UAH was perceived as having 'favoured' status in the region when it came to programs and funding.

The culture of "arranging meetings with physicians and politicians" and AHW officials in Capital Health was longstanding. Department officials and politicians were readily accessible and interaction was a familiar part of the culture. ED physicians had attended meetings with the caucus and senior administration in the past to present concerns about the wait times. Some interviewees speculated that the department eventually pressed Capital Health to take action to improve ED wait times as a direct result of information they were receiving from these meetings and from ongoing reports in the media.

Interviewees described working conditions in the ED as becoming so stressful that many valued and experienced staff (nurses and physicians) left the department. One interviewee described the ongoing frustration with administrators who didn't appreciate the seriousness of the situation; they thought that "some days were bad but most times it's okay. We couldn't convey that most days were bad and some days, it was a disaster".

Interviewees' views about the formation of Alberta Health Services (AHS)

For physicians in the health system, the formation of AHS was a major system change that, similar to 1994, was seen to exclude physicians. The decision to create a single regional structure was made by the government without physician consultation. "I doubt that any physician had any input – I wasn't aware of any consultation at all – I don't think anyone was in the tent." "Now there is such a huge gap between the frontline physician and the CEO and people feel powerless and don't know what to do," commented one participant.

There were strong views that a change of this magnitude without apparent planning was "irresponsible" of the government. It was widely recognized that the transition from the provincial regional structure to AHS created chaos for everyone including physicians trying to advocate for patients. "All the existing pathways were being broken up and changed; (there was a) general inertia and lack of anything developing and there were not well-established patterns of how to get stuff done. It was not a good time for anybody." During this period, there were fears that anyone who spoke out in any way was at risk of losing his or her position. It was widely believed that dissention of the new system would not be tolerated.

In developing the infrastructure for the new organization, AHS released a Code of Conduct in April 2009. The document evoked strong reactions from employees and physicians, who interpreted the code as "insulting, heavy handed, and essentially creating a gag order" to limit anyone from speaking out on



issues or discussing information that may in fact benefit the organization. "The physicians had a lot to say about just and trusting culture and why don't we have it and why isn't it recognized in the code." Conceding that its initial Code of Conduct missed the mark, AHS undertook broad consultation and presented a second version that was seen as an improvement. Interviewees said that many felt the message from the new organization was about bureaucratic control, which did not sit well with healthcare workers struggling to provide care under sometimes difficult circumstances.

Interviewees' comments about organizational culture and advocacy

Many physicians spoke of feeling "disengaged" from the health system and "fatigued" at trying to advocate for their patients. "They don't feel any citizenship in the system. It is going to take a long time to regain that trust." Others made comments on their previous advocacy efforts, saying "docs feel disenfranchised; don't call on me, I've done my bit. Healthcare workers are fed up; nobody wants to get involved anymore. Partly apathy; partly change fatigue; very cynical".

There was recognition by some interviewees that more issues were likely to arise during advocacy for groups of patients (by service, program, or population) where advocacy was directed at system-level outcomes and required a system-level response. This was identified as a more complex process involving organizational leadership and often needing more significant resources. For others, there was a perception of personal risk in speaking out on certain issues or in challenging the local or organizational leadership in advocating for their individual patients. "The system in no way encourages physicians to be advocates; it's not overt, it's a subtle process of being dissuaded from being an advocate." While some had first-hand experience in these risks, others had knowledge of colleagues who had experienced some form of substantive negative consequences for doing so.

Documentation review

Introduction

Based on some of the comments and identified themes from the interviews and *Role and Process of Physician Advocacy* survey, a number of documents that provided context for these issues were reviewed.

Lines of authority and accountability

Key documents were reviewed to gain an understanding of the established definitions and descriptions of current health system structures, roles, and responsibilities, including the *Regional Health Authorities Act* (RHAA),⁹⁶ *Alberta Public Agencies Governance Act* (APAGA),⁹⁷ Public Agencies Governance Framework,⁹⁸ *Hospitals Act*,⁹⁹ AHS Mandate and Roles document,¹⁰⁰ AHS Medical Staff Bylaws¹⁰¹ and Rules,¹⁰² AHS contract template for physicians in leadership roles and the employment contract between AHS and the current CEO.¹⁰³ The AHS Mandate and Roles document has been a requirement of the APAGA since 2009. Its primary purpose is to "reflect a common understanding of the respective roles, responsibilities, and accountabilities" of the Minister of Health and Wellness (Minister), the Department of Health and Wellness (Department) and Alberta Health Services (AHS).¹⁰⁰ It is jointly developed and negotiated by AHS and the Minister of Health and Wellness and was signed and agreed to by the AHS Board Chair and the Minister on December 2, 2010. (A memorandum of understanding governed the relationship up until this time.)¹⁰⁴



In order for the health system to function effectively, the separation of roles, responsibilities, and accountabilities between the various authorities must be clearly defined and articulated to ensure the public interest is served.¹⁰⁴ This separation and clarity removes ambiguity, provides explicit lines of reporting and delineates the accountability frame. This was echoed in the 2007 report *At a Crossroads: The Report of the Board Governance Review Task Force,* which stated "successful governance requires defined lines of authority, responsibility, and accountability".¹⁰⁵



In 2010 the Minister's Advisory Committee on Health report recognized the need to delineate "clearer roles and lines of accountability between government, health delivery systems, providers and the public".¹⁰⁶ In *The Public Agencies Governance Framework*, which was adopted by the Government of Alberta in response to the *At a Crossroads* report, it is clearly stated that "authority flows from the public, through the Minister to the agency directors; accountability returns from the agency, through the chair to the Minister, who is held accountable to the public".⁹⁷

Elected officials (Minister of Health and Wellness) and the Department of Health and Wellness

The RHAA states the "Minister may give direction to an RHA for the purpose of providing priorities and guidelines" for it to follow.⁹⁶ The Minister can approve or amend the Health Plan submitted by the RHA or refer the plan back to the RHA with direction "to take any further action the Minister considers appropriate". If the minister "considers that it is in the public interest to do so", the minister can do "any other thing the Minister considers necessary to promote and ensure the provision of health services in Alberta".

The AHS Mandate and Roles document provides further detail as to the Minster's authority. As per Section B (2) the Minister:¹⁰⁰

- "allocates funding to AHS,
- establishes, appoints and oversees the AHS Board,
- sets the overall health system strategic direction,



- works with AHS through the Department of Health and Wellness to establish and monitor health system performance goals and targets, report progress and provide public assurance as to AHS compliance with direction and performance expectations,
- may establish or operate any programs and services the Minister considers desirable in order to carry out matters under the Minister's administration".

The Deputy Minister (Section B (3)) of the AHS Mandate and Roles document) is the "chief officer of the department and acts under the direction of the Minister". The Deputy "supports the Minister and coordinates with the CEO" of AHS to "provide direction, communicate government expectations and outline the strategic goals, guidelines and directions of the department to AHS". (Note: "Where an act or regulation directs or empowers the Minister to do something, this authority includes the Deputy Minister (with the exception of the authority to enact a regulation as defined in the *Regulation Act*).")

The Department of Health and Wellness, under direction of the Deputy Minister, implements and ensures compliance with government policy.¹⁰⁷ As per the AHS Mandate and Roles document (Section B (4)), the department provides "guidelines and directions to AHS regarding the contents, preparation and submission" of the health and business plans, including "specifying priorities, performance measures and targets".¹⁰⁰ It provides strategic policy that "outlines the broad government direction for the health system" and directional policy that "identifies actions and sets targets that align with strategic policy to achieve specific results". The Department "establishes standards of care for the health system and monitors performance against those standards".

Governance of Alberta Health Services

The AHS Board's role is also defined within the AHS Mandate and Roles document.¹⁰⁰ The Board is "established, appointed by and overseen by the Minister of Health and Wellness". The Board, through the Board Chair, is accountable to the Minister for the "delivery and operation of the public health system in Alberta". The Board guides the strategic direction, approves, and monitors the AHS health and strategic plans (subject to the approval of the Minister) and financial results. It "recruits, directs, evaluates and, if required, dismisses the CEO" of AHS. It determines the "compensation and the contract terms and conditions for the CEO, subject to the approval of the Minister". (The APAGA states that the public agency (AHS) sets the remuneration and expenses to be paid to the CEO, without mention of requiring ministerial approval.)⁹⁷

The chair of the AHS Board "works in collaboration and cooperation with the CEO and the Minister to fulfill the mandate and mission of AHS" and "any government direction and department priorities", and on behalf of the Board, oversees the CEO.¹⁰⁰

The Regional Health Authorities Act⁹⁶ states an RHA shall:

- "promote and protect the health of the population in the health region and work toward the prevention of disease and injury,
- assess on an ongoing basis the health needs of the health region,
- determine the priority of the provision of health services in the health region and allocate resources accordingly,



- ensure that reasonable access to quality health services is provided in and through the health region,
- promote the provision of health services in a manner that is responsive to the needs of individuals and communities and supports the integration of services and facilities in the health region, and
- has final authority in the health region in respect of the matters referred to above".

AHS CEO and medical staff organizational structure

The role and responsibility of the CEO is defined in the AHS Mandate and Roles document and the employment contract between the CEO and AHS.¹⁰³ As per the AHS Mandate and Roles document, the CEO is "accountable to the Board and provides leadership and management for AHS" and administration for all of its programs and services, and ensures "financial, human, capital and other resource management".¹⁰⁰ The CEO reports to and accepts instructions from the AHS Board directly, or through the chair. The CEO "works in coordination with the Department through the Deputy Minister" and is "responsible for immediately advising the Board and the Minister (through the Deputy Minister) of any material adverse events or other matters affecting the safety or well-being of Albertans". The CEO's contract clearly states that the position takes direction from the Board; however, the Mandate and Roles document states that the Deputy Minister "coordinates" with the CEO to "provide direction, communicate government expectations, and outline the strategic goals, guidelines, and directions of the Department to AHS".

The Alberta Health Services Medical Staff Bylaws and Medical Staff Rules (approved and effective February 28, 2011) govern the "creation, organization and operation of the medical staff"^{101,102} including the administrative structures, committees, and positions for the governance of the medical staff. They define the accountability, responsibilities, and duties for the various medical staff administrative positions and committees.

The chief medical officer (CMO) is the most senior medical administrative leader in AHS and is appointed by and directly accountable to the CEO. The CMO is "responsible for implementation of policies established by AHS related to the medical staff".¹⁰¹

In the AHS dyad leadership model, the administrative/operations leader and medical leader are partnered in a shared decision-making relationship. In general, the administrative leader provides an operations perspective and the medical leader ensures a clinical focus as they jointly make all major decisions and recommendations for a specified portfolio. The responsibilities and accountabilities overlap significantly but each also has his or her own areas of accountability. Although the positions do not report to the same individual their annual performance targets are largely identical.¹⁰⁸ Individual physicians, those not in a medical leadership role, are accountable to their zone clinical department head for the responsibilities and obligations outlined in the Medical Staff Bylaws and Rules and service agreements.

Physician roles

As described in the previous section, physicians working within AHS report through the medical staff organizational structure. Their clinical responsibilities are defined in the AHS Medical Staff Bylaws and Rules and/or medical services agreement. Their administrative services, if applicable, are articulated through a Medical Administrative Services agreement with AHS, which also describes the reporting



requirements and from whom the physician will receive general directions on the provision of those services. The agreement also states that the practitioner agrees to adhere to such directions.¹⁰⁹

Physicians are encouraged, in fact have the "right and obligation", as per the Medical Staff Bylaws (Section 4.2.3¹⁰¹) to advocate on behalf of their patients. The AHS Medical Administrative Services Agreements align with the bylaws. The agreements state "Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Contractor from advocating on behalf of his/her patients. The Contractor will ensure that should h/she choose to advocate by making public statements, for example to news media, that h/she will take appropriate steps to avoid confusion that h/she is expressing his/her views and not necessarily those of AHS."¹⁰⁹ (Note: In the interviews and survey results analyzed for this report, there were differing perspectives on whether one's contract had a bearing on a physician's ability to advocate. It was noted that AHS had inherited legacy physician contracts as well as having developed its own medical services agreement template, which may contribute to these differing perspectives.)

The same rules for advocating apply to those physicians in medical leadership positions within AHS. However, AHS recognizes that this "issue is made more complex by the diversity of roles that practitioners fulfill from independent clinicians to employees to AHS leadership positions. These roles have traditionally also carried different expectations related to the limits of advocacy and different access to the planning and decision-making process".¹⁰⁸ As physicians in a medical leadership position, they too have the right and obligation to advocate on behalf of their patients. It is expected, however, that "when advocating as individuals, practitioners who hold medical administrative leadership roles within AHS shall articulate clearly that they are not speaking as representatives of AHS".¹⁰¹ Physicians in leadership positions are also "encouraged to first advocate or enquire about the matter internally within AHS before making public statements". This statement is echoed in the AHS communications (internal and external) policy,¹¹⁰ which states that when a physician is speaking in his or her role as administrator or leader the expectation is to communicate the position of AHS.

The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada identifies the importance of this duality issue in the CanMEDS 2005 Competency Framework. The framework states physicians must "appreciate the possibility of conflict inherent in their role as a health advocate for a patient or community with that of manager or gatekeeper".⁷⁷

The CPSA supports physicians as advocates for their patients, communities, and populations. The CPSA also recognizes that physicians are part of and must consider the larger health system and so must be "willing to work with other individuals or agencies to understand or address the issues being advocated".¹¹¹

College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA)

The College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta website states that the CPSA "regulates the practice of medicine in Alberta".¹¹² The privilege of self-regulation is granted through Alberta's *Health Professions Act* (HPA). The CPSA is governed by a council that includes physicians, public members, and representatives from Alberta's medical schools. On the CPSA website, its "lines of business" are:

- Register physicians
- Investigate and resolve physician-related complaints



- Provide clinical review
- Accredit health facilities
- Guide professional conduct and ethical behaviour
- Contribute to public policy affecting healthcare delivery.

The CPSA also provides a number of programs designed to support physicians, such as continuous professional development, the triplicate prescription program, a physician achievement review program, and the physician health-monitoring program. Confidentiality is a key element described throughout the CPSA's programs.

Alberta Medical Association (AMA)

According to the Alberta Medical Association website,¹¹³ the AMA stands as an advocate for its physician members, providing leadership and support for their role in the provision of quality healthcare. In carrying out its mission, the AMA works to support physicians in their roles as medical experts and healers, advocates, collaborators, communicators, managers, professionals, and scholars. The AMA attempts to ensure physicians are involved in healthcare decision making and their voices are heard by government, Alberta Health Services, other healthcare professionals, and the public. As the sole representative of fee-for-service physicians, the association negotiates with Alberta Health and Wellness and manages the global physician services budget. It is also developing alternate payment mechanisms.



ISSUES, ANALYSES, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Stability and consistency in the health system

Issue

The magnitude, frequency, and at times abruptness of the restructuring of the health system in the past, including the formation of AHS, created a sense of chaos and instability. This has been further complicated by repeated reorganization within AHS. The frequent disruption of established processes and relationships caused by the restructuring was identified by physicians as a barrier to effective advocacy.

Analysis

The effects of regionalization

The structure of the healthcare system in Alberta has undergone drastic change over the past two decades, moving from a system of hospital-based care to the first regionalization of services in 1994 that created 17 regional health authorities (RHAs). These were reduced to nine RHAs in 2003, and then to one RHA: AHS in 2008. Within AHS itself, and its five regional zones, there have been numerous organizational iterations since 2008.^{114,115}



During that time, physicians' roles and their place in relation to the hospital and healthcare systems in which they worked also changed. Before regionalization, physicians were an integral player in a small system (e.g., one hospital) and actively involved in decision making. After regionalization began in 1994, physicians were excluded from many levels of decision making and felt marginalized. This led to widespread confusion, anger, and disengagement from the operations of the hospital and broader healthcare system. Cultures of trust and familiarity were lost to new and unclear organizational structures and the people within them were seen to be in a state of constant change.

From 1994 to 2008, RHAs employed different approaches, with varying degrees of success, aimed at effectively integrating and re-engaging physicians.



The abrupt creation of AHS in 2008 and the associated destabilization in the system was a prominent theme in the survey responses and the interviews. There were strong views expressed that a change of this magnitude, without apparent planning, was "irresponsible", with one interviewee calling it "semi-criminal". Some people believed that the stated reason for creating AHS – to improve efficiencies – was not the real reason and that the impetus was in fact a political motive to eliminate the power of two RHAs (Calgary Health Region and Capital Health) and their CEOs. Many interviewees believed government showed little insight into the chaos that a structural change of this scale could and did create.

In the almost four years since AHS was created there have been three CEOs and ongoing and frequent internal reorganizations including the recent creation of five zones. In the interviews and the physician advocacy survey, physicians expressed great difficulty in ascertaining and understanding the various levels of authority and responsibility within the AHS organizational structure.

In addition, the frequent turnover within the positions of Minister and Deputy Minister contributed to the confusion. Each change at these senior levels brought with it a wave of new priorities and leadership styles, causing further disruption and distrust within an already complex and volatile system.

1. RECOMMENDATION

The Government of Alberta and Alberta Health Services undertake no further major restructuring in Alberta's healthcare system without first having a clear rationale for the change including a transition plan that specifies the potential ramifications to safety and quality of patient care, the well-being of frontline providers, and the overall integrity of the health system.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- If major restructuring of the Alberta healthcare system is being considered the government of Alberta must establish a process for effective consultation with relevant stakeholders, the public and expert advisors.
- If further major internal restructuring of Alberta Health Services is being considered an effective, open, and transparent process engaging its staff and stakeholders must be implemented.

Lines of authority and accountability in the health system

Issue

Lines of authority and accountability between the Minister of Health and Wellness, the Department of Health and Wellness, AHS governance, and AHS administration and operations are blurred. In this context there is a perceived improper use of authority, especially by the Minister and/or the Department, which causes mistrust between the government and AHS administration. The cascading effect of this mistrust is that frontline providers (physicians and others) are unclear about the genuine authority of the AHS Board of Directors and AHS administration to make decisions that directly affect healthcare service delivery. As a consequence physicians are confused about the appropriate avenues to follow when advocating.



Analysis

A critical issue that surfaced repeatedly throughout the interviews and from the survey responses is the relationship between elected officials (Premier and Minister of Health and Wellness), the Department of Health and Wellness (Deputy Minister and Assistant Deputy Minister) and the healthcare delivery system (AHS and physicians). As has been emphasized, frequent changes at senior political and bureaucratic levels result in severe disruption to relationships and a breakdown in trust, which takes time to rebuild. The strong perception of "inappropriate and irresponsible" political interference in the health system was believed by many to be related to the changes in leadership style and policy at the ministerial and department level.

The line of authority for the health system flows from the public, through the Minister of Health and Wellness to the AHS Board of Directors, and separately to the medical profession.¹⁰⁵

The role of government through the Minister of Health and Wellness is to authorize the scope of health services provided to the population that is supported by public funding. The largest level of funding is for AHS (approximately 64 per cent), followed by physician compensation and development (approximately 21 per cent).¹¹⁶ The Minister establishes the performance targets for AHS, appoints the AHS Board of Directors, and then holds it accountable for delivering high-quality, safe healthcare services with the funds provided.

The Department recommends the scope of health services that the government should fund, sets health service standards and monitors performance, recommends health legislation, policy, and strategy and the level of funding necessary to support the health system.

Alberta Health Services, the medical profession, and others are required to efficiently deliver quality and safe healthcare services within the approved level of funding.

The Minister is perceived as acting inappropriately if on an ad hoc basis, after approving the level of funding and scope of services, counteracts the decisions of those who provide and deliver services, thus undermining their authority. The Department is seen as acting inappropriately if it becomes involved in how health services are delivered or assumes a role of operational direction over AHS and/or the medical profession.

The current absence of clarity in the roles and responsibilities, lines of authority and accountabilities of AHW (Minister and Department), AHS, and the medical profession combined with the frequent turnover of Ministers, Department leadership, and senior management at AHS creates frustration, alienation, and confusion. It is in this difficult environment that physicians advocate for their patients.

According to the RHAA and the AHS Mandate and Roles document, the Minister approves the AHS health plan, the CEO's compensation and contract terms, and at any time "can do any other thing the Minister considers necessary to promote and ensure the provision of health services in Alberta" including establishing or operating any programs or services the Minister considers desirable. This would indicate that the Minister also has authority over – not only strategic and policy direction – but what some would consider more direct health provision or operational decisions. The RHAA, however, also states that the AHS Board is the "final authority" for promoting and protecting the health of the population, assessing health needs, determining priorities and allocation of resources for providing health services, and ensuring



reasonable access to health services within the health region. This would appear to introduce an inherent contradiction of authority for the Board, and others working within the AHS system, as to how much authority the Board actually has for autonomous decision making.

This contradiction is illustrated by what many believed to be the inappropriate appointment of the former Deputy Minister of Health and Wellness into the position of AHS Executive Operating Officer at the initial formation of AHS.¹¹⁷ Even though the AHS Board announced the appointment, the transition from the position of Deputy Minister to the AHS executive occurred so quickly it gave the appearance that the Ministry was now responsible for the operational arm of the health system, and to some this set a pattern of direct government intervention into the actions of AHS governance. The sudden release of the AHS CEO in November 2010 further illustrates the degree to which the ministry was, or appeared to be, involved in AHS governance, as this was viewed by some as a directive from the Minister of Health and Wellness and not an AHS Board decision. This perceived intervention by the Minister was cited as the cause of the very public departure of several AHS Board members. This type of intervention occurred again with what was perceived as inappropriate appointments to the Board where CEOs who had been released from former RHAs were appointed to the AHS Board of Directors. This was described as "here is a CEO now telling the next CEO how to run the health service. I worry about that line being crossed".

Physicians' perceptions that the Board was being circumvented, or was itself politically motivated, created ambiguity and confusion about the accountability frame in which physicians operate and advocate. This was reflected in the following quote: "Ambiguity remains; no one is clear on who is running the show and making decisions; nobody really believes that AHW (the Minister and the Department) is overall leadership and (that) AHS is operational." In such an environment it is a challenge for physicians to recognize and follow the appropriate pathways to advocate effectively for their patients. This degree of ambiguity was recognized by some as not a new phenomenon but one they had seen throughout their careers in the Alberta health system. The "lines between operations, board, government (are) not clear enough but never are". It was further noted that it took strong leadership, especially by the Board Chair, to ensure these lines of responsibility and accountability were maintained.

The absence of clarity in the roles and responsibilities, lines of authority, and accountabilities of the Minister and the Department, AHS, and the medical profession – combined with the frequent turnover of Ministers, department leadership, and senior management at AHS – creates frustration, alienation, and confusion. It is in this difficult environment that physicians advocate for their patients.

In order for the health system to function effectively, the separation of roles, responsibilities and accountabilities between the various authorities must be clearly defined and articulated to ensure the public interest is served. This separation and clarity removes ambiguity, provides explicit lines of reporting and delineates the accountability frame. This was echoed in the 2007 report *At a Crossroads: The Report of the Board Governance Review Task Force*, which stated "successful governance requires defined lines of authority, responsibility and accountability".

In 2010 the Minister's Advisory Committee on Health report recognized the need to delineate "clearer roles and lines of accountability between government, health delivery systems, providers and the public".



In *The Public Agencies Governance Framework*, which was adopted by the Government of Alberta in response to the *At a Crossroads* report, it is clearly stated that "authority flows from the public, through the Minister to the agency directors; accountability returns from the agency, through the chair to the Minister, who is held accountable to the public".

The AHS Mandate and Roles document states that the AHS board is "established, appointed by and overseen by the Minister of Health and Wellness". The *At a Crossroads* report emphasizes that "making sure the best people are appointed to agency boards is absolutely critical to ensuring that good governance happens". It goes on further to say that "board appointments cannot be left to chance when the work of agencies is such an important part of how government provides services to the public". The task force then recommended that the process for the appointment of directors to public agencies should be "transparent, non-partisan and competence-based".

A clearly defined mandate with associated roles and responsibilities can also contribute to continuity in governance and oversight, especially during times of change in key government, governance, or senior administration roles. These documents can be used as tools to inform and orient newly appointed officials, whether at the ministerial, governance, or administrative level.¹⁰⁶

2. RECOMMENDATION

The Government of Alberta establish a task force, similar to the one that released *At a Crossroads: The Report of the Board Governance Review Task Force,* to review and make recommendations to the Government of Alberta to clearly delineate the lines of authority, roles and responsibilities, and accountabilities between the Minister of Health and Wellness, the Department of Health and Wellness, Alberta Health Services (including the appointment of the Board of Directors), and the medical profession.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- The membership of the task force must have an equitable balance of health experts, governance experts, government officials, and members of the public.
- The Minister of Health and Wellness must use a process that is transparent, non-partisan, and competence-based when making appointments to the Alberta Health Services Board of Directors.

Culture within Alberta Health Services

Issue

Evidence gathered from the interviews and from the physician survey suggests there is a significant level of mistrust in the system that is not compatible with a just culture. As long as individuals in the organization, including physicians, feel uncertain as to the consequences of advocating for patients and resources, they will be constrained in the manner in which they participate in the organization. The full benefit of the various perspectives that lie within the organization will not be captured. Mistrust fosters disengagement and conflict, which makes it very difficult to develop supportive relationships critical to participation in discussion and decision-making and the goal of delivering safe, effective patient care.



There appears to be an 'organizational memory' of negative outcomes that certain individuals have experienced in the past. Some describe a 'culture of fear' or 'a culture of silence', both key symptoms of mistrust in an organization. If physicians are feeling intimidated in the course of their advocacy efforts, they do not trust that the organization will treat them fairly.

Analysis

The interviews and physician survey responses identified a range of beliefs about the current healthcare environment. Some believe the issues of intimidation have been overblown, while others describe severe, life-altering repercussions. That said, the frequency with which experiences of threats, intimidation, censorship, punishment, ridicule, bullying, or termination are cited is concerning. The impact of this intimidation is that many Alberta physicians motivated to speak out in defence or promotion of the health of patients or populations censure themselves before initiating any advocacy measures. For some, it was to 'tone down' their comments; others chose not to bother at all.

To consistently deliver high-quality, safe healthcare, it is critical that a healthcare system develops, fosters, and sustains a supportive organizational culture. A just culture only exists when the organization demonstrates consistently that individuals are treated fairly and appropriately and where individuals are clear as to what constitutes acceptable and unacceptable behaviour. In this environment, individuals can feel safe to be engaged in the work of the organization, feel free to present their ideas, and speak out on issues. Without this psychological safety, issues may linger because they are not brought forward, corrective solutions delayed, or a preventable adverse event takes place as safety issues remain hidden. A just culture therefore is imperative for safe healthcare organizations.

Just cultures evolve over time but to gain any cultural strength requires at a minimum, stability in organizational structure, stability in leadership, and clearly stated values. As a just culture matures, benefits accrue through more active engagement, open dialogue, learning, and change that can be recognized as improvement. In Alberta, ongoing health system restructuring including changes in AHS leadership and governance, combined with numerous changes at the leadership level of the Ministry of Health and Wellness, have made it difficult for the health system and AHS in particular to establish trust and the supporting processes to create a just culture.

The healthcare system will require strong, consistent leadership with unswerving resolve to rebuild trust with its physician stakeholders. Boards within healthcare organizations must commit to developing a 'just culture' as a goal of the organization. This includes providing the guidance to develop a 'just culture policy' and supporting infrastructure.

3. RECOMMENDATION

The Alberta Health Services Board of Directors accelerate the development and implementation of an overarching just culture policy that provides the structure and supporting processes to guide the entire organization.



REQUIRED ACTIONS

- The just culture policy must serve as the foundation for all of the organization's policies and procedures, including the medical staff bylaws. To ensure the just culture policy is fully implemented and achieves its maximum impact throughout the organization it must be adequately resourced and supported and must be periodically evaluated.
- The just culture policy specifies, as clearly as possible, responsible and accountable behaviour, particularly as it applies to decisions and actions that affect patient care, including advocacy.

Structures and processes to support effective physician advocacy

Issue

Within AHS and other organizations, many physicians do not know what channels they should pursue to advocate for patients and populations, what constitutes appropriate and responsible advocacy, under what circumstances it might be appropriate to move from internal to external advocacy, what policies and guidelines address their role in advocacy, or what processes the health system will use to review their concerns, examine their validity and determine next steps.

Analysis

The initial regionalization of healthcare in 1994, and the subsequent reductions in the number of regions over the past 17 years, was identified as a significant factor that contributed to physician disengagement at a local level. These restructuring events led to an "increased bureaucracy", along with "multiple layers of middle management", and a "maze" of processes. It was identified that the restructuring also curtailed middle management's ability to be effective leaders and decision makers.

The response by many regarding the impact of the creation of AHS was that the "blowing up of all health regions" resulted in the disruption of established reporting relationships and lines of accountability, which resulted in widespread concern over loss of local autonomy and decision-making authority. Many physicians reported getting no response or action from management to their advocacy efforts, owing to an unknown and complicated organizational structure through which one could not easily navigate.

In addition, the 'single employer' structure that emerged with the creation of AHS significantly shifted the balance of power and limited the options for people to move between regions of the province. Interviewees and survey respondents described this as "structural" or "monopoly power", which was seen as "extremely intimidating". Throughout the interviews, the QAC learned of individuals who, as a result of advocating for their patients or system improvements, either seriously considered leaving or had to leave the province to continue their practice.

The release of the initial draft of the AHS Code of Conduct further added to the chaos of the new structure, and triggered a strong reaction from those physicians and employees who interpreted it as a "gag order". Though it was revised following broad consultation, the first version has not been forgotten. This increased disengagement among physicians, as reflected in the AHS Workforce Survey⁴⁷ (reported in April 2010). Twelve per cent of physicians responded to the survey. Twenty-six per cent of



respondents rated their overall engagement as favorable – well below the 76 per cent benchmark that reflected the average score for engagement of physicians in similar organizations.

As demonstrated by the interviews and the physician advocacy survey, physicians find it difficult to see and understand the various levels of authority within AHS. The AHS Medical Staff Bylaws were approved and became effective in February 2011 after wide consultation with all physicians in AHS as well as the AMA, yet many interviewees did not know what was in the bylaws.

The responses to the survey showed that 60 per cent of physicians report their ability to advocate is limited by an unclear process for advocacy (37 per cent of physicians were not aware of a process through which they could advocate and 23 per cent simply didn't know); and 40 per cent were aware of a process for advocating. A majority, 69 per cent, reported that their contract didn't address advocacy and 45 per cent reported that organization policies did not address advocacy directly. Similarly, the most frequent comment made in the narrative survey responses concerned the need for the clear "rules", "avenues", and "processes" to advocate within AHS, other organizations, and to the media. Many concerns were expressed with the "bureaucratic challenges", as well as managers and administrators who were described as being "remarkably disconnected from actual care delivery", and "limited in their ability to make decisions".

Interviewees differentiated between *appropriate* and *responsible* advocacy; these were not necessarily seen as the same as *effective* advocacy, which referred to the outcome of whatever was being advocated for. *Appropriate* advocacy most often described the onus to raise concerns within the organization before taking any external action. Advocating *responsibly* was seen by some individuals as "needing to keep the needs of others" and the "bigger picture" in mind, recognizing there are "finite resources (that) need to be used for the best of society". Several interviewees felt that physicians do not fully acknowledge the implications of funding decisions, and that if advocacy efforts are successful for one particular population, there is "little appreciation there may be a negative impact on another group".

The AHS has responded to the challenges that physicians are having with advocating effectively by creating an AHS Provincial Physician Executive Committee (PPEC) Supporting Practitioner Advocacy Working Group. They developed a work plan and timelines (January 2012) that provide definitions of advocacy, intimidation, and bullying.¹¹⁸ One of the initiatives in the work plan is the AHS Physician Advocacy Assistance Line (PAAL), which was launched on February 13, 2012. While this work will help physicians associated with AHS, there are other physicians in the province not affiliated with AHS that may also benefit from similar undertakings.

Some interviewees and survey respondents commented on the importance of having access to an "independent body" that could provide a neutral appeal mechanism. "Whistle-blower protection will be required if we are ever going to speak out," said one participant. In circumstances where there may be a disagreement regarding the appropriateness of particular advocacy efforts, an objective review and appeals mechanism is needed to which those who advocate can turn without fear of retribution. For such a mechanism to be objective, effective, and credible, it must be demonstrably independent of the healthcare delivery system from which the disagreement arose and it must be – and be seen to be – free of influence from existing healthcare and government leadership.



The literature review, interviewees, and survey respondents identified conflicts of interest that arise when physicians advocate for their patients and communities. Such conflicts include: (1) responding to the health needs of a particular patient and promoting the health of a population when health resources are finite; (2) advocating for increased or improved healthcare services when this may result in a financial or other gain for the physician; (3) responding to the needs of, or promoting the health of, a patient in cases where the physician also fulfills the role of an administrator with duties to protect the interests of the health organization in which he or she serves.

It is important to note that a conflict of interest does not imply unethical behaviour. Appropriate acknowledgement, disclosure, and mitigation of these conflicts will be key, however, to ensure that the process of advocacy is reasonably free of undue influence from competing interests.

In the survey, the most frequent comments made in response to the question "do you have any additional comments, concerns, or suggestions regarding physician advocacy issues as you have experienced them in your practice?" concerned the need for clear "rules", "avenues", and "processes" to advocate within AHS, other organizations, and to the media.

4. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health Services, in collaboration with Alberta universities, the Alberta Medical Association, the College of Physician & Surgeons of Alberta, and other organizations develop and implement clear policies and procedures to guide physicians on how to ethically, appropriately, responsibly, and effectively advocate.

5. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services, Alberta universities, the Alberta Medical Association, the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta, and other organizations explore the need for and feasibility of a provincial independent process for physicians who, despite exhausting all internal processes, believe their advocacy efforts have not been adequately addressed.

Physician education on effective advocacy

Issue

There was significant agreement among interviewees and survey respondents that many physicians had received little if any formal education on how, when, and under what circumstances one can and should advocate appropriately, responsibly, effectively, or constructively. Many expressed support for and interest in formal education on advocacy. Most indicated they were generally familiar with the notion of advocacy for an individual patient, but less comfortable advocating for communities, populations, or system-level changes.



Analysis

In the survey, 69 per cent of physicians reported having no formal training in advocacy; 14 per cent reported receiving training in medical school; 15 per cent in residency; and 16 per cent as part of continuing medical education. Nearly half, 45 per cent, believe they have the necessary skills to effectively advocate for their patients, whereas 20 per cent do not and 35 per cent do not know.

Nearly a third of Alberta physicians (31 per cent) felt restricted by their lack of training and education in advocacy and 23 per cent by their inexperience. Similar to interview findings and survey comments, the literature review revealed that feeling unprepared is one of the barriers to physician advocacy. As described in the literature review section, two articles found that medical residents felt inadequately prepared to take on the role of health advocate, and a literature search in 2005 found no studies on the curriculum of healthcare advocacy in residency education in Canada. The identified barriers to teaching health advocacy included time pressure with other curriculum requirements; residents perceiving that they did not observe faculty members modelling health advocacy; faculty members feeling unsure about their roles in teaching advocacy (never having learned it in their own training); and a lack of remuneration for advocacy activities.

As found in the interviews and narrative survey responses, many physicians feel that advocating effectively had not been taught in either medical school or ongoing continuing medical education. There was significant interest in being involved in further education on advocating effectively through continuing medical education (although finding the time to participate was identified as a probable challenge). It was suggested that newer graduates from medical schools may have received some training in how to advocate. Others were knowledgeable about advocacy for an individual patient, but had not learned as much about advocacy for system-level changes.

A program to train physicians in effective advocacy was seen to be difficult to create, whereas having medical schools teach students how to use good judgment when advocating for patients was considered useful, as was instilling awareness of the need for balance between patient- and system-level advocacy.

Medical schools were thought to be "lagging behind (in) teaching effective advocacy". Other organizations, such as the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (RCPSC) and the Canadian Medical Association (CMA), were also seen as only beginning this work in the last several years. As part of helping physicians understand their responsibilities, the CMA was identified as "having a responsibility to collect data, begin a national dialogue, identify the key themes, root causes and then begin to identify the solutions".

The literature review and interviewees identified many reasons why additional education on advocacy is required, one being the fact that many physicians are engaged in different ways with the healthcare system in terms of how they are positioned and paid, such as through contractual relationships.

6. **RECOMMENDATION**

The faculties of medicine in Alberta ensure that the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada CanMEDS 2005 physician competency framework be the foundation for an advocacy curricula for undergraduates and postgraduates and that it be made available for continuing medical education.



Leadership responses to physician advocacy

Issue

A disturbing number of physicians reported that their privileges, positions, or contracts have been inappropriately threatened or affected as a result of their advocacy efforts. It was also felt that administrators or leaders abused their authority by "cracking down" on physicians who spoke up, concealing this abuse under the guise of addressing problems in physician performance. In some cases where physicians' performance was investigated, established processes were circumvented. The process outlined in the medical staff bylaws was not used because it was seen by health administrators to be too heavy-handed or onerous. In some cases, physician administrators and colleagues expressed concern over the process used to evaluate their performance, and identified the need for more explicit processes.

Analysis

Physicians advocating for their patients or system improvements may run into conflict with leaders in an organization or government. Ensuring that organizational leaders are prepared and authorized to respond effectively to these advocacy efforts will help resolve the issue in the most constructive manner. Sharing a common understanding of what responsible advocacy looks like in their organization, all parties can differentiate between 'constructive advocacy' and performance issues.

The CMPA wrote about the changing relationship between physicians and hospitals and identified the important role of physicians as advocates.⁸⁹ It states that conflict can arise when physicians advocate but "this conflict should not always be viewed as negative, as issues may be more fully understood through differences exposed through that conflict". It also provides examples of organizations and governments (p.19) attempting to constrain physicians from advocacy, contrary to lessons learned in safety-driven organizations where employees are encouraged to speak out. Likewise, Saltman (2011) echoed this call to "welcome advocacy", even though advocacy activities can result in physicians being in conflict with government healthcare priorities and agendas.

The AHS Workforce Survey (Physician Segment)¹¹⁹ showed "leadership effectiveness was a fundamental issue for AHS" at the time the survey was done (fall 2009).

This review's Role and Process of Physician Advocacy Survey suggests that specialists who advocate to their organizational department or executives of their healthcare organization (as compared with other specialists who advocated) are more likely to experience a negative outcome. Likewise, general practitioners (GPs) who advocated to the executive of their healthcare organization were more likely to experience a negative outcome than were other GPs who advocated elsewhere. Both specialists and GPs who advocated to executives of their healthcare organizations were more likely to have been asked to withdraw a request, as compared with others who advocated elsewhere.

When asked "who" restricted their ability to advocate, 55 per cent identified "organization administration"; 33 per cent "department or division administration"; 35 per cent "organization leadership or executive"; 37 per cent "Alberta Health Services"; 27 per cent "AHW"; and 20 per cent identified "physician peers".



In the interviews and survey qualitative analysis, frequent mention was made of conflict arising when physicians were advocating for their patients. In addition, leaders within healthcare organizations (physician leaders or administrators) sometimes find it challenging to respond to this conflict. The leaders may not have received education or coaching to prepare them to deal effectively with physicians advocating. This may lead to great differences in responding to advocacy activities, depending on the individual leader's experience, knowledge, and personal leadership style as well as the experience of the physician and whether he or she has all the information needed about the issue for which the physician is advocating.

Leaders need to demonstrate commitment to following up on issues identified by physicians, acknowledging they've been heard, and providing ongoing feedback on progress to resolve the issue. Ensuring effective communication in the "advocacy relationship" is key to an outcome that both parties would describe as constructive advocacy – i.e., conducted in a context of legitimate debate and respect for different perspectives. Robson and Marshall (2005)⁹⁴ have emphasized the importance of preventing and managing conflict as a "vital piece in the patient-safety puzzle".

A number of physicians or prominent senior leaders reported having experienced severe negative repercussions while advocating for patients or system improvements. Physicians described false accusations made to intimidate them, their contracts not being renewed after verbal promises of renewal, threats of "being reported to the CPSA", and clinical reviews of their work that fell outside of due process. Whether the situation involved loss of position or privileges, the physicians perceived there was a lack of procedural fairness. Several situations were described as being handled through ad hoc processes rather than the medical staff bylaws in place at the time. This was described as wanting to use a "less forceful and formal process" to see if the issues could be resolved without having to involve the CPSA.

7. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services and other organizations that work with physicians train and support physicians and administrators in leadership roles to acquire skills and comfort with conflict resolution, responding effectively to physicians advocating for their patients, and differentiating appropriately between constructive advocacy and physician performance/behaviour issues.

REQUIRED ACTION

 Alberta Health Services and other relevant organizations must ensure that processes and procedures, including those articulated in the medical staff bylaws, used by those initiating physician performance reviews, clearly differentiates between issues that are performance-based versus those that are advocacy-based.

College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA)

Issue

There exists a perceived lack of transparency and definition between physician-support functions of the CPSA and those functions within it that deal with complaints and investigations of physicians. Many



physicians perceive the CPSA has acted and been used inappropriately, which has led to widespread fear of the CPSA.

Analysis

The CPSA performs and provides a variety of functions, including registering physicians, investigating and resolving physician-related complaints, guiding professional conduct and ethical behaviour, and delivering programs designed to support physicians such as continuous professional development and the physician health monitoring program.

It was apparent from the interviews and physician survey that many physicians fear the CPSA because they feel it has been used (or threatened to be used) by other physicians, healthcare organizations and administrators as a means to discipline or intimidate physicians. It was recognized this could be due in part to the perception that the CPSA processes are not readily transparent to members, nor is the distinction between the various functions and services the CPSA provides. Some physicians identified feeling unclear about when the CPSA is acting in support of a physician versus when it is operating in an investigative or punitive mode.

8. **RECOMMENDATION**

The College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta have clearer lines of separation and clarity between the roles, programs, and services of investigations and complaints versus education and support, and improve how it communicates those roles so that they are well understood by its stakeholders.

REQUIRED ACTION

- The College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta must enhance transparency regarding investigative processes and emphasize its programs of education and support for physicians in order to counterbalance the perception of fear that is prevalent among Alberta physicians.
- The Minister appoint an independent task force to review the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta's roles, programs, and services to make clear the distinction between the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta's investigative and support roles and to ensure they are better understood by physicians, outside agencies, and the public.



SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS AND REQUIRED ACTIONS

Part A

I. Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care

1. RECOMMENDATION

No further action is required regarding the patient charts reviewed by the HQCA's quality assurance committee and the lists of patients identified by the University of Alberta Hospital emergency department physicians for the years 2008 to 2010.

2. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services takes steps to reduce inpatient occupancy to target levels of 85 to 90 per cent for each of its key admitting services in each acute care institution.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- Structure inpatient services in acute care institutions around key patient population care needs rather than historical professional organizational structures.
- Empower inpatient services with the appropriate administrative and clinical structure and authority to manage required resources. In addition to being accountable for inpatient length of stay, these services should also be held accountable for their level of responsiveness to the emergency department for consult and decision-to-admit times. Services should be required to develop surge-capacity plans and target average or median occupancy rates below 90 per cent.
- Gain an accurate estimate of the number of beds required for each inpatient service based on appropriate statistical modelling of demand using historical case-mix-group data and population-age-growth data (see recommendation 4).
- Implement an information system that provides clinicians and administrators with long-term, short-to-medium-term, and near-real-time data about the demand for inpatient beds and capacity at the system, program, and service levels. Such an information system would contribute to the dynamic management of inpatient bed capacity and support an accountability model for inpatient services.
- Take steps to reduce the variability of scheduled patient admissions by developing and implementing – for those inpatient services with large volumes of scheduled admissions – dynamic models of patient flow that more accurately predict length of stay and hence inpatient bed capacity based on the characteristics of current patient populations and projected patient admissions.
- Review length of stay data on common case mix groups across institutions to understand where
 efficiencies could be gained from reducing length of stay.



• Expand use of information systems that identify patients who meet standard 'readiness for discharge' criteria in an effort to reduce inpatient length of stay.

3. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health and Wellness and Alberta Health Services review the current need for long term care and supportive living facilities based on detailed forecasting created by appropriate models (see recommendation 4) to further reduce the percentage of alternate level of care bed days – preferably below three per cent of all acute care inpatient days.

4. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health Services and Alberta Health and Wellness develop long-term partnerships with Alberta universities to advise on the use and implementation of operations management tools and methods that would assist with medium- and long-term health system capacity projections.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- Further develop system dynamic and discrete-event simulation models of patient flow through Alberta's healthcare systems that would provide more accurate predictions of capacity requirements for long term care, supportive living, rehabilitation and acute care inpatient beds and human resources.
- Ensure that predictions for inpatient beds are specific at the service level rather than at the institution level.

5. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health and Wellness and Alberta Health Services take steps to shorten emergency department throughput including physician response times.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- Alberta Health and Wellness with Alberta Health Services and the Alberta Medical Association strongly consider implementing an alternate reimbursement model for emergency department physicians.
- Alberta Health Services continues with its innovative approaches for reducing emergency department throughput for discharged patients, implementing best practices throughout the province to develop a common emergency department delivery model.
- Alberta Health Services continues to promote ongoing evaluation of emergency department interventions designed to reduce patient waiting by partnering with the faculties of medicine at the University of Alberta and University of Calgary to increase the emergency department clinical outcomes research capacity in the province.
- Alberta Health Services incorporate its diagnostic imaging and laboratory information systems into an overall performance measurement model of emergency department waiting such that it



can continuously monitor lapsed time from test ordering to test completion and to test interpretation and use this as a basis to drive improvements.

6. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health Services continue with innovative solutions to support palliative care patients in their community setting and prevent, wherever feasible, the transfer of these patients to emergency departments.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- Alberta Health Services standardize across all healthcare sectors its palliative care terminology, such as "goals of care" and "allow natural death", and dissuade the use of descriptors such as "do not resuscitate".
- Alberta Health Services strive to support palliative patients who have a sudden, unexpected symptom crisis so these patients have options for immediate care at home that can obviate the need to go to an emergency department, and support the patient and family's decision to remain at home.
- Alberta Health Services explore options to admit patients with symptom crises directly to an intensive palliative care unit or medical unit, depending on their needs, rather than to the emergency department.

Part A

II. Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Lung Cancer Surgery

7. RECOMMENDATION

The Government of Alberta take no further action, and not establish a judicial or health inquiry, to examine:

- The allegation of a list of 1,200 patients on a lung surgery wait list or patients who may have died who were on such a list.
- The allegation regarding the roles and actions of former health ministers, the former CEO of Capital Health, and the Registrar of the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta.
- The allegation that the physicians who raised the issues regarding a 1,200-patient waiting list were either punished or driven out of the province or paid millions to buy their silence and the costs buried in the books under the former regional health authority.

8. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services develop standardized approaches for the creation of surgical waiting lists making surgical oncology waiting lists a priority.



REQUIRED ACTIONS

- Alberta Health Services develop a patient care and patient flow map for common oncology operations that documents work up and clinical decision-making up to the point that a patient meets criteria for requiring a surgical operation and hence placement on a wait list.
- Alberta Health Services develop standard criteria for when patients are officially placed on a wait list.

9. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services invite key stakeholders (e.g., patients and non-surgical healthcare providers) to participate in the Lung Cancer Surgery project so that stakeholder needs are considered.

REQUIRED ACTION

 Alberta Health Services ensures that stakeholders contribute to all phases of the project, including the design of a public portal to an information system, which would allow them to determine when they are on an 'official' surgical waiting list and their current status on that list.

10. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services develop a comprehensive physician staffing plan (that at a minimum would include respirologists, thoracic surgeons, radiation oncologists, and medical oncologists) to ensure long-term viability of its Lung Cancer Surgery project.

Conclusions and Recommendations Concerning the Overall Healthcare System

11. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services implement a clinical program management model within its geographical zones that fully integrates all hospitals and urgent care facilities under single-program or service-based leadership.

12. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services develop and use case studies about: (1) the strategic planning and implementation of system-wide interventions that the former Chinook Health Region undertook; and (2) the former Capital Health's Emergency Services and System Capacity project.

13. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services ensure that its departments or services develop the expertise and the accountability for conducting their own quality assurance reviews with the sole purpose of the review being to improve the reliability and safety of the patient-care delivery system.



Part B – The Role and Process of Physician Advocacy (including physician intimidation)

1. **RECOMMENDATION**

The Government of Alberta and Alberta Health Services undertake no further major restructuring in Alberta's healthcare system without first having a clear rationale for the change including a transition plan that specifies the potential ramifications to safety and quality of patient care, the well-being of frontline providers, and the overall integrity of the health system.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- If major restructuring of the Alberta healthcare system is being considered the government of Alberta must establish a process for effective consultation with relevant stakeholders, the public, and expert advisors.
- If further major internal restructuring of Alberta Health Services is being considered an effective, open and transparent process engaging its staff and stakeholders must be implemented.

2. RECOMMENDATION

The Government of Alberta establish a task force, similar to the one that released *At a Crossroads: The Report of the Board Governance Review Task Force*, to review and make recommendations to the Government of Alberta to clearly delineate the lines of authority, roles and responsibilities, and accountabilities between the Minister of Health and Wellness, the Department of Health and Wellness, Alberta Health Services (including the appointment of the Board of Directors), and the medical profession.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

- The membership of the task force must have an equitable balance of health experts, governance experts, government officials, and members of the public.
- The Minister of Health and Wellness must use a process that is transparent, non-partisan, and competence-based when making appointments to the Alberta Health Services Board of Directors.

3. **RECOMMENDATION**

The Alberta Health Services Board of Directors accelerate the development and implementation of an overarching just culture policy that provides the structure and supporting processes to guide the entire organization.

REQUIRED ACTIONS

• The just culture policy must serve as the foundation for all of the organization's policies and procedures, including the medical staff bylaws. To ensure the just culture policy is fully



implemented and achieves its maximum impact throughout the organization it must be adequately resourced and supported and must be periodically evaluated.

• The just culture policy specifies, as clearly as possible, responsible and accountable behaviour, particularly as it applies to decisions and actions that affect patient care, including advocacy.

4. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health Services, in collaboration with Alberta universities, the Alberta Medical Association, the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta, and other organizations develop and implement clear policies and procedures to guide physicians on how to ethically, appropriately, responsibly, and effectively advocate.

5. **RECOMMENDATION**

Alberta Health Services, Alberta universities, the Alberta Medical Association, the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta, and other organizations explore the need for and feasibility of a provincial independent process for physicians who, despite exhausting all internal processes, believe their advocacy efforts have not been adequately addressed.

6. **RECOMMENDATION**

The faculties of medicine in Alberta ensure that the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada CanMEDS 2005 physician competency framework be the foundation for an advocacy curricula for undergraduates and postgraduates and that it be made available for continuing medical education.

7. RECOMMENDATION

Alberta Health Services and other organizations that work with physicians train and support physicians and administrators in leadership roles to acquire skills and comfort with conflict resolution, responding effectively to physicians advocating for their patients, and differentiating appropriately between constructive advocacy and physician performance/behaviour issues.

REQUIRED ACTION

 Alberta Health Services and other relevant organizations must ensure that processes and procedures, including those articulated in the medical staff bylaws, used by those initiating physician performance reviews clearly differentiate between issues that are performance based versus those that are advocacy based.

8. RECOMMENDATON

The College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta have clearer lines of separation and clarity between the roles, programs, and services of investigations and complaints versus education and support, and improve how it communicates those roles so that they are well understood by its stakeholders.



REQUIRED ACTIONS

- The College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta must enhance transparency regarding investigative processes and emphasize its programs of education and support for physicians in order to counterbalance the perception of fear that is prevalent among Alberta physicians.
- The Minister appoint an independent task force to review the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta's roles, programs, and services to make clear the distinction between the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta's investigative and support roles and to ensure they are better understood by physicians, outside agencies, and the public.



APPENDICES



APPENDIX I: Ministerial Request



ALBERTA HEALTH AND WELLNESS Office of the Minister

Honourable Gene Zwozdesky MLA, Edmonton Mill Creek Deputy Government House Leader

March 12, 2011

Dr. Lorne Tyrrell, Chair Health Quality Council of Alberta

Dear Dr. Tyrrell,

Pursuant to Section 13 of the *Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation*, I hereby direct the Health Quality Council of Alberta (the Council) to conduct an independent Review that closely examines wait times for emergency department services and for cancer care services in the Province of Alberta. The central purpose of this independent Review is to identify and analyze issues related to these two important services and to make recommendations to improve system performance.

As part of this independent Review, I further direct the Council to examine the following specific issues:

-- Determine, to the extent possible, the impact of wait times on a group of emergency department patients identified by emergency department physicians, and others. The Council shall review the cases and make recommendations based on factual findings to improve, as required, health system performance.

-- Determine if a group of patients waiting to receive cancer care, and who were recently alleged to have died during their wait for care, can be identified. In the event the group can be identified, the Council shall review the cases and make recommendations based on factual findings to improve, as required, health system performance.

... Page 2

berta

208 Legislature Building, 10800 - 97 Avenue, Edmonton, Alberta T5K 2B6 Canada Telephone 780-427-3665 Fax 780-415-0961

Printed on recycled paper





Page 2 - Dr. Lorne Tyrrell, Chair - Health Quality Council of Alberta

This independent Review shall be provincial in scope and is to be conducted utilizing Section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act* in order to maintain evidentiary privilege over the provision of documents and evidence of participants. The Council shall also take whatever steps it deems necessary to maintain confidentiality of the people who participate within this process.

The Council will establish its own Terms of Reference for this independent Review in accordance with the general parameters described above, and will make those Terms of Reference public. The Council will begin this work immediately.

Additionally, the Council will establish its own processes and procedures for this independent Review, including the selection of individuals that may be required to assist the Council in this regard.

I look forward to your early response and to receiving your anticipated timeline to accomplish this task. Thereafter, I will look forward to receiving your final report and recommendations, which will also be made public. Thank you for undertaking this very important work.

Yours truly,

sere ono degli

Honourable Gene Zwozdesky, Minister, Alberta Health and Weylness Deputy Government House Leader

Cc: Honourable Ed Stelmach, Premier of Alberta

> Dr. John Cowell, Chief Executive Officer, Health Quality Council of Alberta



APPENDIX II: Terms of Reference

Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery and the Role and Process of Physician Advocacy

Objectives and Scope

Pursuant to section 13 of the *Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation* 130/2006 (the "Regulation"), the Health Quality Council of Alberta ("HQCA") will, through a quality assurance committee, conduct a full and thorough review of:

- Part A: Quality of Care and Safety of Patients requiring Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery
 - 1. To determine whether the quality of care provided to and the safety of:
 - a. a group of 321 patients that accessed emergency department services at the University of Alberta Hospital (UAH) during 2008, and
 - b. a group of 9 patients that accessed emergency department services at the UAH during 2010

was significantly compromised due to extended lengths of stays awaiting diagnosis and treatment in the emergency department. These cases were identified publicly on October 22, 2010. The cases had been collected by the emergency department physicians serving in the role of triage physicians at the UAH.

- 2. To determine whether the quality of care and the safety of a group of 250 cancer patients on a surgical wait list of 1,200 were seriously compromised due to delayed access to surgery as alleged in a question raised in the Alberta Legislature on February 28, 2011.
- 3. Based on the findings and analysis of the investigation and an analysis of current practices, make recommendations for system-level improvements in access and wait times for emergency department care and cancer treatment.

Part B: Role and Process of Physician Advocacy in Patient Safety and Health Service Quality

- 1. To investigate the role and ability of physicians to advocate for patients whose quality of care and safety the physicians believe is or could be compromised due to system resources or policies.
- 2. Based on the findings and analysis of the investigation and an analysis of current practices, make recommendations for system-level improvements in the policies and practices relating to physician advocacy intended to serve the best interests of patients.



The Council has established a quality assurance committee under section 10(2) of the Regulation for the purpose of conducting the planned and systematic study, assessment and evaluation of the matters set out above. The quality assurance committee must conduct the review as a quality assurance activity under section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*. A team of health professionals and system review experts who have no known association with the specific matters under review will be appointed to the quality assurance committee.

A panel of experts will be appointed to assist and advise the Council in this review.

Under section 10 of the Regulation the HQCA has access to information held by health authorities for the purpose of carrying out its objects. The HQCA, which is a custodian of health information, can support the quality assurance committee's work by providing necessary health information to the Committee in accordance with section 35 of the *Health Information Act*.

Deliverables and Timeline

John W. F. Cowell M.Sc, MD, CCFP, FRCP, the CEO of the HQCA is the review sponsor.

A full report of the findings and recommendations will be made public as soon as is feasible but is expected to be released within 9 months. A progress report will be released publicly at 3 months and 6 months.

Approved by the Council of the Health Quality Council of Alberta

Dhaine Lynell

Revised: March 24, 2011

D. Lorne J. Tyrrell, OC, AOE, MD/PhD, FRCP Chair


APPENDIX III: Assurance Letters

Promoting and improving patient safety and health service quality across Alberta

June 9, 2011

Dr. Chris Eagle President and CEO Alberta Health Services Suite 700, Manulife Place 10180 101 Street Edmonton, Alberta T5J 3S4

Dear Dr. Eagle:

Re: Request for Assurances and Confirmation Protecting Physicians, Other Health Service Providers, Administrators, Employees, Former Employees and Board Members

At the direction of the Minister of Health and Wellness, the Health Quality Council of Alberta ("HQCA") is undertaking a Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery and the Role and Process of Physician Advocacy ("the Review"). The Review is being conducted by the Quality Assurance Committee of the HQCA under section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*.

The Review will focus on two principal topic areas:

- Quality of Care and Safety of Patients requiring Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery.
- Role and Process of Physician Advocacy in Patient Safety and Health Service Quality.

The Terms of Reference are attached for your reference. The data gathering phase of the Review will be conducted by sub-committees of the QA Committee.

Physicians, other health service providers, administrators, staff, former staff and board members of Alberta Health Services will be invited by the QA Committee to speak to it or a sub-committee and to provide information, including documents.

Participation in the Review is voluntary. In order for the QA Committee to obtain an accurate and complete understanding of the events that are its focus, the QA Committee needs open and complete disclosure of information and documents. This cannot occur if physicians, other health service providers, administrators, employees, former employees and board members feel at any risk as a result of their participation in the Review. To alleviate any concerns that they may have about participating in the Review and sharing information with our QA Committee and its subcommittees, I ask that you provide the following assurance and confirmation:

Alberta Health Services provides the assurance, with respect to this Review, that no physician, other health service provider, administrator or other employee, former employee or board member will suffer any adverse consequence through Alberta Health Services as a result of participating in this Review, including but not limited to:

Over/

210,811 14 Street NW Calgary, Alberta T2N 2A4 19: 403.297.8162 19: 403.297.8258 Willing www.hqca.ca



- censure, suspension, variation of or restriction on contractual arrangements, financial penalties or termination;
- b. having their appointments or privileges to practice negatively affected if any of them provide information orally or documents to the QA Committee or its sub-committees for the purposes of the Review.

The above does not extend to such information as discovered that requires Alberta Health Services or another authority to investigate into possible criminal or intentional activity to cause harm. In such situations, Alberta Health Services or the other appropriate authority is bound to investigate these matters and report them as appropriate and required by law.

It is expected that physicians, health service providers, administrators, other employees, former employees and board members will rely on the assurances and confirmation provided by Alberta Health Services.

Please provide the assurance and confirmation requested above, by executing a copy of this letter and returning it to my attention as quickly as possible.

Yours truly

John W. Cowell, MD, CCFP, FRCPC Chief Executive Officer

Assurance and Confirmation

To: And To: HQCA Any physicians, health service providers, administrators, other employees, board members and former employees of Alberta Health Services who participate in the Review

On behalf of Alberta Health Services, I have reviewed the contents of this letter and provide the assurance and confirmation requested above, understanding that it may be relied on by physicians, health service providers, administrators, other employees, board members and former employees who provide information and documents to the QA Committee or its subcommittees for the Review.

Executed this 10 day of June, 2011.

ALBERTA HEALTH SERVICES

210, 811 - 14 Street NW, Calgary, Alberta, T2N 2A4 15, 405 297 8162 403 297 8258-3555 www.hipeaca.



APPENDIX 1

Mutual Waiver of Confidentiality Obligations

This mutual waiver of confidentiality is entered into between ALBERTA HEALTH SERVICES_("AHS") and ______ (the "Physician, other health service provider, administrator, board member, former employee or other employee") effective ____ day of _____, 2011.

AHS waives the privilege and confidentiality provisions (collectively the "Confidentiality Obligations") contained within settlement release dated ______ related to termination of physician, other health service provider, administrator, board member, former employee or other employee service contract or any other applicable agreement ("Agreement") between ______ and _____ or AHS.

This waiver is solely granted by AHS to the Physician, other health service provider, administrator, board member, former employee or other employee subject to the conditions and limitations as follows:

- 1. This waiver is granted solely for the purpose of participation and response to inquiries by Health Quality Council ("HQCA") related to the review of Alberta physician intimidation allegations, as set out by the Honourable Minister Gene Zwozdesky. For this review, the HQCA has established a quality assurance committee under section 10(2) of the *Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation* for the purpose of conducting the planned and systematic study, assessment and evaluation of these matters. The quality assurance committee must conduct this review as a quality assurance activity under section 9 of the Alberta Evidence Act. This waiver is only applicable to this section 9 protected review.
- This waiver excludes any reference to identifiable health information. The Physician, other health service provider, administrator, board member, former employee or other employee shall be responsible for ensuring that s/he is compliant with all applicable privacy legislation.
- 3. This waiver excludes any information that is protected by solicitor client privilege.
- 4. This waiver excludes communication of any monetary settlement amounts.
- 5. This waiver is mutual. The Physician, other health service provider, administrator, board member, former employee or other employee hereby waives the Confidentiality Obligations imposed on AHS and agrees that AHS may speak about the terms and conditions and information pertaining to the Agreement, in accordance with the conditions and limitations set out in Paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4.

ALBERTA HEALTH SERVICES

PHYSICIAN

Name Printed: Dr. Chris Zagle Title: President + CEO

Date: June 10,2011

Name Printed:	
Date:	

210,811 - 14 Street NW Calgary, Alberta T2N 2A4 11 - 405,297,8162 + 7 405,297,8258 Webber www.heparate





OFFICE OF THE PROVOST AND VICE-PRESIDENT (ACADEMIC)

2-10 University Hall Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G 2J9 Tel: 780.492.3443 Fax: 780.492.1438 www.provost.ualberta.ca

July 27, 2011

Health Quality Council of Alberta 210, 811 – 14th Street, NW Calgary, Alberta T2N 2A4

ATTENTION: John W. Cowell, MD, CCFP, FRCPC Chief Executive Officer

Re: Request for Assurance and Confirmation Protecting Physicians, Other Health Service Providers, Administrators, Employees and Former Employees

Dear Dr. Cowell:

In accordance with your recent request, the University of Alberta hereby provides the following assurance and confirmation:

- 1. The University of Alberta encourages its academic and non-academic staff members to cooperate with the Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery and the Role and Process of Physician Advocacy ("the Review").
- 2. The University of Alberta provides the assurance, with respect to this Review, that in the absence of employee misconduct, no academic or non-academic staff member will suffer any adverse consequence through the University of Alberta as a result of participating in this Review, including but not limited to:
 - censure, suspension, variation of or restriction on contractual arrangements, financial penalties or termination;
 - b. having their employment negatively affected if any of them provide information orally or documents to the QA Committee or its subcommittees for the purposes of the Review.

The above (item 2) does not extend to such information as discovered that requires the University of Alberta or another authority to investigate into possible criminal activity, intentional activity to cause harm, or misconduct that invokes any disciplinary or anti-discrimination and harassment processes in an academic staff agreement with the Association of the Academic Staff of the University of Alberta (AASUA) or the collective agreement with the Non-Academic Staff Association. In such situations, the University of Alberta or the other appropriate authority is bound to investigate these matters.



We trust that the above is in order, and are hopeful that you are able to effectively complete the Review.

THE GOVERNORS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

ichne a Neck Per:

Dr. Colleen Skidmore Vice-Provost (Academic)

5

s....

Per: Dr. Verna Yiu

Acting Dean, Faculty of Medicine & Dentistry

ku G:\AD01-MED-11 Letter to HCQA Jul'27'11





Promoting and improving patient safety and health service quality across Alberta

June 13, 2011

Dr. Tom Feasby Dean, Faculty of Medicine University of Calgary 7th Floor, TRW Building 3280 Hospital Drive NW Calgary, Alberta T2N 4Z6

Dear Feasby:

Re: Request for Assurances and Confirmation Protecting Physicians, Other Health Service Providers, Administrators, Employees and Former Employees

At the direction of the Minister of Health and Wellness, the Health Quality Council of Alberta ("HQCA") is undertaking a Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery and the Role and Process of Physician Advocacy ("the Review"). The Review is being conducted by the Quality Assurance Committee of the HQCA under section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*.

The Review will focus on two principal topic areas:

- Quality of Care and Safety of Patients requiring Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery.
- Role and Process of Physician Advocacy in Patient Safety and Health Service Quality.

The Terms of Reference are attached for your reference. The data gathering phase of the Review will be conducted by sub-committees of the QA Committee.

Physicians, other health service providers, administrators and staff of the University of Calgary Faculty of Medicine will be invited by the QA Committee to speak to it or a sub-committee and to provide information, including documents.

Participation in the Review is voluntary. In order for the QA Committee to obtain an accurate and complete understanding of the events that are its focus, the QA Committee needs open and complete disclosure of information and documents. This cannot occur if physicians, other health service providers, administrators and employees (or former employees) feel at any risk as a result of their participation in the Review. To alleviate any concerns that they may have about participating in the Review and sharing information with our QA Committee and its subcommittees, I ask that you provide the following assurance and confirmation:

The University of Calgary Faculty of Medicine provides the assurance, with respect to this Review, that no physician, other health service provider, administrator or other employee will suffer any adverse consequence through the University of Calgary Faculty of Medicine as a result of participating in this Review, including but not limited to:

Over/

210. 811 - 14 Suvet NW Calgary, Alberta T2N 2A4 403:297 8162 403:297.8258 www.hgca.ca



- censure, suspension, variation of or restriction on contractual arrangements, financial penalties or termination;
- b. having their appointments or privileges to practice negatively affected if any of them provide information orally or documents to the QA Committee or its sub-committees for the purposes of the Review.

The above does not extend to such information as discovered that requires the University of Calgary Faculty of Medicine or another authority to investigate into possible criminal or intentional activity to cause harm. In such situations, the University of Calgary Faculty of Medicine or the other appropriate authority is bound to investigate these matters and report them as appropriate and required by law.

It is expected that physicians, health service providers, administrators, other employees and former employees will rely on the assurances and confirmation provided by the University of Calgary Faculty of Medicine.

Please provide the assurance and confirmation requested above, by executing a copy of this letter and returning it to my attention as quickly as possible.

Yours truly

John W. Cowell, MD, CCFP, FRCPC Chief Executive Officer

HOCA

Assurance and Confirmation

To: And To:

Any physicians, health service providers, administrators, other employees and former employees of the University of Calgary Faculty of Medicine who participate in the Review

On behalf of the University of Calgary Faculty of Medicine I have reviewed the contents of this letter and provide the assurance and confirmation requested above, understanding that it may be relied on by physicians, health service providers, administrators, other employees and former employees who provide information and documents to the QA Committee or its subcommittees for the Review.

Executed this 2 day of Jump, 2011.

UNIVERISTY OF CALGARY FACULTY OF MEDICINE



APPENDIX IV: HQCA Interim Reports

News Release

June 29, 2011

Health Quality Council of Alberta releases update on the independent review of the quality of care and safety of patients requiring access to emergency department care and cancer surgery and the role and process of physician advocacy

(*Calgary, AB*)...The Health Quality Council of Alberta (HQCA) is providing its first update for this review. "Given the scope of the review and to ensure the highest possible attention would be given to it, one of the HQCA's first actions was to divide the review into two parts," said Dr. John Cowell, chief executive officer of the HQCA. "In the first part, we want to understand whether the events that led to the waitlist issues related to lung surgery in 2001, including patients that died while on that waitlist many of whom had cancer, have been mitigated to ensure they don't happen again. We are also doing an analysis of the more than 300 cases identified in 2008 regarding access to emergency department services again to determine whether the issues associated with those cases have been mitigated to ensure they don't happen again." The second part of the review is looking specifically at the role and process of physician advocacy. Both parts of the review are being conducted by the Quality Assurance Committee of the HQCA under section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*.

The purpose of the review is to make recommendations to improve system performance. Alberta Health and Wellness Minister Gene Zwozdesky requested the review in March 2011 under section 13 of the *Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation*.

Milestones to date:

- The HQCA has established the plan for conducting the review and has appointed the quality assurance teams that will be conducting it. The complex nature of the review has proved challenging and the timeline for completing the report has shifted slightly. The next progress report will be issued in late autumn 2011 with a final report expected early in 2012.
- Medical and ethical advisors have been put in place to provide expertise as needed throughout the review process.
- An Advisory Panel announced on March 23, 2011 has met on several occasions to provide additional advice and counsel.
- The HQCA has obtained commitments of support and cooperation from Alberta Health Services, the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta and the Alberta Medical Association.
- The HQCA has obtained assurances from Alberta Health Services and the faculties of medicine at the University of Alberta and the University of Calgary that physicians who participate in the review process will not experience repercussions.



- Interviews with stakeholders are underway. The names of those interviewed as well as the information they provide are confidential and will not be revealed by the HQCA. Interviewees may choose to disclose that they have been interviewed as part of the review process.
- Analysis has begun on data related to the emergency department component of the review.
- A provincewide survey is being developed to gain an understanding of physicians' knowledge, skills, attitudes and experiences advocating for patients. The survey will be conducted in September 2011.
- Efforts continue to validate the presence of a waitlist for lung surgery in 2001, including patients that died while on that waitlist many of whom had cancer.

While significant work has already been completed, Dr. Cowell says there is still a great deal of work ahead. "As we continue to move forward, our goal is not to lay blame on any one individual or organization but to look at system-wide issues and opportunities for improvement as a result of the review findings."

-30-

The HQCA gathers and analyzes information and collaborates with Alberta Health and Wellness, Alberta Health Services, health professions, academia and other stakeholders to translate that knowledge into practical improvements to health service quality and patient safety in the health care system. The HQCA is a corporation created in 2006 by the Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation under the Regional Health Authorities Act.

For more information, please contact:

Pam Brandt, Communications Lead 403.297.4091 Cell 403.850.5067



October 27, 2011

Health Quality Council of Alberta releases second interim progress report on independent review

*(Calgary, AB)...*The Health Quality Council of Alberta (HQCA) today released its second interim report related to its independent review of the quality of care and safety of patients requiring access to emergency department (ED) care and cancer surgery and the role and process of physician advocacy.

The HQCA review team has been pleased with the number of individuals who have participated in the review. "Nearly all the people with whom we wanted to speak have come forward, as well as others who requested to meet with us, and they have been forthcoming and sincere with their comments," said Dr. John Cowell, Chief Executive Officer of the HQCA.

"Given the scope of the review and the need for a full understanding of the issues, it would be premature to make any recommendations until our work is complete," said Dr. Cowell, adding there are interviews left to conduct and more data to gather and analyze.

Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery

Based on the patient charts analyzed to date, the review has confirmed that severe crowding and extremely long wait times as identified by the University of Alberta Hospital (UAH) Emergency Department (ED) physicians were an issue for patients at the UAH ED in 2008. This in turn put at risk the quality of care these patients received. "On the basis of the patient charts analyzed to date, we have not seen any evidence that lives were lost at the UAH ED as a result of prolonged ED wait times in 2008," said Dr. Cowell. "What we have seen is that once patients received care, it was appropriate, but was often provided in challenging and very difficult conditions."

An important example of how the safety margin of the care for patients in the UAH ED was eroded is illustrated by the following experience of a person who went to the ED and left without being seen after approximately a five-hour wait. The patient returned to the ED the following day, still feeling ill, and within a short period of time required life-sustaining therapy. The patient survived, was admitted to the hospital and subsequently discharged home. According to the severity of the patient's condition when the patient first went to the ED, Canadian guidelines recommend that such patients wait no longer than 30 minutes before being assessed by a physician.



Dr. Cowell adds, "Based on the analysis of provincial ED wait time data for 2008, there is no reason to believe that ED crowding and long wait times were unique to the UAH or to only EDs in Edmonton."

In contrast to the data available on the ED issues, information related to the wait times for cancer surgery (focus on lung cancer surgery) has been more difficult to find. Regarding the reference in the Alberta legislature on February 28, 2011 to a 1,200-person waitlist related to lung surgery, including 250 patients who died while on that list, the HQCA has not seen evidence to date that a waitlist of this size exists or existed. Work on this issue is ongoing. Furthermore, to date no evidence has been found to link physicians advocating for additional thoracic surgery resources with subsequent decisions to curtail physician practice opportunities.

Role and Process of Physician Advocacy in Patient Safety and Health Service Quality

Dr. Cowell says that during the course of the review, the team has learned that physicians are expected and encouraged to advocate for individual patients, groups of patients and the health needs of the community as a whole. It appears, however, that the process for physicians to follow is not obvious or defined. "We have learned that physicians we have spoken with have received little, if any, education or coaching on how to advocate effectively. We have also heard that in the healthcare system, administrators, clinicians, government officials and politicians are often uncertain how to handle or react to physician advocacy."

A number of physicians have described disturbing life- and career-changing outcomes that they attribute to their advocacy efforts. These include having hospital privileges affected, feeling ostracized by peers, and having contracts for services being altered or cancelled, which in some cases, limited their options for remaining in the province. Some have elected to leave the province to seek work elsewhere. "During the course of the interviews it came to light that since 2008, the lack of stability in organizational structure, leadership and reporting relationships within Alberta Health Services has impacted physicians' willingness and ability to advocate for their patients," adds Dr. Cowell.

To date, no evidence has been discovered that inappropriate financial payments have been made to any physician to muzzle their attempts to advocate on behalf of patients.

Process

Every practicing physician in Alberta has been mailed a survey within the past week asking about their knowledge and experience related to advocacy in Alberta and the extent to which advocacy for patient care is influenced by healthcare provider organizations, government, professional colleges and others. It is expected that this survey, which is supported by the Alberta Medical Association and the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta, will reveal the extent of issues and concerns related to physicians' experiences advocating for their patients.

"The timeframe of this review goes back to 1998, spanning more than a decade during which the province's healthcare system experienced many significant structural changes. We expect that when the review is done, we will have a more complete understanding of ED crowding, wait times for lung cancer surgery and physician advocacy issues," said Dr. Cowell. "As with any



review the HQCA conducts, our goal is to make system-wide recommendations and identify opportunities for improvement as a result of the findings." The review is due to be completed in February 2012.

The HQCA's second interim report on the *Review* of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery and the Role and

Process of Physician Advocacy follows.

The HQCA gathers and analyzes information and collaborates with Alberta Health and Wellness, Alberta Health Services, health professions, academia and other stakeholders to translate that knowledge into practical improvements to health service quality and patient safety in the healthcare system. The HQCA is a provincial health board created in 2006 by the Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation under the Regional Health Authorities Act.

For more information, please contact:

Pam Brandt, Communications Lead 403.297.4091 Cell 403.850.5067



The Health Quality Council of Alberta's Second Interim Report on the Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery and the Role and Process of Physician Advocacy

Progress to Date

- Over 70 interviews averaging two hours in length were completed by October 26, 2011.
- Over 600 patient charts from the University of Alberta Hospital (UAH) have been analyzed including all those identified by the UAH Emergency Department (ED) physicians.
- Acquiring all the data to support the analysis of ED wait times and crowding has been difficult. To gain a good perspective on wait times and crowding since pre-2008, data are needed from 10 years ago to present. However, in some cases data were incomplete or non-existent.
- The review team continues to gather many documents from interviewees and through a formal request to Alberta Health Services.
- A systematic literature review is underway to highlight effective intervention strategies that address the issue of ED crowding and to determine the concept, scope and practice of effective physician advocacy. This will be completed in mid-December 2011 and included in the final report.
- Beginning October 18, 2011, every practicing physician in Alberta was mailed a survey asking about their knowledge and experience related to advocacy in Alberta and the extent to which advocacy for patient care is influenced by healthcare provider organizations, government, professional colleges and others. Both the Alberta Medical Association and the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta have provided their support for the survey. Preliminary data will be available in mid-December 2011 and complete results will be included in the HQCA's final report early next year. It is expected that this survey will reveal the extent of issues and concerns related to physicians' experiences advocating for their patients.

Findings to Date

Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery

Emergency Department Care

The University of Alberta Hospital emergency room physicians identified patients in 2008 (and a few in 2010) as examples of patients whose care could have been compromised by ED crowding issues. The review team has analyzed all of the charts of the patients identified by the UAH ED physicians and, in addition, analyzed charts of other ED patients in 2008 to look for other possible cases where negative clinical outcomes might be related to excessive wait times.



Charts of ED patients seen in 2008 who met specified criteria and died in the UAH ED, died within 72 hours of admission to hospital, or required care in an intensive care unit are still under review and analysis is ongoing.

Results

- Of the patients identified by the UAH ED physicians, two patients died neither of whom were determined to be related to excessive ED wait times. However, the review has confirmed that severe crowding and extremely long wait times as identified by the UAH ED physicians were an issue for many of the these patients. The average wait time for an initial assessment by a physician in the ED was 3.1 and 4.9 hours for patients whose condition was classified as emergent (CTAS II^{xii}) or urgent (CTAS III) respectively. Canadian guidelines recommend that patients wait no longer than 15 minutes if they are classified as CTAS II and 30 minutes if classified as CTAS III. Over 50% of these patients were admitted to hospital. The average time the admitted patients spent in the ED was 18.5 hours. However, 20% of these patients waited more than 48 hours to be moved to an inpatient hospital bed.
- Excessive ED wait times put the quality of care these patients received at risk, in part by reducing the safety margin of the care that was able to be provided in the ED. An important example of this was the experience of a patient who went to the ED and left without being seen after approximately a five-hour wait. The patient returned the following day and within a short period of time required life-sustaining therapy. The patient survived, was admitted to hospital and subsequently discharged home. If the patient had been seen close to the 30-minute Canadian guideline for how this patient's condition was classified (urgent), the review team believes the patient would not have required urgent life-sustaining therapy the following day.
- Although the review team has serious concerns about the length of time it took these patients to access an ED bed and be assessed by the physician, once this occurred, the team had no concerns about the quality of care provided to patients notwithstanding the crowded environment where the care was delivered.
- The review team has completed its analysis of all patients who died in the UAH ED in 2008 who spent longer than four hours in the ED and whose age was between 18 and 85; none of these deaths could be attributed to excessive ED waits.

xii CTAS stands for the Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale and is an ED-assigned urgency score with CTAS I being the most urgent and CTAS V the least.



• Charts of patients admitted to the UAH ED in 2008 who subsequently required intensive care unit care are still being reviewed.

Analysis of Provincial Emergency Department Wait Times

Preliminary analysis of this data that is available from 2005 to present strongly suggests that ED crowding and long wait times are a phenomenon experienced by patients across Alberta.

- Based on comparable ED data, the Edmonton and Calgary sites have consistently had longer wait times than other sites in Alberta.
- In Calgary and Edmonton, from 2005 until late 2010, there was an upward trend in the average time patients spent in EDs and in the percentage of patients who left without being seen.
- There had been some improvement in ED performance over the four quarters beginning October 1, 2010 and ending September 30, 2011.

Cancer Surgery Care

The availability of data and information regarding cancer surgery care (with a focus on lung surgery) has been limited. Through interviews, the review team has concluded that there likely have been issues with delays in accessing thoracic surgery at the University of Alberta Hospital.

- To date, the review team has been unable to confirm a waitlist of 1,200 patients, including 250 patients who died while on that list.
- Given the number of patients who were alleged to have died while on the wait list for lung surgery, some of whom had lung cancer, the expectation is that these deaths would be reflected in differences in lung cancer survival rates between Calgary and Edmonton. However, when the data relevant to this time period were analyzed, there was no significant difference in the five-year cancer survival rates between the two cities.
- To date, the review team has not found evidence to suggest a link between physicians advocating for additional thoracic surgery resources and subsequent decisions to curtail practice opportunities.

Role and Process of Physician Advocacy in Patient Safety and Health Service Quality

- Interviews are being conducted with individuals who have had direct experience advocating for patient care or who have had administrative or other (e.g., governance) experience with physician advocacy.
- A qualitative approach is being used to conduct and analyze these interviews to identify themes/issues about the historical and current experiences of physician advocacy in Alberta's health system.
- Emerging themes/issues related to physician advocacy include:



- Physicians are expected and encouraged to advocate for individual patients, groups of patients and the health needs of the community as a whole.
 - Physicians we have spoken with have had little, if any, coaching or education on how to advocate effectively.
 - Due to the lack of stability in organizational structures, leadership and reporting relationships within Alberta Health Services and some of the former health regions, it was often not clear to physicians who was responsible for dealing with a particular advocacy issue (i.e., with whom they should speak and when).
- A number of physicians have come forward to describe their challenges when advocating for their patients. For many, these experiences resulted in tense, difficult or stressful circumstances that were life and career changing and included actions such as having hospital privileges affected, feeling ostracized by peers, and contracts for services being altered or cancelled, which in some cases limited their options for remaining in the province. Some elected to leave the province to seek work elsewhere.
 - The review findings to date indicate that in many cases the process that was followed in the health system by administrators, clinicians, government officials and politicians in dealing with physicians and their advocacy efforts was not obvious, was poorly defined, and was inconsistent.
- Boundaries of authority, accountability and responsibility between the Alberta government (i.e., premier, cabinet, health minister, MLAs and government ministries), Alberta Health Services (i.e., governance, administrators and clinical operations) and the regulatory bodies (including physicians) were blurred, confusing and inconsistent.
- To date, no evidence has been discovered that inappropriate financial payments have been made to any physician to muzzle their attempts to advocate on behalf of patients.



APPENDIX V: Emergency Department Provincial Administrative Data Review

Emergency Department Provincial Administrative Data Review

Data sources, quality, analysis and definitions

Data Sources

The Health Quality Council of Alberta (HQCA) has data sharing agreements with Alberta Health and Wellness (AHW) and Alberta Health Services (AHS). In some situations the Health Quality Council of Alberta had access to required data sets, while in in other situations a new request for access was required. The following data sources were used to generate the data in this report on emergency department crowding:

- National Ambulatory Care Reporting System (NACRS) from AHS: a national reporting system, designed and maintained by the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) to provide valuable information allowing the evaluation of ambulatory care services in Canadian health care facilities. Since April 1, 2010 the NACRS has provided the framework for the province's ambulatory care data acquisition. Details about emergency department (ED) visits are included in the NACRS data.
- Ambulatory Care Classification System (ACCS) from AHS: a provincial reporting system that ceased when the NACRS was implemented. Like NACRS, ED visits are included in the ACCS data.
- Inpatient data Discharge Abstract Database (DAD) from AHS: This national data set is designed and maintained by the CIHI providing a summary of all patients who were discharged from Canadian hospitals. It is used as the main data source of analysis for inpatient bed activity.
- ED specific data: 1) Regional Emergency Department Information System (REDIS Calgary);
 2) Emergency Department Information System (EDIS Edmonton); and 3) and Medical Information Technology Inc.(Meditech Chinook) from AHS: REDIS/EDIS are the Calgary/Edmonton ED information systems. REDIS, EDIS, and Meditech provide much of the source data for the emergency data that ultimately is captured in the ACCS/NACRS data sets. REDIS and EDIS are the operational data systems for the main urban EDs and many of the urgent care centres; therefore, these databases have much more detail than the ACCS/NACRS databases regarding patient visits. However, because REDIS and EDIS have not been implemented in all ED / urgent care centre sites in Calgary and Edmonton, when comprehensive activity within a zone was required, the ACCS/NACRS databases were used..
- Numbers of funded beds in different Alberta facilities (historical) from AHW: The different health facilities throughout the province regularly report the number of beds they have to AHW. This data has been collected and organized since 1994. The categories of beds include acute care, long term care, supportive living, psychiatric, addiction, and "other".
- Alberta population from AHW: The Alberta population data was downloaded from the AHW website using their "Interactive Health Data Application". The population estimates provided are as of June 30th of each year.



Data Quality

- DAD: there is a standardized and disciplined abstracting process for data entry into this very comprehensive database. For the purposes of this analysis it is considered highly reliable.
- ACCS/NACRS: there is a standardized process for data reporting. As the data is acquired from many different original sources, the quality of the data can be variable depending on the source. For the purposes of this analysis it is considered highly reliable.
- REDIS/EDIS/Meditech: these are operational data systems with associated variability in quality of data entry. For this analysis the entire data set was used to determine the number of visits, excluding a small number of cases that had an "exclude" flag. However, where there was clear conflict between different date/time stamps (e.g., a patient seeing the ED physician after the time of discharge), records deemed invalid were excluded. Depending on the year and institution, 94% to 100% of the records were included in the analysis.

Data Analysis

In most cases the questions that are the focus of the report are of 'counts'; therefore, the reported measures are typically 'numbers of' (e.g. number of cases, number of visits, number of hours, etc.) and averages (means). In some analyses central trend was better captured by reporting the median (50th percentile) and the variability expressed by reporting the 80th percentile measure.

Comparison is made across time and geographies. Time is reported according to AHW fiscal year (April 1 to March 31). Geographically the focus of the report is on Calgary, Edmonton, and Chinook (Lethbridge and surrounding area). For Calgary and Edmonton the current zone boundaries (larger than the city boundaries) are used when the entire population is of interest. For Lethbridge the boundary is the pre-AHS, Chinook Health Region. In many of the analyses the focus is on the major acute-care sites (hospitals) of the three cities.

Major Acute Care Sites

- Calgary
 - Foothills Medical Centre
 - Rockyview General Hospital
 - Peter Lougheed Centre
- Edmonton
 - Grey Nuns Community Hospital
 - Misericordia Community Hospital
 - Royal Alexandra Hospital
 - University of Alberta Hospital
- Lethbridge
 - Chinook Regional Hospital



Data Definitions / Calculations for Figures

Figure 4. Total visits to emergency departments and urgent care centres by region/zone and site for fiscal year 2009/10

Data source	ACCS
Exclusions	emergency psychiatric services (MIS 7131070)
Period	fiscal year 2009/10
Geography	Edmonton and Calgary zones
Calculations	Sum of number of visits
Comments	 this includes visits to all emergency departments and urgent care facilities within the zone as reflected in the data source. within the ACCS/NACRS data set the Stollery visits are incorporated within the University of Alberta emergency department visits. Within the emergency department data (EDIS) they are separated. An analysis of the EDIS data showed that nearly all the patients under 16 years of age were linked with a Stollery visit. Therefore, within the ACCS/NACRS data the Stollery patients are defined as those patients who visited the University of Alberta Hospital and were less than 16 years of age. the classification of the emergency departments and urgent care centres has been created to suit the purposes of this report. For example, while the Northeast Community Health Centre has been deemed an "emergency department", for the purposes of this report it has been deemed an "urgent care centre". For a full listing see the "Classification of emergency department and urgent care centres in Calgary and Edmonton" table at the end of this appendix.

Figure 5. Emergency department average time from first contact to physician contact at city adult hospitals by fiscal year and zone / region

Data source	REDIS /EDIS / Meditech
Exclusions	cases with: 1) an "exclude" flag in the data or 2) invalid dates
Period	fiscal years 2005/06 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridge
Calculations	average time in hours = sum of time from first contact to physician contact (in minutes)/(sum of all visits * 60 min/hr)



Figure 6. Average time spent by emergency department patients waiting to see a physician after being assessed by triage at city adult hospitals by fiscal year and zone / region for patients classified as CTAS III

Data source	EDIS / REDIS / Meditech
Inclusion	cases with a CTAS code level = 3
Exclusions	cases with: 1) an "exclude" flag in the data or 2) invalid dates
Period	fiscal years 2005/06 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridge
Calculations	average time in hours = sum of time from first contact to physician contact (in minutes)/(sum of all visits * 60 min/hr)

Figure 7. Average time spent by emergency department patients waiting to see a physician after being assessed by triage at city adult hospitals by fiscal year and zone / region for patients classified as CTAS II

Data source	EDIS / REDIS / Meditech
Inclusion	cases with a CTAS code level = 2
Exclusions	cases with: 1) an "exclude" flag in the data or 2) invalid dates
Period	fiscal years 2005/06 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridge
Calculations	average time in hours = sum of time from first contact to physician contact (in minutes)/(sum of all visits * 60 min/hr)

Figure 8. Average length of emergency department stay at city adult hospitals by fiscal year and zone / region for patients admitted and for patients not admitted to hospital

Data source	EDIS / REDIS / Meditech
Inclusion	cases with a CTAS code level = 2
Exclusions	cases with: 1) an "exclude" flag in the data or 2) invalid dates
Period	fiscal years 2005/06 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridge
Calculations	average time in hours = sum of time from first contact to discharge (in minutes)/60



Figure 9a. Median length of stay for emergency department patients at city adult hospitals who are admitted to hospital by fiscal year

Data source	EDIS / REDIS / Meditech
Inclusion	patients with a Discharge Disposition of "Admitted"
Exclusions	cases with: 1) an "exclude" flag in the data or 2) invalid dates
Period	fiscal years 2003/04 to first quarter fiscal year 2011/12
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton and Calgary
Calculations	median time in hours = median of time from first contact to discharge (in minutes)/60

Figure 9b. Median length of stay for emergency department patients at city adult hospitals who are not admitted to hospital

Data source	EDIS / REDIS / Meditech
Inclusion	patients with a Discharge Disposition of "Admitted"
Exclusions	cases with: 1) an "exclude" flag in the data or 2) invalid dates
Period	fiscal years 2003/04 to first quarter fiscal year 2011/12
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton and Calgary
Calculations	median time in hours = median of time from first contact to discharge (in minutes)/60

Figure 10. Population of regions/zones by year as of June 30 of each year

Data source	Alberta Health and Wellness Interactive Health Data Application
Period	1995 to 2010 as of June 30th of each year
Geography	Edmonton and Calgary 2012 Zone boundaries, and the pre-AHS Chinook Health Region boundary
Calculations	sum of population
Comments	the data are based on the "number of registrants as of June 30 each year registered on the Alberta Health Care Insurance Plan to receive health services in Alberta" (from Alberta Health and Wellness Interactive Health Data Application data notes)



Figure 11. Number of emergency department/urgent care centre patient visits by fiscal year and region/zone

Data source	ACCS / NACRS
Exclusions	emergency psychiatric services (MIS 7131070)
Period	fiscal years 2004/05 to 2010/11
Geography	Edmonton and Calgary 2012 Zone boundaries, and the pre-AHS Chinook Health Region boundary
Calculations	count of the number of visits to ED or urgent care centres

Figure 12. Number of emergency department/urgent care centre patient visits per 1,000 population by fiscal year and region/zone

Data source	ACCS / NACRS
Exclusions	emergency psychiatric services (MIS 7131070)
Period	fiscal years 2004/05 to 2010/11
Geography	Edmonton and Calgary 2012 Zone boundaries, and the pre-AHS Chinook Region boundary
Calculations	(count of the number of visits to ED or urgent care centres / population of zone/region) * 1000

Figure 13a. Number of emergency department/urgent care centre patient visits to Edmonton zone facilities by fiscal year

Data source	ACCS / NACRS
Exclusions	1) emergency psychiatric services (MIS 7131070); 2) Stollery Hospital visits
Period	fiscal years 2004/05 to 2010/11
Geography	Edmonton Zone boundaries
Calculations	count of the number of visits to city hospital EDs, city urgent care centres, and rural hospital or care centre facilities
Comments	 within the ACCS/NACRS data set the Stollery visits are incorporated within the University of Alberta emergency department visits. Within the emergency department data (EDIS) they are separated. An analysis of the EDIS data showed that nearly all the patients under 16 years of age were linked with a Stollery visit. Therefore, within the ACCS/NACRS data the Stollery patients are defined as those patients who visited the University of Alberta Hospital and were less than 16 years of age. regarding classification of facilities: see comments in Figure 4 above and table at the end of this appendix



Figure 13b. Number of emergency department/urgent care centre patient visits to Calgary zone facilities by fiscal year

Data source	ACCS / NACRS
Exclusions	1) emergency psychiatric services (MIS 7131070); 2) Alberta Children's Hospital visits
Period	fiscal years 2004/05 to 2010/11
Geography	Calgary Zone boundaries
Calculations	count of the number of visits to city hospital EDs, city urgent care centres, and rural hospital or care centre facilities
Comments	regarding classifications of facilities: see comments in Figure 4 above and table at the end of this appendix

Figure 14. Number of city adult hospital emergency department patient visits by fiscal year and region/zone

Data source	ACCS / NACRS
Exclusions	1) emergency psychiatric services (MIS 7131070); 2) Stollery Hospital visits
Period	fiscal years 2004/05 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridge
Calculations	count of the number of visits to city hospital EDs
Comments	Within the ACCS/NACRS data set the Stollery visits are incorporated within the University of Alberta emergency department visits. Within the emergency department data (EDIS) they are separated. An analysis of the EDIS data showed that nearly all the patients under 16 years of age were linked with a Stollery visit. Therefore, within the ACCS/NACRS data the Stollery patients are defined as those patients who visited the University of Alberta Hospital and were less than 16 years of age.

Figure 15a. Per cent of emergency department patient visits at Edmonton city adult hospitals by CTAS level and by fiscal year

Data source	EDIS
Exclusions	cases where triage level $= 0$
Period	fiscal years 2004/05 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton
Calculations	(number of visits by triage code level/all visits to city hospital EDs) * 100



Figure 15b. Per cent of emergency department patient visits at Calgary city adult hospitals by CTAS level and by fiscal year

Data source	REDIS
Exclusions	cases where triage level $= 0$
Period	fiscal years 2004/05 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Calgary
Calculations	(number of visits by triage code level/all visits to city hospital EDs) * 100

Figure 16. Per cent of city adult hospital emergency department patients admitted to hospital by fiscal year and region/zone

Data source	EDIS / REDIS / Meditech
Inclusions	patients with a discharge disposition that was "admitted"
Exclusions	cases with an "exclude" flag in the data
Period	fiscal years 2005/06 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridge
Calculations	(number of visits with an admitted discharge disposition / all visits) *100

Figure 17. Per cent of city adult hospital emergency department patients who are 65 years of age or older by fiscal year

Data source	EDIS / REDIS
Exclusions	cases with an "exclude" flag in the data
Period	fiscal years 2005/06 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton and Calgary
Calculations	(number of visits by patients aged 65 years and older / all visits) *100

Figure 19a. Average time spent in different stages by patients visiting city of Edmonton adult hospital emergency departments who were admitted to hospital by fiscal year

Data source	EDIS
Inclusions	patients with a discharge disposition that was "admitted"
Exclusions	cases with: 1) an "exclude" flag in the data or 2) invalid dates
Period	fiscal years 2005/06 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton
Calculations	average time in hours = sum of time of admitted patients in a stage (in minutes)/(sum of time of all admitted patients * 60 min/hr)



Figure 19b. Average time spent in different stages by patients visiting city of Calgary adult hospital emergency departments who were admitted to hospital by fiscal year

Data source	REDIS
Inclusions	patients with a discharge disposition that was "admitted"
Exclusions	cases with: 1) an "exclude" flag in the data or 2) invalid dates
Period	fiscal years 2005/06 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Calgary
Calculations	average time in hours = sum of time of admitted patients in a stage (in minutes)/(sum of time of all admitted patients * 60 min/hr)

Figure 20. Per cent of city adult hospital emergency department patients who are admitted to hospital and per cent of total ED patient time that admitted patients used (fiscal year 2010/11)

Data source	EDIS / REDIS
Inclusions	patients with a discharge disposition that was "admitted"
Exclusions	cases with: 1) an "exclude" flag in the data or 2) invalid dates (from average time calculation only)
Period	fiscal years 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton and Calgary
Calculations	 (number of ED patients admitted to hospital / total number of ED patients) * 100 (number of ED patients admitted to hospital * total hours in ED / total number of ED patients * total hours in ED) * 100

Figure 21a. 80th percentile of number of occupied city adult hospital emergency department beds taken by emergency inpatient (EIP) patients at 12:00 noon by site and fiscal year quarter - Edmonton

Data source	EDIS
Inclusions	 patients with a discharge disposition that was "admitted" patients who were present in the ED at 12 noon
Exclusions	cases with: 1) an "exclude" flag in the data or 2) invalid dates
Period	fiscal years 2005/06 to quarter 1 of 2011/12
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton
Calculations	80th percentile calculation (over the quarter) of the number of patients who had been admitted to hospital but remained in the ED waiting for an inpatient bed at 12 noon.
Comments	The 80th percentile signifies that for 80% of the days this number of beds or fewer were occupied by admitted patients; conversely, this means that for 20% of the days this number of beds or more were occupied by admitted patients.



Figure 21b. 80th percentile of number of occupied city adult hospital emergency department beds taken by emergency inpatient (EIP) patients at 12:00 noon by site and fiscal year quarter - Calgary

Data source	REDIS
Inclusions	 patients with a discharge disposition that was "admitted" patients who were present in the ED at 12 noon
Exclusions	cases with: 1) an "exclude" flag in the data or 2) invalid dates
Period	fiscal years 2005/06 to quarter 1 of 2011/12
Geography	city adult hospitals in Calgary
Calculations	80th percentile calculation (over the quarter) of the number of patients who had been admitted to hospital but remained in the ED waiting for an inpatient bed at 12 noon.
Comments	The 80th percentile signifies that for 80% of the days this number of beds or fewer were occupied by admitted patients; conversely, this means that for 20% of the days this number of beds or more were occupied by admitted patients.

Figure 22a. Edmonton city adult hospital inpatient bed occupancy rates by fiscal year

Data source	data provided by AHS directly
Period	fiscal years 2006/07 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton
Calculations	no additional calculations were performed – rate data obtained directly from AHS
Comments	 hospital occupancy rate is generally defined as the number of in-patient hospital beds occupied divided by the average number of hospital beds for a period. an important challenge in arriving at this value concerns the definition of a "bed" there are factors that will affect whether a bed is actually available for a patient's use. "funded beds" refer to beds which are not only physically available, but which also have funding for staffing in place. "closed beds" often refer to beds that have been closed for some unavoidable reason, possibly construction or lack of staff. in recent years the use of "overcapacity beds" has become common in Alberta, as some form of a bed have been placed within a hospital location on a temporary basis. the beds used in the calculation for this graph are the average of "funded beds", excluding "closed beds" and does not include "overcapacity beds" it is possible to have an occupancy greater than 100%, as all the beds available can be occupied, and additional patients could be in overcapacity beds



Data source	data provided by AHS directly
Period	fiscal years 2006/07 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Calgary
Calculations	no additional calculations were performed - rate data obtained directly from AHS
Comments	see comments for Figure 22a

Figure 22b. Calgary city adult hospital inpatient bed occupancy rates by fiscal year

Figure 22c. Chinook Regional Hospital inpatient bed occupancy rates by fiscal year

Data source	data provided by Chinook Regional Hospital
Period	fiscal years 2006/07 to 2010/11
Geography	city hospital in Lethbridge
Calculations	no additional calculations were performed – rate data obtained directly from Chinook Regional Hospital
Comments	it could not be verified that the rate was calculated exactly the same way as it was for Edmonton and Calgary hospitals so it may not be directly comparable

Figure 23. Number	of acute care beds	per 1,000 po	pulation by fise	al year and	region/zone
-------------------	--------------------	--------------	------------------	-------------	-------------

Data source	data provided by AHW – historical summary of beds staffed and in operation; AHW population data
Period	fiscal years 1995/96 to 2010/11
Geography	Edmonton and Calgary 2012 zone boundaries, and the pre-AHS Chinook Health Region boundary
Calculations	(number of acute care beds / total population) * 1000
Comments	acute care beds includes acute, sub-acute and psychiatric beds that are located within acute care hospitals



Data source	DAD; AHW population data
Inclusions	all inpatient activity within the zone as reflected in the DAD data
Period	fiscal years 2002/03 to 2010/11
Geography	Edmonton and Calgary 2012 Zone boundaries, and the pre-AHS Chinook Health Region boundary
Calculations	 this calculation was more extensive in order to facilitate appropriate comparisons by eliminating the impact of two key factors, differences in age/gender distribution and differences in the impact of the import/export of patients. The following calculations were made for each age group (5 years), gender, and region/zone. step 1: total bed days = number of patients * average length of stay step 2: adjusted bed days = total bed days – bed days for imported patients + bed days for exported patients step 3: adjusted beds per pop. = adjusted bed days/365/total population
	step 4: standardize the region/zone population = per cent of Alberta population
	step 5: adjusted beds utilized standardized for age per 1,000 pop. = (adjusted beds per pop. / standardized population) *1,000
Comments	This measure shows the number of beds utilized by a region/zone's population if they had the same age/gender distribution (i.e. the same percentage of older people, middle age, females, etc). If a rate is higher, this would suggest that more beds are being used for every 1,000 people of the same age/gender group.

Figure 24. Number of acute care beds used per 1,000 population, adjusted for age, gender and for import / export patients by fiscal year and region/zone

Figure 25. Average length of stay for patients admitted to city adult hospitals by fiscal year and region/zone (excluding maternal/newborn)

Data source	DAD
Exclusions	all patients with a main service code in the DAD data of 51 (obstetrics delivered), 52 (obstetrics antepartum), 54 (newborn), and 59 (obstetrics postpartum)
Period	fiscal years 2002/03 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridge
Calculations	sum of length of stay / sum of patients discharged
Comments	length of stay used was the Canadian Institute for Health Information derived length of stay



Figure 26a. Average length of stay for patients admitted to city adult hospitals in Edmonton by fiscal year (excluding maternal/newborn)

Data source	DAD
Inclusions	as per Figure 25
Period	fiscal years 2002/03 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton
Calculations	as per Figure 25
Comments	as per Figure 25

Figure 26b. Average length of stay for patients admitted to city adult hospitals in Calgary by fiscal year (excluding maternal/newborn)

Data source	DAD
Inclusions	as per Figure 25
Period	fiscal years 2002/03 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Calgary
Calculations	as per Figure 25
Comments	as per Figure 25

Figure 27. Per cent of city adult hospital bed days that are used by patients requiring an alternate level of care (ALC) by fiscal year and region/zone

Data source	DAD
Period	fiscal years 2002/03 to 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridge
Calculations	sum of ALC days / sum of length of stay of all patients
Comments	alternate length of stay day is counted as any day a patient is in hospital after they have been assessed and no longer meet criteria for requiring an acute care facility



Figure 28. Long term care, supportive living, residential mental health, hospice and community support beds per 100,000 population aged 65 and older by fiscal year and region/zone

Data source	data provided by AHW – historical summary of beds staffed and in operation; AHW population data
Period	fiscal years 1995/96 to 2010/11
Geography	Edmonton and Calgary 2012 zone boundaries, and the pre-AHS Chinook Health Region boundary
Calculations	(number of beds / total population) * 100,000
Comments	AHW notes:
	 long term care includes auxiliary and nursing home beds. Does not include sub-acute beds located in a long term care facility. supportive living includes all supportive living (SL4, SL4 dementia and SL3) beds operated or contracted by AHS. Other includes residential mental health, hospice and community support beds.

Figure 29a. Average number of admissions at city adult hospitals by weekday and admission entry group in fiscal year 2010/11 – Edmonton

Data source	DAD
Exclusions	patients with admission categories of 'newborn', 'stillborn', and 'cadaver donor'
Period	fiscal year 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton
Calculations	 total number of admissions for a day of the week / number of days of that week in a year standard deviation of the mean number of admissions for a day of the week
Comments	 the standard deviation, shown by the vertical error bars, shows the amount of variation in the number of patients being admitted for that weekday for patients admitted via the emergency department, or for unscheduled admissions, the bars are narrower than for the most of the scheduled admission error bars indicating that the number of admissions per weekday for scheduled patients is much more variable than for the other two groups the "scheduled" patients are all patients classified in the DAD data as "elective". "emergency department" patients are patients classified as "urgent" and entering via the emergency department. "unscheduled" patients are patients classified as "urgent" but do not come via the emergency department.



Figure 29b. Average number of admissions at city adult hospitals by weekday and admission entry group in fiscal year 2010/11 – Calgary

Data source	DAD
Exclusions	patients with admission categories of 'newborn', 'stillborn', and 'cadaver donor'
Period	fiscal year 2010/11
Geography	city adult hospitals in Calgary
Calculations	as per Figure 29a
Comments	as per Figure 29a

Figure 30. Average difference in the daily number of admissions - discharges at city adult hospitals by day of week and region/zone in fiscal year 2010/11

Data source	DAD	
Exclusions	patients with admission categories of 'newborn', 'stillborn', and 'cadaver donor'	
Period	fiscal year 2010/11	
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridge	
Calculations	Sum (number of patients admitted - minus number of patients discharged) for each day of the week over a year / number of days of that week in a year	



Data Definitions / Calculations for Tables 7a and 7b

Table 7a. Average length of stay for zone / region residents admitted to city adult hospitals for common medical conditions in fiscal year 2008/09

Data source	DAD	
Exclusions	patients who do not live in the region/zone	
Period	fiscal year 2008/09	
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridge	
Calculations	sum of all cases with the appropriate case mix group (CMG) codes, average age of this group, and average length of hospital stay	
Comments	 The common medical conditions were defined in the data using the CMG codes, part of a standardized coding system used in hospitals across Canada. They are as follows: chronic obstructive lung disease (COPD) – CMG 139 	
	 pneumonia – CMGs 135, 136, 138 heart failure – CMG 139 enteritis (bowel inflammation) – CMG 249 	

Table 7b. Average length of stay for zone / region residents admitted to city adult hospitals for common medical conditions in fiscal year 2010/11

Data source	DAD	
Exclusions	patients who do not live in the region/zone	
Period	fiscal year 2010/11	
Geography	city adult hospitals in Edmonton, Calgary, and Lethbridge	
Calculations	as per Table 7a	
Comments	as per Table 7a	



Zone	Classification	Facility
Calgary Zone	Children's Hospital	Alberta Children's Hospital
	City of Calgary Adult Hospitals	Foothills Medical Centre
		Peter Lougheed Centre
		Rockyview General Hospital
	City of Calgary Urgent Care Centres	8th and 8th Health Centre
		Calgary Health Region Non-Hospital Regional Service Delivery Organization
		Sheldon M Chumir Centre
		South Calgary Health Centre
	Non-city of Calgary Facilities	Airdrie Regional Health Centre
		Okotoks Health and Wellness Centre
		Strathmore District Health Services
		Vulcan Community Health Centre
		Mineral Springs Hospital
		High River General Hospital
		Oilfields General Hospital
		Canmore General Hospital
		Claresholm General Hospital
		Didsbury District Health Services
		Cochrane Community Health Centre
Edmonton Zone	Children's Hospital	Stollery Children's Hospital
	City of Edmonton Adult Hospitals	Grey Nuns Community Hospital
		Royal Alexandra Hospital
		University of Alberta Hospital
		Misericordia Community Hospital
	City of Edmonton Urgent Care Centres	Northeast Community Health Centre
		Health First Strathcona
	Non-city of Edmonton Facilities	Devon General Hospital
		Fort Saskatchewan Health Centre

Classification of Emergency Department and Urgent Care Centres in Calgary and Edmonton


APPENDIX VI: Systematic Literature Review – Overview of Interventions to Mitigate Emergency Department Overcrowding

Overview of Interventions to Mitigate Emergency Department Overcrowding





Report for the Health Quality Council of Alberta Overview of Interventions to Mitigate Emergency Department Overcrowding

Authors

Jill de Grood, MA Melissa Bota, MA Cristina Villa-Roel, MD, MSc, PhD (Candidate) Karen Zwicker, BSc Dean Yergens, BSc William A. Ghali, MD, MPH Brian H. Rowe, MD, MSc

Affiliations

W21C and Institute for Public Health, and Faculty of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB.

Department of Emergency Medicine and School of Public health, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB.

Correspondence:

Dr. William Ghali, MD Ward of the 21 Century GD01 TRW Building 3280 Hospital Dr NW Calgary, Alberta T2N 4Z6

December 2011



Table of Contents

Executive Summary	250	
Abbreviations	252	
Introduction	254	
Potential Interventions – Definitions Input Interventions Throughput Interventions Output Interventions System-wide Interventions	258 258 258 261 262	
Potential Interventions – Results Input Interventions Throughput Interventions Output Interventions System-wide Interventions	264 264 268 282 289	
Discussion	294	
Limitations	298	
Conclusions		
Conflicts of Interest/Acknowledgements		
References		
Appendix A: Summary Tables		



Executive Summary

- Emergency Department (ED) overcrowding is an important health care issue in Alberta, Canada and in many jurisdictions in the developed world.
- ED overcrowding is more pressing in EDs serving urban, tertiary care, high-volume and specialized hospitals. While rural EDs experience delays in transfer to overcrowded urban or regional EDs, the presence and influence of ED overcrowding on their service delivery is limited.
- The causes of ED overcrowding are multi-factorial and result from *input, through-put, out-put,* and/or *system-wide* influences.
- There is a strong suspicion of publication bias in the ED literature on this topic since many administrative leaders are not focused on scientific publication and many of the interventions fail to identify a demonstrable benefit.
- Overall, there are a wide variety of interventions that have been tested to address ED overcrowding; however, many of them have used weaker study designs. This arises partially from the fact that health systems around the world are committed to designing and implementing interventions as quickly as possible, with evaluation only being undertaken secondarily, often using weaker before-after evaluation designs. Rapid development of interventions, while laudable from the standpoint of commitment to system improvement, does undermine our collective ability to *scientifically* establish the efficacy of certain interventions.
- Efforts to identify quantitative research regarding the impact of interventions to mitigate ED overcrowding on high-quality ED metrics have revealed a large number of studies and a variety of targeted interventions. Recognizing the difficulty categorizing the different interventions, this report groups the interventions into *input, throughput, output,* and/or *system-wide* influences.
 - Input Interventions: Those targeting processes that control the number of patients presenting to an ED, including referrals from primary care and specialist physicians as well as Emergency Medical Services (EMS) arrivals.



- *Through-put Interventions*: Those targeting processes of ED care and decision making such as triage, registration, nursing assessment, care provided by ED clinical staff, investigations and treatment, as well as care provided by other healthcare professionals including specialty consultants.
- **Out-put Interventions**: Those targeting processes aimed to improve the flow of patients out of the ED such as admission to hospital, transfer to another facility and discharge to previous residence/home.
- *System-wide Interventions*: Multi-faceted interventions targeting multiple processes (input, through-put and/or out-put).
- Our review findings reveal an extensive body of literature assessing interventions in the above-mentioned categories. Among the interventions that were reviewed, a number of efficacious interventions were identified, particularly in the category of throughput interventions. Input and output interventions, meanwhile, are less well studied, and the efficacy of interventions is accordingly more uncertain.
- Regardless of the specific interventions, adopters of any of the proven interventions need to recognize that complex health system interventions in the ED are context-dependent, and that proven efficacy of an intervention in one setting does not automatically dictate that the intervention will be efficacious when adopted in another. As such, most ED flow interventions should be implemented with some component of on-site evaluation, to determine whether the intervention is having a positive influence in the context within which it is being implemented.
- Health systems and hospitals within Canada and beyond can draw on the findings summarized in this review as a comprehensive body of literature on ED flow interventions. It is hoped that this "catalogue of evidence" will be of value to clinical readers and health system decision-makers who are among the stakeholders who may be implementing such interventions into a local context.



Abbreviations

AAA	Abdominal aortic aneurysm
ACCCESS	Acute care emergency surgery service
AD	Ambulance diversion
AHRQ	Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality
AHS	Alberta Health Services
ALC	Alternative-levels-of-care
CADTH	Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health
CAEP	Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians
ССТ	Controlled clinical trial
CDR	Clinical decision rules
CDU	Clinical decision unit
CI	Confidence interval
CPG	Clinical practice guidelines
CPOE	Computerized physician order entry
CTAS	Canadian Triage Acuity Scale
DVT	Deep vein thrombosis
ED	Emergency Department
EDIS	ED information systems
EIP	Emergency in-patient
ESSC	Emergency Services and System Capacity
FCP	Full-capacity protocols
HQCA	Health Quality Council of Alberta
IQR	Interquartile range
ITS	Interrupted time series
LOS	Length of stay
LTC	Long term care
LWBS	Left without being seen
LWOT	Left without treatment
MAU	Medical admission unit



MIU	Minor injury unit
NENA	National Emergency Nurses Affiliation
NICE	National Institute of Clinical Effectiveness
NPs	Nurse practitioners
OCP	Overcapacity protocols
OECD	Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
OU	Observation units
РСР	Primary care providers
PE	Pulmonary embolus
P4P	Pay for performance
PIA	Physician initial assessment
РОСТ	Point-of-care testing
pU/S	Portable ultrasound
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
RAZ	Rapid assessment zones
ТАТ	Turnaround time
TLP	Triage liaison physicians
TNO	Triage nurse ordering
UK	United Kingdom
WMD	Weighted mean difference



Introduction

Emergency Department (ED) overcrowding exists when the demand for acute care services exceeds the ability to provide those services in a timely and safe manner.^{1, 2} ED overcrowding is an increasingly severe problem in most Canadian hospitals and reflects system-wide failures in health care delivery.³ The conceptual framework for ED overcrowding examines in-put factors (e.g., walk-in patients, Emergency Medical Services (EMS), and referrals), through-put factors (e.g., triage, nurse and physician staffing, ED bed/space capacity, laboratory testing and results, simple and advanced diagnostic testing, consultations, and discharge planning), and out-put factors (e.g., in-patient capacity, length of stay [LOS], and long-term care beds) and implies a complex, system-wide interactive model (**Figure 1**).^{4, 5} Interventions and strategies to mitigate ED overcrowding reflect the input (e.g., ambulance diversion), throughput (e.g., computerized physician order entry), output (e.g., full-capacity protocols), and system-wide (e.g., leadership, benchmarking, payfor-performance) components of the model.

Figure 1: Input-throughput-output conceptual model of ED overcrowding (adapted from original in 2006 CADTH report)





Definitions

Overcrowding is defined by most emergency medicine organizations in the developed world. In Canada, the Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians (CAEP) and National Emergency Nurses Affiliation (NENA) have developed a joint statement and provide the following definition: *ED overcrowding is defined as a situation in which demand for service exceeds the ability to provide care within a reasonable time, causing physicians and nurses to be unable to provide quality care. It can be measured by monitoring waiting times--time to be seen by the ED physician, time to be seen by a consultant, time it takes to move the admitted patient to an inpatient bed.*¹

Society	Quoted Definitions of Overcrowding
American College of Emergency Physicians (ACEP)	Overcrowding exists when the institutional resources available are insufficient to meet the basic service needs of emergency patients. ⁶
Australasian College for Emergency Medicine (ACEM)	ED overcrowding refers to the situation where ED function is impeded primarily because the number of patients waiting to be seen, undergoing assessment and treatment, or waiting for departure exceeds either the physical bed and/or staffing capacity of the ED. ⁷
UK College for Emergency Medicine	ED overcrowding is a symptom of the poor functioning of the whole emergency care system Overcrowding is almost always due to ill patients waiting for admission, not ambulatory care patients. Hospitals should have enough inpatient capacity to ensure that patients are not kept waiting for admission to a hospital bed (4-hour target). ⁸

Table 1: Definitions of overcrowding from various emergency medicine societies.

Overall, these definitions all include a demand-supply comment; however, only the CAEP-NENA statement mentions the issue of quality of care. Given this broader focus and the Canadian origin of this definition, the CAEP-NENA joint statement definition will be used throughout this document.

ED overcrowding has been shown to cause some patients to leave prior to completing their care (e.g., leave without being seen (LWBS) or leave against medical advice (LAMA)), decreased



patient and provider satisfaction, delay care for time-sensitive conditions (e.g., acute myocardial infarctions, sepsis, stroke) and increased admissions and mortality.⁹ Clearly, efforts to address ED overcrowding are worthy of study.

Project Methods

The review team followed a protocol that had been developed *a priori* to establish the search strategy and study selection criteria.

Searches of electronic databases:

In November 2011, the review team carried out a comprehensive search of relevant electronic databases including PubMed, ISYS, CADTH, NICE, AHRQ, EPOC and SCOPUS using combinations of keywords and thesaurus terms related to the different interventions regarding overcrowding in EDs.

Selection Criteria:

- a) Study design: Systematic reviews, randomized controlled trials (RCTs), quasi-randomized trials, before-and-after studies, cohort studies, case-control studies, interrupted time series, cluster randomized controlled trials, and prospective observational studies were all considered for inclusion.
- **b) Interventions:** Studies that referred to one of the interventions related to overcrowding in the ED were eligible for review. Relevant interventions were those designed to reduce or control ED overcrowding, including input, through-put, out-put and system-wide interventions.
- c) **Control:** Comparative effectiveness studies provided a comparison or control population; however, some descriptive studies had no control group.
- **d) Outcomes:** To be considered for inclusion, studies had to report numeric or measureable data. Only primary research involving real-time data was considered.

Articles that did not meet all the inclusion criteria such as case studies, editorials, review articles, qualitative studies, opinion letters and commentaries were used in discussions only.

Selection Method:

Using titles, abstracts and descriptors, the review team screened the studies identified by the literature search. Papers deemed potentially relevant were fully reviewed for possible inclusion.



Data Extraction and Presentation Strategies:

Simple strategies were developed to extract from systematic reviews and individual studies. For the interventions where there was a preexisting and recent systematic review, findings of the review have been summarized in the text. For the interventions where there was no systematic review, narrative summaries and tables have been provided to describe what was found on the intervention.

Strategy for Quality Assessment:

The quality assessment of the included systematic reviews was reported. Given the extensive scope of evidence summarized for this review, no formal efforts were made to grade the quality of the evidence for the individual trials. Methodological issues were focused on two main areas: 1) complex interventions and 2) the designs of the studies. Complex interventions were difficult to place into the typical in-put, through-put and out-put framework and were often either categorized as system-wide intervention, or into the main domain of influence. Given the paucity of RCT evidence in this field, non-experimental designs are common (e.g., before-after studies, interrupted time series, and administrative data evaluations) and these come with inherent biases. These designs limit the inferences that can be drawn from the meta-data.



Potential Interventions - Definitions

Input Interventions

Media campaigns/diversions - A media campaign is an effort by a health region to inform the public regarding the appropriate use of EDs.

Ambulance diversions - Ambulance diversion is the practice of rerouting ambulances away from the closest ED. It is commonly used when an ED and/or hospital has exceeded its capacity to care for additional patients.¹⁰

Walk-in clinics - Walk-in clinics may be internal or external ambulatory clinics dealing with minor illness and injuries, where services in an ED may not be required.

Influenza Pandemics (SARs, H1N1) – Influenza pandemics may have an important impact on ED overcrowding by temporarily increasing ED input.

Telephone health line - A process whereby calls from clients in the community are received, assessed and managed by standardized protocols through a central telephone service; advice or referrals to appropriate services (e.g., walk-in clinics, family doctors or EDs) are provided.

Through-put Interventions

ED navigators - Navigators are non-health care professionals who assist patients coming into the ED prior to their assessment in a stretcher or chair in the ED.

Triage activities - Triage is derived from the French word "trier", meaning "to sort". Patients in Canadian EDs are not generally assessed by a physician upon ED arrival, so each patient starts at triage. Triage staff attempt to prioritize patients according to their urgency for medical care by assessing chief complaint, vital signs and other features of a necessarily limited examination.

Triage nurse ordering (TNO) - Triage nurses generally use accepted protocols to assign an acuity score prior to patients being seen by a physician. These initial encounters have been supplemented by TNO of laboratory and radiography tests for patients with specific medical and injury presentations, respectively.

Triage liaison physicians (TLP) - Physicians work with triage staff to expedite the care of patients, based on medical need, who are subject to unpredictable wait times due to lack of available ED treatment spaces.



Fast-track areas for minor injuries/illnesses - Fast-track systems have been described as: "an organizational approach that assesses and treats both acutely and minimally ill or injured, ambulatory patients in a parallel fashion within one geographic department."¹¹

Rapid assessment zones (RAZ units) - RAZ units have been variably described in the scientific literature. Generally, RAZ units are existing ED spaces adapted for clinician assessment and procedures; in such settings, patients have their investigations started, wait for results and/or receive treatment in a chair or on a stretcher. In principle, this intervention attempts to improve access to care for some of the more complex acute ambulatory emergency patients currently being forced to wait for a stretcher space.

Computerized physician order entry (CPOE) – Traditionally, patients obtain laboratory tests and radiography through verbal or written communications with nurses/clerks, or through specific order sets. The use of CPOE programs has been a recent addition to the physician workload.

Improving laboratory-testing access - Laboratory access can influence delays in patient transition through the ED. For example, one study suggested that laboratory testing can add an additional hour to the ED visit.¹² Interventions designed to reduce delays may play a role in improving patient flow through the ED.

Improving imaging access - Since most EDs have access to simple radiographic imaging, most delays associated with medical imaging are related to advanced imaging requests. For example, nuclear medicine (e.g., bone scans, ventilation-perfusion scans), detailed ultrasounds (Doppler ultrasound imaging form detection of venous thrombi, abdominal ultrasounds, pelvic ultrasounds, etc), computerized tomography (e.g., chest, abdomen/pelvis, neck), angiography (e.g., cerebral, limb, etc), and magnetic resonance (e.g., spine, brain, etc) imaging often require radiologist approval and special technologists (often on-call during off-hours). Within this domain would be the concept of timely radiologist reporting (whether local or remote) to assist emergency physicians with decision-making and improve throughput.

Bedside ultrasound in the ED - Portable or bedside ultrasound has emerged as a valuable tool for ED practitioners. These small units are designed to scan for free abdominal fluid/blood in trauma, effusions around the heart, abdominal aortic aneurysms, and/or intra-uterine pregnancies (so called "FAST" ultrasound). While not detailed or comprehensive, these scans can expedite more definitive (usually surgical) care. The use of bedside ultrasound has expanded to include retinal detachments, abscess, and the detection of pneumothoracies and line access for critical care.



Nurse practitioners in the ED (General and specific) - Nurse practitioners (NP) have been used in many parts of the health care system to participate with physicians in the care of patients. The specific introduction of an NP, either to care for non-specific cases or to care for a specified group (e.g., elderly patients with falls) may improve throughput.

Physician staffing models - Also referred to as "matched" staffing, these strategies attempt to adjust physician and nurse schedules to accommodate changes in the volume of patients during a 24-hour day and/or day of the week.

Discharge facilitators - Staff (usually nurses) who assist clinicians with details regarding discharge patient planning on an "as needed" basis.

Allied health care professionals (e.g., Social workers) - Social workers who staff the ED (usually over certain hours) and assist clinicians with details regarding discharge patient planning and social services on an "as needed" basis.

Medical Consultants in the ED - Many consultations in the ED are to generalist medical specialists (e.g., general specialists in Pediatrics for children; Family Medicine and Internal Medicine for adults), and depending on the hospital type, hospital-based physicians (Hospitalists). In some hospitals, strategies to reduce the delays associated with consultations have been implemented.

Care maps/clinical practice guidelines (CPG) - A CPG is defined as a complex and comprehensive body of work that uses systematic methods to derive important questions, searches for evidence to answer these questions, and grades the evidence to generate recommendations (weak to strong) upon which practice is based. CPGs vary, and range from large documents, often indigestible by most busy clinicians, to practical care maps that provide clinicians with guidance on clinician decision-making.

Clinical Decision Rules - A decision rule is derived from original research and may be defined as a decision making tool that incorporates three or more variables from the history, physical examination, or simple tests. These decision rules help clinicians with diagnostic or therapeutic decisions at the bedside.

Computerization - ED information systems (EDIS) are becoming more commonplace in large, urban EDs to facilitate patient sign-up, track patients through the complex ED encounter, and record information regarding consultation and patient flow. Most EDIS provide sign-on for



individual physicians, automatic time stamps for important events (e.g., time of consultation, admission decision, transfer to the floor), maps for patient placement, and access to ED results.

Out-put Interventions

In-patient bed capacity adjustments (increased or decreased) – Bed capacity refers to the number of beds within a hospital or the number of beds set up and staffed for use on all of the in-patient units. It is often reported as a percentage of beds occupied (e.g., 100% occupancy).

Bed coordination – Bed coordination involves the daily allocation of in-patient beds and the strategic planning involved in ensuring that beds are available for ED admissions. It requires the balancing of demand with the supply of in-patient beds and often involves team meetings, dedicated bed coordinators, and even electronic mapping bed tracking tools.

Clinical decision units (CDUs)/Observation units - Specialized units designed to manage patients who require prolonged ED observation, investigation and/or treatment compared to typical ED patients or more seriously ill/injured patients requiring admission. The goal of the CDU is to provide more standardized care of selected conditions (e.g., asthma, intoxication, chest pain) using care pathways, to avoid some brief admissions and to provide more efficient care for other ED patients.

Full-capacity /Over-capacity protocols (FCP/OCP) - Protocols have been implemented in an effort to increase the ED functional capacity by transporting admitted patients from the ED to temporary care spaces (e.g., inpatient care spaces designed for admitted ED patients). The goal of the FCP is to safely share the burden of inpatients without assigned beds throughout the hospital, with the intent of improving clinical operations and mitigating the negative effects of ED overcrowding.

Medical Admission Units (MAUs) - A dedicated unit for patients who are admitted through the ED and are awaiting an in-patient bed allocation. The goal of a MAU is to decrease the ED wait time for admission to the hospital and to maximize the investigation and management in the sub-acute period (24-48 hours of admission).

Care maps/clinical practice guidelines (CPG) - A CPG is defined as a complex and comprehensive body of work that uses systematic methods to derive important questions, search for evidence to answer these questions, and grade the evidence to generate recommendations (weak to strong) upon which practice is based. CPGs range from large documents, often indigestible



by most busy clinicians, to practical care maps that provide clinicians with guidance on clinician decision-making.

Increased long-term care (LTC) beds – LTC beds provide secure settings with the availability of 24-hour nursing care and supervision. LTC homes typically offer a higher level of care than supportive living or retirement homes.

In-patient discharge plans – Discharge plans tailored to individual patients that aim to reduce hospital LOS and unplanned readmissions to hospitals.

Specialized in-patient teams responding to the ED (e.g., ACCESS) – ACCESS is an acute care emergency surgical service developed to urgently assess and treat non-trauma general surgical emergencies. The service provides prompt and expert surgical consultation to ED patients and provides care to these patients following admission.¹³

Discharge lounges – Areas within hospitals where admitted patients can be sent to wait on their day of discharge until arrangements (e.g., transport, home care interviews, personal resources) are made for them.

System-wide Interventions

Multi-faceted interventions (e.g., UK 4-hour rule) - These interventions represent a number of different interventions bundled into a strategy to address ED overcrowding. For example, the UK implemented a strategy whereby different interventions (e.g., adding fast track, nurse practitioners, senior ED staff, new long-term beds, etc.), pay for performance, accountability frameworks and bench-marking performance were used to implement their 4-hour discharge strategy.

Pay for performance (P4P) incentive models - P4P is an innovative and emerging intervention in health care, used especially in Britain and the United States, in which providers (or their institutions) are rewarded for achieving a certain quality level of healthcare services. For example, a quality metric may be the administration of antibiotics in the ED for patients with a discharge diagnosis of community acquired pneumonia (CAP). Both intended (e.g., achieving the 4-hour target for antibiotic administration) and unintended (e.g., gaming, inappropriate antibiotic use) components need to be addressed for the evaluation of this intervention.

Accountability frame-works - A written document that articulates responsibilities and establishes clear expectations against which activities and productivity can be measured and results evaluated. Accountability frameworks can be applied to a variety of "units" within the health



care system (e.g., provider, team division/department, institution and health care system). Effective accountability frameworks take action when targets are not met, in order to reflect the transparency, learning and values of a unit.

Bench-marking/reporting - Benchmarking in health care is a process by which the performance of a unit is compared to similar metrics from similar units (e.g., in emergency medicine this would be institutions with similar volume, Canadian Triage Acuity Scale [CTAS] score and/or admission rate) or to the best practices from the health care field. Typically benchmarking involves measurement and reporting of some element of quality (e.g., % of patient who meet the 4 hour rule for antibiotic use in CAP), time (e.g., Alberta's ED LOS targets: 4 hours for discharged patients and 8 hours for admitted patients) and/or cost (e.g., the cost of care).

Notes:

1. While some interventions might have an impact in multiple areas, we chose to catalogue interventions based on their primary location of influence.

2. An evidence summary for each of the interventions identified is provided below.



Potential Interventions – Results:

Using the methods described above, the following evidence summaries are provided for the interventions we have identified.

Input Interventions

Media campaigns/Diversions - We were unable to identify a systematic review or any primary studies examining the impact of media campaigns/diversions on ED overcrowding. Media campaigns represent efforts, usually by health regions in countries with universal health systems, to inform the public regarding the appropriate use of EDs. These campaigns often occur in times of crisis (e.g., influenza season) or when overcrowding is at its peak for other reasons. While these efforts are well-intentioned and may appear appropriate, there are several potential adverse consequences that may result. First, they are potentially costly, and divert valuable resources away from health services to public relations. Second, they may have the unintended consequence of delaying care for time-sensitive conditions such as chest pain, stroke, and severe infection resulting in non-optimal outcomes.

Summary: There appears to be no evidence that media campaigns reduce visits to EDs, and there is considerable potential for harm. Health systems or regions that employ media campaigns in the future are strongly encouraged to evaluate their effectiveness.

Ambulance diversions - A comprehensive systematic review was published in 2006 examining the effects of ambulance diversion (AD).¹⁰ Using a comprehensive search strategy, 600 potentially relevant studies were identified and 55 were included in the systematic review. Of the 55 articles, 45% (n=25) measured the effect of AD on an outcome and the remaining articles measured the effect of other variables on AD. None of the studies evaluated AD's effect on ED overcrowding. AD was found to be a frequent occurrence and was associated with periods of ED crowding. These periods of crowding were most common on Mondays, during the mid-afternoon to early evening, during influenza season and when hospitals reach capacity. The frequency of AD decreased with the introduction of interventions that redesigned the AD process or that provide additional hospital or ED resources. While AD was not associated with patient mortality, it was associated with increased patient transport times and time to thrombolytics. The authors concluded that while there is a good understanding of the causes of AD (i.e., divert to facilities with appropriate equipment, ED or hospital has exceeded capacity) there is little understanding of its direct effects.



A review of the literature for more recent publications on AD was undertaken and no additional articles were found. While AD is commonly used, there appears to be little evidence on its impact on the health care system.

<u>Summary</u>: Overall, AD appears to be a commonly used tool in the management of ED overcrowding; however, its effects on overcrowding remain unclear. Moreover, due to adverse events associated with AD in other parts of Canada, ambulance diversion has largely been abandoned in Alberta. While further research on the effects of AD on ED overcrowding and patient outcomes may shed further light on the impact of AD on the system, it is unlikely to result in major changes in the future in this province.

Walk-in clinics - We were unable to identify a systematic review or any primary studies examining the impact of walk-in clinics on ED overcrowding. Walk-in clinics have become more common in Canada over the past 2 decades. An Ontario study was conducted to examine the quality of care that walk-in clinics provide compared to family practices and EDs.¹⁴ This prospective cohort study, recruited 433 patients from 12 walk-in clinics, 16 family practices and 13 EDs. Quality-ofcare indicators for eight common acute conditions were selected and established by an expert review panel. Patients seeking care for any of these 8 conditions were recruited. These eight conditions were commonly seen in all three settings and included: pharyngitis, gastroenteritis, serious otitis media, acute otitis media, upper respiratory infection, acute bronchitis, urinary tract infection and low back pain. A questionnaire was administered to the patients to assess three satisfaction scales: patient-centered care, the physician's attitude and any delay in the waiting room during the study's visit. The patients at the walk-in clinics were significantly more satisfied than ED patients on all three satisfaction scales. Family practice patients were significantly more satisfied with waiting time compared to walk-in clinic patients. The adjusted mean quality-of-care scores were significantly higher for walk-in clinic and ED patients than for family practices (ED: 73.1%, walk-in: 69.9%, family practice: 64.1%). A 2003 review¹⁵ of this study highlighted a number of concerns with the study and issues raised. They noted that the eight conditions studied were nonurgent and were not typical of the type of patients that EDs focus on. They predicted that if the authors had looked at severe asthma, myocardial infarction or multiple traumas, EDs would have performed better; however, they also noted that despite these issues, the EDs still had quite high scores, suggesting that they provide excellent care across a broad spectrum of illnesses.



Summary: Research examining the impact of walk-in clinics on ED overcrowding is difficult to identify. In one non-comparative study examining patient satisfaction and quality of care, satisfaction with waiting time was highest among family practice patients.¹⁴ In addition, both family practices and walk-in clinics were perceived more positively than EDs on patient-centered care, physician attitude and delays in the waiting room. Given the proliferation of walk-in clinics in both Calgary and Edmonton over the past 2 decades and the progressively severe problem with ED overcrowding in both centres over the same time period, the notion that opening walk-in clinics represents a solution for ED overcrowding seems tenuous at best.

Influenza Outbreaks - Influenza outbreaks (e.g., flu season, H1N1, SARs) have been associated with increased ED patient volumes and crowding. In a 2008 systematic review examining the causes, effects and solutions to ED overcrowding,¹⁶ three articles were identified that investigated the impact of influenza season on ED overcrowding.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ One study¹⁷ examined six Los Angeles County hospitals during 24-week influenza seasons from a period of 1991 through 1998. The hospitals reported a 4 to 7-fold increase in AD, often an indicator of ED overcrowding, during the peak four weeks of flu season compared with other times of the year. In Toronto, a retrospective time series analysis was conducted from January 1996 to April 1999 (n=170 weeks).^{18, 19} Weekly data were obtained on laboratory-confirmed influenza and other respiratory virus cases that were confirmed in the community. Data were also obtained on visits to all city EDs (n=20) as well as ED ambulance diversions. Every ten new cases of influenza active in the community was associated with a 1.5% (95% CI: 1.2, 1.8) and 1.5% (95% CI: 0.6, 1.8) absolute increase in the proportion of ED patients who were elders with major-influenza related conditions and upper respiratory conditions, respectively.¹⁸ Influenza season was not associated with an increase in ED visits among younger patients. With respect to ambulance diversion, for every 100 local cases of influenza and other respiratory virus cases, there was an increase of 2.5 hours per week of ambulance diversion.¹⁹

Summary: Influenza season is clearly associated with an increase in AD as well as increased ED utilization by patients aged 65 years and older. While there is a substantial increase in both ambulance diversion and ED utilization, it is important to consider that influenza season is often very brief and is not an ongoing occurrence throughout the year. Solutions to deal with ED overcrowding as a result of influenza season need to focus resources during these peak periods.



Telephone help line - A UK systematic review was published in 2009 examining the impact of telephone consultation and triage services on safety, satisfaction and service usage.²⁰ Using a comprehensive search strategy, 3,437 potentially relevant studies were identified and 9 were included in the systematic review. Five studies were RCTs, one was a controlled clinical trial and three were interrupted time series (ITS). Three of the five studies reported a decrease in visits to PCPs, while two found a significant increase in return consultations. At least 50% of the calls received were handled by telephone advice alone. Six of the studies found no difference between visits to EDs comparing those that used the telephone advice with those that did not, while one study found an increase in visits. The authors concluded that the effect of telephone consultation on ED visits remains unclear and further rigorous evaluation is needed.

A study conducted in Quebec on the use of a telephone-nursing triage service by patients of emergency services reached similar conclusions.²¹ Structured interviews were conducted with 850 patients from a general hospital ED and from walk-in medical clinics while patients were waiting to see a physician. Of the patients who were aware of the telephone-nursing triage service, only 17.4% had used it prior to their medical visit. Among the users interviewed in the hospital ED, 56.4% were advised to consult a walk-in clinic, 28.2% their family doctor and only 12.8% a hospital ED. The authors concluded that despite heightened awareness of the telephone-nursing triage service, the majority of health care users did not make use of it and those that did followed the recommendations very loosely.

Summary: While there appears to be some evidence that a telephone consultation service can reduce visits to primary care providers, the evidence of its effect on ED visits is sparse.²⁰ Further, some evidence found an increase in visits. Additional research on the effects of telephone consultations on ED overcrowding may shed light on its impact on the healthcare system; however the initial results indicate that it may be ineffective.



Through-put Interventions

ED navigators - No formal evaluations of this intervention were identified in any of the literature searches. During the former Capital Health Emergency Services and System Capacity (ESSC) project (2006-2008) a qualitative evaluation was completed (unpublished data).²² The evaluation used interviews and observations to draw vague, largely unfounded conclusions. There was no economic evaluation of the benefit of this intervention compared to alternative use of the funding envelope. Moreover, since the Navigator intervention was confounded by other simultaneous interventions (e.g., TLP and other project interventions aimed at improving patient service and decreasing wait times), the exact effect of the Navigator intervention was difficult to determine.

Summary: Overall, evaluation evidence is lacking and support does not exist for the role of ED navigators in most high-volume, urban EDs. It is unlikely that this intervention would have an indication in smaller, rural hospitals.

Triage activities - The CADTH report in 2006 identified 6 studies examining the use of triage to address overcrowding; four were before-and-after studies and two were controlled trials.²³ Five studies reported outcome data for waiting time. Two reported reduced waiting times and three reported increased waiting times. Outcome data for patients who leave the ED without being seen (LWBS) were reported in three studies. Two of them reported a reduction in the number of patients who LWBS and one reported no change between the intervention and control periods.

Summary: Clearly, a formal triage system in overcrowded EDs is better than no triage system; however, the comparative benefits of the triage are difficult to determine. This is the same conclusion reached by Cooke *et al.*²⁴ who found that implementing triage with the sole aim of prioritizing patients may delay care, while other systems that attempt to combine prioritization, assessment and treatment are more likely to save time. Overall, the outcomes for triage show variability and triage seems to improve waiting time for the lower acuity patients. In addition, in the single reporting study, triage reduced patients' decision to LWBS.

There are some obvious concerns with this approach to triage. First, triage was intended to sort and prioritize patients in overcrowded EDs. Clearly, an ED that is not overcrowded does not need a triage process. Not surprisingly, the triage process results are inconclusive. In addition, there are a variety of different triage systems available. Each consumes different resources and comparisons of triage systems were not undertaken. Finally, researchers in emergency medicine



have questioned the reliability of triage and this may contribute to inconclusive results in these studies.

Triage nurse ordering (TNO) - A comprehensive systematic review was published in 2011 examining the effectiveness of TNO.²⁵ Using a comprehensive search strategy, 14,446 potentially relevant studies were identified and 14 were included in the systematic review. Most were single-center ED studies; the overall quality was rated as weak due to methodological deficiencies and variable outcome reporting. TNO was associated with a 37-minute mean reduction (95% CI: -44.10 to -30.30) in the overall ED LOS in one randomized clinical trial (RCT); a 51-minute mean reduction (95% CI: -56.3 to - 45.5) was observed in non-RCTs. When applied to injured subjects with/or suspected fracture cases, TNO interventions reduced ED LOS by 20 min (95% CI: -37.5 to -1.9) in three RCTs and by 18 min (95% CI: -23.2 to -13.2) in two non-RCTs. No significant reduction in physician initial assessment (PIA) was observed in two RCTs.

A supplemental aspect of the review was the reporting of training and the reliability of TNO. These results were accomplished with a modest investment in training. For example, from the 14 studies, details of the nurses and their training were extracted. Most studies designated nurses as triage staff; however, several employed senior/experienced nurses only. Training also varied; however, test ordering was initiated after brief training programs (1 hour lectures) in most cases. Moreover, two studies reported data on the proportion of radiographs ordered by triage nurses compared to emergency physicians. Pooled analysis of two RCTs indicated that the risk of ordering radiographs was the same when comparing TNO interventions to emergency physicians/ENPs X-ray ordering (RR = 0.98; 95% CI: 0.83 to 1.15); the risk of obtaining positive results was also the same when comparing these two groups (RR = 1.03; 95% CI: 0.85 to 1.23).

Summary: Overall, TNO appears to be an effective intervention to reduce ED LOS especially in injury and/or suspected fracture cases. The available evidence is limited by small numbers of studies, weak methodological quality, and incomplete reporting. Future studies should focus on a better description of the contextual factors surrounding these interventions and exploring the impact of TNO on other indicators of productivity and satisfaction with health-care delivery.

Triage liaison physicians (TLP) – A comprehensive systematic review was published in 2011 examining the effectiveness of physicians at triage.²⁶ From 14,446 potentially relevant studies, 28 were included in the systematic review. Thirteen were journal publications, 12 were



abstracts, and three were Web-based articles. Most studies employed before–after designs; 23 of the 28 studies were considered of weak quality. Based on the statistical pooling of data from two RCTs, TLP resulted in shorter ED LOS compared to nurse-led triage (WMD = -36.85 min; 95% CI = -51.11 to -22.58). One of these RCTs showed a significant reduction in the PIA associated to TLP presence (WMD = -30.00 min; 95% CI = -56.91 to -3.09); the other RCT showed no change in LWBS due to a CI that included unity (RR = 0.82; 95% CI = 0.67 to 1.00).

The included studies differed somewhat with regard to study populations and type of interventions. The complexity of patients in each study appeared to vary due to different selection criteria or study settings. Currently, there is no universal or consistent guideline for the TLP function or interventions. In fact, investigators have applied different definitions to this role. Several studies advocated a consultant or senior physician as the TLP;^{27, 28} some studies have employed junior physicians.²⁹ Moreover, the responsibility of a TLP may vary from performing the same activities as a triage nurse³⁰ to guide the adjudication of administrative issues, expedite the clinical evaluation/treatment, and in some cases speed up disposition of less complex patients.^{27, 31} These last activities have been related to achieving the goal of "see and treat".^{32, 33} Most importantly, these differences may have critical implications during the implementation of such interventions into routine clinical practice. The different needs and TLP intervention roles need to align with the characteristics of the individual ED and the factors contributing to the crowding.

Summary: While the evidence suggests that a TLP is an effective intervention to mitigate the effects of ED overcrowding, due to the weak research methods identified, more research is required before its widespread implementation.

Rapid assessment zones (RAZ units) - A comprehensive systematic review was published in 2011 examining the effectiveness of RAZ units.³⁴ From 14,446 potentially relevant studies, four studies were included in the review. The quality of one study was appraised as moderately high; others were rated as weak. Two studies showed that RAZ units were associated with a reduction of 20 minutes (95% CI: -47.2 to 7.2) in the ED LOS; in one non-RCT, a 192 min reduction was reported (95% CI: -211.6 to -172.4). PIA showed a reduction of 8.0 min; 95% CI: -13.8 to -2.2 in the RCT and a reduction of 33 min (95% CI: -42.3 to -23.6) and 18 min (95% CI: -22.2 to -13.8) respectively were found in two non-RCTs. There was also a reduction in the risk of LWBS (RCT: RR= 0.93, 95% CI: 0.77 to 1.12; non-RCT: RR= 0.68, 95% CI: 0.63 to 0.73).



The setting and interventions of the included studies were different and perhaps RAZ worked differently in different EDs due to factors such as patient acuity and complexity, attempts to optimize efficiency, admission rates, organizational culture, funding models (fee-for-service vs. salary), and other factors. When analyzing patients by triage level, CTAS-V patients benefited the most from the RAZ intervention. This aligns with the principle of fast track interventions designed to expedite care of the less urgent patients. RAZ intervention was not specifically designed to address the issue of minor, "fast track" patients; however, clearly, they have the ability to function as a rapid assessment area as well.

Summary: Although the results are consistent and low acuity patients seem to benefit the most from RAZ, the available evidence to support its implementation is limited. Developing standardized protocols for RAZ will facilitate their implementation and provide a platform to compare results from different centres. However, standardized protocols may be hampered by the variable demands of each specific clinical practice setting.

Fast-track areas for minor injuries/illnesses: A qualitative review on fast track systems was completed for the Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research in March 2003.¹¹ The report concluded that: "Based on current evidence, the operation of an ED fast-track system appears to be efficient, operationally cost-effective, safe, and satisfactory for patients." The author made several other conclusions: 1) fast-tracks were safe and did not appear to provide lower quality of care; 2) because they require less resources, fast-track areas are cost-effective; and 3) the quality of the literature in this area would be considered "weak". A review of the literature was conducted and yielded no additional more recent studies.

Summary: Overall, while the evidence is poorly coordinated, there appears to be support for the role of fast-track areas in most high-volume, urban EDs. These data likely don't apply to smaller, rural hospitals.

Computerized physician order entry (CPOE) – No systematic reviews were identified dealing with CPOE in the ED; however, our comprehensive search in November 2011 identified several important reports. While many of the published manuscripts fail to focus on the health outcomes of CPOE, they do document the barriers to implementation of CPOE and the approaches required to facilitate a more effective implementation. Several comparative effectiveness studies examined outcomes of importance (see Table 1, Appendix A).^{35, 36}



One study compared LOS using a before-after design in a US ED and hospital system.³⁵ The authors found a decreased LOS for patients discharged from the ED after the implementation of a CPOE system. The other study examined computer interactions and compared them to staff-to-staff and staff-to-patient interactions. The authors concluded that ED nurses and physicians both decreased their interaction with patients following the implementation of a CPOE.³⁶

Summary: While there appears to be some evidence that implementing CPOE does decrease patient LOS;³⁵ the evidence is sparse, and several claimed CPOE benefits are poorly researched (e.g., medication errors, repeat orders). In fact, there is evidence that CPOE may in some instances *increase* medication errors.³⁷ There are some other less tangible consequences that raise additional concerns. At least in one study, an unanticipated outcome of the CPOE was a shift in physician time from interacting with nurses and patients toward retrieving information from the electronic patient record.³⁶ Overall, as CPOE is adopted in the future (e.g., Calgary Zone has CPOE), the literature should provide more clarity regarding the risks and benefits.

Improving laboratory testing access – A systematic review targeting interventions to improve patient flow in EDs explored the impact of point-of-care testing (POCT) over ED metrics.³⁸ Four of the six included studies were classified as moderate methodological quality and two as low quality. One small Canadian RCT showed shorter LOS, especially for non-admitted patients.³⁹ While another RCT demonstrated significant changes in management (e.g., decisions were made earlier), there was no effect on LOS or admission rates.⁴⁰ A US-based prospective observational study, found shorter turnaround time (TAT) and shorter LOS with POCT. This study also demonstrated high satisfaction among the staff.⁴¹ In a similar US study, almost 95% of the patients also needed central laboratory analyses to complement POCT. Consequently, POCT had no effect on the patients' LOS.⁴²

Another review of the literature on ED throughput⁴³ included another prospective observational study in which addressing the laboratory outliers rather than the mean TAT had a positive impact on reducing LOS.⁴⁴ The CADTH report in 2006 identified one more study explicitly reporting on laboratory access issues relevant to the ED.²³ A dedicated stat laboratory reduced median within-laboratory TATs (e.g., specimen collection, arrival in laboratory, accessioning complete blood count, and transportation). The authors concluded, however, that the study failed to show that a dedicated stat laboratory in the ED could improve TAT and expedite the disposition of patients.⁴⁵

Our search identified two additional studies that were published after the CADTH report but were



not included in the previously cited reviews.^{46, 47} Details of these studies are summarized in Table 2 of Appendix A.

Summary: Given the delays associated with ordering laboratory testing that have been identified in the medical literature,¹² one might reasonably expect that improvements in laboratory times would have dramatic influence on overall LOS. Based on the available evidence, the effect of POCT on TAT is supported by relatively strong evidence, whereas its positive effect on LOS is supported by limited evidence.

Improving imaging access – No systematic reviews exclusively targeting strategies to improve imaging access in the ED were found; however, interventions like the TNO have involved this component (please see the TNO section for more details).²⁵ The CADTH report in 2006 identified one study explicitly reporting on radiology services relevant to the ED.²³ Dedicating radiology staff to the ED and re-engineering the x-ray service reduced x-ray TAT, fast-track cycle time, arrival to treatment by the emergency physician and improved overall ED LOS.⁴⁸

Summary: Given the delays associated with ordering radiography that have been identified in the medical literature,¹² one might reasonably expect that improvements in imaging services would have dramatic influences on overall LOS and admission proportions. While evidence for strategies addressing specific conditions (e.g. chest pain, stroke) exists, the effect of multi-purpose interventions on LOS is supported by very limited evidence.

Bedside ultrasound in the ED – Portable ultrasound (pU/S) use in Canadian EDs has been growing at a rapid rate; the Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians and other groups now have national courses as well as training requirements. Originally, bedside ultrasound was applied to trauma and specific cases (e.g., cardiac tamponade, abdominal aortic aneurysm [AAA], pregnancy); however, its application has been expanded considerably. For example, it has been used in the detection of deep venous thrombosis, retinal detachments, pneumothorax, and abscesses, and used to assist in the insertion of central venous catheters. This review will be restricted to the traditional uses of pU/S in the ED.

From a search identifying 1020 potentially relevant citations, a 2006 CADTH report found 29 reports addressing the clinical effectiveness of pU/S: 2 comparative trials and 16 case series reports of pU/S in abdominal trauma, 1 case series report in AAA, 3 comparative trials and 4 case



series reports in ectopic pregnancy, and 3 case series reports in more than one use.⁴⁹ Overall, sufficient evidence from studies of blunt abdominal trauma, AAA, and ectopic pregnancy were identified to suggest that ED pU/S performed by non-radiologists is an effective form of *triage*. ED pU/S is likely to improve certainty of diagnosis in an ED setting. These results were robust; however, the review failed to identify health outcome benefits. The non-therapeutic advantages of using this technique are that it is easier to use and repeat, and is non-invasive.

Since that review, a large number of reviews and studies on diagnostic accuracy and clinical outcomes have been completed. The results of two studies that were not included in the CADTH report and two new studies that included health services outcomes are summarized in Table 3 of Appendix A.⁵⁰⁻⁵⁴

Summary: Overall, the evidence for the use of bedside ultrasound to assist in ED diagnosis is relatively robust for certain conditions. There seems to be a positive impact on LOS; however, the clinical significance of these findings may be controversial. The expansion of use is justified following adequate training, and the appropriate confirmation and monitoring of costs.

Nurse practitioners in the ED (General and specific) - A US systematic review on the impact of nurse practitioners (NPs) in the ED was published in 2007. Of 558 potentially relevant studies, 36 were ultimately included in the review: 8 cohort studies, 18 case control studies, 3 RCTs and 8 survey studies.⁵⁵ The quality of all included studies was rated as moderate to high. In 6/8 studies, wait times decreased with the presence of NPs in the ED; however, no pooled mean values were available due to heterogeneity in study designs. Some NPs had a broad scope of practice while others were responsible for a particular group of patients in the ED. One study considered the role of NPs working specifically on low-acuity patients, comparing standard ED care vs. NP care within ED in minor treatment unit vs. separate minor injury unit (MIU). The wait time was found to be 67 min in ED, 34 in dedicated minor area, and 23 in MIU (*p* < 0.001 for ED v. either area).^{55, 56} When the quality of care provided by NPs was compared to that of residents, it was found to be the same in 16/18 studies. One study of this kind, for example, showed that the difference in sensitivity of interpretation of x-rays for NPs vs. residents was 93.2% v. 92.5%.^{55, 57} Overall, the settings and interventions of the studies in the review were too varied to permit pooling.

None of the studies in the systematic review, however, were conducted in a Canadian setting. In their 2009 prospective observational study, Steiner et al.⁵⁸, evaluated the impact of



broad-scope NPs on patient wait times, ED LOS and LWOT rates in a Canadian ED. The authors saw a 12% increase in patient volume per shift (p < 0.001), and a 7-minute decrease in mean wait times for low-acuity patients. Emergency physicians also saw a smaller proportion of low-acuity patients and there was a trend toward a lower proportion of LWOT patients (11.9% v. 13.7%, p = 0.10). There was, however, no change in overall wait times or ED LOS, which the authors suggested might be due to blocked exit for admitted patients (lack of available beds).

Another 2009 study assessed the impact of primary NPs and physician assistants (PAs) on patient flow, wait times and LWOT in 6 medium-sized Ontario EDs through a retrospective review of health records data.⁵⁹ In these settings, the NPs practiced autonomously for CTAS-IV and -V patients and worked in conjunction with a physician to see CTAS-III or higher acuity. Results showed that when a NP was directly involved in patients' care, patients were 2.1 (95% CI: 1.6 to 2.8, p < 0.05) times more likely to be seen within the wait time benchmarks. LOS was 48.8% (95% CI: 35.0% to 62.7%, p < 0.01) lower when NPs, respectively, were involved. With an NP on duty there was a 29% reduction in LWOT rates (95% CI: 4% to 47%, p < 0.05) compared with those when an NP was not on duty.⁵⁹

Summary: Evidence indicates that NPs in the ED lead to reduced wait times and LWOT rates. The studies considered in the systematic review also suggest that the quality of care provided by NPs is at least on par with what is provided by a resident physician. All authors note that adding a NP - either general or specific in scope - to the ED staff may reduce the proportion of low-acuity patients seen by EPs and expedite throughput for a subgroup of less urgent patients. The divergences between the findings of the Canadian studies regarding LOS and wait times point to the difficulty of generalization with this intervention. The impact of NPs likely changes according to patient acuity and complexity, ED organizational structure, funding models, and other factors, and as a result, the relevant evidence remains limited. Further studies comparing the results from different Canadian EDs are required to generate more comprehensive data.

Physician staffing models: In a US national survey on overcrowding, respondents reported that one of the biggest obstacles to solving the problem was lack of ED staff (43%).⁶⁰ The CADTH review identified 9 studies in 2006; six out of nine studies reported improvements in ED LOS, waiting times, patients who LWBS and ambulance diversion rates when staffing changes were implemented.²³ Cooke *et al*²⁴. reported that the use of senior medical staff may reduce admissions and decrease delays; they recommended further research to better assess the impact of adding



other staff types. Thus, it appears that increased staffing can have a positive effect on ED LOS, waiting time, number of patients who LWBS and the amount of time spent on AD.

There are some obvious concerns with this approach. First, the availability of well-trained and experienced emergency staff, at least in North America, is limited. Simply adding more staff (i.e., emergency trained or not, experienced or not) may negate the potential positive effects of staffing changes. In addition, some have argued that additional staff will have no effect if space to assess patients is unavailable (except perhaps in the waiting room). Finally, it is unclear what role additional staff should have in order to maximize the efficiency of the ED. For example, a physician liaison position to accept transfers, expedite patient care and deal with administrative duties may be more effective than adding another physician to see patients.

Summary: Staffing changes are varied - they could involve changing staff timing, number and/or level of expertise in any ED setting. In general while consensus appears to support volume-based staffing and ancillary staff in the ED, this is not based on high quality evidence and also may not be a viable alternative for all sites. Moreover, reimbursement issues (i.e., fee-for-service vs. salary vs. blended approach) complicate the discussions.

Discharge facilitators - No systematic review on the topic of discharge facilitators was found. An initial keyword search produced 262 potentially relevant articles; however, most of the published studies on discharge planning in the ED were descriptive rather than comparative. Available quantitative studies on the topic tended to focus on older patients and involve different types of interventions, including both single-person and team discharge facilitators.

One Australian study published in 2006 used a before-after design to evaluate the effects of a discharge planning program on re-presentation rates and the average LOS. Risk screening of older people in the ED by a single specialist community nurse resulted in a decrease in ED re-presentations as well as a decreased LOS.⁶¹ Similarly, a 2004 study considered the impact of an ED-based nurse discharge plan coordinator on return visits by older patients discharged from the ED. Again, the authors observed a relative risk reduction for return visits to the hospital by those who had seen the discharge coordinator.⁶²

Finally, a study from Australia studied the impact of a risk-screening process that referred patients to a Care Coordination Team (CCT), a multidisciplinary group that provided patients with appropriate community support services. Here, too, the rate of hospital admissions from the ED fell significantly compared with the period before implementation of the CCT.⁶³ Study details are



summarized in Table 4 of Appendix A.

Summary: The differences between the various discharge plan interventions in the ED preclude meta-analysis in this review. All three studies demonstrated a decrease in patient LOS and return visits to the ED with both single-person and team discharge facilitators; however, there are significant limitations to this evidence. The period of follow-up data collection varied significantly; in one study, the effect discharge planning was recorded at 8 and 14 days after the original presentation,⁶² while in another, the reduced rate of hospital admissions was measured over a period of 12 months.⁶³ Two studies focused solely on elderly patients, while the other considered elderly and homeless patients as well as frequent ED attendees, and those with complex medical or drug and alcohol problems.⁶³ The specific nature of the study populations makes it difficult to generalize about the effectiveness of discharge facilitators when working with other sectors of the population.

Allied health care professionals (e.g., social workers) - The electronic database search yielded few quantitative studies on the role or impact of social workers in the ED, highlighting the lack of robust evidence on this topic.

One study conducted in 1994 examined the impact of a newly introduced ED social work service on re-presentations. Data were collected on 1,758 ED patients during this 12 month study. The re-presentation rate after the intervention was 23%, a 4% decrease from the pre-intervention rate of return visits (p < 0.01).⁶⁴

Another before-after study examined the impact of case management by social workers on hospital service use, homelessness, substance abuse, and psychosocial problems in 53 frequent users of an urban ED.⁶⁵ In the post-intervention period, the group's median number of ED visits decreased (from 15 to 9; p < 0.01). Homelessness decreased by 57% (p < 0.01), alcohol use decreased by 22% (p < 0.05) and drug use decreased by 26% (p < 0.05). The rate of linkage to primary care also increased by 74% (p < 0.01). The authors concluded that intensive case management effectively decreased acute hospital service use and psychosocial problems among frequent ED users.

In 1997, an ED case management pilot program consisting of an evening shift social worker and nurse case manager was developed. The study authors found that while each brought specialized knowledge to the team, their roles in the ED often overlapped.⁶⁶



Summary: While studies suggest that social workers can reduce return visits to the ED and save time for other hospital staff, the evidence is limited by the small number of studies and variability in interventions and patient populations. The role of social workers in the ED remains unclear; and likely depends on the needs of different patients. One important observation was the varied functions social workers perform in each ED, such as counseling patients and families, assessing their social service needs, and providing appropriate referrals as part of discharge planning. A 2002 literature review demonstrated, however, that some of these tasks are carried out by nurses or multidisciplinary teams including nurses, physicians, and health visitors in the ED rather than individual social workers.⁶⁷ Future studies are required to investigate the effectiveness of different interventions that address the social needs of ED patients, as well as the role of social workers in this setting.

Clinical practice guidelines/care maps: Clinical practice guideline have the potential to standardize and improve care; however, uptake by physicians of guidelines is low,⁶⁸ and emergency physicians are no different from other groups. Specialty- or topic-specific guidelines exist that have direct impact on ED patient care; however, until recently, many were not targeted at emergency physicians and most had no or only nominal representation from the emergency medicine community. Other societies have recognized the importance of including emergency physicians on their panels and the acute treatment of the disorder within the CPG. For example, the Canadian Thoracic Society Asthma guidelines panel has representation from the Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians (CAEP) and the Canadian Pediatric Society, and acute adult and pediatric CPG topics have been covered.⁶⁹

Evidence for the effectiveness of guidelines is also variable. As far back as 1993, when Grimshaw and colleagues evaluated 59 published evaluations of clinical guidelines that met a priori criteria for scientific quality and evaluation.⁷⁰ Overall, 24 involved guidelines for specific clinical conditions (e.g., asthma, COPD, heart failure, etc), 27 involved preventive care issues, and 8 were focused on prescribing/support services. Most studies detected significant improvements in the process of care after the introduction of guidelines; 9 of the 11 studies reported improvements in outcomes of care that were considered significant. While no subsequent systematic reviews have been published, the authors concluded that explicit guidelines do improve clinical practice. Consequently, while there is evidence to suggest that guidelines can improve care, decision-makers need to be cautioned that the magnitude of the improvements in performance will vary considerably and implementation strategies need to be a focus to avoid failure.



Although many guidelines exist, a suite of system-wide clinical practice guidelines have not been evaluated in the ED setting. Such an option is appealing in the ED setting, since many common guideline-influenced conditions present to EDs daily. As in the systematic review cited above, many of the ED guideline evaluations have been single site implementations or a single guideline such as asthma,^{71, 72} sepsis,⁷³ or pneumonia.⁷⁴ It would be safe to say that while clinical practice guidelines have been widely developed and encouraged, their uptake will depend on factors such as validity, ease of use, applicability at the bedside, etc.

Clinical pathways are unique products of CPGs, and represent the bedside application of the guidelines.⁷⁵ These structured care plans are used by health providers to deliver standardized, evidence-based care for patients with a specific clinical problem. While many clinical pathways have been developed for the ED, most of the evaluations of pathways come from the hospital sector. In a 2010 Cochrane review, 27 studies involving 11,398 participants were evaluated. Twenty studies compared stand alone clinical pathways with usual care and indicated a reduction in inhospital complications (OR = 0.58; 95% CI: 0.36 to 0.94) and improved documentation (OR = 11.95; 95% CI: 4.72 to 30.30). LOS was most commonly measured and most studies reported significant reductions, and reduced hospital costs/ charges were also observed.

Finally, with more advanced use of technology in the ED,⁷⁶ there is a potential to use electronic systems to prompt physicians to use clinical practice guidelines. There are few examples of this in the literature from the ED setting; however, where it has been implemented, impressive gains have been shown.⁷⁷ There is evidence, at least from the clinical decision support (CDSS) literature, that the implementation is more successful when the study authors are also actively involved in developing and supporting the tool.⁷⁸

Summary: Overall, there is a mixed picture when describing CPG in general, and limited evidence from the ED setting. The field is further complicated by weak methods, variable reporting, and likely publication bias. Topic specific CPGs, and especially those with bedside tools such as care maps and electronic tools, may be most applicable and effective to the ED setting.

Clinical Decision Rules: Clinical decision rules (CDRs) are unique components of CPGs, and often focus on a specific diagnostic test (e.g., clinical decision rule to aide admission decisions for pneumonia).⁷⁹ While there are a large number of well developed and validated clinical decision rules (CDRs), and these have been purported to be widely accepted by clinicians, implementation has been less commonly studied. Typical examples of validated CDRs for emergency medicine



practice include the Ottawa ankle and knee rules, the NEXUS C-spine rule, the New Orleans CT head rule, the Canadian CT head rule, the Canadian C-spine rules,⁸⁰ the Ottawa subarachnoid hemorrhage rule, various chest pain rules, the Well's criteria for both deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolus (PE), and the PORT or Fine criteria for community acquired pneumonia. *Implementation* of CDRs, to demonstrate the true effect on patient care, is the ultimate test of the utility of a rule.⁸¹

The evidence for implementation is complex and the results are variable. A good example of this variability is the Ottawa ankle rule, which has been shown to be valid through systematic reviews in adults with ankle/foot injuries. The rule is designed to guide clinicians in decisions regarding ordering ankle and/or foot radiographs, and adherence to the rule would safely reduce ED radiograph ordering and decrease ED LOS. It was successfully implemented in many of the sites of origin;⁸² however, the same could not be said for other locations.^{83, 84} In addition, C-spine rules were effectively implemented in Canadian EDs and by ED nurses;⁸⁵ however, the implementation of the CT head rules actually *increased* CT ordering after the implementation.⁸⁶

Summary: Overall, the science of CDRs has expanded considerably in the past two decades and there are now a large number of common decision aides to assist emergency clinicians with complex decisions such as: "Who needs an ankle, knee, or C-spine radiograph?, "Who needs a CT of the head for minor head injury", "Who is at risk for SAH"? Despite these rules, their implementation has been incompletely successful, especially with the more life-threatening conditions and outside their sites of development. Future implementation research should be encouraged to examine barriers to the use of CDRs and effective ways to overcome these barriers theses validated CDRs represent opportunities to improve and streamline care. Using local efforts and exploring new technologies appear to be important considerations.⁸⁴

Medical Consultants in the ED: There has been limited research on consultations; however, it is a growing area of interest in emergency medicine. Recent studies have examined the frequency of consultation and admission rates of consulted patients in Canadian EDs. Overall, consultation varies from 20-50% for all patients, and are dependent on the volume and acuity of the site.⁸⁷

A systematic review of consultations in the ED was published in 2008.⁸⁸ Using a comprehensive search strategy and multiple search engines, the authors identified 12 studies for inclusion in the review. Of the included studies, all but three were published. Overall, 4 studies



examined ED consultation proportions, 6 studies identified the rate of consultation for special populations of ED presentations, and 3 examined interventions to improve consultations.

The interventions included and described in the systematic review were designed to reduce the time to consultation. Two studies were identified;^{89, 90} however, only one was published.⁸⁹ In this study, selective consultation increased LOS and return visits compared to routine consultation (a counter-intuitive result).

Finally, the CADTH report identified an intervention to reduce delays in decision-making using ED physician-hospitalist direct consultation.⁹¹ Overall, this strategy reduced average admission times for transfer to the ward from 2.5 hours pre-intervention to 18 minutes postintervention. In addition, the pre- and post-intervention LOS and mortality rates remained similar. A recent Calgary project (reported only as an unpublished summary) and a current University of Alberta Hospital project used General Internists in the ED to facilitate consultations and reduce the time to decision-making. Qualitative reports suggest success; however, further detailed quantitative evaluations are still pending.

Summary: Given the delays associated with consultation requests that have been identified in the medical literature,^{12, 87} one might reasonably expect that interventions to reduce consultation delays would have a dramatic influence on overall LOS. Based on the available evidence, there is limited support for interventions in this field. A promising area appears to be increased hospitalist/internist interactions with ED physicians to expedite obvious admissions.

Computerization - No systematic reviews dealing with ED information systems (EDIS) were identified. The literature search identified multiple qualitative studies and two relevant quantitative studies. The CADTH report in 2006 identified one study explicitly reporting on computerization relevant to the issue of ED overcrowding.²³ The use of an electronic tracking board decreased length of stay and the number of patients who LWBS.⁹²

Another quantitative study, conducted in the US in 2010, examined the impact of EDIS on ED efficiency using a before-after design.⁹³ Certain elements of work flow were redesigned to streamline patient throughput before implementing an EDIS with patient tracking, computerized charting and order entry, and direct access to patient historical data from the hospital data repository. After the intervention, LOS for all patients decreased, as did the time from first doctor-patient contact to disposition decision (52%) and the time from triage to first doctor-patient contact (18%). Other important post-intervention results included reduced X-ray turnaround time



(TAT) (20%; p = 0.18), decreased computerized tomography (CT) scan TAT (40%; p < 0.001), and decreased lab TAT (29%; p = 0.006).⁹³ Given the complex nature of this intervention, it is unclear to what extent the EDIS implementation —independent of the workflow redesigns—impacted ED efficiency. Evidence indicates that although certain improvements were directly attributable to EDIS implementation, electronic systems are likely most effective when supported by appropriate workflow redesigns.⁹³

These issues were also raised in the qualitative studies. The authors of a survey published in 2009 concluded that the impact of EDIS could be both positive (e.g., improving the accessibility of information) as well as negative (e.g., interrupting staff workflow due to system downtime, reducing physician-nurse interaction).⁹⁴ The authors recommended evaluating work processes and ensuring the availability of adequate technical resources when implementing EDIS. Study details are summarized in Table 5 of Appendix A.

Summary: Overall, EDIS appears to be an effective intervention to reduce LOS and LWBS patients as well as to increase efficiency for other processes in the ED. Moreover, computerized information systems also improve the collection and management of data in the ED. The available evidence is limited by the small number of quantitative studies and variability in interventions. Future studies are needed to further evaluate the impact of technology in the ED on productivity, efficiency, and satisfaction in the ED as well as the contextual factors that lead to the successful implementation and adoption of EDIS in different settings.

Out-put Interventions

Clinical decision units (CDUs)/Observation units (OU) - A comprehensive review was completed as part of a CIHR research grant in 2011.⁹⁵ From 14,446 potentially relevant studies, six studies were included in the review. The overall quality of all included studies was rated as weak. Two studies reported data on ED LOS;^{96, 97} an OU intervention was associated with a median improvement of 50 minutes (IQR: 30, 70) when compared to periods of time without an OU intervention. Only one study reported outcome data on PIA; an 18 min reduction was associated with an OU intervention when compared to periods without an OU intervention (p > 0.05).⁹⁷ Two studies reported data on LWBS;^{97, 98} a 3.4% median reduction (IQR: 2.5 to 4.4) in LWBS was associated with OU when compared to periods of time without an OU intervention. A median reduction of 3% (IQR: 1.4 to 4.6) in hospital admissions was associated with an OU intervention in two studies.^{99, 100} Results from one study were not analyzed due to incomplete outcome reporting.⁹⁶


Two studies reported data on ambulance diversion,^{98, 100} a median improvement of 121 hours/month (IQR: 79 to 164) associated with an OU intervention.

Summary: The available evidence on OUs is limited by the small number of studies, poor study methodologies, and incomplete reporting. While there are published studies that examine specific diseases in the context of OUs (e.g., chest pain units, asthma rooms, etc.), the only available review concentrated on multi-disease units and their impact on ED overcrowding metrics. At this point it is unclear whether the efforts required to establish an OU are rewarded with sufficient improvements in ED overcrowding metrics.

Full-capacity/Over-capacity protocols (FCP/OCP) – A comprehensive systematic review was published in 2011 examining the effectiveness of FCP/OCP on ED overcrowding metrics.¹⁰¹ From 14,446 potentially relevant studies, two abstracts from the same comparative study were included. From 29 studies on system-wide intervention, four (14%) contained an FCP component. The included primary study was a single center ED study using a before-after design; its methodological quality was rated as weak. One of the abstracts reported that an FCP was associated with less ED LOS (five-hour reduction) when compared with the control period; the other reported that an FCP decreased ED and hospital access block (28% and 37% reduction, respectively). The ED triggers, format, and implementation of FCP protocols varied widely.

Summary: While some reports on FCP implementation are encouraging, the available evidence to support an FCP implementation is limited. Additional efforts are required to improve the outcome reporting of FCP research using high quality research methods.

In-patient bed capacity (increase or decreased) - Despite the influx in ED visits,¹⁰² there has been a 40% decrease in in-patient bed capacity within Canadian hospitals over the past decade.¹⁰³ Across the country, patients wait on average for at least two hours in the ED for access to an in-patient bed, a phenomenon also referred to as patient boarding.¹⁰⁴ It has been suggested that patient boarding constitutes one of the most significant contributing factors to ED overcrowding.⁴, ^{102, 105}

From a retrospective review examining trends in ED admissions, boarding, and resources of over 21,000 ED visits at a large Canadian urban hospital, it was found that moving patients out of ED is restricted due to the paucity of beds throughout the hospital.¹⁰⁵ In addition, the reduction of



in-patient beds increases the number of boarders in the ED, further adding to the gridlock. These findings are similar to those found by researchers examining the impact of hospital restructuring on ED overcrowding.¹⁰⁶ Specifically, restructuring involved the closure of 4 hospital-based ED and convergence of a fifth to an urgent care centre, resulting in 3833 bed closures from 9727 beds. Prior to the restructuring moderate overcrowding was decreasing (-0.05% per month, p = 0.01), with severe overcrowding of no concern. During restructuring both severe and moderate overcrowding increased (0.4% per month, p = 0.0001).¹⁰⁶ These findings provide further evidence that decreasing capacity or the number of in-patient beds results in increased ED overcrowding. The apparent solution to this problem would be to increase bed capacity; however, this change requires considerable additional resources for an environment currently under financial pressures.¹⁰²

Summary: There is a consensus in the available evidence that in-patient bed capacity is a significant factor in ED overcrowding. It appears as though overcrowding will persist without the functional or absolute increase in bed capacity. Further research examining capacity, overcrowding and potential confounding variables is required to better understand this relationship.

Bed coordination – The coordination and management of hospital beds involves the daily allocation of in-patient beds and strategic planning involved in ensuring beds are available for elective and ED admissions; essentially reconciling demand with supply on a continuous basis.¹⁰⁷

To address the problem of ED overcrowding, active bed management has been implemented as an intervention to facilitate the timely and safe transfer of patients from the ED to in-patient beds.¹⁰⁸ A pre-post case study implemented a full-time hospitalist-led bed management program. This program involved the designation of a staff member to the bed manager role along with collaboration from the bed director role, regularly visiting the ED to assess in-patient bed availability and assisting with triage. Through implementation of this intervention it was found that time spent in ED reduced by 98 minutes (from 458 to 360 minutes). Active bed management system also decreased LOS, throughput time and the number of ambulance diversions.¹⁰⁸ These findings were mirrored when this intervention was implemented for those patients in need of ICU admission.¹⁰⁹ Although active bed management can be an effective intervention, this is contingent upon the proper training of those managing the beds. Unfortunately, adequate training specific to this role is often lacking. To fill this void, a group developed a training programme which focused on providing staff with the technical understanding of the dynamics of patient flow along with the



management skills required to carry out the job.¹¹⁰ From this training programme, beds were better managed, staff retention increased and reductions in cancellations and work were seen.¹¹⁰ Although implementing training programmes and designating staff to fulfill the bed management role are resource intensive, these costs are substantially less than those associated with expanding capacity.¹⁰⁸

Summary: The available evidence indicates that bed coordination and appropriate training constitute an effective intervention in reducing overcrowding within the ED. The evidence surrounding this topic is, however, limited and further research is required to fully understand the economic feasibility of such an intervention.

Medical admission units (MAUs): A medical admission unit (MAU) is a short-stay unit in the hospital that functions in coordination with the ED. The patient's stay is usually less than 48 hours. MAUs are increasingly being implemented across Canada as one approach for reducing overcrowding in the ED. Since, the patient's LOS is usually less than 48 hours the MAU fills a gap between the ED where throughput is desired resulting in a shorted ED LOS and the hospital which faces bed scarcity challenges around patients with longer length of stays. Even though the available literature is scarce in terms of the MAU effectiveness, several studies have reported decreases with the ED LOS,¹¹¹⁻¹¹³ hospital LOS,¹¹¹⁻¹¹³ and a decrease in in-hospital mortality.^{111, 112, 114} Other performance indicators that have been reported include hospital readmission which seem to be unchanged and a decrease in the patients waiting in the ED.¹¹³ Medical assessment units can also be referred to as: acute assessment units, acute admissions units, medical assessment and planning units (MAPU/MAP), medical assessment units (MAU), multi specialty assessment areas (MSAA), medical receiving units (MRU) or emergency receiving units (ERU). A systematic review and environmental scan of MAU's implemented in Canada is currently being conducted by the University of Calgary – University of Alberta MAU Research Committee (Dean Yergens, personal communications). Overall, the group identified 6 studies that examine MAUs which are summarized qualitatively in Table 6 of Appendix A.

Summary: Since MAUs are a relativity new approach for improving patient flow the academic literature is rather scarce. What has been reported to date indicates that MAUs may potentially be an effective approach to reducing the emergency department and in-hospital length of stay. Further research is required to explore the MAU effectiveness and fully understand the economic feasibility of such an intervention.



Care maps/clinical practice guidelines - Empirical evidence supporting the notion that CPGs improve patient outcomes exists¹¹⁵, although their influence on hospital LOS is not as clearly understood. Isolated efforts to introduce specific CPGs (e.g., for pneumonia care, GI bleeds, sepsis care, etc.) may be more effective because of local champions; however, hospitals need more than several CPGs to standardize the care of a variety of patients, especially those with co-morbidities. This review searched for evidence of the effect of introducing multiple CPGs on hospital flow and ED LOS.

The search for evidence regarding the effect of CPG introduction within a variety of hospital settings identified inconsistent results. LOS was significantly reduced for some patients; however, this change was not seen across all patients.¹¹⁶ Further research is required to clarify this inconsistency.⁶⁸ In addition, the dissemination and implementation of CPGs need to be improved as current efforts in developing the guidelines do not match its uptake.¹¹⁵

In a systematic review examining clinician's perceived barriers towards adherence to CPGs, it was found that a variety of barriers inhibit uptake of CPGs.⁶⁸ These include lack of awareness, familiarity, agreement, self-efficacy, outcome expectance, and inertia of previous practice. The full range of these barriers must be considered to improve clinician behaviors and uptake of CPGs.⁶⁸

Summary: CPGs have been shown to improve patient outcomes although their impact on reducing LOS is unclear. In addition, the lack of adherence by physicians due to several internal and external barriers has limited the effectiveness of these guidelines. Further research is required to understand the implications of CPGs on LOS within ED.

Specialized in-patient teams responding to the ED (e.g., ACCESS) - A pre-post study conducted between January 1, 2007 and June 30, 2009 was conducted at the Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre in Toronto, Ontario to evaluate how the implementation of an acute care emergency surgery service (ACCCESS) affects ED LOS, ED overcrowding, and surgical decision time.¹³ Under the ACCESS model, a general surgeon is available over a seven-day period and leads a team consisting of a senior surgical resident, junior residents, and medical students. During the ACCESS week, the ACCESS staff surgeon does not conduct any elective surgeries and is instead completely devoted to performing any emergency operations or providing emergency consultations. The team had the targets of responding to any ED request for consultation within 30 minutes and making a final decision regarding the patient disposition within 2 hours of the initial



request. A total of 2,510 patients were included in the study, 1,448 were pre-ACCESS and the remaining 1,062 were post-ACCESS. Implementation of ACCESS was associated with a 15% reduction in surgical decision time (12.6 hours versus 10.8 hours, p < 0.01). Before ACCESS was implemented, the mean ED LOS for appendicitis was 17.0 hours. Following its implementation it was 11.8 hours, a 30% decrease (p < 0.01). There was, however, no difference between the pre and post ACCESS implementation in the time it took for the ED physician to request a general surgical consultation for appendicitis, which took approximately 8 hours. There was also no significant difference between the time between treatment decision and surgery for the pre and post ACCESS patients (8.2 v. 7.8 hours, p = 0.45). In addition, the mean time to stretcher for all ED patients decreased by 20%.

Summary: Implementation of ACCESS at Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre reduced ED LOS for patients requiring general surgery consultation and improved overall ED crowding, measured by time-to-stretcher for ED patients. This was the impetus for implementing the current ACCESS model at the University of Alberta Hospital in Edmonton. Implementation of the ACCESS service potentially improves the flow of surgical patients through the ED, improving the quality of surgical care and liberating additional beds for new patients. A broader multi-site study is required to determine if the effects of the ACCESS service would be consistent at other sites.

Increased long-term care beds - Research has shown that in-patient bed capacity is a significant factor in ED overcrowding.^{105, 106} The availability of LTC and continuing care beds impacts in-patient bed capacity. Across Canada, acute and sub-acute care patients are waiting for placement into LTC or supportive living spaces. According to the Ontario Health Quality Council, patients placed from a hospital into LTC wait an average of 56 days, resulting in 16% of acute care beds in Ontario being taken up by people waiting for this transition.¹¹⁷ According to a 2010 AHS news release highlighting AHS's acute care plan, there are approximately 700 acute and sub-acute care Albertans awaiting placement to a LTC or supportive living space.¹¹⁸ In a 2011 report by the Canadian Institute of Health Information¹¹⁹ alternative-levels-of-care (ALC) patients were highlighted, referring to those that continue to occupy an acute care hospital bed but are deemed well enough to be cared for elsewhere, depending on the situation. Between 2008-2009, ALC patients accounted for more than 2.4 million hospital days.¹¹⁹ ALC patients are problematic to the acute care system for two reasons. Not only does the hospital usually not have the appropriate resources to care for these types of patients, ED wait times are impacted as patients in the ED



cannot get admitted to hospital beds occupied by ALC patients. According to the report,¹¹⁹ on average, one ALC patient in the ED limits access to four patients per hour to the ED.

Summary: In-patient bed capacity is a factor in ED overcrowding and is affected by patients awaiting placement in LTC facilities. Across Canada there are large numbers of patients awaiting placement LTC facilities and this will persist unless an increase in LTC beds occurs. Considerable additional resources would be needed in order to create additional LTC bed spaces and this is problematic for a system that is already under numerous financial pressures.

In-patient discharge planning: Discharge planning is common in health care systems in many countries. Discharge planning aims to reduce hospital LOS and unplanned readmission to hospital, potentially increasing the number of beds available for other patients. A systematic review of discharge planning from hospital to home was published in $2010.^{120}$ Of 3684 potentially relevant studies, 21 were ultimately included in the review; all were RCTs and involved a total of 7234 patients. The RCTs compared those with an individual discharge plan to those with routine discharge care that was not individualized. Hospital LOS and hospital readmissions were significantly reduced for patients allocated to the discharge planning group for LOS (mean difference = -0.91; 95% CI: -1.55, -0.27; 10 trials) and readmission (RR = 0.85; 95% CI: 0.74, 0.97; 11 trials). Neither mortality (RR = 1.04; 95% CI: 0.74, 1.46; four trials) nor discharged from hospital to home (RR = 1.03; 95% CI: 0.93, 1.14; two trials) for elderly patients with a medical condition were influenced by the discharge planners.

Summary: Discharge plans that are tailored to the individual patient have been shown to produce small reductions in hospital LOS and readmission rates for older patients that are admitted to the hospital with medical conditions. A decrease in hospital LOS and readmission rates could potentially liberate beds for incoming patients. While small reductions in LOS and readmission rates were found, the impact of discharge planning on mortality, other health outcomes, and healthcare costs remains unclear.

Discharge Lounges: Delays for patients leaving the hospital are common and range from awaiting test results to waiting for transportation. Discharges that occur late in the evening are the most extreme example of delays; where beds are occupied by patients who clearly do not need them. Even a 12-hour delay can have immediate and real implications for EDs. This is a real and particularly common problem for elderly¹²¹ and psychiatric patients.



One UK hospital established a discharge lounge from 10.00 am to 6.00 pm each day. After one year it had saved 6074 bed hours on the wards but it is unknown how this impacted on waits in ED.¹²² Details of this study are summarized in Table 6 of Appendix A. Unfortunately, a robust evaluation of this intervention was not performed. A literature search yielded 154 articles, none of which dealt with impact of discharge lounges on general admissions. There were articles discussing approaches to special populations; however, discharge lounges were not evaluated in detail. Study details are summarized in Table 7 of Appendix A.

Summary: The evidence for discharge lounges is encouraging; however, the evidence is limited by the quality of data and limited studies. Future implementation of this intervention requires further evaluation.

System-wide Interventions

Multi-faceted interventions (e.g., 4-hour rule) - A comprehensive review was completed as part of the CIHR research grant.⁹⁵ From 14,716 potential relevant studies targeting multi-faceted interventions, 29 were included. Eighteen were journal publications, three were web-based articles, seven were abstracts, and one was a report. Most studies (86%) used single-centered ED designs. Fifteen trials were conducted in the US; however, other countries were represented. Only one study was rated as high quality; four were graded as moderate quality; all others were assessed as weak. Overall, 11 of 15 studies reporting ED LOS concluded that multi-faceted interventions resulted in shorter LOS compared to a control period (median absolute improvement for all patients: 21.4%; 95% CI: 7.9% to 28.1%); however, heterogeneity (I² = 99%) precluded pooling.^{93, 106, 108, 123-131} Eight and nine studies reported that multi-faceted interventions decreased PIA and LWBS, respectively.

Two of the most recognizable multi-faceted interventions are the UK 4-hour rule and the Emergency Services and System Capacity (ESSC) strategy, which ran from 2006-2008 in the Edmonton-Zone (formerly Capital Health). The UK intervention employed pay-for-performance, benchmarking, accountability frameworks, and multi-faceted interventions in an over-all strategy designed to increase the proportion of patients leaving prior to the 4-hour ED LOS target. The ESSC strategy employed multi-faceted interventions in an over-all strategy designed to decrease ED LOS. The UK intervention was able to achieve 4-hour disposition targets for all patients who entered the ED in 98% of the cases; it remains a highly successful program. Despite considerable cost and effort (approximately 50% of the interventions in the ESSC strategy were implemented prior to transition to AHS) the ESSC, the program failed to reduce ED LOS for admitted or discharged patients.



Summary: The available evidence on multifaceted interventions is limited by variability of interventions, poor methodologies and incomplete reporting. There is conflicting evidence regarding their benefit may have more to do with system-wide influences (pay-for-performance, benchmarking, accountability frameworks), than the interventions which are employed.

Pay for performance incentive models (e.g., 4-hour rule) - The database search did not identify a systematic review on the impact of pay for performance (P4P) models in the ED setting. There are various P4P models whose structures depend on a wide variety of quality metrics, intended recipients, and payment schemes. Due to the complexity and site-specific nature of this intervention, its evaluation often involves a combination of quantitative and qualitative measures.

One of the most well known P4P systems was part of the UK 4-hour rule. Early during the implementation of the 4-hour targets, hospitals were paid £100,000 (~\$250,000 Canadian dollars) per quarter to reach efficiency targets related to ED patient LOS (percentage of ED patients who were discharged or admitted from the ED within 4 hours). In this strategy, the large majority of UK hospitals met or exceeded the LOS targets; however, gaming did occur¹³² and the contribution of this specific intervention in a multi-faceted strategy is unclear. Moreover, the ceiling effect limited the sustainability of this strategy.

An unpublished pilot study conducted in 4 Vancouver EDs evaluated the effect of allocating extra payments to hospitals that treated patients within specified time frames. Investigators concluded that patients seen during the project were treated 10% faster than those in the pre-intervention period.¹³³ There was no discussion of the specific methods used by the clinicians involved to increase efficiency or of any unintended outcomes.

The search also found an abstract from an Australian study that reviewed the impact of bonus payments made to public hospitals to improve access to care for ED patients.¹³⁴ The authors reviewed data from 21 public hospital EDs and found that the number of occasions of ambulance bypass per quarter decreased from 600 in the pre-intervention period to fewer than 100 post-intervention (p < 0.001). After the incentive system was implemented, the most urgent patients (Category 1) consistently experienced no waiting times, and adherence to waiting time thresholds for critical, but slightly less urgent patients (Category 2 and 3) improved significantly (p < 0.001, R² = 0.74; and p < 0.035, R² = 0.37, respectively).

There are multiple studies of P4P as a hospital-wide intervention. In one paper, Le Grand examined the results of an internal or quasi-market created in the UK to encourage competition



among healthcare providers. The author concluded that the impact of this program was minimal, with the average annual change in productive efficiency as 2 percent after reform, compared with 1.5 percent before.¹³⁵ Similarly, a report by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) indicated that it is unclear whether P4P significantly improves the quality of care and increases value for money in health.¹³⁶ The authors of a comprehensive systematic review considered 128 studies on P4P models, ultimately concluding that the effects of P4P interventions varied widely—from beneficial to absent or negligible—according to model design choices and the context in which they were introduced.¹³⁷

Summary: Despite its widespread implementation, there has been limited research on P4P programs, and the existing evidence shows mixed results. One investigator warned of the potential for "gaming" P4P systems, noting that there have been cases of hospitals favouring simple cases over more time-consuming cases in order to increase throughput.¹³⁸ The authors of a CADTH report also observed that implementing P4P might shift hospitals' focus from the quality of patient care to volume of service.¹³⁹ Overall, evidence indicates that the structure and evaluation of any given P4P model is shaped by multiple contextual factors, making it difficult to generalize about the results of a particular study or about the benefit of this intervention as a whole. Further research is required to evaluate the impact of different P4P interventions on efficiency, quality of care as well as its unintended outcomes in the ED.

Accountability frame-works - One of the most well-known accountability frameworks was part of the UK 4-hour rule. The 4-hour rule was introduced in England in 2002 but only after negotiations between the Department of Health and clinicians (January 2005), hospital administration and staff were held accountable for efficiency related to ED patient LOS (98% of ED patients should be discharged or admitted within 4 hours). The large majority of UK hospitals met or exceeded the LOS target; however, this multi-faceted intervention involved several strategies (e.g., financial and other incentives, media, and government pressures) which makes difficult the identification of the key underlying factor(s) determining this success.¹⁴⁰

Interestingly, a recent systematic review evaluated the impact of the 4-hour rule on clinical outcomes. This review included six studies (before and after studies and time-series analyses) and concluded that this intervention and its financial investment has not resulted in a consistent improvement of other quality of care indicators such as time to see a physician, admissions, mortality, and relapses. Overall, ED staff supported this intervention; however, important concerns



regarding the emphasis on meeting time goals rather than prioritizing clinical needs were identified.¹⁴¹

Summary: While the 4-hour rule is perhaps one of the best examples for accountability frame-works, countries and hospitals seeking to emulate the UK experience should proceed with caution. First, the intervention was multi-faceted, and the contribution of the accountability frame-work to the success of the program is unclear. An in-depth understanding of the potential determinants of its success as well as a critical analysis of the available evidence regarding the short and long-term impact on the direct target (LOS) and other quality of care indicators (including staff perceptions and satisfaction) are advised before extrapolations to other contexts of patient care.

Benchmarking/Reporting – In the Canadian health care system, many regions and provinces are just starting to report metrics related to the functioning of the health care system. Given the long waits associated with universal care, it is not surprising that the first benchmarking initiatives in Canada involved the largest province (Ontario) and services such as cataract surgery, hip and knee surgery, cardiac catheterization and access to advanced diagnostic imaging.¹⁴²

In emergency medicine, the first step has been to establish bench-marks or targets for emergency departments to meet. One of the most well known benchmarking activities was part of the UK 4-hour rule. Beginning in 2004, hospital administration and staff were provided with targets related to ED patient LOS (percentage of ED patients who were discharged or admitted from the ED within 4 hours). In this strategy, the large majority of UK hospitals met or exceeded to LOS targets; however, the contribution of this specific intervention (benchmarking) in a multi-faceted strategy is unclear.

The following table outlines the current state of benchmarking initiatives across Canada (Dr. Michael Schull, personal communication):



	Admits	High Acuity Discharges	Low acuity discharges
Nova Scotia	8 hours	8 hours	4 hours
	90 th %-ile	90 th %-ile	90 th %-ile
Quebec	12 hour	8 hours	(mean)*
	(mean)	* applies only to s	stretcher patients.
Ontario	8 hours	8 hours	4 hours
	90 th %-ile	90 th %-ile	90 th %-ile
Manitoba		N/A	
Saskatchewan		N/A	
Alberta	8 hours	4 hours	
	90 th %-ile	90 th	%-ile
British Columbia	10 hours	4 hours	2 hours
	75 th %-ile	75 th %-ile	75 th %-ile

Table 2: Variation in Emergency Department wait-time targets (as of Nov. 2011).

Overall, no systematic reviews of ED benchmarking exist and no primary studies of the intervention were identified. Limited information is available regarding the effectiveness of benchmarking as a single measure to drive change in the emergency care system. While benchmarking has been described in emergency medicine and efforts have been expended to reach targets,¹⁴³ the role of benchmarking is unclear. Moreover, it seems unlikely that benchmarking without accountability/consequences can be evaluated in isolation. Finally, caution is warranted since evidence of perverse gaming of the system has been reported for both time¹⁴⁴ and quality of care metrics.¹⁴⁵

Summary: While benchmarking is now a rapidly expanding intervention in Canadian health care system, the cut-points in emergency medicine across the world and Canada vary, the approaches to public reporting have been diverse, and the evidence for the effectiveness is lacking. Moreover, while the early focus has been on time metrics, benchmarking related to quality of care metrics have also been introduced, especially in the United States.¹⁴³ Recent research in Canada has produced similar quality of care metrics and suggestions.¹⁴⁶



Discussion

The persistent and increasing existence of ED overcrowding is an important threat to the delivery of high quality care in Alberta and many developed countries. ED overcrowding results when emergency demand exceeds the capacity to provide care in a timely fashion. The causes are multi-factorial and result from input, throughput, output, and system-wide influences. ED overcrowding has been linked to increased mortality rates, especially when associated with high hospital occupancy rates, delays to emergency physician assessment and prolonged ED LOS. Presently, markers of timely access to health care such as waiting times to see an emergency physician, ED LOS, and patients leaving the ED without being fully assessed or treated, represent essential information for policy-makers and ED administrators as they reflect Canadians' experiences with the health care system.

In this report, the available interventions have been listed, defined and the evidence upon which these are based has been summarized using the *input, throughput, output,* and/or *systemwide* model as a framework. Some health interventions that were previously considered to be effective and safe have been shown to have insufficient evidence to justify these claims, and some have been exposed as ineffective and perhaps harmful, or vice versa. In addition, some interventions have improved over time, and new interventions as well as new health outcomes have emerged. Below, the four sections of the report will be briefly summarized and this summary can be found in Appendix A.

Input Interventions: Those targeting processes that control the number of patients presenting to an ED, including referrals from primary care and specialist physicians as well as Emergency Medical Services (EMS) arrivals. This review suggests that interventions targeting input factors have not been shown to be effective. This may be due to the fact that input is difficult to control, and in most settings, the emergency department is considered the safety net in the health care system. When all other options are exhausted, patents have limited options *apart* from the ED.

Through-put Interventions: Those targeting processes of ED care and decision making such as triage, registration, nursing assessment, care provided by ED clinical staff, investigations and treatment, as well as care provided by other healthcare professionals including specialty consultants. Many through-put interventions have been shown to be effective as interventions designed to improve access to timely care. EDs are well-advised to search for efficiencies and to strive to improve care within the ED as part of the overcrowding strategy. Once again, not all EDs benefit from the same intervention, and implementation should be based on need.



*Out-put Intervention*s: Those targeting processes aimed to improve the flow of patients out of the ED such as admission to hospital, transfer to another facility and discharge to previous residence/home. The evidence in this area is mixed; some interventions improve care while others lack clear evidence.

System-wide Interventions: Multi-faceted interventions targeting multiple processes (input, trough-put and out-put), such as the UK's 4-hour rule, appear to be effective. There is limited direct evidence regarding the contributions to effectiveness of other system-wide interventions,

While this comprehensive review revealed a number of evaluations that use weaker study designs that bring potential biases to this body of literature, the results of a few high-quality trials have the potential to guide the selection of services that may best be used to improve the decision-making process and strengthen the health care system.

Intervention	Existing Systematic or Comprehensive Review (Y/N)	Year Published or Most Recent Search	Number of Original Studies Identified	Preponderance of Evidence/ Quality of evidence
Input				
Media campaigns/diversions	Ν	2011	0	uncertain/uncertain
Ambulance diversions	Y	2006	55	harmful/moderate
Walk-in clinics	Ν	2011	2	uncertain/weak
Influenza outbreaks	Y	2008	3	no benefit/weak
Telephone help line	Y	2009	9	uncertain/weak
Throughput				
ED navigators	Ν	2007	1	no benefit/weak
Triage activities	Y	2006	6	uncertain/weak
Triage nurse ordering (TNO)	Y	2011	14	benefit/weak

Table 3:	Summary of interventions presented in this review.
----------	--



Triage liaison physicians (TLP)	Y	2011	28	benefit/moderate
Rapid assessment zones (RAZ units)	Y	2011	4	uncertain/weak
Fast-track areas for minor injuries/illnesses	Y	2003	N/A	benefit/weak
Computerized physician order entry (CPOE)	Ν	2011	2	benefit/weak
Improving laboratory testing access	Y	1993, 2005, 2007, 2008, 2011	10	benefit/moderate
Improving imaging access	Ν	2011	1	benefit/weak
Beside ultrasound in the ED	Y	2006	29	benefit/moderate
Nurse Practitioners in the ED (general and specific)	Y	2007, 2009, 2009	38	uncertain/weak
Physician staffing models	Y	2006	9	benefit/weak
Discharge facilitators	Ν	2011	3	benefit/weak
Allied health care professionals (e.g., Social Workers)	Ν	2011	3	benefit/weak
Clinical practice guidelines	Y	1993	52	benefit/weak
Care maps	Y	2010	27	benefit/moderate
Clinical decision rules	N	2011	N/A	uncertain/strong
Medical consultants in the ED	Y	2008	12	benefit/moderate
Computerization	N	2011	2	benefit/weak
Output				
Clinical decision units (CDUs)/ Observation units	Y	2011	6	uncertain/weak
Full-capacity/over-capacity protocols (FCP/OCP)	Y	2011	5	uncertain/weak
In-patient bed capacity	Ν	2011	2	benefit/uncertain



(increase or decrease)				
Bed coordination	N	2011	3	benefit/uncertain
Medical Admission Units (MAUs)	N	2011	6	uncertain/uncertain
Care maps/Clinical practice guidelines	Ν	2011	1	uncertain/uncertain
Specialized in-patient teams responding to the ED (e.g., ACCESS)	N	2011	1	benefit/weak
Increased long-term care beds	Ν	2011	1	benefit/weak
In patient discharge planning	Y	2010	21	benefit/uncertain
Discharge lounges	Ν	2011	1	uncertain/weak
System-Wide				
Multi-faceted interventions (e.g., 4-hour rule)	Y	2011	29	uncertain/weak
Pay for performance incentive modules (e.g., 4- hour rule)	N	2011	6	uncertain/weak
Accountability frame-works	Y	2010	6	uncertain/weak
Benchmarking/Reporting	N	2011	N/A	uncertain/weak

Note: preponderance of evidence: benefit, uncertain or no benefit; quality of evidence: weak, moderate, strong or uncertain.



Limitations

There are several limitations to this report that require commentary:

Search strategy: While comprehensive strategies were adopted to search for the available evidence on each of the listed interventions, non-indexed, unpublished or non-English literature may not have been captured. A comprehensive search of the grey literature was not conducted. Nonetheless, using a hierarchical approach likely limited the missed information.

Methods/design: While standardized methods for study selection, data extraction/presentation were considered, one single reviewer performed these procedures; validation by a second reviewer as well as a detailed quality assessment of the individual studies were out of the scope of these rapid reviews. Finally, the methodological quality of the studies varied considerably. While RCTs and meta-analyses provide high quality data and provide strong recommendations for many therapeutic interventions in medicine, this field of operations research often relies on lower quality data and thus generates weaker recommendations.

Results from recent systematic reviews and independent studies were incorporated whenever possible. Finally, while attempts were made to synthesize the evidence, these were mostly tabular and descriptive. Once again, we do not feel this contributed to bias; however, the precision of the estimates may be under-estimated.

Paucity of data: Overall, while the evidence in this field is growing, there are a limited number of trials and outcomes reported in each topic area. Two possible explanations could account for these findings. First, publication bias may limit the publication of negative results. Second, many studies did not follow accepted methodological standards for study reporting, and incomplete outcome reporting was one of the major flaws.

Selection bias: Efforts to address selection bias were not specifically incorporated into this review of the evidence. In some cases, the potential for selection bias in systematic reviews was addressed in the individual reviews themselves. Second, we found no evidence of "competing" reviews on the same topic, so we were never forced to select between two reviews.

Publication bias: Although researchers have found publication bias to be less problematic in Emergency Medicine,¹⁴⁷ it is likely that this body of literature suffers from a degree of publication bias. The more frequent and rapid publication of positive results may help to explain this fact. Equally likely, however, is the fact that many health system decision-makers implement changes and do not have sufficient interest, funding or human capacity within their organizations to evaluate new interventions thoroughly.



Selective reporting: Most studies reported on the effectiveness of an intervention on times and processes of care in the ED. Two other key components of ED overcrowding, and perhaps the consequence of implementing interventions or strategies to mitigate overcrowding, are quality of care and costs. Few studies reported on the effect of interventions on quality of care markers or costs. Consequently, it is unclear if the outcomes of interventions result in improved care, achieved in a cost-effective manner.

Conclusions

Overall, there are a wide variety of interventions available to choose from in an effort to mitigate ED overcrowding. Evidence argues against the common perception that EDs are abused by patients and filled with frivolous complaints. Not surprisingly then, the interventions targeting input factors have not been shown to be effective. Overall, many through-put and selected out-put interventions have been shown to be effective in improving access to timely care and transit through the ED and beyond. Admitted inpatients (aka: EIPs) are commonly believed to be the main cause of overcrowding, and efforts to reduce them may be the most efficient strategy. There is limited direct evidence regarding the effectiveness of system-wide interventions. Overall, it is encouraging to see that multi-faceted interventions are common and generally effective; perhaps the best example of this is the UK's 4-hour rule. Policy-makers, managers, decision-makers and clinicians all have a responsibility to reduce overcrowding and apply evidence wherever possible in addition to evaluating interventions that may take up resources better used elsewhere.



Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflicts of interest. Dr. Brian Rowe is a practicing Emergency Physician within AHS; Dr. William Ghali is a practicing Internist within AHS; however, neither is paid directly by AHS.

Acknowledgements

This study was funded by a restricted grant from the Health Quality Council of Alberta, Calgary, Alberta.

The authors wish to thank Ms. Diane Milette for her secretarial assistance and coordination of the references.

Ms. Bota is funded by the Emergency Medicine Research Group (EMeRG®) in the Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Alberta. Dr. Villa-Roel is supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) in partnership with the Knowledge Translation branch. Dr. Rowe is supported by the CIHR as Tier I Canada Research Chair in Evidence Based Emergency Medicine from the Government of Canada (Ottawa, ON).

Dr. William Ghali is funded as a Senior Health Scholar by Alberta Innovates Health Solutions., (AIHS; Edmonton, AB)



References

- Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians and National Emergency Nurses Affiliation. Joint position statement on emergency department overcrowding. *CJEM.* 2001;3:82–84.
- CAEP position statement: Emergency Department Overcrowding 2009.: Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians: June 2009. (accessed at www.caep.ca on August 2001, 2011).
- 3. Bond K, Ospina M, Blitz S, et al. Frequency, determinants, and impact of overcrowding in emergency departments in Canada: A national survey of emergency department directors. *Healthcare Quarterly.* 2007;10(4):32-40.
- 4. Asplin BR, Magid DJ, Rhodes KV, Solberg LI, Lurie N, Camargo CA, Jr. A conceptual model of emergency department crowding. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2003;42:173-180.
- 5. Fatovich DM. Recent developments: Emergency Medicine. *BMJ.* 2002;324:958:958–962.
- 6. Report from a Roundtable Discussion: Meeting the Challenge of Emergency Department Overcrowding/ Boarding.: American College of Emergency Physicians (ACEP); 2004.
- Statement on Emergency Department Overcrowding. Statement S57: Australasian College for Emergency Medicine; 2011:http://www.acem.org.au/media/policies_and_guidelines/111012_S111057_Emergen cy_Department_Overcrowding.pdf.
- 8. The Way Ahead 2008-2012. *Strategy and guidance for Emergency Medicine in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland*.: The College of Emergency Medicine. December; 2008.
- Guttmann A, Schull MJ, Vermeulen MJ, Stukel TA. Association between waiting times and short term mortality and hospital admission after departure from emergency department: population based cohort study from Ontario, Canada. *BMJ.* 2011;342(Jun 1):d2983 doi: 2910.1136/bmj.d2983.
- 10. Pham J, Patel R, Millin M, Kirsch T, Chanmugam A. The effects of ambulance diversion: A comprehensive review. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2006;13(11):1220-1227.
- 11. Yoon P. Emergency Department Fast-Track System. HTA Initiative #10. *Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research.* March 2003;Edmonton, AB:(ISBN: 1-896956-896988-896952).



- 12. Yoon P, Steiner I, Reinhardt G. Analysis of factors influencing length of stay in the emergency department. *CJEM.* 2003;5(3):155-161.
- Qureshi A, Smith A, Wright F, Brenneman F, Rizoli S, Hsieh T, Tien HC. Impact of an acute care emergency surgical service on timely surgical decision making and ED overcrowding. *J Am Coll Surg.* 2011;213(2):284-293.
- Hutchison B, Ostbye T, Barnsley J, Stewart M, Mathews M, Campbell MK, Vayda E, Harris SB, Torrance-Rynard V, Tyrrell C. Patient satisfaction and quality of care in walk-in clinics, family practices and emergency departments: the Ontario walk-in clinic study. *CMAJ*. 2003;168(8):977-983.
- 15. Affleck A, Innes G. Quality of care in walk-in clinics, family practice and emergency departments: the Ontario walk-in clinic study. *CJEM*. 2003;5(5):350-352.
- 16. Hoot NR, Aronsky D. Systematic Review of Emergency Department Crowding: Causes, Effects, and Solutions. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2008;52(2):126-136.
- Glaser CA, Gilliam S, Thompson WW, Dassey DE, Waterman SH, Saruwatari M, Shapiro S, Fukuda K. Medical care capacity for influenza outbreaks, Los Angeles. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2002;8:569-574.
- Schull MJ, Mamdani MM, Fang J. Influenza and emergency department utilization by elders. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2005;12(4):338-344.
- 19. Schull MJ, Mamdani MM, Fang J. Community influenza outbreaks and emergency department ambulance diversion. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2004;44(1):61-67.
- 20. Bunn F, Byrne G, Kendall S. Telephone consultation and triage: effects on health care use and patient satisfaction. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2009:Issue 3, :CD004180.
- 21. Lafrance M, Leduc N. Prior use of a telephone nursing triage service by patients of emergency services. *Rev Epidemiol Sant Publique.* 2002;50:561-570.
- 22. *Emergency Department navigator evaluation.* Edmonton, Alberta: Capital Health; 2007 October.
- 23. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. Available at: www.cadth.ca.
- Cooke M, Fisher J, Dale J, McLeod E, Szczepura A, Walley P, et al. Reducing attendances and waits in emergency departments: a systematic review of present innovations. *Emerg Med J.* (In Press).



- 25. Rowe BH, Villa-Roel C, Guo X, Bullard MJ, Ospina M, Vandermeer B, Innes G, Schull MJ, Holroyd BR. The role of triage nurse ordering on mitigating overcrowding in emergency departments: A systematic review. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2011(Jun 21):[ePub].
- 26. Rowe BH, Guo X, Villa-Roel C, Schull M, Holroyd BR, Bullard MJ, et al. The role of triage liaison physicians on mitigating overcrowding in emergency departments: A systematic review. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2011;18(2):111-120.
- 27. Holroyd BR, Bullard MJ, Latoszek K, Gordon D, Allen S, Tam S, Blitz S, Yoon P, Rowe BH. Impact of a triage liaison physician on Emergency Department overcrowding and throughput: A randomized controlled trial. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2007;14:702-708.
- 28. Richardson JR, Braitberg G, Yeoh MJ. Multidisciplinary assessment at triage: a new way forward. *Emerg Med Australas.* 2004;16(1):41-46.
- 29. Porter J, Brennan D, Parrish G, Papa L, Nickolenko P, Bullard T. Resident triage--impact on patient satisfaction. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2009;16(4, Suppl. 1):S272.
- Travers JP, Lee FC. Avoiding prolonged waiting time during busy periods in the emergency department: Is there a role for the senior emergency physician in triage? *Eur J Emerg Med.* 2006;13(6):342-348.
- 31. Gray SH, Kingsley SJ, Spence JM. Does having an emergency physician at triage for a 4-hour shift reduce ED length of stay? *CJEM.* 2009;11(3):272.
- Terris J, Leman P, O'Connor N, Wood R. Making an IMPACT on emergency department flow: improving patient processing assisted by consultant at triage. *Emerg Med J.* 2004;21(5):537-541.
- 33. Rogers T, Ross N, Spooner D. Evaluation of a 'See and Treat' pilot study introduced to an emergency department. *Accid Emerg Nurs.* 2004;12(1):24-27.
- Bullard M, Villa-Roel C, Guo X, Holroyd B, Innes G, Schull M, Vandermeer B, Ospina M, Rowe
 BH. The role of a rapid assessment zone/pod on reducing overcrowding in Emergency
 Departments: A systematic review. *Emerg Med J.* 2011(Apr 22):[Epub ahead of print].
- 35. Spalding SC, Mayer PH, Ginde AA, Lowenstein SR, Yaron M. Impact of computerized physician order entry on ED patient length of stay. *Am J Emerg Med.* 2011;29(2):207-211.
- 36. Asaro PV, Boxerman SB. Effects of computerized provider order entry and nursing documentation on workflow. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2008;15(10):908-915.



- Koppel R, Metlay JP, Cohen A, Abaluck B, Localio AR, Kimmel SE, Strom BL. Role of computerized physician order entry systems in facilitating medication errors. *JAMA*. 2005;293(10):1197-1203.
- 38. Oredsson S, Jonsson H, Rognes J, Lind L, Göransson KE, Ehrenberg A, Asplund K, Castrén M, Farrohknia N. A systematic review of triage-related interventions to improve patient flow in emergency departments. *Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med.* 2011;19(19 July 2011):43.
- 39. Murray RP, Leroux M, Sabga E, Palatnick W, Ludwig L. Effect of point of care testing on length of stay in an adult emergency department. *J Emerg Med.* 1999;17(5):811-814.
- 40. Kendall JM, Bevan G, Clancy MJ. Point of care testing in the accident and emergency department: a cost analysis and exploration of financial incentives to use the technology within the hospital. *J Health Serv Res Policy.* 1999;4(1):33-38.
- 41. Lee-Lewandrowski E, Corboy D, Lewandrowski K, Sinclair J, McDermot S, Benzer TI. Implementation of a Point-of-Care Satellite Laboratory in the Emergency Department of an Academic Medical Center. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* 2003;127(4):456-460.
- 42. Parvin CA, Lo SF, Deuser SM, Weaver LG, Lewis LM, Scott MG. Impact of point-of-care testing on patients' length of stay in a large emergency department. *Clin Chem.* 1996;42:711-717.
- 43. Zun LS. Analysis of the literature on emergency department throughput. *West J Emerg Med.*2009 May;10(2):104-109.
- 44. Holland LL, Smith LL, Blick KE. Reducing laboratory turnaround time 12. outliers can reduce emergency department patient length of stay. *Am J Clic Pathol.* 2005;124:672-674.
- 45. Saxena S, Wong ET. Does the emergency department need a dedicated stat laboratory? Continuous quality improvement as a management tool for the clinical laboratory. *Am J Clin Pathol.* 1993;100(6):606-610.
- 46. Hsiao AL, Santucci KA, Dziura J, Baker MD. A randomized trial to assess the efficacy of pointof-care testing in decreasing length of stay in a pediatric emergency department. *Pediatr Emerg Care.* 2007;23(7):457-462.
- 47. Singer, A.J., Viccellio P, Thode HC, Jr., Bock JL, Henry MC. Introduction of a stat laboratory reduces emergency department length of stay. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2008;15(4):324-328.



- 48. Espinosa JA, Treiber PM, Kosnik L. A reengineering success story: process improvement in emergency department x-ray cycle time, leading to breakthrough performance in the ED ambulatory care (fast track) process. *Ambul Outreach.* 1997:24-27.
- 49. Chen S, Husereau D, Noorani H, Tran K, Boudreau R, Lentle B, Rowe BH, Keating T. *Portable ultrasound devices in emergency departments [Technology report no 63].* Ottawa: Canadian Coordinating Office for Health Technology Assessment; 2006 March.
- 50. Chien M, Bulloch B, Garcia-Filion P, Youssfi M, Shrader MW, Segal LS. Bedside Ultrasound in the Diagnosis of Pediatric Clavicle Fractures. *Pediatr Emerg Care.* 2011;27:1038-1041.
- 51. Shih CH. Effect of Emergency Physician-Performed Pelvic Sonography on Length of Stay in the Emergency Department. *Ann Emerg Med.* 1997;29:348-352.
- 52. Blaivas M, Harwood RA, Lambert MJ. Decreasing length of stay with emergency ultrasound examination of the gallbladder. *Acad Emerg Med.* 1999;6:1020–1023.
- 53. Lindelius A, Torngren S, SondÈn A, Pettersson H, Adami J. Impact of surgeon-performed ultrasound on diagnosis of abdominal pain. *Emerg Med J.* 2008;25(8):486-491.
- 54. Lindelius A, Torngren S, SondÈn A, Pettersson H, Adami J. Role of surgeon-performed ultrasound on further management of patients with acute abdominal pain: a randomised controlled clinical trial. *Emerg Med J.* 2009;26(8):561-566.
- 55. Carter AJE, Chochinov AH. A systematic review of the impact of nurse practitioners on cost, quality of care, satisfaction and wait times in the emergency department. *CJEM.* 2007;9(4):286-295.
- 56. Byrne G, Richardson M, Brunsdon J, et al. Patient satisfaction with emergency nurse practitioners in A&E. *J Clin Nurs.* 2000;9:83-92.
- 57. Freij RM, Duffy T, Hackett D, et al. Radiographic interpretation by nurse practitioners in a minor injuries unit. *J Accid Emerg Med.* 1996;13:41-43.
- 58. Steiner IP, Nichols DN, Blitz S, Tapper L, Stagg AP, Sharma L, Policicchio C. Impact of a nurse practitioner on patient care in a Canadian emergency department. *CJEM.* 2009;11(3):207-214.
- 59. Ducharme J, Alder RJ, Pelletier C, Murray D, Tepper J. The impact on patient flow after the integration of nurse practitioners and physician assistants in 6 Ontario emergency departments. *CJEM*. 2009;11(5):455-461.



- 60. American College of Emergency Physicians. State of emergency medicine: emergency physician survey. Irving, TX: American College of Emergency Physicians; 2003.
- 61. Hegney D, Buikstra E, Chamberlain C, March J, McKay M, Cope G, Fallon T. Nurse discharge planning in the emergency department: a Toowoomba, Australia, Study. . *J Cl Nrsg.* 2006;15:1033–1044.
- 62. Guttman A, Afilalo M, Guttman R, Colacone A, Robitaille C, Lang E, Rosenthal S. An emergency department-based nurse discharge coordinator for elder patients: does it make a difference? *Acad Emerg Med.* 2004;11(12):1318-1327.
- 63. Moss JE, Flower CL, Houghton LM, Moss DL, Nielsen DA, Taylor DM. A multidisciplinary Care Coordination Team improves emergency department discharge planning practice. *Med J Aust.* 2002;177(8):435-439.
- 64. Keehn DS, Roglitz C, Bowden ML. Impact of Social Work on Recidivism and Non-Medical Complaints in the Emergency Department. *Soc Work Health Care.* 1994;20(1):65-75.
- 65. Okin R, Boccellari A, Azocar F, Shumway M, O'Brien K, Gelb A, Kohn M, Harding P, Wachsmuth C. The effects of clinical case management on hospital service use among ED frequent users. *Am J Emerg Med.* 2000;18(5):603-608.
- 66. Brewer BB. A case management model for the emergency department. *J Emerg Nurs.* 1997;23:618–621.
- 67. Bristow DP, Herrick CA. Emergency Department Case Management: The Dyad Team of Nurse Case Manager and Social Worker Improve Discharge Planning and Patient and Staff Satisfaction While Decreasing Inappropriate Admissions and Costs: A Literature Review. *Lippincott's Case Management Issue.* 2002;7(6):243-251.
- Cabana MD, Rand CS, Powe NR, Wu AW, Wilson MH, Abboud PC, et al. Why don't physicians follow clinical practice guidelines? A framework for improvement. *JAMA*. 1999;282(15):1458-1465.
- 69. Hodder R, Lougheed D, Rowe BH, Kaplan A, Fitzgerald M, McIvor A. Management of acute asthma in adults in the emergency department: nonventilatory management. *CMAJ*. 2010;182:E55-E67.
- 70. Grimshaw JM, Russell IT. Effect of clinical guidelines on medical practice: a systematic review of rigorous evaluations. *Lancet.* 1993;342(8883):1317-1322.



- 71. Rowe BH, Chahal AM, Spooner CH, Blitz S, Senthilselvan A, Wilson D, Holroyd BR, Bullard M. Increasing the use of anti-inflammatory agents in acute asthma in the emergency department: Experience with an asthma care map. *Can Respir J.* 2008;15(1):20-26.
- 72. Mackey D, Myles M, Spooner CH, Blitz S, Senthilselvan A, Rowe BH. The use of an asthma care map in a community hospital emergency department. *Can J Emerg Med.* 2007;9:353-365.
- 73. Levy MM, Dellinger RP, Townsend SR, Linde-Zwirble WT, Marshall JC, Bion J, Schorr C, Artigas A, Ramsay G, Beale R, Parker MM, Gerlach H, Reinhart K, Silva E, Harvey M, Regan S, Angus DC. The Surviving Sepsis Campaign: results of an international guideline-based performance improvement program targeting severe sepsis. *Crit Care Med.* 2010;38:367-374.
- 74. Marrie TJ, Lau CY, Wheeler SL, Wong CJ, Vandervoort MK, Feagan BG, for the CSI. A controlled trial of a critical pathway for treatment of community-acquired pneumonia. *JAMA*. 2000;283:749-755.
- 75. Rotter T, Kinsman L, James EL, Machotta A, Gothe H, Willis J, Snow P, Kugler J. Clinical pathways: effects on professional practice, patient outcomes, length of stay and hospital costs. *CochraneDatabase of Systematic Reviews.* 2010(Issue 3):Art.No.:CD006632. DOI: 006610.001002/14651858.
- 76. Rowe BH, Bond K, Ospina M, Blitz S, Schull MJ, Sinclair D. Data Collection on patients in emergency departments in Canada. *Can J Emerg Med.* 2006;8:417-424.
- 77. Lim C, Bawden JL, Wing A, Villa-Roel C, Meurer D, Bullard MJ, Rowe BH. Febrile neutropenia in the emergency department: The role of an electronic clinical practice guideline. *Amer J Emerg Med.* 2011(Oct 26):[Epub ahead of print].
- 78. Garg AX, Adhikari NKJ, McDonald H, Rosas-Arellano MP, Devereaux PJ, Beyene J, et al. Effects of computerized clinical decision support systems on practitioner performance and patient outcomes. *JAMA*. 2005;293:1223-1238.
- 79. Fine MJ, Auble TE, Yealy DM, Hanusa BH, Weissfeld LA, Singer DE, et al. A prediction rule to identify low risk patients with community-acquired pneumonia. *N Engl J Med.* 1997;336:243-250.



- Stiell IG, Clement CM, McKnight RD, Brison R, Schull MJ, Rowe BH. The Canadian C-Spine Rule versus the NEXUS Low-Risk Criteria in patients with trauma. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;349:2510-2518.
- 81. Lee TH. Evaluating decision aids: the next painful step. *J Gen Intern Med.* 1990;5:528-529.
- Stiell IG, Wells GW, Laupacis A, Brison R, Verbeek R, Vandemheen K, Naylor CD. Multicentre trial to introduce the Ottawa ankle rules for use of radiography in acute ankle injuries. Multicentre Ankle Rule Study Group. *BMJ.* 1995;311:594-597.
- Holroyd BR, Wilson D, Rowe BH, Mayes DC, Noseworthy T. Uptake of validated clinical practice guidelines: Experience with implementing the Ottawa ankle rules. *Am J Emerg Med.* 2004;22:149-155.
- Cameron C, Naylor CD. No impact from active dissemination of the Ottawa Ankle Rules: Further evidence of the need for local implementation of practice guidelines. *CMAJ.* 1999;160(8):1165-1168.
- Stiell IG, Clement CM, Grimshaw J, Brison RJ, Rowe BH, Schull MJ, et al. Implementation of the Canadian C-spine rule: prospective 12-centre cluster randomized trial. *BMJ*. 2009;339(294):b4146.
- 86. Stiell IG, Clement C, Grimshaw J, Brison RJ, Rowe BH, et al. When knowledge transfer strategies don't work: A prospective 12-Centre cluster randomized trial of the Canadian CT Head Rule. *CMAJ.* 2010;182(14):1527-1532.
- Woods RA, Lee R, Ospina M, Lari H, Bullard MJ, Blitz S, Rowe BH. Consultation outcomes in the emergency department: Exploring rates and complexity. *Can J Emerg Med.* 2008;10:25-31.
- 88. Lee R, Woods R, Holroyd BR, Bullard M, Rowe BH. Consultations in emergency medicine: A systematic review of existing evidence. *Emerg Med J.* 2008;25(1):4-9.
- LaCoursiere DY, Nager CW. A comparison of two models of gynecology service consultation to the emergency department in an academic medical center. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2003;188:1166–1168.
- 90. Brenner BE, Holmes TM, Simpson DD. Reducing specialty consultation times in the emergency department [abstract]. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2004;11:463.



- 91. Howell EE, Bessman ES, Rubin HR. Hospitalists and an innovative emergency department admission process. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2004;19(3):266-268.
- 92. Boger E. Electronic tracking board reduces ED patient length of stay at Indiana Hospital. *J Emerg Nurs.* 2003;29(1):39-43.
- 93. Baumlin KM, Shapiro JS, Weiner C, Gottlieb B, Chawla N, Richardson LD. Clinical information system and process redesign improves emergency department efficiency. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf.* 2010;36(4):179-185.
- 94. Ayatollahi H, Bath PA, Goodacre S. IT in the emergency department: What is the impact of technology? . Paper presented at: Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Health Informatics, 2009.
- 95. Rowe BH, Bullard M, Holroyd B, Innes G, Schull M, Vandermeer B, Villa Roel C. *Knowledge synthesis and update in interventions to reduce ED overcrowding.* Edmonton, AB: Available at: http://emergencymed.med.ualberta.ca/Research/Areas-of-Research/Pages/Research-Highlights.aspx.
- 96. Karriem-Norwood VA, Haley LL, Click L. Care management unit impact on emergency department overcrowding. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2006;13((5, Suppl. 1)):S29.
- 97. Hedayati T, Desai S, Henderson SO. The effect of implementation of an observation unit on emergency department wait time to initial physician evaluation, emergency department length of stay, emergency department boading times, and percentage of patients who left without being seen. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2008;52(4):S112.
- 98. Kelen GD, Scheulen JJ, Hill PM. Effect of an emergency department (ED) managed acute care unit on ED overcrowding and emergency medical services diversion. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2001;8(11):1095-1100.
- 99. Gonnah R, Hegazi MO, Hmdy I, Shenoda MMM. Can a change in policy reduce emergency hospital admissions? Effect of admission avoidance team, guideline implementation and maximising the observation unit. *Emerg Med J.* 2008;25(9):575-578.
- 100. Dick RS, Schneider SM, Macdonald I. A cure for crowding: the impact of an emergency department observation unit on ambulance. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2005;12((5, Suppl. 1)):10.



- 101. Villa-Roel C, Guo X, Holroyd BR, Innes G, Wong L, Ospina M, Schull M, Vandermeer B, Bullard MJ, Rowe BH. The role of full capacity protocols on mitigating overcrowding EDs. *Am J Emerg Med.* 2011:(in press).
- 102. Drummond AJ. No room at the inn: overcrowding in Ontario's emergency departments. *CJEM.* 2002;4(2):91-97.
- 103. Eggertson L. Emergency problems result of bed shortages, doctors contend. *CMAJ.* 2004;170(11):1653-1654.
- 104. Dawson H, Zinck G. ED spending in Canada: a focus on the cost of patients waiting for access to an in-patient bed in Ontario. *Healthcare Quarterly.* 2009;12(1):25-28.
- 105. Wong HJ, Morra D, Caesar M, Carter MW, Abrams H. Understanding hospital and emergency department congestion: an examination of inpatient admission trends and bed resources. *CJEM.* 2010;12(1):18-26.
- 106. Schull MJ, Szalai JP, Schwartz B, Redelmeier DA. Emergency department overcrowding following systematic hospital restructuring: trends at twenty hospitals over ten years. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2001;8(11):1037-1043.
- 107. Boaden R, Proudlove N, Wilson M. An exploratory study of bed management. *J Mangemnt Med.* 1999;13(4):234-250.
- 108. Howell E, Bessman E, Kravet S, Kolodner K, Marshall R, Wright S. Active bed management by hospitalists and emergency department throughput. *Ann Intern Med.* 2008;149:804-811.
- 109. Howell E, Bessman E, Marshall R, Wright S. Hospitalist bed management effecting throughput from the emergency department to the intensive care unit. *J Crit Care.* 2010;25:184-189.
- 110. Proudlove N, Boaden R, Jorgensen J. Developing bed manages: the why and the how. *J Nurs Manag.* 2007;15:34-42.
- 111. Li JY, Yong TY, Bennett DM, O'Brien LT, Roberts S, Hakendorf P, Ben-Tovim DI, Phillips PA, Thompson CH. Outcomes of establishing an acute assessment unit in the general medical service of a tertiary teaching hospital. *Med J Aust.* 2010;192(7):384-387.
- 112. Brand CA, Kennedy MP, King-Kallimanis BL, Williams G, Bain CA, Russell DM. Evaluation of the impact of implementation of a Medical Assessment and Planning Unit on length of stay. *Aust Health Rev.* 2010;34(3):334-339.



- 113. Moloney ED, Bennett K, O'Riordan D, Silke B. Emergency department census of patients awaiting admission following reorganisation of an admissions process. *Emerg Med J.* 2006;23(5):363-367.
- 114. Rooney T, Moloney ED, Bennett K, O'Riordan D, Silke B. Impact of an acute medical admission unit on hospital mortality: A 5-year prospective study. *QJM.* 2008;101(6):457-465.
- 115. Wolf JS, Hubbard H, Faraday MM, Forrest JB. Clinical practice guidelines to inform evidencebased clinical practice. *World J Urol.* 2011;29:303-309.
- 116. Weingarten S, Riedinger MS, Sandhu M, Bowers C, Ellrodt G, Nunn C, Hobson P, Greengold N. Can practice guidelines safely reduce hospital length of stay? Results from a multicenter interventional study. *Am J Med.* 1998;105:33-40.
- 117. *Improving access to emergency care: addressing system issues.*: http://www.health.gov.on.ca/english/public/pub/ministry_reports/improving_access/imp roving_access.pdf; 2006 August.
- 118. http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/2132.asp.
- 119. http://www.waittimealliance.ca/media/2011reportcard/WTA2011-reportcard_e.pdf.
- 120. Shepperd S, McClaran J, Phillips C, Lannin NA, Clemson LM, McCluskey A, Cameron ID, Barras SL. Discharge planning from hospital to home. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2010;(1):CD000313.
- 121. Glasby J, Littlechild R, Pryce K. All dressed up but nowhere to go? Delayed hospital discharges and older people. *J Health Serv Res Policy*. 2006;11(1):52-58.
- 122. Cowdell F, Lees B, Wade M. Discharge planning. Armchair fan. *Health Serv J.* 2002;112(5807):28-29.
- 123. King DL, Ben-Tovim DI, Bassham J. Redesigning emergency department patient flows: application of Lean Thinking to health care. *Emerg Med Australas.* 2006;18(4):391-397.
- 124. Schuur JD, Collins D, Smith A, Listano R, Kulkarni R, D'Onofrio G. Use of Lean Techniques to simplify admission procedures and decrease Ed process time. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2007;50:S90.
- 125. Rowe BH, Crooks J, Evans J, Sales A, Mumme S, Johnston T, Houston C, for the ESSC evaluation group. A controlled trial of a system-wide, multifaceted strategy to reduce overcrowding: Impact on health services outcomes. *CJEM*. 2009;11:274.



- 126. Maon S, Freeman J, Croft S, Yap C, Cross S. The impact of time targets on patient care and outcomes in UK emergency departments: a retrospective analysis of routine data. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2008;15:S198.
- 127. Spektor M, Ramsay C, Sommer B, Likourezos A, Davidson S. Electronic Dashboard and a multidisciplinary hospital-wide team decrease patient throughput intervals and reduce the number of admitted patients held in the emergency department. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2008;15:S220.
- 128. Toncich G, Cameron P, Virtue E, Bartlett J, Ugoni A. Institute foe health improvement collaborative trial to improve process time in an Australian emergency department. *J Quality Clin Pract.* 2000;20:79-86.
- 129. Cardin S, Afilalo M, Lang E, Collet JP, Colacone A, Tselios C, Dankoff J, Guttman A. Intervention to decrease emergency department crowding: does it have an effect on return visits and hospital readmissions? *Ann Emerg Med.* 2003;41:173-185.
- 130. Kyriacou DN, Ricketts V, Dyne PL, McCollough MD, Talan DA. A 5-year time study analysis of emergency department patient care efficiency. *Ann Emerg Med.* 1999;34(3):326-335.
- 131. Leaver C, Anderson G, Rowe BH, Stukel T, Schull MJ. Quantitative results from an Ontario hospital patient flow improvement program pilot to improve emergency department waiting times. *CJEM*. 2009;11:273.
- 132. Mason S, Weber EJ, Coster J, Freeman J, Locker T. Time Patients Spend in the Emergency Department: England's 4-Hour Rule—A Case of Hitting the Target but Missing the Point? . *Ann Emerg Med.* 2011 (in press):http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0196064411015411.
- 133. Coleman J, Sutherland-Boal A, Chase M, McCurdy G. Emergency Department Pay for Performance Pilot.: http://acaho.org/docs_new/Patient%20Flow/12-VCH-Emergency%20Department%20Pay%20for%20Performance%20(Final).pdf.
- 134. Cameron PA, Kennedy MP, McNeil JJ. The effects of bonus payments on emergency service performance in Victoria. *Med J Aust.* 1999;171(5):243-246.
- 135. Le Grand J. Competition, cooperation, or control? Tales from the British National Health Service. *Health Affairs.* 1999;18(3):27-39.



- 136. Borowitz M. OECD Health Policy Studies Value for Money in Health Spending. 2010:www.oecd.org/health/valueformoney.
- 137. Van Herck P, De Smedt D, Annemans L, Remmen R, Rosenthal MB, Sermeus W. Systematic review: Effects, design choices, and context of pay-for-performance in health care. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2010;10:247.
- Collier R. Activity-based hospital funding: boon or boondoggle? *CMAJ.* 2008;178(11):1407-1408.
- 139. http://www.cadth.ca/en/products/environmental-scanning/health-technology-update/ht-update-12/activity-based-funding-models-in-canadian-hospitals.
- 140. Hughes G. Four hour target for EDs: the UK experience. *Emerg Med Australas.* 2010;22(5):368-373; doi: 310.1111/j.1742-6723.2010.01326.x.
- Jones P, Schimanski K. The four hour target to reduce Emergency Department 'waiting time': a systematic review of clinical outcomes. *Emerg Med Australas.* 2010;22(5):391-398. doi: 310.1111/j.1742-6723.2010.01330.x. Epub 02010 Sep 01329.
- 142. Lewis S, Barer M, Sanmartin C, Sheps S, Shortt S, McDonald P. Ending waiting-list mismanagement: principles and practice. *CMAJ.* 2000;162(9):1297-1300.
- 143. Hill PM, Rothman R, Saheed M, Deruggiero K, Hsieh YH, Kelen GD. A comprehensive approach to achieving near 100% compliance with The Joint Commission Core Measures for pneumonia antibiotic timing. *Am J Emerg Med.* 2010;29(9):989-998.
- 144. Locker TE, Mason SR. Analysis of the distribution of time that patients spend in emergency departments. *BMJ.* 2005;330(7501):1188-1189.
- 145. Fee C, Weber E, Sharpe BA, Nguy M, Quon T, Bookwalter T. JCAHO/CMS core measures for community-acquired pneumonia. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2006;47(5):505-506.
- 146. Schull MJ, Guttmann A, Leaver CA, Vermeulen M, Hatcher CM, Rowe BH, Zwarenstein M, Anderson GM. Prioritizing Performance Measurement for Emergency Department Care: Consensus on Evidence-Based Quality of Care Indicators. *Can J Emerg Med.* 2011;13(5):300-309.
- 147. Ospina M, Kelly K, Klassen TP, Rowe BH. Publication bias of randomized controlled trials in Emergency Medicine. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2006;13:102-108.



Appendix A: Summary Tables

Table 1: Comparative Effectiveness Studies for CPOE.

Author, year	Patients, Country	Design	Interventions	Outcome	
Spalding, 2011	ED patients, USA	Before-After	CPOE vs no CPOE	↓ LOS (-30; 95%CI: - 28 to -33)	
Asaro, 2008	ED patients, USA	Before-After	CPOE vs no CPOE	↑ MD time spent with computers (30.0% to 38.9%; p = 0.02)	
				↑ nurse time spent with computers (9.5% to 25.7%; p < 0.01)	
Note: ED = Emergency Department; CI = confidence intervals; CPOE = computerized physician order entry; MD = physician.					



Author, year	Patients,	Design	Interventions	Outcome
	Country			
Saxena A,	ND*, USA	Prospective	Stat lab	No data on LOS.
1993		observational	implementation	
		study		
Parvin CA,	2067, USA	Prospective	Stat lab vs Central	LOS didn't differ
1996		comparative	lab	(p=0.4)
		study		
Kendall J, 1998	1728, UK	RCT	POC testing vs	\downarrow Decision times by
			central lab testing	74 mins (p<0.0001)
				↓ LOS (7.8 hrs; 95%
				CI: 6.9 to 8.6 vs. 8.3
				hrs; 95% CI: 7.5 to
				9.1; p=0.33)
Murray RP,	180, Canada	RCT	POC testing vs	\downarrow LOS (3.28 hrs; IQR:
1999			central lab testing	2.28, 5.30 vs. 4.22
				hrs; IQR: 3.04, 5.47)
Lee-	369, USA	Before-After	POC testing vs	\downarrow LOS by 41.3 mins
Lewandrowski			traditional	(<i>p</i> <0.006)
E, 2003			laboratory analysis.	↑ MD satisfaction
				(2.3 difference in a
				1-5 scale, <i>p</i> <0.001)
Holland LL,	~45.000 (11	Prospective	Reducing lab TAT	LOS correlated with
2005	hospitals),	observational	outliers	the percentage of
	USA	study		total laboratory
				outliers (R2 = 0.75;
				<i>p</i> < .01) the TAT
				means (R2 = 0.66; <i>p</i>
			200	< 0.01).
Hsaio. AL,	225, USA	RCT	POC testing vs	\downarrow TAT by 65.0 mins
2007			traditional	(<i>p</i> <0.001)
			laboratory analysis.	\downarrow LOS by 38.5 mins
				(<i>p</i> < 0.001)
Singer AJ,	11266, USA	Before-After	No stat lab vs Stat	\downarrow LOS (466 mins;
2008			lab	IQR: 337, 649 vs
				402; IQR: 296, 553)
Note: *ND = Not	documented; I	QR = interquart	lle range; LOS = length	of stay; POC = point-
of-care; RCT = randomized controlled trial; TAT = turnaround time.				

Table 2: Summary of studies on improving laboratory testing access.



Author, year	Patients,	Design	Interventions	Health Services
	Country			Outcome
Shih C, 1997	115, USA	Prospective	ED physicians	↓ median ED LOS
		comparative	performing pelvic	by 4 mins (60
		study	sonography vs.	mins vs. 180
			radiologists or	mins, p<0.001)
Blaivas M,	1242, USA	Prospective	ED physicians vs.	↓ median ED LOS
1999		comparative	radiologists screening	by 32 mins (95%
		study	ultrasound	CI = 5 min to 55
			examinations of the	min, p = 0.02).
			gallbladder.	\downarrow median ED LOS
				by 73 mins
				(95%CI=28min
				to 116 min,
				p=0.001) in
				discharged
				patients
				presenting after
				hours.
Lindelius A,	800, Sweden	RCT	Bedside ultrasound	\downarrow ED LOS by 16
2008, 2009			(performed by a	mins (4.22 hours
			surgeon or an ED	vs. 4.38 hours)
			physician) vs. no-	\downarrow Admissions by
			bedside ultrasound in	7% (42.9% vs.
			the management of	50.1 hours,
			patients with acute	p=0.041)
			abdominal pain.	\downarrow Hospital LOS by
				1 day (5.4 days
				vs. 4.3 days)
Chien M, 2011	58, USA	Prospective	Bedside ultrasound vs.	↓ mean ED LOS
		comparative	no-bedside ultrasound	by 4 mins (167 ±
		study	in the diagnosis of	47 mins vs. 171 ±
			pediatric clavicle	39 mins)
			fractures.	
Note: ED = eme	rgency departm	ient; CI = confide	ence intervals; LOS = lengt	th of stay.

Table 3: Summary of studies on beside ultrasound in the ED.



Author, year	Patients, Country	Design	Interventions	Outcome
Hegney, 2006	ED patients, Australia	Before- After	Risk-screening process vs. standard discharge care	 ↓ 16% re- presentation rate; ↓ mean LOS from 6.17 days/pt. to 5.37 days/pt.
Guttman, 2004	ED patients, USA	Before- After	Nurse discharge plan coordinator (providing patient education, coordination of appointments, patient education and telephone follow-up) vs. standard discharge care	↓27% (95% CI: 0%, 44%) re- presentation rate (up to eight days post-discharge)
Moss, 2002	ED patients, Australia	Before- After	Risk-screening and referral to a Care Coordination Team (CCT) vs. standard discharge care	↓ hospital admissions from ED (30.9% [95% CI: 30.5, 31.3] vs. 32.6% [95% CI, 32.2-33.0]; <i>p</i> < 0.001)
Note: ED = emer	gency departme	ent; CI = con	fidence intervals; LOS = leng	gth of stay.

Table 4: Summary of studies on discharge facilitators.



Author, year	Patients, Country	Design	Interventions	Outcome
Boger, 2006	ED patients, Indiana	Before- after	electronic tracking board	↓3.7% LWBS ↓15.3 % in number of pt. waiting in the 4 – 6 hr range
Baumlin, 2010	ED patients, USA	Before- after	workflow redesigns + EDIS	↓28% LOS for all patients (from 6.69 hours (n = 508) to 4.75 hrs (n = 691) (<i>p</i> < 0.001)
Note: LWBS = left without being seen; ED = emergency department; CI = confidence intervals; LOS = length of stay.				

Table 5: Summary of studies on ED Information Systems.


Author, year	Patients, Country	Design	Interventions	Outcome
Moloney ED, 2006	11928, Ireland	Before and after.	AMAU vs. no AMAU.	↓ overall LOS from 7 days in 2002 to 5 days in 2003 and 2004; p<0.0001)
				↓ median number of patients waiting in the ED for a hospital bed from 14 in 2002 to 9 in 2003 and 8 in 2004; p<0.0001).
Downing H, 2008	209, UK	Before and after.	SSU vs. no SSU.	↓ overall LOS from 5.5 days in 2005 to 4.6 days in 2006; p=0.02)
				↓ mean daily number of patients staying on non- medical wards from 38 to 11; p=0.015).
				No differences in readmission rates and percentage of bed occupancy.
Rooney T, 2008	19528, Ireland	Before and after.	AMAU vs. no AMAU.	↓ all-cause hospital mortality from 12.6% to 7.0% (p<0.0001). OR for mortality was 0.28 (95% CI 0.23 to 0.35).
Jamdar RP, 2009	74, UK	Prospective observational study	MAU vs. No MAU.	↑ rate of patients seen in the MAU from 17% to 26%, p<0.001.

Table 6: Summary of studies on Medical Assessment Units.



				↓ readmission rate from 8% to 4% (p=0.12).
Li JYZ, 2010	2652, Australia	Before-after	AAU vs. no AAU.	↓ mean LOS from 6.8 days in 2003 to 5.7 days in 2006; p<0.001).
				↓ admitted patients waiting in the ED>8 hours from 28.7% to 17.9%; p<0.001) and>12 hours from 20.2% to 10.4%; p<0.001). No differences in relapses at 7 and 28 days.
				↓ all-cause hospital mortality from 4.5% to 3.7% (p=0.056).
Brand CA, 2010	1623, Australia	Before and after.	MAPU vs. no MAPU.	No statistically significant difference in LOS (10.3 vs. 13.2 hours). ↓ mortality from
				7.6% to 3.2% (p<0.001).
Note: AMAU= acute medical admissions; LOS = length of stay; SSU= short stay unit; MAU= medical assessment unit; AAU= acute assessment unit; MAPU= medical assessment and planning unit; OR= odds ration; CI = confidence intervals; ED= emergency department.				



Author, year	Patients, Country	Design	Interventions	Outcome
Coldwell F, 2002	In-patients, UK	Before- after	Discharge lounge; set-up cost £2,000 and the lounge is equipped with armchairs, television and video equipment.	6074 bed hours saved over 1 year.
Note: ED = emergency department; CI = confidence intervals; LOS = length of stay.				

Table 7: Summa	ry of study or	n discharge l	ounges.



APPENDIX VII: Physician Advocacy and Intimidation – A Comprehensive Review

Physician Advocacy and Intimidation A Comprehensive Review





Report for the Health Quality Council of Alberta

Physician Advocacy and Intimidation A Comprehensive Review

Authors

Nishan Sharma MSc EdD Karen Zwicker BSc William A Ghali MD MPH

Affiliations

Ward of the 21st Century (W21C) and Institute for Public Health, and Faculty of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB

Correspondence:

Dr. William Ghali, MD Ward of the 21st Century GD01 TRW Building 3280 Hospital Dr NW Calgary, Alberta T2N 4Z6

December 2011



Executive Summary

- This is a comprehensive review of both the scholarly and grey literature on physician advocacy, with a focus on the issue of intimidation of physicians when advocating for patient populations. The report highlights evidence for effective strategies that address the issue of physician advocacy on matters of health policy and public policy, with emphasis on articles relevant to the Canadian and Albertan context.
- The report defines advocacy and the need for physicians to be involved in health promotion, discusses barriers to advocacy, highlights cases of physician intimidation by government and governing bodies, and concludes with a section on teaching advocacy.
- Our review reveals that there are numerous writings that affirm the physician advocate role, and framework papers that position the advocacy role for physicians in the context of their other roles, most notably that of a care provider to individual patients.
- There is a rich historical record dating back at least to Hippocrates (and probably earlier as well) of physicians acting as advocates. In relation to some of the advocacy led by physicians through history, there are also published accounts of physicians being subject to intimidation. These accounts of advocacy and intimidation appear in both the peer-reviewed and grey literature.
- Notably, the geographic distribution and historical spread of these accounts reveal them to be rather ubiquitous, occurring in both remote and recent times, and occurring in many jurisdictions across Canada and beyond.
- The Canadian Medical Protective Association (CMPA) has produced notable writings on advocacy by physicians, and on intimidation. Those writings point out that disagreements and conflict can arise when physicians assume an advocacy role, and that conflict should not always be viewed as a negative. It is often through conflict that an issue is fully exposed and better understood. The corollary from this is that physicians should engage in advocacy activities, recognizing that their voice in matters of public policy debate can trigger some degree of opposition, and even conflict.
- The fact that conflict has in some historical instances arisen from scenarios of physician advocacy does not forgive the perpetrators of intimidation. In a Canadian context, governments and health system administrators need to embrace the notion of physician



advocacy, and its importance in advancing health and health care in this country. The physician voice needs to be welcomed by governments, on behalf of the public.

- Physicians, meanwhile, need to engage as constructively as possible when assuming an advocacy role, adopting approaches to advocacy that are focused on issues and positive change, rather than on shame and negativity.
- Our review identified a number of writings that point to a need for increased teaching and training on advocacy in medical schools, to better prepare physicians to be impactful in the sphere of public policy.



The Context of This Report

In relation to recent, well publicized allegations of physician intimidation by government in Alberta (1, 2), this review is part of a larger Health Quality Council of Alberta (HQCA) mandate "to investigate the role and ability of physicians to advocate for patients whose quality of care and safety the physicians believe is or could be compromised due to system resources or policies" (3). The overriding goals of this report are to review written accounts (and case studies) of physicians assuming roles of advocates, and also situations of intimidation of physicians. From these, we also assess whether the literature describes frameworks for thinking about constructs of advocacy, and whether the literature presents curricular models for the teaching of advocacy in medical schools.

Methods

We used the key terms listed in Table 1 in our search to retrieve potentially relevant papers from the databases listed in Table 2. These databases covered the broad topics of healthcare, psychology, sociology, philosophy (for ethics papers) and the law. The review also encompassed a variety of grey literature databases, and websites for professional associations and research reports, using the key terms listed in Table 1. The grey literature searched is listed in Table 3.



Table 1: Search terms used in systematic review

Search Term	Related Terms
physician	doctor, surgeon, general practitioner, GP
advocat*	advocacy, champion, spokesman, defend, uphold
physician advocacy	
patient(s)	
intimidation	
government	
consumer advocacy	
health policy	politics
policy reform	
Canada	
health care reform	
patient rights	



Table 2: Scientific and peer-review literature databases searched in systematic review

Database
MEDLINE
PubMED
PsycINFO
Social Work Abstracts
Sociological Abstracts
Philosopher's Index
Index to Canadian Legal Literature
LegalTrac



Table 3: Grey literature databases and sources searched for systematic review

Database	Related URL
Grey Literature Report	www.nyam.org/library/online-resources/grey-literature-report/
KUUC E-Watch Newsletter	www.santepop.qc.ca/en/
Trip Database (excluding	www.tripdatabase.com
MEDLINE)	
Proquest Dissertations and	
Abstracts	
Canadian Health Research	
Collection	
Research and Development	www.rdrb.utoronto.ca
Resource Database	
Professional Associations	
Canadian Medical	
Association	
American Medical	
Association	
World Medical Association	www.wma.net/en/60about/10members/21memberlist/index.html
Canadian Health Information	www.echima.ca
Management Association	
Canadian Healthcare	www.cha.ca
Association	
Canadian Patient Safety	www.patientsafetyinstitute.ca/English/Pages/default.aspx
Institute	
Scopus	
Google	



Papers Eligible for Review

The scientific and grey literature searches identified approximately 1520 papers, along with approximately 30 press pieces (total 1550 articles – see Figure 1). The titles and abstracts of these articles were then screened for relevance to the topic. Inclusion criteria screened for papers that discussed:

- A useful working definition of advocacy at the community or societal level of medicine
- Whether physicians could advocate safely
- Models for teaching advocacy
- Intimidation or cases of physicians being cited or sanctioned by governing bodies or government
- Physician advocacy in countries with similar government-funded models of health care (e.g. the United Kingdom and Australia)

Papers were excluded if they focused on:

- Physician intimidation by patients
- Physician advocacy associated with managed care and health maintenance organizations (HMOs) in the United States
- Non-physician models of advocacy (i.e. other healthcare workers)

From initial screening, 80 articles were selected for further analysis and relevance to this review. The bibliographies of these articles revealed another 15 references for possible inclusion that were not found in the initial 1550 citations. As a result of these steps, we chose to include the articles that lent themselves to the current review.



Figure 1: Flowchart diagram of study selection process





Defining Advocacy

Earnest, Shane and Federico (4) argue that despite calls for physician advocacy from the American Board of Internal Medicine and the American Medical Association in their respective charters, the concept "remains problematic because it remains undefined". Earnest and colleagues draw the distinction between advocating for the individual patient ("an accepted component of ethical practice") from the broader perspective of "public advocacy", and defines physician advocacy as follows:

"Action by a physician to promote those social, economic, educational, and political changes that ameliorate the suffering and threats to human health and well-being that he or she identifies through his or her professional work and expertise".

Earnest *et al.* (4)

The allusion to advocacy beyond the scope of an individual physician's practice aligns well with the scope of this work, and will serve as the touchstone for this comprehensive review.

Other Definitions

Other authors also offer definitions of advocacy that help to establish what is meant by those who speak of physician advocacy. Forster (5) suggests that various definitions of advocacy have four shared principles in common, namely that advocacy:

- Is biased it is not undertaken from a neutral position
- Must be structured to be as free from conflict of interest as possible
- "Must be guided by a clear understanding of the social situation"
- Requires "competence and vehemence on the part of the advocate, who must possess contextually specific and necessary knowledge and abilities in order to assert interests"

Hurley (6) echoes Forster's fourth point in her description of what is entailed in successful advocacy – knowledge, passion, skilled communication, vigilance and perseverance.

In the Canadian context, it is important to understand how the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (RCPSC) defines advocacy as part of the Health Advocate Role in its CanMEDS competencies (see Figure 2).



Figure 2: Description of the Health Advocate Role from the RCPSC (page 1 of 2)

t.	The CanMEDS 2005 Physician Competency Framework Insertice to the Approximent from the Health Advocate
Definition	As Health Advocates, physicians responsibly use their expertise and influence to advance the health and well-being of individual patients, communities, and populations.
Description	Physicians recognize their duty and ability to improve the overall health of their patients and the society they serve. Doctors identify advocacy activities as important for the individual patient, for populations of patients and for communities. Individual patients need physicians to assist them in navigating the healthcare system and accessing the appropriate health resources in a timely manner. Communities and societies need physicians' special expertise to identify and collaboratively address broad health issues and the determinants of health. At this level, health advocacy involves efforts to change specific practices or policies on behalf of those served. Framed in this multi-level way, health advocacy is an essential and fundamental component of health promotion. Health advocacy is appropriately expressed both by individual and collective actions of physicians in influencing public health and policy.
Elements:	 Advocacy for individual patients, populations and communities Health promotion and disease prevention Determinants of health, including psychological, biological, social, cultural and economic Fiduciary duty to care The medical profession's role in society Responsible use of authority and influence Mobilizing resources as needed Adapting practice, management and education to the needs of the individual patient Patient safety Principles of health policy and its implications Interactions of advocacy with other CanMEDS Roles and competencies
Key Competencies:	 Physicians are able to Respond to individual patient health needs and issues as part of patient care; Respond to the health needs of the communities that they serve; Identify the determinants of health of the populations that they serve; Promote the health of individual patients, communities and populations.
Enabling Competencies:	 Physicians are able to Respond to individual patient health needs and issues as part of patient care 1.1. Identify the health needs of an individual patient 1.2. Identify opportunities for advocacy, health promotion and disease prevention with individuals to whom they provide care

Copyright © 2005 The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. http://rcpsc.medical.org/canmeds. Reproduced with permission.



Figure 2 (cont'd): Description of the Health Advocate Role from the RCPSC (page 2 of 2)

The CanMEDS 2005 Physician Competency Framework

Health Advocate

- Respond to the health needs of the communities that they serve 2.1. Describe the practice communities that they serve
 - 2.2. Identify opportunities for advocacy, health promotion and disease prevention in the communities that they serve, and respond appropriately
 - 2.3. Appreciate the possibility of competing interests between the communities served and other populations
- Identify the determinants of health for the populations that they serve 3.1. Identify the determinants of health of the populations, including barriers to access to care and resources
 - 3.2. Identify vulnerable or marginalized populations within those served and respond appropriately
- 4. Promote the health of individual patients, communities, and populations
 - 4.1. Describe an approach to implementing a change in a determinant of health of the populations they serve
 - 4.2. Describe how public policy impacts on the health of the populations served
 - 4.3. Identify points of influence in the healthcare system and its structure
 - 4.4. Describe the ethical and professional issues inherent in health advocacy, including altruism, social justice, autonomy, integrity and idealism
 - 4.5. Appreciate the possibility of conflict inherent in their role as a health advocate for a patient or community with that of manager or gatekeeper
 - 4.6. Describe the role of the medical profession in advocating collectively for health and patient safety

Copyright © 2005 *The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. http://rcpsc.medical.org/canmeds. Reproduced with permission.*



"As Health Advocates, physicians responsibly use their expertise and influence to advance the health and well-being of individual patients, communities, and populations... Communities and societies need physicians' special expertise to identify and collaboratively address broad health issues and the determinants of health. At this level, health advocacy involves efforts to change specific practices or policies on behalf of those served."

Frank (7)

Tellingly, the Royal College description includes the duty of a physician to "identify the determinants of health of the populations, including barriers to access to care and resources" and "appreciate the possibility of conflict inherent in their role as a health advocate for a patient or community with that of manager or gatekeeper" (7). Levey and Hill echo the second point when they suggest that a "major problem" for health advocates is the conflict of interest they face as physicians who dispense care "under the burden of institutional and governmental constraints". "By its very nature, advocacy cannot abide constraint" (8).

Call for Advocacy – Is There a Need?

Historical

Schoolman (9) writes in the New England Journal of Medicine in 1977 that the physician has assumed many roles, a number of which are indispensable. Physician advocate is one of these roles, as Schoolman calls for medical education to "nourish and develop the native potential of its students".

Yewchuk (10) writing in the CMAJ, makes a forceful appeal to physicians to become active in Canadian political affairs:

"It has become obvious that the medical profession is more and more controlled by federal and provincial laws imposed by politicians, bureaucrats, administrators and others who are not necessarily either sympathetic to the medical profession or well informed on the health field in general...I believe that better representation of the medical profession in Parliament would decrease bureaucratic harassment of the profession".

Yewchuk (10)

A similar call appears, again in the CMAJ, more than 20 years later. Sullivan (11) outlines Dr. Ronald Stewart's (a politician in Nova Scotia) call to a national meeting of emergency physicians to become more politically involved.

Before Alberta physicians (specifically, family practitioners) could advocate at the community or population level, an article from 1980 suggests that family doctors first had to lobby for themselves. Imlach (12) outlines the College of Family Physicians (of Alberta - CFPA) decision to "put a little political pressure on the provincial government" to "make the voice of the general



practitioner heard in government", above what was seen as the dominant voice of specialists in the province. Past-president of the CFPA Dr. Peter Heaton suggests in the piece that GP views were not always passed on to government when the government consulted doctors.

Earnest and colleagues (4) put forward the argument that physicians are uniquely positioned to serve as public advocates for health. In addition to understanding the medical aspects of issues, physicians "are poised to observe and delineate the links between social factors and health", have a high degree of public trust, and due to high social standing "enjoy an unusual degree of access to policy makers".

Why advocate at the community level? Besides the fact that physicians are trained to advocate for the individual, Godkin (13) presents the argument that promoting health at this level would go along with the desire to control health care costs. This is because many patients enter the physician's care with illnesses that could have been prevented.

Bandiera (14) suggests that emergency departments have a high profile and a valued position in the public eye. Emergency physicians, often involved in primary care of patients, are positioned at the interface of healthcare with the public and liaise with many other physicians and allied health professionals. They also see many clinical presentations that could be addressed by preventative measures or behavior modifications, and interact with the patient at a time where they may be receptive to health advocacy initiatives. Bandiera (14) outlines numerous avenues to advocate, specifically through the professional organizations associated with the profession (RCPSC, the Canadian Medical Association, Health Canada, etc). Bandiera, Hillers and White (15) also put together and reviewed a compilation of trauma prevention initiatives in Canada, intended to address some of the preventable clinical presentations mentioned above.

Bandiera (14) also cites a number of examples where physicians have made an impact on public health through advocacy. For example, after identifying that Northern Ontario had a disproportionately high incidence of accidental death, Rowe *et al.* (16) wrote that most of these traumatic events were "clearly preventable". After identifying areas where education could make a difference (e.g. anti-drinking and driving campaigns, alerting drivers to wear seatbelts, improving flotation devices for use in boating, safe snowmobiling practices), Rowe and colleagues advocate for an effective and comprehensive injury prevention strategy. Spears (17) reports on the success of a campaign to decrease snowmobile related trauma, with physicians working with snowmobile clubs in Northern Ontario to halve the number of snowmobile-related deaths.



In another example, Bandiera (14) references a position paper prepared by the Ontario Medical Association (OMA) where the authors (including physicians) outline a comprehensive tobacco control program. The OMA paper recommends to Canadian federal, provincial and local governments a number of strategies to reduce tobacco use, including taxation, plain packaging of tobacco products, reduction in tobacco-related advertising, and "a requirement that all indoor workplaces and public places be 100 per cent tobacco free". The paper also explicitly states that the OMA will be involved in furthering these initiatives.

Arguments Proposing that Physicians Should NOT be Advocates

The above-mentioned writings both implicitly and explicitly endorse the notion of physicians acting as advocates in a public policy realm as a positive thing. There are others, however, who argue against physician involvement in advocacy. Huddle (19) makes the case that:

- Civic virtues such as advocating for a cause should be separated from the professional realm
- The profession should not require a particular political stance a necessary part of advocacy
- Advocacy "seeks change rather than knowledge" thus undermining objectivity and neutrality
- Advocacy training should not be a university function as physicians are relatively ignorant of other competing societal needs

These arguments notwithstanding, the majority of medical writings on physician advocacy argue that physicians should indeed be advocates, and that major physician governing and licensing organizations such as the RCPSC, the Accreditation Council of Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) in the United States and the General Medical Council (GMC) explicitly endorse the practice. The authors of this review similarly endorse the notion here – physicians should be advocates in a public policy realm.

Published Accounts of Physician Advocacy

There are many published descriptions and case studies of physicians acting as advocates.

Earnest *et al.* (4) describe through a number of cases, ways in which doctors have become involved in advocacy through different mechanisms. For example, the authors describe the case of "Dr L", who after becoming increasingly alarmed at the lack of health insurance coverage available to his patients, made a motion at a meeting of his state medical society to make comprehensive health care reform the group's top priority. As a result of support for this initiative, the society



struck a Physician's Congress on Health Reform, which now provides "leadership and advocating for comprehensive health care reform at the state level". Earnest and co-authors also summarize the case of "Dr B", a rural practitioner in Washington State. Dr B noted the high incidence of obesity in his school-aged patients, and identified poor food choices found in local schools as a cause. He brought the issue to a local school board, and was asked to become a member to follow up on a successful project to change nutrition policy in schools. In another case, Earnest *et al.* describe how "Dr S", after calling her U.S. senator about a pending bill that would adversely affect her patients, accepted the opportunity to meet regularly with the senator. Since taking up the call, Dr S had become a trusted advisor on health-related issues. The authors also tell the story of "Dr R", an emergency department physician "sickened" by the number of cases she treated involving children being injured from falls from high-rise windows. Dr. R secured a small grant to place window guards on a number of local apartment buildings, and demonstrated a dramatic decrease in injuries, which the city council recognized and passed a law requiring protective guards on all high-rise windows.

Hurley (6) provides an excellent example of effective advocacy through the Canadian Association of Emergency Physician's (CAEP) involvement in changing gun control legislation in Canada. The CAEP joined the Canadian Coalition for Gun Control in 1992 to make gun control a public health and injury prevention issue. They used an evidence-based position paper and presentations to House of Commons and Senate committees to back Bill C-68, "the toughest gun legislation in the Western World".

In their annotated bibliography, Wright and Katcher (20) review the evolution of pediatricians advocating for children, providing a number of examples of physicians affecting federal legislation and policy making through advocacy. Abraham Bergman (21), a Seattle-based pediatrician approached a connection in his U.S. senator's office to present the case of children being burned when their pajamas ignited. It led to the passing of the state Flammable Fabric Act Amendments to increase safety standards and a dramatic drop in serious burn injuries to children. Bergman was also instrumental in the state Poison Prevention Packaging Act of 1970 after he repeatedly witnessed children falling victim to aspirin poisoning.

In 1993, when President Clinton's proposal to provide vaccines free of charge to all children was in jeopardy from conservative opposition, a group of pediatricians mobilized to support the effort from the grassroots level. The American Academy of Pediatricians had doctors in its network contact their local congressman around the United States to ask them to vote against opposition. In this case, although the scope of the vaccination program was more limited than



originally conceived, pediatricians were able to mobilize enough votes to help establish a program that was broader and more effective than that proposed by opposition (22).

Swift *et al.* (23) provide yet another example of grass-roots advocacy by physicians. In the described instance, physicians undertook a telemarketing campaign targeting patients and the general public to change public sentiment and help vote through a tax to keep a medical centre open. These examples illustrate that physicians can be effective advocates.

Barriers to Advocacy

If it is accepted that physicians should engage in health advocacy, and success and impact of doctors advocating at the community or societal level is evident, what prevents large proportions of physicians from taking on the practice? This section of the review focuses on barriers to physician advocacy.

Bandiera (14), in a review of advocacy by emergency physicians, reports that "staff emergency physicians often do not feel adequately prepared to address many health-determinant issues". They also face time pressure in their jobs, and have limited contact with patients after discharge. The notion of insufficient time for advocacy is reinforced by a survey of trainees at the University of British Columbia by Stafford *et al.* (26) that found that residents identified insufficient time, a lack of rest and general stress as reasons they did not engage in health advocacy. Insufficient time for advocacy in training programs is particularly challenging as pointed out by Bandiera (14) who asserts that "the (CanMEDS) Health Advocate Role is the role least understood and least addressed by program directors and residents in Canadian training programs".

The history of health advocacy for change is full of cases where advocates have met with great resistance from the medical establishment, the public, and government organizations. Tulchinsky and Varavikova (24) cite prominent examples such as opposition to Edward Jenner and his smallpox vaccine, and Ignaz Semmelweis and his ideas about the reduction of infection using antiseptics, among others.

Earnest and colleagues (4) suggest that there are a number of reasons that physicians might not engage in advocacy activities:

- Medical schools may favour academically successful students above those oriented to service
- The focus on medical training within the confines of the medical school reduces student exposure to issues in the community



- Physicians may become used to the control they feel in the clinical environment, and may be uncomfortable with the uncertainty associated with action and advocacy away from their regular sphere of practice
- Time is a scarce commodity for most physicians, and advocacy takes time away from the practice
- Doctors are trained to not indulge personal opinion and preferences in the clinical encounter, and may be uncomfortable doing so in the public domain
- Potential advocates fear political fallout if she/he takes a stand that may be unpopular within their institution
- While physicians are trained to make decisions based on the "hard evidence" of randomized controlled trials, public advocacy can be a messy and chaotic practice, with fewer facts and more rhetoric, opinion and argument

Beck (25) opines that physicians may suffer from "advocate fatigue", where physicians must balance their mandate to be the patient's champion against the bureaucracy of practicing medicine. That is, the battle to order labs and tests in a timely manner, the legal responsibilities for what happens to patients under their care, and the cost-conscious environment in which they are practicing medicine. The daily grind of advocating for the individual patient may reduce the likelihood of a physician engaging in advocacy at the community or population level.

Godkin (13) writes "Although many physicians are currently involved in community activities, medical education needs to place greater emphasis on training students to become community advocates for a clinical population that can be defined by geographic, demographic, occupational, life-style, or sociocultural criteria".

Intimidation

Building on Earnest and colleagues' (4) suggestion (mentioned above) that physicians may fear the political fallout of taking an unpopular stance on a contentious issue, we next focus on the topic of intimidation of physicians engaged in advocacy. The Canadian Medical Protection Association (CMPA) has recognized in its writings the fear of reprimand from individuals in positions of power as a potential side effect of advocacy:

"At the system level, physicians are leaders in advocating for safer care through the establishment of appropriate policies, the allocation of adequate resources, and the implementation of changes in institutional and clinical practices that reduce the likelihood of adverse outcomes. However, such advocacy can occasionally bring a physician into conflict



with either a colleague or with the health authority or hospital administration... Unfortunately, instead of dealing with conflict in a constructive manner that exploits the potential benefits that can be accrued by an organization, the CMPA has observed increasing efforts to stifle appropriate advocacy for system improvements. Such efforts may negatively impact individual physicians, the medical profession, and patient care."

Statement from CMPA (27)

The CMPA has documented cases of physician intimidation across Canada, and compiled a record of over 100 intimidation-related cases in their 2002 publication (27). The CMPA commentary asserts that "physicians often feel threatened or intimidated by...other health care providers, other physicians, the media, the police or lawyers".

In a recent well-publicized Ontario case of physician intimidation, Eggertson (28) wrote an article entitled "Mayoral candidate assails activist doctors". In this piece, she quotes Rob Ford (then a mayoral candidate and now mayor of Toronto) saying, "A doctor is there to be a doctor, not to advocate for the poor, or to be the official opposition in government through taxpayer's money". The doctor in question, Dr. Ronald Wong, was "accused" of filling out forms that allowed people on social assistance to access extra money to help them deal with food allergies. In response, Wong says "It [Ford's argument] is a form of harassment...when a complaint was not made by a patient, but by a politician". Dr. Gary Bloch, a member of Health Providers Against Poverty, is quoted as saying "He [Wong] is a very strong advocate for this...This is clearly an attempt to muzzle him". Simchison (29) echoes the message "This situation constitutes harassment of a well-intentioned physician".

Jenny (30) describes a high profile case of intimidation of physicians in the United Kingdom, and discusses the "persistent attack" of pediatricians who deal with child abuse cases in the UK. The author suggests that the attacks occur both in the press and, more disturbingly, by the GMC (the licensing organization for physicians in the UK). Williams *et al.* (31) suggest that the decisions of the GMC, when it comes to physicians advocating against child abuse, intimidate doctors involved in these cases.

In a well publicized case from Alberta, Dr. David Swann was fired from his position as a Medical Health Officer by the board of his local health authority in 2002 (32). Dr. Swann's dismissal was an alleged reaction to his public statements that the Alberta government should work to meet targets set by the international Kyoto agreement to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, when the government was opposed to the agreement for its potential economic impact. The Alberta government's opposition party then accused the ruling party of intimidation and called for the provincial health minister's resignation (33).



Intimidation of Whistleblowers

An editorial in the prominent journal The Lancet (34) discusses the lack of whistleblowers in the case of the Mid-Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust, where "poor practice" was blamed for "more deaths than expected" in the period between 2005 and 2008. "Many doctors were silent at Stafford for fear of reprisal, according to a 2009 review by the Department of Health. Sadly, their fears are valid". The article goes on to say that whistleblowers "face a hostile and stressful environment in the NHS...Many of those who report poor practice have been subject to sanctions, suspension, and dismissal".

Similarly, Furlow (35) discusses intimidation of physician whistleblowers in the United States. The article cites a representative of the US Government Accountability Project as saying "The law's degenerated into a trap – an effective mechanism for finishing off whistleblowers naïve enough to assert their rights" and "Blacklisting is more aggressive in the medical profession than any other industry".

Teaching Advocacy

Organizations such as the World Health Organization, the ACGME and the RCPSC have all issued guidelines regarding physicians and social responsibility and medical education and practice (34). In exploring the philosophical understanding of physicians and social responsibility and its implications on medical education, Dharamsi *et al.* (36) write "A curriculum focused on developing social responsibility in future physicians will require pedagogical approaches that are innovative, collaborative, participatory, and transformative".

Despite the need for educating students and physicians on advocacy, it is a difficult task. Frank and Langer (37) reported that the Health Advocate CanMEDS role was one of the two most difficult for educators to teach and evaluate.

Surveys, including that conducted by Stafford *et al.* (26), also suggest that residents felt inadequately prepared by their education to take on the role of health advocate. Verma, Flynn and Seguin (38) go as far as saying "the role of the physician as health advocate is in danger of being lost between the competing needs of the physician and individual patient, and the availability of health care resources". The same researchers report that a literature search found no studies on the curriculum of health care advocacy in residency education in Canada circa 2005. They identified barriers to teaching health advocacy such as:

• Time pressure to deliver other parts of the curriculum



- Residents did not see their teaching faculty role modeling health advocacy in their daily practice
- Faculty members felt unsure about their roles in teaching advocacy, having never learned it in their own training
- Lack of remuneration for advocacy activities

In the context of official declaration on the need for physicians to serve as advocates, and the recognition that physicians feel unprepared to take on the advocacy role, the barriers discussed here need to be explicitly considered in the planning of undergraduate curricula. Exposure of medical trainees to health issues of relevance to public policy is of great value, and the development of training modules or courses in approaches to advocacy need to be considered.

Mu, Shuroff and Dharamsi (39) make recommendations as to how best incorporate health advocacy related competencies into medical training. Their qualitative study suggests that "early exposure to social injustice, parental influences, role modeling and internal motivators were seen as important inspirations for health advocacy". They recommend creating an "enabling and nurturing environment" before and during residency to motivate students in health advocacy. This might be done by creating protected time for residents to engage in advocacy and providing experiential learning opportunities.

Earnest and colleagues (4) believe that the teaching of physician advocacy would ideally include:

- Undergraduate courses with instruction in the determinants of health
- Resident training in preventive and population health perspectives
- Training in leadership and social/organizational change
- Media training
- Training in policy-making
- Opportunities to practice skills and advocacy
- Mentors for learners wanting to learn about advocacy
- Medical schools developing stronger ties to community
- Accrediting bodies endorsing advocacy competencies
- Schools encouraging and rewarding faculty advocacy activities
- More funding



Existing Programs

Dworkis, Wilbur and Sandel (40) present a list of learning objectives from the Boston University School of Medicine multi-year curriculum on advocacy. Students receive training in advocacy theory, advocacy execution and communication, and conduct advocacy projects. The curriculum's learning objectives are to:

- Identify and distinguish between the roles physicians perform within the spectrum of advocacy
- Develop rigorous understanding of the social determinants of health
- Distill clinical observations from multiple patients into a well-defined advocacy issue
- Engage in small advocacy projects (e.g. writing an op-ed for a local paper)
- Complete a press release, oral presentation or lecture for nonmedical community

Bandiera (14) outlines the Emergency Medicine Subspecialty Training Committee of the RCPSC model curriculum, based on the University of Toronto's Fellowship in Emergency Medicine training curriculum. The curriculum includes small-group sessions based on "What is a health care advocate?", "What is happening now?" and advocacy in "Your practice". Each session requires residents to write on advocacy-related subjects prior to the session, participate in discussions on the topic, and examine literature related to advocacy.

The University of Wisconsin Medical School's family practice residency program teaches physician-community involvement to promote physician advocacy (41). This includes having residents deliver clinical services to diverse populations in local communities. Here, residents work with role models and expand their cultural awareness. They also develop a community health-improvement project over the last two years of training.

The University of Colorado Denver School of Medicine has developed a program to train medical students to become effective advocates (42). Students are trained in advocacy skills, participate in an internship program in the community, and work with a mentor to complete advocacy projects. Learning is integrated throughout the undergraduate curriculum.

Some organizations have recognized the importance of the practice and offer training in health advocacy. For example, the American Association of Neurologists has developed a course to train professionals in advocacy (43). Their program teaches action planning, media training and training in grassroots politics.



Advice from Advocates

Abraham Bergman, an American physician with decades of advocacy experience, offered the following advice on being an effective physician advocate (21). He describes his approach as the "politics of the powerless" – executing effective advocacy without personally having the power or having influence over someone to change laws:

- Because you might be powerless, you need to have more staying power and be tougher than the other side (who may have more clout and/or money)
- Focus on the ultimate goal, not on the noise, hype, or interest you may be creating
- Pick the right goal; make it narrow, definable and focused
- Be selfish pick a topic that you care about; pick a topic relevant to your own practice
- Use the principles of epidemiology to figure out what problems are important and lend themselves to attack
- Find and watch how role models advocate
- In garnering support, try and include individuals from different parts of the political spectrum, different occupations
- Since you can't buy votes, focus on getting public opinion. Use the media.

Bergman also offers some "don'ts" along with his "dos":

- Don't get caught up "crying" with like-minded people about a difficult situation for your patients
- Don't tell people how morally superior you are as part of your advocacy
- Don't appeal to the conscious every time health issues "compete" for thoughts, minds and resources along with other important issues such as education, housing, jobs, and the environment
- Don't look for people or organizations to endorse your efforts unless they can provide tangible support

Mebane and Blendon (44) write a step-by-step approach in their article on navigating the political process around physician advocacy. They write "With some guidance on how to think critically about politics, health care professionals can influence the development, passage, and implementation of government-sponsored health policies that affect their patients". Although the authors offer a detailed process map, the major steps are as follows:



- 1. Diagnose the political nature of the health issue. Assess the following three factors to understand how your potential advocacy issue is resonating in the political arena: 1) public priorities, 2) media coverage, and 3) the priorities of the political party in power.
- 2. Understand the key political decision makers. Because each government organization has its own set of formal and informal rules for how decisions are made, health care professionals must become familiar with them to influence a policy outcome. You also need to know who exactly will actually create the policy, and which organizations or committees will be involved.
- 3. Decide on your strategy. This depends on the nature of the issue for which you are advocating, your own resources, how much time you have to put into the effort, and what the political process will be. Mebane and Blendon (44) describe how to categorize issues according to their salience, and then discuss strategies for advocating for each type of issue (high salience, medium and low).



Conclusions

In this comprehensive review of the scientific and grey literature on physician advocacy, we have defined the term and presented some frameworks for thinking about advocacy from doctors. Dating back to the time of Hippocrates, there is long history of physicians working as advocates. It might be that the "founding father" of the science is also the founding father of medical advocacy. Hippocrates believed passionately in medicine's ability to better society's welfare, and the sacred duty of the doctor to stand behind what he believed was right, even in the face of wide-spread criticism. For his beliefs and actions, Hippocrates spent 20 years in prison (45). Although thankfully this type of extreme reaction by government is (or should be) considered unlawful, today's physician should expect opposition and intimidation to be part of the advocacy experience.

As we have documented here, opposition and conflict have also always been a side-effect of advocacy in the public domain. As such, there is also a well-documented phenomenon of intimidation of physicians who act as advocates. It is not a recent phenomenon, nor is it a geographically confined phenomenon. However, as the CMPA has pointed out, there can be positives that come from 'conflict' or public disagreement. "Conflict, depending on its extent and how it is handled, can be positive both in terms of patient care and in the re-examination of policies that may have become outdated" (27). We therefore suggest that conflict is not something that physicians should necessarily shy away from. On the contrary, they should embrace the opportunity for public discourse and exchange of ideas.

At the same time, governments need to examine their practices and avoid unfair intimidation of advocates. Individual cases of sinister threats to person and career need to be aggressively investigated and exposed for public judgment.

Physicians need better training in advocacy, and part of that training should be in the realm of not only understanding how they can be advocates, but how they can deal with scenarios of disagreement, conflict, or even intimidation that might then ensue.

Physicians are uniquely positioned in their roles as patient caregivers to also have significant and far-reaching impacts on the communities in which they serve. The physician advocate role should be embraced, and medical training programs should increase the extent to which they prepare physicians-in-training for this important role.



Acknowledgments

This study was funded by a restricted grant from the Health Quality Council of Alberta, Calgary, Alberta.

The authors wish to thank Ms. Diane Lorenzetti for assistance in preparing this report.

Dr. Ghali is funded as a Senior Health Scholar by Alberta Innovates Health Solutions.



Literature Cited

- 1. Cotter J. Alberta Medical Association wants public inquiry into intimidation of doctors; Alberta doctors prescribe public inquiry. The Canadian Press. 2011 Apr 15.
- 2. Sinemma J. AMA throws weight behind judicial inquiry; Health minister rebuffs call for public probe of physician intimidation. Edmonton Journal. 2011 Apr 16; Sect A:3.
- 3. Review of the quality of care and safety of patients requiring access to emergency department care and cancer surgery and the role and process of physician advocacy. 2011. Calgary: Health Quality Council of Alberta; 2011.
- 4. Earnest MA, Wong SL, Federico SG. Physician Advocacy: What is it and how do we do it? Acad Med. 2010;85(1):63-67.
- 5. Forster R. Patient advocacy in psychiatry: the Austrian and the Dutch models. Intl Soc Work. 1998;41:155-167.
- 6. Hurley KF. Advocacy and activism in emergency medicine. Can J Emrg Med. 2007;9(4):282-7.
- 7. Frank JR. (Ed). The CanMEDS 2005 physician competency framework. Better standards. Better physicians. Better care. Ottawa: The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada; 2005.
- 8. Levey S, Hill J. Advocacy reconsidered: progress and prospects. Hosp & Health Serv Adm. 1988;33(4):467-479.
- 9. Schoolman HM. The role of the physician as a patient advocate. NEJM. 1977;296(2):103-5.
- 10. Yewchuk P. Why doctors must make their voices heard from within corridors of power. CMAJ. 1978;118:1444-7.
- 11. Sullivan P. Nova Scotia health minister issues plea for more MD participation in politics. CMAJ. 1995;153(3):337-8.
- 12. Imlach A. Alberta doctors take tentative steps at lobbying. CMAJ. 1980;120:689-90.
- 13. Godkin MA. Community advocacy, physician roles, and medical education. Fam Med. 1993;25(3):170-1.
- Bandiera G. Emergency medicine health advocacy: foundations for training and practice. CJEM. 2003;5(5):336-342.



- 15. Bandiera G, Hillers TK, White F. Evaluating programs to prevent unintentional trauma in Canada: challenges and directions. The Journal of Trauma: Injury, Infection, and Critical Care. 1999;47(5):932-6.
- Rowe BH, Therrien D, Johnson C, Sahai VS, Bota GW. Regional variations of northern health: the epidemic of fatal trauma in northeastern Ontario. Can J of Public Health. 1995;July-August:249-251.
- 17. Spears T. Northern Ontario MDs seek solution to region's huge accidental-death toll. CMAJ. 1996;155(1):101-2.
- 18. Ontario Medical Association. More smoke and mirrors: tobacco industry-sponsored youth prevention programs in the context of comprehensive tobacco control programs in Canada. A position statement by The Ontario Medical Association. February 2002.
- 19. Huddle TS. Medical Professionalism and medical education should not involve commitments to political advocacy. Acad Med. 2011;86(3):378-383.
- 20. Wright CJ, Katcher ML. Pediatricians advocating for children: an annotated bibliography. Curr Op on Pediatr. 2004;16:281-5.
- 21. Bergman AB. Using politics to improve the health of children. Health Matrix: Journal of Law-Medicine. 1994;4(1): 31-9.
- 22. Dolins JC. Pediatricians: A special interest group for children. Pediatr Ann. 1985;24(8):413-7.
- 23. Swift M, Altman D, Allison G, Iton A, Kears D, Rose T, Harken AH. Osler's advice to "shun politics" is outdated. Surgery. 2006;139:466-8.
- 24. Tulchinsky TH, Varavikova EA. The new public health: an introduction for the 21st century. San Diego: Academic Press; 2000.
- 25. Beck JM. Advocate fatigue. J Ark Med Soc. 2000;5:149.
- 26. Stafford S, Sedlak T, Fok MC, Wong RY. Evaluation of resident attitudes and self-reported competencies in health advocacy. BMC Med Ed. 2010;10(82):1-7.
- 27. Canadian Medical Protective Association. When a physician feels intimidated. December 2002.
- 28. Eggertson L. Mayoral candidate assails activist doctors. CMAJ. 2010;182(9):E401-2.
- 29. Simchison BL. Harassment from misguided mayoral candidate. CMAJ. 2010;182(11):1213.
- 30. Jenny C. The intimidation of British pediatricians. Pediatrics. 2007;119(4):797-9.



- 31. Williams PA, Vayda E, Cohen ML, Woodward CA, Ferrier BM. Medicine and the Canadian state: from the politics of conflict to the politics of accommodation? Journal of Health and Soc Behav. 1995;36:303-321.
- 32. McKay B. Firing public health MD over pro-Kyoto comments a no-no, Alberta learns. CMAJ. 2002; 167(10):1159.
- 33. CTV News. Firing of Alberta health officer questioned. Available from: http://montreal.ctv.ca/servlet/an/local/CTVNews/20021007/swann alberta 021007?hub=Wi nnipegHome. Accessed December 14, 2011.
- 34. The Lancet . Blowing the whistle on intimidation of NHS whistleblowers. October 26 2011.
- 35. Furlow B. US physician whistleblowers face intimidation and retaliation. The Lancet. 2011;12:727.
- 36. Dharamsi S, Ho S, Spadafora SM, Woollard R. The physician as health advocate: translating the quest for social responsibility into medical education and practice. Acad Med. 2011;86:1108-1113.
- 37. Frank JR, Langer B. Collaboration, communication, management and advocacy: teaching surgeons new skills through the CanMEDS project. World J. Surg. 2003;27:972-8.
- 38. Verma S, Flynn L, Seguin R. Faculty's and residents' perceptions of teaching and evaluating the role of health advocate: a study at one Canadian university. Acad Med. 2005;80(1):103-8.
- 39. Mu L, Shroff F, Dharamsi S. Inspiring health advocacy in family medicine: a qualitative study. Educ for Health. 2011;24(2):1-11.
- 40. Dworkis DA. A framework for designing training in medical advocacy. Acad Med. 2010;85(10):1549-50.
- 41. Brill JR, Ohly S, Stearns MA. Training community-responsive physicians. Acad Med. 2002;77(7):747.
- 42. Long JA, Lee RA, Federico S, Battaglia C, Wong S, Earnest M. Developing leadership and advocacy skills in medical students through service learning. J Public Health Management Practice 2011;17(4):369-372.
- 43. American Academy of Neurology [homepage on the Internet]. Palatucci Advocacy Leadership Forum. Available from: <u>www.aan.com/go/advocacy/active/palf</u>. Accessed November 5, 2011.



- 44. Mebane F, Blendon RJ. Political strategy 101: How to make health policy and influence political people. J Child Neurol 2001;16:513-519.
- 45. Nunland SB. Doctors: The biography of medicine. New York. Knopf; 1988.


APPENDIX VIII: Role and Process of Physician Advocacy Survey

Table of Contents

Context of survey	356
Survey methodology	356
Quantitative Results	357
Respondent characteristics	357
Physician perspective on their advocacy role and formal training	360
Factors contributing to advocacy	362
Advocacy: obstruction or support	367
Bivariate Results – Physician Specialty	373
Multivariate Analysis	377
Qualitative results	384
Experiences with advocacy and intimidation	384
Challenges identified with advocating	385
Why some physicians choose not to advocate	386
Education regarding advocacy	387
Impact of culture on advocacy	387
Impact of restructuring of health care on advocacy	387
Enabling effective advocacy	388
Experiences advocating with specific organizations	389
Limitations	389
Detailed methodology	391
Questionnaire	400



Context of survey

As part of the Review, it was decided to systematically assess the experience of Alberta physicians regarding advocacy. Based on initial interviews and the *Physician Advocacy and Intimidation* comprehensive literature review (see Appendix IV) the HQCA measurement team and the QAC developed a survey to (1) better understand physician knowledge and experience related to advocacy in Alberta, and (2) the extent to which advocating for patient care is supported or obstructed by health care provider organizations, government, professional colleges and others. The survey was supported and participation encouraged by both the Alberta Medical Association (AMA) and the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA).

Survey methodology

A public contact list for 7,964 registered physicians in Alberta was provided by the CPSA. Given the expectation that (a) this public contact list would not reach all potential respondents, (b) physician survey response rates are generally low, and (c) some breakdown by physician type and location was required, the HQCA chose to use a census rather than a sampling approach.

A modified Dillman mail survey protocol was used starting with an initial mailing of the questionnaire and supporting material to all physicians on the mail list. This was followed by a reminder postcard and then a repeat mailing of the full survey package to those physicians who had not yet responded. The protocol was modified in that physicians were able to complete their individual survey via a secure web address and log-in if they chose to do so. A detailed survey methodology report can be found after the limitation section.

Overall 7,957 survey packages were mailed on October 20 and 21, 2011. Two hundred and twelve (212) were returned as invalid addresses, 36 declined, and 2,046 were completed yielding a raw response rate of 26%. Seventy-eight per cent (78%) or 1589 were completed by mail, and 457 (22%) via secure web access. Returned paper questionnaires were scanned and validated using *Teleform*, and web forms were completed and submitted directly by physicians on line. Data was cleaned and merged into an SPSS data file. Open ended "other" responses were coded by an experienced analyst, and multiple mention "choose all that apply" items were formatted as multiple response sets. Univariate, bivariate, and multivariate analysis was undertaken in both SPSS and STATA software.

Of the 2,046 surveys completed 478 (23%) provided responses to the final open-ended question of the survey (Question #32) which asked participants to provide "any additional comments, concerns or suggestions regarding physician advocacy issues as you have experienced them in your practice". All comments were collated and analyzed to extract broad themes. While subjective descriptors are used to provide a sense of relative frequency for some areas, actual numeric frequencies will not be provided. Words, phrases or sentences in quotations indicate direct quotes from the narrative survey responses. These quotes are included to provide an example of the nature of the responses or to capture a phrase that was best represented in the respondent's own words.



Quantitative Results

1. Respondent characteristics

Of the 2,046 physicians who responded to the survey, 65.9% were male and 34.1% were female.

Figure 1: Gender



N=1,978

More than three quarters of physicians (76.2%) graduated from medical school between 1971 and 2000. Eleven point one per cent (11.1%) graduated between 2001 and 2011 and 9.2% graduated between 1961 and 1970. A small number of respondents (<1%) indicated they were retired.

Figure 2: Year of medical school graduation



N=1,549



Over half of respondents (56.6%) reported working in a medical specialty other than general practice, whereas 43.4% reported they were a GP or family physician.



Figure 3: Physician Specialty – GP versus Specialist

N=1,920

Physicians with specialized training were asked to provide their specialty as an open ended response. Almost 40 specialties were coded from this information; most with small proportions of respondents – shown as "other specialist" (23.9%). Emergency medicine and anaesthesia each accounted for 3.7% of respondents; general internal medicine (4.1%); mental health (6.3%), orthopaedic surgery and general surgery combined (7.4%); and paediatrics (including paediatric emergency and mental health) (7.6%).

Figure 4: Physician specialty



N=1,920



Work setting was reported in five closed ended response categories, as well as an open ended response for "other" work settings. Hospital based inpatient settings were reported by 49.5% of respondents, 33.9% reported working in a hospital based outpatient setting and 27.6% reported working in community based speciality care. Community based primary care was reported by 39%, and emergency department or urgent care by 19.4% of respondents.

Figure 5: Work setting



N=1,989

Note: Respondents could choose more than one answer. Totals sum to more than 100%

The majority of respondents (76.8%) reported they were paid fee for service, whereas 24.9% reported they were paid under an alternative relationship plan (ARP). An hourly rate was reported by 6.8% and various other arrangements reported by 9.6% of physicians.

Figure 6: Payment type



N= 1,991

Note: Respondents could choose more than one answer. Totals sum to more than 100%



The majority of physicians reported working in the geographic area of either the Alberta Health Services Calgary Zone (39.8%) or the Edmonton Zone (38.3%); with the remainder in the Central Zone (8.4%), South Zone (7.7%) and the North Zone (5.7%).





N= 1,998

2. Physician perspective on their advocacy role and formal training

Considering the three levels of advocacy roles identified in the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons CanMEDS 2005 Physicians Competency Framework, 81.5% of physicians believe it is their professional responsibility to advocate for their individual patient, 82.4% for their clinical population of patients, and 70.9% for populations within the broader community.

Figure 8: Professional responsibility to advocate (CanMEDS competency framework)



N=2,023Note: Respondents could choose more than one answer. Totals sum to more than 100%



Sixty-eight point five per cent (68.5%) of physicians reported having no formal training in advocacy. A further 14.2% of physicians reported receiving training in medical school, 15% in residency, and 15.9% as continuing medical education.



Figure 9: Professional training or education with respect to advocacy

N= 2,024

Note: Respondents could choose more than one answer. Totals sum to more than 100%

Forty-four point nine per cent (44.9%) of physicians believe they have the necessary skills to effectively advocate for their patients, whereas 19.8% do not, and 35.3% do not know.

Figure 10: Physician has necessary skills to effectively advocate



N= 2,017



When asked about sources of advocacy information used in the last year, 50.5% of physicians reported using none. Twenty-four point six per cent (24.6%) reported using information from medical journals or other literature, 23.4% from the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta, 16.8% from the Canadian Medical Association, 9.5% from Alberta Health Services and 9.2% from the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada.

Figure 11: Sources of advocacy information



N= 1,969

Note: Respondents could choose more than one answer. Totals sum to more than 100%

3. Factors contributing to advocacy

The 50.7% of physicians who reported their ability to advocate for their patients had been limited in the last year were asked what restricted their ability to advocate (multiple responses were permitted) (Figure 12). Twenty-two point four per cent (22.4%) of physicians reported uncertainty of their role as an advocate and 55.8% reported an unclear process for advocacy. Inadequate communication between providers is reported by 39.1%, and lack of time to advocate is reported by 51% of physicians. Fifty-nine point five per cent (59.5%) reported unsupportive organizational policies and 62% noted lack of resources to provide requested care. Finally, 30.6% of physicians reported being restricted by their lack of training and education in advocacy and 22.7% identified their inexperience in advocating for their patients.





Figure 12: Factors that restricted physician ability to advocate

N= 1,018

Note: Respondents could choose more than one answer. Totals sum to more than 100%

When asked "who" restricted their ability to advocate, 55.2% identified organization administration, 32.8% department or division administration, 34.9% organization leadership or executive, 37.3% Alberta Health Services and 27.6% Alberta Health and Wellness. Only 20.2% identified physician peers. The College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta was identified by 7.5% and the Alberta Medical Association by 2%.

Figure 13: Who restricted ability to advocate



N= 996

Note: Respondents could choose more than one answer. Totals sum to more than 100%



The 49% of physicians reporting their ability to advocate had not been limited in the last year were then asked what enhanced their ability to advocate. Forty-one point eight per cent (41.8%) cited their experience in advocating for their patients, while only 14.3% cited their training and education in advocacy. Notable, 11.4% of physicians cited supportive organizational polices, 8.2% a clear understanding of physician advocacy where I work, and 4.9% a clear process for advocacy. Agreement on the best course of care was reported by 22.7% and having available resources to provide requested care by 16% of physicians.





N= 1,937

Note: Respondents could choose more than one answer. Totals sum to more than 100%

When considering "who" enhanced their ability to advocate, 49.1% cited physician peers, and 18.3% cited a mentor (Figure 15). In contrast, 13.2% cited department or division administration, 7% organization leadership or executive, 6.8% organization administration, and 2.5% Alberta Health and Wellness. In addition, 11.2% of physicians cited the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta as having enhanced physician ability to advocate.



Figure 15: Who enhanced ability to advocate



N= 1,970

Note: Respondents could choose more than one answer. Totals sum to more than 100%

Considering their usual work context in the past year, 37.2% of physicians reported not being aware of a process through which they could advocate for their patients to address such issues as quality, safety or resources. Furthermore, 22.5% reported they did not know. In contrast, 40.3% were aware of a process for advocating.





N= 2,018



For those 41.6% of physicians who confirm being on contract, 69.1% reported the contract did not address advocacy directly, whereas 20.5% reported it limited their ability to advocate, and 10.4% reported it enhanced their ability to advocate for their patients.





N= 806

For those 72.0% of physicians who confirm working in a healthcare delivery organization, 45.2% reported that organizational policies did not address advocacy directly, whereas 38.2% reported that policies limited their ability to advocate. Only 16.5% reported that policies enhanced their ability to advocate for their patients.

Figure 18: Advocacy in organizational policies



N=1,404



4. Advocacy: obstruction or support

Overall, 50.7% of responding physicians reported that in the past year, their ability to advocate on behalf of their patients had been limited in some way.



Figure 19: Ability to advocate limited in past year

N=2,018

Twenty-one point seven per cent (21.7%) reported that, in the last year, they usually (19.4%) or always (2.3%) stopped themselves from advocating for their patients because they felt that nothing would happen to address the issue. Forty-eight per cent (48%) reported they sometimes stopped themselves, and 30.3% never stopped themselves.





N= 1,990



Eight point eight per cent (8.8%) reported they always (2%) or usually (6.8%) stopped themselves from advocating for fear of negative repercussions for them as a physician. Twenty-six point three per cent (26.3%) sometimes stopped themselves and 64.9% never stopped themselves.



Figure 21: Stopped themselves from advocating for fear of retribution

N= 1,990

Considering their "professional responsibility for advocacy" in the past year, 30.3% of physicians reported they were somewhat (22.1%) or greatly (8.2%) obstructed, 33.1% reported they were neither supported or obstructed and 36.5% reported they were somewhat (31%) or greatly supported (5.5%).

Figure 22: Extent to which obstructed or supported in advocacy role



N= 1,748



Fourteen point five per cent (14.5%) of physicians reported being pressured to withdraw a request in the last year and 14.6% reported being intimidated. In addition 8.0% reported being censored, 5.2% threatened, and 3.1% punished. Considering all the listed responses (multiple mentions allowed), 18% of responding physicians experienced at least 1 of the above listed experiences in the past year.





N=1,737

Note: Respondents could choose more than one answer. Totals sum to more than 100%

An additional "open ended" category was selected by 18% of physicians, and their experience was coded into categories. These categories were combined with the closed end responses (Figure 24). Combining closed and open responses, 20% of physicians experienced what the HQCA defined as *active harmful obstruction*. This includes such things as threats, intimidation, censorship, punishment, ridicule, being bullied, and in rare cases, termination or punishment of their patients.^{xiii} Of the 15% who said they were pressured to withdraw their request, 10% also experienced *active harmful obstruction* (already counted above); leaving 5% who uniquely reported being pressured to withdraw their request. On the basis of open ended responses alone, 15% of physicians experienced some form of what the HQCA defined as *passive obstruction*. This includes: 4% who said they were discouraged, patronized, minimized, or outright refused; 10% who said they were simply ignored, and 1% who reported being limited by policy, process, or organizational resources. When all categories are combined, 37% of physicians experienced either *active harmful obstruction*, being

xⁱⁱⁱ This 20% is based on those who responded to the question. If the base is taken to be all physicians who completed a survey, the proportion is 17%.



pressured to withdraw their request, or some form of *passive obstruction*. In contrast, 63% did not report these negative experiences.

Figure 24: Obstruction of advocacy



N= 1,737

Figure 25: Breakdown of passive obstruction



N=1,737



Considering negative advocacy experiences in different time periods, approximately 13% of physicians reported having a negative experience in each of the following periods: longer than 10 years ago (13.1%), 6 to 10 years ago (12.7%), and 3 to 6 years ago (13.2%). More notable, 32.1% reported having a negative experience in the last 3 years. In addition, 48.1% of respondents reported not having a negative experience in any time period.





N= 1,929

Note: Respondents could choose more than one answer. Totals sum to more than 100%

Of the 88% of physicians who advocated in the past year, 18.2% reported their "suggestions" were never acted upon in a meaningful way when they advocated for patients; whereas 64% reported that sometimes their suggestions were acted upon in a meaningful way. Only 17.9% reported their suggestions were usually (16.6%) or always (1.3%) acted upon.

Figure 27: How often were suggestions acted upon in meaningful way



N= 1,746



Twenty-three point six per cent (23.6%) of physicians reported their advocacy usually (21.5%) or always (2.1%) had a positive outcome for their patients, 66% reported it sometimes had a positive outcome, whereas 10.4% reported it never had a positive outcome for their patients. **Figure 28: Advocacy had positive outcome for patients**



N=1,743

Thirty-two per cent (32%) of physicians reported their role as an advocate for patients never had a positive outcome for them as a physician. Forty-nine point one per cent (49.1%) reported it sometimes had a positive outcome and 18.9% reported it usually (16.0%) or always (2.9%) resulted in a positive outcome.

Figure 29: How often has advocacy had positive outcome for physician



N= 1,728



When asked to whom they advocated (multiple responses permitted), 74% reported advocating to physician peers or colleagues, 54.6% to their department or division and 34.2% to the executive of the healthcare organisation. Seventeen point four per cent (17.4%) of physicians advocated to Alberta Health and Wellness, 14.3% to MLAs, politicians, or related bodies and 7% to the media. In addition, 9.8% reported advocating to the Alberta Medical Association and 7.4% to the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta.



Figure 30: To whom have you advocated for your patients in the past year

 $N{=}1{,}755$ Note: Respondents could choose more than one answer. Totals sum to more than 100%

5. Bivariate Results – Physician Specialty

Select variables are reported by physician specialty where there appear to be large differences between physician specialty types.^{xiv} While differences between specialties for these results are notable, caution in interpretation is warranted given sample size for these groups are relatively small and other variables may contribute to, or account for, these differences.

xiv Bivariate results are only provided for physician specialty because this was not controlled for in the multivariate analysis. It was not possible to control for individual specialties in the multivariate analysis due to sample size. In the multivariate analysis, specialty is collapsed to GP versus Specialist.



Figure 31 shows that only 28.8% of GPs/family physicians reported they have the necessary skills to advocate. This contrasts sharply with 67.6% of emergency medicine specialists, 52.6% of general internal medicine specialists and 49.7% of pediatric specialists.



Figure 31: Physician has the necessary skills to effectively advocate (% Yes)

Figure 32 shows that the proportion of physicians who reported their ability to advocate was limited in the past year is highest for mental health specialists (60.3%) and general or orthopedic surgery specialists (57.7%) as compared with anesthesia specialists at 42.3%.

Figure 32: Physician's ability to advocate was limited in past year (% Yes)





General and orthopedic surgery specialists reported they stopped themselves from advocating in the past year because nothing would happen to address the issue most frequently at 35.9%. This is followed by 31% of anesthesia specialists and 30.6% of mental health specialists. This compares with pediatric specialists at 14.5% and 11.5% of general internal medicine specialists.

Figure 33: Physicians who stopped themselves from advocating because nothing would happen to address the issue (% "usually" or "always")



About forty percent of anesthesia (40.4%), general and orthopedic surgery (39.7%) and mental health (38.4%) specialists reported that advocacy was greatly or somewhat obstructed in the past year. This contrasts with pediatric specialists and GP/family physician at 24.8%.



Figure 34: Extent to which obstructed or supported in advocacy role (% "somewhat" or "greatly" obstructed)



The proportion of respondents experiencing *active harmful obstruction* varies between physician specialty with mental health (28.2%) and general and orthopedic surgery (25.4%) specialists at the higher end compared with GP/family physician (17.8%) and emergency medicine specialists (15.7%) at the lower end. 25.4% of general and orthopedic surgery specialists reported being pressured to withdraw a request in contrast to general internal medicine specialists at7.1%. *Passive obstruction* is most often reported by mental health (21.8%) and emergency medicine specialists (20.0%) in contrast to general internal medicine specialists' at11.4%.



Figure 35: Obstruction of advocacy



6. Multivariate Analysis

Key outcome variables for experiences reported for the last 12 months were used as dependent variables for multivariate analysis. Each of these and respective findings are represented by the headings below:

- Physician has stopped themselves from advocating due to fear of negative repercussions for them as a physician (Q15).
- Physician's ability to advocate on behalf of his/her patients was limited in some way (Q22).
- Physician has experienced some negative repercussions when advocating (Q22).
- Physician has been pressured to withdraw their request when advocating (Q22).
- Physician has been censored when advocating (Q22).
- Physician has been intimidated when advocating (Q22).
- Physician has been punished when advocating (Q22).
- Physician has experienced *active harmful obstruction* when advocating (any instance of pressured to withdraw, censored, intimidated, punished, threatened, or other similar recoded from Q22).
- Physician has experienced *passive obstruction* when advocating (any instance of ignored, delayed, patronized, or other similar recoded from Q22).

Findings below (1 - 8) were based on the results of logistic regression and multinomial logistic regression (9 and 10). Separate models were run for GP/family physician respondents, versus specialist and other physician types. The models for findings 1 - 3 included whether or not the respondent was a member of an organization, whether they were under contract, gender, years of practice, and AHS zone as independent variables. The remaining models (findings 4-10) included gender, years of practice, AHS zone, who the physician advocated to, area of work, and method of physician funding as independent variables^{xv}. Statistical significance is defined by a probability value of less than or equal to 0.05 ($p \le 0.05$), and the strength of evidence is based on the methodology outline by Raferty (1995)^{xvi}.

1. (Q14) Physician has stopped themselves from advocating for their patients because they felt nothing would happen to address the issue.

Specialists^{xvii} working in ^{xviii} an organization are 1.845 (95%CI = 1.104- 3.088) times as likely to stop themselves from advocating for their patients because they felt nothing would happen as

^{xv} Detailed regression models are available upon request.

xvi Weak: |t statistic|>Sqrt (logN); Moderate: |t statistic|>Sqrt (logN) +2); Strong: |t statistic|>Sqrt (logN) +6); Very Strong |t statistic|>Sqrt (logN) +10);

xvii Specialists include open ended responses for such areas as laboratory medicine, where formal specialty training is suggested



compared with specialists not working in an organization; controlling for gender, years of practice, physician specialty, and AHS zone (moderate evidence).

Specialists who believe they have the necessary skills to effectively advocate for their patients are 0.602 (95%CI = 0.372 - 0.975) times as likely to stop themselves from advocating for their patients because they felt nothing would happen, as compared with specialists who do not believe they have the necessary skills; controlling for gender, years of practice, and AHS zone (moderate evidence).

Family doctors^{xix} working in an organization are 1.843 (95%CI = 1.232 - 2.756) times as likely to stop themselves from advocating for their patients because they felt nothing would happen; as compared with family doctors not working in an organization; controlling for gender, years of practice, and AHS zone (strong evidence).

Family doctors who believe they have the necessary skills to effectively advocate for their patients are 0.537 (95%CI = 0.319 - 0.889) times as likely to stop themselves from advocating for their patients because they felt nothing would happen, as compared with family doctors who do not believe they have the necessary skills; controlling for gender, years of practice, and AHS zone (moderate evidence).

Male family doctors are 0.599(95%CI = 0.416 - 1.142) times as likely to stop themselves from advocating for their patients because they felt nothing would happen as compared with female; controlling for gender, years of practice, physician specialty and AHS zone (moderate evidence).

2. (Q15) Physician stopped themselves from advocating for their patients due to fear of negative repercussions for them as a physician.

No statistically significant findings.

3. (Q9) Has a physician's ability to advocate on behalf of his/her patients been limited in anyway?

Specialists working in an organization are 2.462 (95%CI = 1.257 - 4.821) times as likely to claim that his/her ability to advocate on behalf of his/her patients has been limited in some way in the past year; as compared with specialists not working in an organization; controlling for gender, years of practice, physician specialty and AHS zone (moderate evidence).

For specialists, for every year they have practiced, he/she is 0.977(95%CI = 0.962 - 0.993) times as likely to claim that his/her ability to advocate on behalf of his/her patients has been limited in

xviii Working within, or being associated with, an organization by virtue of being on a clinical or academic ARP

xix or physicians trained as GPs



some way; controlling for gender, years of practice, physician specialty and AHS zone (moderate evidence). Their ability to advocate is reduced by a factor of 0.977 for each year they practice.

Family doctors working in an organization are 1.689 (95%CI = 1.021 - 2.8) times as likely to claim that his/her ability to advocate on behalf of his/her patients has been limited in some way in the past year; as compared with family doctors not working in an organization; controlling for gender, years of practice, physician specialty and AHS zone (moderately strong evidence).

Male family doctors are 0.637 (95%CI = 0.405 - 1.00) times as likely to claim that his/her ability to advocate on behalf of his/her patients has been limited in some way in the past year; as compared with family doctors not working in an organization; controlling for gender, years of practice, physician specialty and AHS zone (weak evidence).

4. In the past year, has the physician experienced some negative repercussions when advocating for their patients.

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to their organizational department or division, within the past year, were 1.833 (95%CI = 1.228 – 2.736) times as likely to have experienced some negative repercussions, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to the executive of their healthcare organization, within the past year, were 1.972 (95%CI = 1.367 - 2.845) times as likely to have experienced some negative repercussions as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (very strong evidence).

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to Alberta Health and Wellness, within the past year, were 0.611 (95%CI = 0.373 - 1.00) times as likely to have experienced some negative repercussions as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (weak evidence).

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to politicians, MLAs or related bodies, within the past year, were 1.792 (95%CI = 1.043 - 3.078) times as likely to have experienced some negative repercussions as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (weak evidence

Specialists, who advocated for the needs of their patients to the Alberta Medical Association within the past year, were 2.056(95%CI = 1.102 - 3.834) times as likely to have experienced some negative repercussions, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (strong evidence).

Family doctors who advocated for the needs of their patients to their organizational department or division, within the past year, were 1.64 (95%CI = 1.008 - 2.668) times as likely to have experienced some negative repercussions, as compared with other family doctors who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (weak evidence).



Family doctors who advocated for the needs of their patients to the executive of their healthcare organization within the past year were 2.741 (95%CI = 1.667 - 4.505) times as likely to have experienced some negative repercussions, as compared with other family doctors who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, AHS zone and type of practice (very strong evidence).

Family doctors who advocated for the needs of their patients to the public media (news, reporters, etc), within the past year were 2.875 (95%CI = 1.199 – 56.892) times as likely to have experienced some negative repercussions, as compared with other family doctors who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Family doctors who advocated for the needs of their patients to the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Alberta, within the past year were 2.468 (95%CI = 1.050 - 5.799) times as likely to have experienced some negative repercussions, as compared with other family doctors who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, AHS zone and type of practice (weak evidence).

Male family doctors who advocated for the needs of their patients within the past year are 0.53 (95%CI = 0.343 - .0821) times as likely to have experienced some negative repercussions, as compared with female physicians; regardless of gender, years practicing, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

5. (Q22a) In the past year, has the physician been pressured to withdraw their request when advocating for their patients.

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to their organizational department or division within the past year were 2.794 (95%CI = 1.469 - 5.314) times as likely to have felt pressured to withdraw their request, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (strong evidence).

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to the executive of their health care organization within the past year were 2.931 (95%CI = 1.728 - 4.973) times as likely to have felt pressured to withdraw their request, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (very strong evidence).

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Alberta within the past year were 2.667 (95%CI = 1.143 - 6.221) times as likely to have felt pressured to withdraw their request, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Family doctors who advocated for the needs of their patients to the executive of their health care organization within the past year were 3.100 (95%CI = 1.557 - 6.172) times as likely to have felt pressured to withdraw their request as compared with other family doctors who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (strong evidence).



Male family doctors were 0.406 (95%CI = 0.211 – 0.782) times as likely to have felt pressured to withdraw their request within the past year as compared with females; regardless of years practicing, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

For every additional year of practice, family doctors were 1.031 (95%CI = 1.003 - 1.059) times as likely to have felt pressured to withdraw their request within the past year; regardless of gender, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

6. (Q22b) In the past year, has the physician been censored when advocating for their patients.

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to the executive of their health care organization within the past year, were 3.187 (95%CI = 1.688 - 6.015) times as likely to having felt censored, compared to specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone, and type of practice (very strong evidence).

Family doctors who advocated for the needs of their patients to the public media (news, reporters, etc), within the past year, were 4.583 (95%CI = 1.159 - 18.115) times as likely to have felt censored than other family doctors who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone, and type of practice (weak evidence).

7. (Q22c) In the past year, has the physician been intimidated when advocating for their patients.

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to the executive of their health care organization within the past year were 2.780 (95%CI = 1.650 - 4.684) times as likely to have felt intimidated, than other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (very strong evidence).

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to politicians, MLAs or related bodies, within the past year, were 2.275 (95%CI = 1.159 - 4.568) times as likely to have felt intimidated than other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Male specialists were 0.508 (95%CI = 0.292 - 0.885) times as likely to have felt intimidated within the past year, as compared with females; regardless of years practicing, specialty, AHS zone, who they advocated to, and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Family doctors who advocated for the needs of their patients to public media (news, reporters, etc.), within the past year, were 3.575 (95%CI = 1.349 - 9.472) times as likely to have felt intimidated than other family doctors who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Male family doctors were 0.504 (95%CI = 0.283 - 0.896) times as likely to have felt intimidated within the past year as compared with females; regardless of years practicing, who they advocated to, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

8. (Q22e) In the past year, has the physician been threatened when advocating for their patients.

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to the executive of their healthcare organization within the past year, were 3.376 (95%CI = 1.383 - 8.239) times as likely to have



been threatened, as compared with other family doctors who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to the public media (news, reporters, etc) within the past year, were 3.686 (95%CI = 1.073 - 12.655) times as likely to have been threatened, as compared with other family doctors who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, AHS zone and type of practice (weak evidence).

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta, within the past year, were 4.473 (95%CI = 1.400 - 14.290) times as likely to have been threatened, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Family doctors who advocated for the needs of their patients to public media (news, reporters, etc.), within the past year, were 9.478 (95%CI = 2.136 - 42.046) times as likely to have been threatened, as compared with other family doctors who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, AHS zone, and type of practice (strong evidence).

Family doctors working in a hospital based outpatient setting were 7.069 (95%CI = 1.743 - 28.673) times as likely to having been punished for advocating within the past year, as compared with family doctors working in other settings; regardless of gender, years practicing, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

9. In the past year, has the physician experienced active harmful consequences when advocating for their patients.

Specialists who advocate for the needs of their patients to their department or division (within the organization), within the past year, were 1.868 (95%CI = 1.116 - 3.126) times as likely to have experienced *active harmful consequences* vs. no negative consequences, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Specialists who advocate for the needs of their patients to the executive of their health care organization, within the past year, were 2.637 (95%CI = 1.662 - 4.183) times as likely to have experienced *active harmful consequences* vs. no negative consequences, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (very strong evidence).

Specialists who advocate for the needs of their patients to Alberta Health and Wellness, within the past year, were 0.512 (95%CI = 0.273 - 0.960) times as likely to have experienced *active harmful consequences* vs. no negative consequences, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (weak evidence).

Specialists who advocate for the needs of their patients to politicians, MLAs or related bodies, within the past year, were 2.176 (95% CI = 1.157 - 4.094) times as likely to have experienced *active harmful consequences* vs. no negative consequences, as compared with other specialists



who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Specialists (including emergency medicine) working in an emergency department or urgent care setting were 0.484 (95%CI = 0.259 - 0.906) times as likely to have experienced *active harmful consequences* vs. no negative consequences, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, who they advocated to, and AHS zone (moderate evidence).

Specialists working an hourly rate (other than Alternative Reimbursement Plan) were 0.249 (95%CI = 0.067 – 0.925) times as likely to have experienced *active harmful consequences* vs. no negative consequences, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, who they advocated to, and AHS zone (weak evidence).

Family doctors who advocated for the needs of their patients to the executive of their health care organization within the past year, were 2.169 (95%CI = 1.175 - 4.007) times as likely to have experienced *active harmful consequences* vs. no negative consequences, as compared with other family doctors who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Family doctors who advocated for the needs of their patients to the public media (news, reporters, etc), within the past year, were 4.473 (95%CI = 1.633 - 12.251) times as likely to have experienced *active harmful consequences* vs. no negative consequences, as compared with other family doctors who advocated elsewhere, regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Male family doctors were .0.452 (95%CI = 0.264 - 0.775) times as likely to have experienced *active harmful consequences* vs. no negative consequences, as compared with females; regardless of years practicing, AHS zone, who they advocated to, and type of practice (moderate evidence).

10. In the past year, has the physician experienced passive obstruction when advocating for their patients.

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to their department or division (within the organization), within the past year, were 1.668 (95%CI = 1.045 - 2.661) times as likely to have experienced *passive obstruction* vs. no negative consequences, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (weak evidence).

Specialists who advocated for the needs of their patients to the Alberta Medical Association, within the past year, were 2.540 (95%CI = 1.214 - 5.316) times as likely to have experienced *passive obstruction* vs. no negative consequences, as compared with other specialists who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, specialty, AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Family doctors who advocate for the needs of their patients to the executive of their health care organization within the past year, were 3.697 (95%CI = 1.956 - 6.987) times as likely to have experienced *passive obstruction* vs. no negative consequences, as compared with other family



doctors who advocated elsewhere; regardless of gender, years practicing, AHS zone and type of practice (very strong evidence).

Male family doctors, were 0.504 (95%CI = 0.285 - 0.893) times as likely to have experienced *passive obstruction* vs. no negative consequences within the past year; as compared with females; regardless of years practicing, specialty, who they advocated to, and AHS zone and type of practice (moderate evidence).

Qualitative results

Introduction

The following is the thematic analysis of the responses to the final open-ended question of the survey (Question #32) which asked participants to provide "any additional comments, concerns or suggestions regarding physician advocacy issues as you have experienced them in your practice". This analysis should be considered together with the quantitative analysis to get a comprehensive perspective of survey respondents' experiences.

Experiences with advocacy and intimidation

Positive experiences

A number of respondents, some with lengthy clinical experience, indicated they had "never experienced, witnessed, or even heard" of any negative issues related to physician advocacy" nor had they ever been "intimidated" or "obstructed in any way". Some described positive advocacy experiences and the tendency to expect success "if needs are legitimate". One respondent identified that while they had not experienced any problem with administration, including physician administrators, they had experienced "difficulty and intimidation from physician colleagues".

It was acknowledged that "a lot of services, resources, programs have resulted as a result of medical advocacy as well as the community" and that 'AHS, AMA, CPSA are to be commended for their progressive support of advocacy'. Some made reference to specific circumstances that made advocacy easier – working in a Primary Care Network (PCN) or working under an Alternate Relationship Plan (ARP) were both mentioned as positive factors.

One physician noted that the system works "quite well" when advocating for individual patients but when advocating for populations of patients "the complexity, expense, and politics start to get overwhelming and this is where the controversy arises".

Some respondents indicated though they had "never felt intimidated"; they were "frustrated" at the lack of timely response re accessing necessary services. One respondent expressed regret "that this surfaced in the lay process. It does our profession a disservice."

Negative experiences

Many respondents described some degree of negative experience or belief about advocating for patients or for system change. Both the volume and the intensity of many comments are noteworthy. Some respondents described being personally advised to "not continue speaking", "stop being so outspoken" and noted that if you speak up you are "labeled negative, misinformed, or speaking out of turn". Others



commented that "intimidation is real but subtle", "not rocking the boat' is encouraged", and "people who push too hard get 'whacked', marginalized or put in their place". Other comments included "No matter what anyone says, a culture of fear, intimidation, apathy, elitism, inequality and manipulation exists and has existed for some time" and " there is obvious systemic harassment and intimidation that can/does/may have a negative effect on patient safety". The perspective of some of those who identified themselves as 'newer' graduates found "attempts to advocate meet with limited interest, minimization or frank disrespect from organizational or government bodies with the power to enact change."

The impact of intimidation on advocacy efforts was described in these terms: "It's extremely difficult to advocate due to undertones of intimidation and being told to stop being so outspoken." While some had not experienced intimidation themselves, a number described awareness of intimidation experienced by colleagues and the impact it had on those around them. One respondent stated how even the rumors of intimidation were enough to stop doctors from advocating. Specialists' offices were identified as a source of intimidation as were physicians and colleagues from other disciplines. Several responses stated that they felt intimidation has lessened recently.

There were varying aspects of 'negative' responses, such as "I was never persecuted but was certainly placated, censored, and then ignored." Other individuals reported being threatened with loss of privileges, having their mental competency questioned, and being 'fired' for advocating ("which was traumatic"). While some individuals described an 'emerging hope' in 'the past year or so', others identified that "administrators who orchestrated pervasive intimidation have simply been promoted", "trust cannot be rebuilt under these conditions", and the perception that "the way any disagreement will be handled is much the same way as in the past".

Many expressed the sentiment that physician input is "not wanted nor valued" and "when it is solicited, it is not followed". Others commented that their input was "trivialized, not taken seriously, and told that their actions were for 'self-interest". Some described similar experiences in this comment: "it's not intimidation; it's being ignored and marginalized".

While "unfortunate but understandable", some believed that "many colleagues have long since checked out...and remain disengaged". Others commented on "complacency and apathy" among their colleagues, in response to "20 years of pointless, non-productive advocacy causing advocacy fatigue." Some respondents indicated they "no longer see 'advocating' as a professional responsibility and those that do, question the impact or benefit, suggesting "the system does not accommodate change".

Some respondents indicated that within AHS, quality patient care is "given lip service", AHS managers and administrators are "far too removed from patient care issues", and believe the primary focus of AHS is on budget issues ("budget comes first in AHS"). Some respondents used the term 'substandard' care as reflected in the following comments: "we have learned to accept the unacceptable as routine", and "administrators and managers continued with that standard of care due to the lack of resources". One person specifically indicated that they made a career change due to their frustration with the inability to provide "state of the art" patient care.

Challenges identified with advocating

There were a number of areas where advocating effectively for their patients and getting the outcome desired, was identified as challenging. Respondents identified a number of clinical services *within* AHS



(mental health/*psychi*atry, laboratory services, pathology, emergency departments, newborn care, access to screening colonoscopy, ophthalmology, pediatrics) where this was the case.

A number of clinical services that are *external* to AHS were described as areas that were challenging to access the clinical services that patients needed was hard to do. These included specialists' offices (orthopedics, neurosurgery, neurology, geriatric assessments, psychiatry), WCB (mentioned numerous times, and described as a "big and persistent offender" that "sees the patient as the enemy, and pays bonuses to case workers for getting people off benefits"), Alberta Aids to Daily Living (AADL), and Persons with Developmental Disabilities (PDD).

Another challenge to advocacy efforts was the referral and coordination of healthcare organizations. "There are so many health organizations (Alberta Health and Wellness, Alberta Medical Association, CPSA, etc.)". When I have tried to advocate for change I keep getting referred to another organization to address my concerns. I do not know how best to advocate for my patients anymore."

Some of the challenges with advocacy within AHS were described as being related to a lack of stable leadership for the past four years. The initial AHS Code of Conduct created a "frosty" atmosphere, and though it was retracted and revised, it still lingers as a "sort of warning to keep silent". There was also the sentiment that "administrators who orchestrated pervasive intimidation have simply been promoted" and "trust cannot be rebuilt under these conditions".

Why some physicians choose not to advocate

The CPSA, the AMA, WCB, hospital legal departments and AHS were identified in the narrative comments as "barriers to effective advocacy". Several comments related to having "no trust" with health services organizations. This was illustrated in comments such as "any attempt to advocate for patients that challenges the establishment is met with serious reprisal".

Some described workplaces where it was difficult to advocate effectively. One respondent described their work place as a "living hell" while others expressed concerns about being "threatened" by their physician leaders or management dismissing their concerns and "branding them" as "complainers" and a "nuisance". One respondent wanted to advocate for system improvements stating there that they were concerned about patients at risk of misdiagnosis, but were fearful of job loss if they pursued any level of advocacy.

A variety of reasons were mentioned as to why some physicians chose not to advocate, including "not feeling prepared to advocate (no formal training)" and thinking "others are better at it". Others presented the view that it "won't make any difference anyhow". Respondents talked about the energy and time it takes to advocate, acknowledging that advocacy "requires time which is in short supply", is "arduous and time consuming", requires "undue personal time commitment" with no compensation for doing so, and results in "increasing lethargy to respond to patient care issues." Respondents identified potential ethical issues in advocating for one patient or group of patients at the expense of others.

Several individuals identified the contract they have signed with AHS as "muzzling" by "prohibiting them from pursuing advocacy in any manner that may damage the reputation of AHS". Others mentioned the "recent changes to the clinical ARP contracts with no negotiation and the one sided ultimatum for contract extension as threatening, coercive, and intimidating". This comment was in reference to the contract having "a dismissal without just cause clause and AHS is unwilling to remove it". Another



individual cited the "indemnity clause in the ARP contract as 'intimidation and unfair bargaining...you want a job, you sign the indemnity." Respondents cited situations where requests had been made to them by MLA's to put their concerns in writing, but they were not able to do so as that action would be in violation of that agreement. It should be noted that there are different contracts with physicians in AHS, including legacy contracts that were in place prior to the formation of AHS.

From a broader societal perspective, one individual noted that "health attracts too much attention in the wrong ways and there is too much emphasis on acute care". It was noted that there are "other social issues that would benefit from advocacy but no one advocates for them".

Education regarding advocacy

Several individuals noted that advocacy is difficult to teach and evaluate, and "not all advocacy activities were actually labeled advocacy". A number of respondents indicated that more education (in medical school as well as Continuing Medical Education) on how to advocate effectively would be beneficial, and many expressed interest in having the opportunity to learn more advocacy skills. One respondent expressed the opposite, and couldn't understand why physicians had to be taught as it "was drummed into my head at all stages of my training."

Impact of culture on advocacy

In describing the health system, one physician referred to it as operating in a "perpetual state of crisis", referring to access to inpatient beds. There was mention of "glossy magazine articles describing how well things are working while it is a totally different story on the front line". One physician leader described being "encouraged to portray how great everything was".

Survey comments identified that the current culture discourages advocacy and leads to negative consequences for those actions. There were comments that identified that physicians have developed a 'culture of silence' so as not to experience the negative consequences that may result from speaking out. On a similar note, advocacy "is not encouraged particularly if it has an impact on time efficiency (i.e., speed is more important than safety)".

Impact of restructuring of health care on advocacy

Some individuals believed significant disengagement of the health care work force started with physicians being "removed from decision making" with the initial regionalization in 1994. This year was specifically identified as a date from which advocacy for patients has been censored and ignored as exemplified by comments like "the atmosphere in Alberta has been negative in terms of advocating", and it's "well known but an unwritten rule that in Alberta, physician advocacy is not welcome".

Several issues were identified as resulting from restructuring. "Centralized care has seen a major setback as all previous regional plans and initiatives that were in the planning stages have been totally erased." Middle management's "inability to be effective leaders and decision makers" and "the inability to balance resources between hospitals and programs" had a negative effect on physician's ability to advocate. It was pointed out that various "silos of care that have formed" during restructuring have caused inefficiencies and duplication of services. "We don't necessarily need more resources, we need to be more efficient and effective with the resource we currently have."



Commenting on their perception of physician advocacy issues, one respondent stated, "the problem is on a greater scale and deeply rooted in the structure of today's health care delivery."

Enabling effective advocacy

The most frequent comment in the narrative responses related to suggestions that would make the system better for physicians advocating for their patients, as exemplified by the "need for a system that encourages physicians to tell administration about their problems without losing their jobs, careers, and reputations." This kind of safe and 'enabling' environment or supportive culture where individuals can speak openly is considered foundational for a safety culture. Such a culture would support the perspective that "disagreement is natural, vigorous debate is good and there is an oversensitivity to being "offended". Numerous respondents indicated that the "avenues" and "processes" to advocate within AHS and to the media needed to be clearer with many individuals indicating they often didn't know who to go to either within AHS or outside of their own facility to deal with identified issues. Many respondents commented on difficulties working through the "behemoth and unresponsive organizations challenging health care providers' ability to provide quality care" and "labyrinth of bureaucracy" in AHS, which was perceived to be "remarkably disconnected from actual care delivery". Some expressed frustration with the "bureaucratic challenges" in advocating within AHS noting the "many individuals one had to speak with to raise a concern". Others identified the local administration as being receptive to concerns but having "limited ability to make meaningful decisions". Some individuals provided suggestions for making advocacy more effective and affirmed their belief in 'constructive advocacy'. They identify that the "approach is everything". A number offered pragmatic suggestions to "only advocate when it is the right thing to do", "develop relationships that allow one to make a case, know how to make a case with well thought out and logical arguments presented unemotionally, and be prepared for debate and discussion". Others advise to advocate in a "responsible, balanced way, and carried out in partnership". Suggestions for increasing advocacy effectiveness included "putting patients first and communicating effectively with the party that will help", and advocacy is "best done in conjunction with patient led or disease specific advocacy organizations". The latter "includes the voices of patients (read voters), which resonates more loudly than those of physicians who can be seen as self-interested".

Others presented a different perspective, suggesting that activities of physicians labeled as advocacy was really physicians "having trouble managing within the limits of a capitated healthcare system". They suggest that "clearly stated objectives, priorities and limitations as to what a national and provincial healthcare system can and cannot provide" would be helpful.

There were several suggestions for structures or processes that would improve advocacy. One specific suggestion for improved advocacy was having access to an "independent body" (one person used the term 'health ombudsman') that physicians "can go to when medical leaders are compromising patient care". This body would "have authority to investigate the complaint and if legitimate, correct the situation". Another suggestion was an "online service where advocacy challenges and potential improvements could be recorded with a quarterly report on the most frequent issues pertaining to advocacy could be available". Someone suggested that AHS needed to "develop a system with the AMA and CPSA to ensure there was no fallout financially, legally or professionally for physicians advocating on behalf of their patients, and the CMPA did not have to be the 'go-to' response". The "need for whistleblower



protection if we're ever going to risk speaking out" was specifically mentioned. A few individuals specifically stated that a judicial inquiry was needed.

Experiences advocating with specific organizations

Elected officials (Minister of Health and Wellness) and the Department of Health and Wellness

As mentioned above, "physicians have the duty to advocate and government has an electoral duty to listen". However, there were a number of respondents that commented on "bureaucratic and political interference" with "increasing control among unelected deputy ministers and assistant deputy minister". Respondents voiced concerns about politicians using health care as an issue for "political gain" or for "pushing personal agendas". Some respondents described being "frustrated by individual physicians... doing an 'end run' to the Minister of Health and having 'one off' decisions made in support of individuals". These 'one-off' decisions" were identified as "detrimental" to others in the health system. Comments were made about how "advocacy has become political" and "there is clear political interference in the functioning of AHS" and were described as "counter productive". The survey respondents described how this political involvement has impacted the effective use and distribution of health care resources, resulting in "injustice to some and the 'waste' of resources on relatively ineffective strategies for those with a political voice".

Concerns were also expressed about the "non-responsive" approach of AHW.

Alberta Health Services (AHS)

Frustration was expressed with the "bureaucratic challenges" or "indifference to advocating within AHS" and the "non-responsive approach" or "inability to make decisions". Respondents commented on difficulties working through the "behemoth" and "unresponsive organizations" that challenge "healthcare providers' ability to provide quality care" and that "the present structure makes it impossible to find a contact so that you can advocate". One respondent labeled the "monopoly power (of one provincial region) as extremely intimidating".

College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA or College)

Several respondents spoke to the 'fear' associated with the CPSA. They felt "intimidated" and said that physicians were "afraid to speak out" because the expectation was that you would "be in trouble and punished". Some described punishment for speaking out as "having charts audited" and then being "blamed for not advocating enough when patients had received poor care".

Limitations

The following limitations should be considered when interpreting the results.

Survey questions

The survey development was guided by a review of the literature and any existing questionnaires conducted by the University of Calgary, W21C Research and Innovation Centre and preliminary thematic information gained from initial interviews conducted under section 9 of the *Alberta Evidence Act*. Ideally, more extensive pilot testing or cognitive and psychometric testing could also have been conducted and



would perhaps have generated more focus and clarity in the questions; however the review timelines were such that this work could not be considered.

Given the varied interpretation and experience of the physician advocacy role and lack of a detailed and well recognized definition of advocacy, an in-depth qualitative study in advance of a quantitative survey would have been preferred. Consequently, it is possible that important issues may have been overlooked or inadequately represented in the survey. However, there is considerable convergence of the survey findings with the results of the qualitative analysis of the interviews, which were conducted concurrently.

Respondent comments on the survey

Several respondents provided feedback on the survey format. These included:

- Need for a clearer definition of advocacy in order to respond appropriately
- Some terminology was perceived to be too general for consistent interpretation
- A focus on the past year for many questions was thought by some to be too limited, potentially failing to capture issues that had occurred prior to that period.
- Consideration of other (non-physician) care providers in that the full spectrum of advocacy issues may not have been captured

Survey sample

The survey sample is potentially limited by response rate and possibly by selection bias. A raw response rate of 26% for physicians is very respectable for surveys of physicians in general; however this response rate is not sufficient to generalize to the entire population of Alberta physicians. While all Alberta physicians were theoretically given the opportunity to respond, the representativeness of the resulting sample is not proven and self selection bias may be a concern if the experience of responding physicians is different than the 74% who did not or could not respond. In the open-ended question (question 32), several respondents expressed fear of punishment for completing the survey, and concern over the confidentiality of their responses. We have no way of determining how many physicians chose not to complete the survey as a consequence of such concerns.

Discrimination between different contexts for advocacy challenges in quantitative data

The quantitative survey results do not adequately discriminate between the issues that have made advocating for individual patients challenging as compared with issues that are organizational in nature. It is difficult to draw conclusions with respect to these more singular aspects of advocacy. This survey has captured a broad view of advocacy, but the responses are variable with respect to the context in which the advocacy occurred. Future research is required and should strive to parse out these different contexts. Note: this limitation applies less to the qualitative analysis.

Qualitative responses to open ended questions

While the narrative responses to the final open-ended question (question 32) and other open response categories are rich, they are limited by the focused scope of the question and the proportion of respondents who provided a qualitative response. A formal qualitative study of advocacy and related issues would likely have yielded even more information. In addition, qualitative analysis was limited to coding and summary of key themes. Given the nature of this data, use of more rigorous or structured qualitative methods was not feasible.


METHODOLOGY REPORT: ROLE AND PROCESS OF PHYSICIAN ADVOCACY SURVEY

January 17, 2012

Prepared for:

Health Quality Council of Alberta

Table of Contents

1.0	Meth	hodology	
	1.1	Methodology	
	1.2	Outcomes	

Appendix A – Invitation Letter Appendix B – Reminder Postcard

Appendix C – Final Letter



Methodology

The Health Quality Council of Alberta (HQCA) undertook a survey of Alberta physicians about their role and process of physician advocacy in Alberta. The HQCA hired PRA to manage the survey process, including survey distribution, management, and data collection.

Methodology

The HQCA sent PRA a database of names and mailing addresses for 7,964 Alberta physicians. The database was given to the HQCA by the Alberta College of Physicians and Surgeons and contained the physicians' names and mailing addresses.

PRA removed seven physicians from the database because they were missing mailing address information and information could not be verified through secondary sources (i.e., telephone books, Internet searches). In total, PRA mailed surveys to 7,957 physicians.

The process for mailing and follow-up is outlined below.

- The 7,957 invitation letters and surveys were mailed to physicians on October 20 and 21, 2011. The letter can be found in Appendix A.
- On November 15, 2012, PRA mailed reminder postcards to 6,948 physicians to encourage them to complete the survey. PRA removed physicians from this second mailing who had completed their survey, withdrawn from the study, or whose invitation letter had been returned to the HQCA as undeliverable. The postcard can be found in Appendix B.
- PRA mailed a second survey package, including a letter and another copy of the survey, to 6,523 physicians between November 29 and 30, 2011, again removing completes, withdrawns, and undeliverables. The final letter can be found in Appendix C.

Outcomes

In total, 2,055 surveys were completed by mail or online. Among these, 18 were completed twice, that is, surveys with the same ID were completed more than once (14 completed twice by paper and 4 completed online and by paper). Duplicate surveys were removed based on the date of completion: the first survey to be returned to PRA by mail or completed online was kept for each physician who completed the survey more than once. This yielded a total sample size of 2,046.

- In total, 36 physicians contacted PRA to withdraw from the study, yielding a refusal rate of 0.5%.
- In total, 212 survey packages were returned to the HQCA as undeliverable, yielding a total unusable sample of 2.7%.
- Of the 2,046 completes, 1,589 were completed and returned by mail and 457 were completed online. This yielded a completion rate of 25.7%.



Appendix A – Invitation Letter



<SURVEY NUMBER>

Dear Dr. <FIRST> <LAST>:

I would like to invite you to participate in a confidential survey about the role and process of physician advocacy in Alberta. The Health Quality Council of Alberta (HQCA) is conducting this survey as part of an independent *Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care Surgery and the Role and Process of Physician Advocacy*. Both the Alberta Medical Association and the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta support and encourage participation in this survey.

The important information you and other physicians provide will allow us to better understand physician knowledge and experience related to advocacy in Alberta, and the extent to which your advocacy for patient care is supported or obstructed by health care provider organizations, government, professional colleges and others.

Your participation is voluntary and you need not answer all of the questions. We hope you will participate and provide as much information as possible. Your answers will be kept strictly confidential and will be combined with those of other physicians in the final report. Individual survey answers will not be shared with anyone.

To manage the survey process and to ensure confidentiality, the HQCA has engaged Prairie Research Associates (PRA) Inc. PRA is an independent, national research firm that is under contract to the HQCA to conduct the survey according to Alberta privacy legislation.

The questionnaire should take about 10 minutes to complete. Once complete, please return it in the enclosed pre-paid return envelope or fax it to PRA at their toll-free at 1-800-717-6744.

You may also choose to complete the survey online at <u>www.prasurveys.com/HQCA</u>. This secure site will require you to enter your unique passcode code. This code is used only to manage the survey process and to verify legitimate participation. Your passcode is shown below.

PASSCODE: <PASSCODE>

We would appreciate it if you would take the time now to complete and return your questionnaire. If we do not receive anything from you soon, you may receive a reminder notice by mail. If you would like more information about the survey or have questions on how to complete the questionnaire, please do not hesitate to call Nicholas Borodenko of PRA at 1-888-877-6744 or by email at HQCAsurvey@pra.ca.

Thank you in advance for your participation.

Sincerely,

In Curel

John Cowell, MD CCFP FRCP Chief Executive Officer Health Quality Council of Alberta

The HQCA was created in 2006 by the *Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation* under the *Regional Health Authorities Act.* The HQCA has a legislated mandate to promote and improve patient safety and health service quality in Alberta. Part of this mandate includes monitoring and reporting on the quality, safety and performance of the health care system and helping health care providers improve the quality of the care and services they provide.



Appendix B – Reminder Postcard





<SURVEY NUMBER>

DR. <FIRST> <LAST>

<ADDRESS1>

<ADDRESS2>

<CITY>, <PROV> <POSTAL CODE>

Recently the Health Quality Council of Alberta sent you a questionnaire. If you have already completed and returned it to us, please accept our sincere thanks. If not, please do so at your earliest convenience.

The number of physicians likely to participate in the survey is small so it is important that your responses are included.

The information collected from this study will assist us to establish a better understanding of physician advocacy roles, and the extent to which you are supported or obstructed in advocating for the care of your patients.

If, by some chance, you did not receive the questionnaire or it was misplaced, please call Nicholas Borodenko of PRA Inc. at 1-888-877-6744 and another package will be sent to you.

Sincerely,

John Cowell

John Cowell, MD



Appendix C – Final Letter



<SURVEY NUMBER>

Dear Dr. <FIRST> <LAST>:

We recently sent you a survey the Health Quality Council of Alberta (HQCA) is conducting on the role and process of physician advocacy as part of an independent *Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care Surgery and the Role and Process of Physician Advocacy*. Both the Alberta Medical Association and the College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta support and encourage participation in this survey.

The important information you and other physicians provide will allow us to better understand physician knowledge and experience related to advocacy in Alberta, and the extent to which your advocacy for patient care is supported or obstructed by health care provider organizations, government, professional colleges and others.

Your views are important, and as we have not received your response, we are providing you with a second copy of the questionnaire. If you have already replied, please ignore this letter and accept our thanks for your participation.

Your participation is voluntary and you need not answer all of the questions. We hope you will participate and provide as much information as possible. Your answers will be kept strictly confidential and will be combined with those of other physicians in the final report. Individual survey answers will not be shared with anyone.

The questionnaire should take about 10 minutes to complete. Once complete, please return it in the enclosed pre-paid return envelope or fax it to PRA at their toll-free at 1-800-717-6744.

You may also choose to complete the survey online at <u>www.prasurveys.com/HQCA</u>. This secure site will require you to enter your unique passcode code. This code is used only to manage the survey process and to verify legitimate participation. Your passcode is shown below.

PASSCODE: <PASSCODE>

If you would like more information about the survey or have questions on how to complete the questionnaire, please do not hesitate to call Nicholas Borodenko of PRA at 1-888-877-6744 or by email at <u>HQCAsurvey@pra.ca</u>.

Thank you in advance for your participation.

Sincerely,

John Gweel

John Cowell, MD CCFP FRCP Chief Executive Officer Health Quality Council of Alberta

The HQCA was created in 2006 by the *Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation* under the *Regional Health Authorities Act.* The HQCA has a legislated mandate to promote and improve patient safety and health service quality in Alberta. Part of this mandate includes monitoring and reporting on the quality, safety and performance of the health care system and helping health care providers improve the quality of the care and services they provide.



Role and Process of Physician Advocacy Questionnaire

Taking part in this survey is voluntary

Completing the questionnaire

For each question, please fill-in one bubble, using a black or blue pen, or a soft-led pencil. Don't worry if you make a mistake; simply cross out or erase the mistake, and fill-in the correct bubble.

Sometimes you will find the bubble you have filled-in has an instruction to go to another question. For example: \bigcirc Yes [Go to 12]

By following the instructions, you will only complete questions that apply to you.

Completing the questionnaire online

If you would rather complete this survey online, you can do so at: www.prasurveys.com/HQCA.

This secure site will require you to enter your unique passcode, which can be found on the letter enclosed with this survey. This code is used only to manage the survey process and to validate participation.

If you do not wish to participate in this survey, you can do so by simply contacting the Project Manager at PRA Inc. below.

Questions or help?

If you have any questions, please call Nicholas Borodenko of PRA Inc. at 1-888-877-6744 or by email at HQCAsurvey@pra.ca.

Your answers will be confidential and anonymous.

The information you provide will be kept strictly confidential and will only be used and/or disclosed in aggregate form. Individual survey responses will not be shared with anyone. The information is collected under the authority of the Health Quality Council of Alberta Regulation 130/2006, section 13.



ABOUT PHYSICIAN ADVOCACY

ABOUT PHYSICIAN ADVOCACY	 If you were a physician under contract, in the past year has your "contract"
 The Royal College of Physicians & Surgeons of Canada states in their CanMEDS 2005 Physicians Competency Framework that: "as health advocates, physicians responsibly use their expertise and influence to advance the health and well being of individual patients, communities and populations": 	 C Limited your ability to advocate for your patients in any way C Enhanced your ability to advocate for your patients in any way C Contract does not address advocacy directly I did not work under contract
responsibility to act on behalf of patients to advance the care and well being of: (<i>Fill in all that apply</i>)	9 If you work within a boolthcare delivery organization:
 My individual patient My clincial population of patients Populations within the broader community Other (Please specify) 	 In you work within a healthcare derivery organization, In the past year, have organizational policies C Limited your ability to advocate for your patients in any way C Enhanced your ability to advocate for your patients in any way
2. Have you ever received any professional education or training with respect to advocacy for patients? <i>(Fill in all that approxies)</i>	 O Organizational policies do not address advocacy directly O I did not work in an organization
 O No, have had no formal training in advocacy O Yes, in medical school O Yes, in residency O Yes, as continuing medical education (CME) 	 9. In the past year, has your ability to advocate on behalf of your patients been limited in any way? O Yes O No <i>(If 'No,' go to Q12 on page 3)</i>
() Yes, other (Please specify)	10. Which of the following (if any) have restricted your ability to effectively advocate on behalf of your patients: (<i>Fill in all that apply</i>)
 In the past year, have you used any of the following sources for information on physician advocacy? (<i>Fill in all that apply</i>) College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta Canadian Medical Association Alberta Health Services Accreditation Canada Royal College of Physicians & Surgeons of Canada Medical journals or other literature Other 	 My lack of training and education in advocacy My inexperience in advocating for my patients Uncertainty of my role as an advocate Lack of time to advocate Inadequate communication between providers Unclear process for advocacy Unsupportive organizational policies Lack of resources to provide requested care Conflict over best course of care Other
(<i>Please specify</i>) O None of the above	(<i>Please specify</i>) ○ None of the above
 4. Do you believe you have the necessary skills to effectively advocate for your patients? O Yes O No O Don't Know 	 11. Who of the following (if any) has restricted your ability to advocate for your patients? <i>(Fill in all that apply)</i> O Physician peers O Department or division administration
5. In the past year, how often have you experienced care delivery issues that negatively impacted the care of your patients? (These might include quality, safety, resource, or policy related issues)?	 Organization administration Organization leadership or executive Alberta Health and Wellness College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta

O Never O Sometimes O Usually O Always

- 6. Considering your usual work context in the past year, are you aware of a process through which you could advocate for your patients to address such issues as quality, safety, resource or policy issues? ○ Yes ○ No ○ Don't Know
- (Please specify) O None of the above

O Other

O Alberta Medical Association

O Alberta Health Services

 12. Which of the following (if any) have enhanced your ability to effectively advocate on behalf of your patients: <i>(Fill in all that apply)</i> My training and education in advocacy My experience in advocating for my patients Supportive organizational policies A clear process for advocacy where I work A clear understanding of physician advocacy role where I work Available resources to provide requested care Agreement on the best course of care 	 18 In the past year, how often has your role as an advocate for patients had a positive outcome for your patients? O Never O Sometimes O Usually O Always 19. In the past year, how often has your role as an advocate for patients had a positive outcome for you as a physician? O Never O Sometimes O Usually O Always
Other (Please specify)	20. In the past year, to whom have you advocated for the needs of your patients? <i>(Fill in all that apply)</i>
 None of the above 13. Who of the following (if any) has enhanced your ability to advocate for your patients? (<i>Fill in all that apply</i>) A mentor Physician peers Department or division administration Organization administration Organization leadership or executive Alberta Health and Wellness Alberta Health Services College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta Alberta Medical Association Other (<i>Please specify</i>) None of the above 	 Physician peers or colleagues Your department or division (within organization) The executive of your healthcare organization Alberta Health and Wellness Public media (news, reporters, etc) Politicians, MLAs, or related bodies Alberta Medical Association Canadian Medical Association College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta Other (<i>Please specify</i>) None of the above 21. In the past year, considering your professional responsibility for advocacy, which best describes your experience?
 14. In the past year, how often have you stopped yourself from advocating for your patients because you felt that nothing would happen to address the issue? O Never O Sometimes O Usually O Always 	 Greatly supported Somewhat supported Neither supported or obstructed Somewhat obstructed Greatly obstructed
 15. In the past year, how often have you stopped yourself from advocating for your patients for fear of negative repercussions for you as a physician? O Never O Sometimes O Usually O Always 	 22. In the past year, have you experienced any of the following when advocating for the needs of your patients? (<i>Fill in all that apply</i>) O Pressured to withdraw your request O Censored
 16 In the past year, how often have you advocated for the needs of your patients? (<i>If 'Never,' go to Q23 on page 4</i>) O Never O Sometimes O Usually O Always 	 Intimidated Punished Threatened Other (Please specify)
 17. In the past year, how often have your suggestions been acted upon in a meaningful way when you advocated for your patients? O Never O Sometimes O Usually O Always 	O None of the above

16267

 23. Have you had a previous negative experience when advocating for your patients within any of the following time frames (<i>Fill in all that apply</i>): O Longer than 10 years ago O Longer than 6 years ago and up to 10 years ago O Longer than 3 years ago and up to 6 years ago O Within the last 3 years 	 29. Are you under contract to provide services within or under a care provider organization or corporation? O Yes O No (If 'yes,' please specify organization)
O I have not had a negative experience advocating	30. Which of the following describe the ways in which you are paid for your clinical work? <i>(Fill in all that apply):</i>
ABOUT YOU	 ○ Fee for service ○ Clinical Alternative Relationship Plan
 24. Are you male or female? O Male O Female 25. What was your year of graduation from medical school? (Please write in) e.g., 1 9 3 4 	 O Chinical Alternative Relationship Plan O Academic Alternative Relationship Plan O Hourly rate (other than Alternative Relationship Plan) O Community Alternative Relationship Plan O Other (<i>Please specify</i>) 31. Can we contact you again if we have questions about your responses? If yos, place provide your
	your responses? If yes, please provide your
	Name:
26. What is your physician specialty?O GP or Family Physician	Phone number:
<pre>O Other (Please specify)</pre>	32. Do you have any additional comments, concerns or suggestions regarding physician advocacy issues as you have experienced them in your practice? (Please)
 27. In which of the following areas do you presently work? <i>(Fill in all that apply)</i>: Community based (primary) care Community based (specialty) care Hospital based - inpatient Hospital based - outpatient Emergency department or urgent care Other <i>(Please specify)</i> 	specify below)
28. In which Alberta Health Services zone do you primarily practice? (regardless of work type)	
○ South Zone	
O Calgary Zone	
O Central Zone	
O Edmonton Zone	
○ North ∠one	

THANK YOU FOR YOUR ASSISTANCE

Please return using the pre-paid envelope provided to you.

16267



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Input, throughput, output model of ED patient flow (modified from Asplin et al)
Figure 2.	The interaction of many of the important contributing factors to ED crowding, patient waiting and dissatisfaction
Figure 3.	Relationship between waiting time and utilization of a resource or service
Figure 4.	Total patients visits to emergency departments and urgent care centres by zone/region and site for fiscal year 2009/10
Figure 5.	Average time spent by emergency department patients waiting to see a physician after being assessed by triage at city adult hospitals by fiscal year and region/zone
Figure 6.	Average time spent by emergency department patients waiting to see a physician after being assessed by triage at city adult hospitals by fiscal year and region/zone for patients classified as CTAS III
Figure 7.	Average time spent by emergency department patients waiting to see a physician after being assessed by triage at city adult hospitals by fiscal year and zone / region for patients classified as CTAS II
Figure 8.	Average length of emergency department stay at city adult hospitals by fiscal year and region/zone for patients admitted and for patients not admitted to hospital
Figure 9a.	Median length of stay for emergency department patients at city adult hospitals who are admitted to hospital by fiscal year
Figure 9b.	Median 1length of stay for emergency department patients at city adult hospitals who are not admitted to hospital
Figure 10.	Population of regions/zones by year as at June 30 of each year
Figure 11.	Number of emergency department/urgent care centre patient visits by fiscal year and region/zone
Figure 12.	Number of emergency department/urgent care centre patient visits per 1,000 populations by fiscal year and region/zone
Figure 13a.	Number of emergency department/urgent care centre patient visits to Edmonton region/zone facilities by fiscal year
Figure 13b.	Number of emergency department/urgent care centre patient visits to Calgary region/zone facilities by fiscal year
Figure 14.	Number of city adult hospital emergency department patient visits by fiscal year and region/zone
Figure 15a.	Per cent of emergency department patient visits at Edmonton city adult hospitals by CTAS level and by fiscal year
Figure 15b.	Per cent of emergency department patient visits at Calgary city adult hospitals by CTAS level and by fiscal year



Figure 16.	Per cent of city adult hospital emergency department patients admitted to hospital by fiscal
	year and region/zone

- Figure 17. Per cent of city adult hospital emergency department patients who are 65 years of age or older by fiscal year
- Figure 18. Times for each of the services provided to ED patients in their journey through the ED
- Figure 19a. Average time spent in different stages by patients visiting Edmonton city adult hospital emergency departments who were admitted to hospital by fiscal year
- Figure 19b. Average time spent in different stages by patients visiting Calgary city adult hospital emergency departments who were admitted to hospital by fiscal year
- Figure 20. Percent of city adult hospital emergency department patients who are admitted to hospital and percent of total ED patient time that admitted patients used (fiscal year 2010/11)
- Figure 21a. 80th percentile of number of occupied city adult hospital emergency department beds taken by emergency inpatient (EIP) patients at 12:00 noon by site and fiscal year quarter – Edmonton
- Figure 21b. 80th percentile of number of occupied city adult hospital emergency department beds taken by emergency inpatient (EIP) patients at 12:00 noon by site and fiscal year quarter – Calgary
- Figure 22a. Edmonton city adult hospital inpatient bed occupancy rates by fiscal year
- Figure 22b. Calgary city adult hospital inpatient bed occupancy rates by fiscal year
- Figure 22c. Chinook Regional Hospital inpatient bed occupancy rates by fiscal year
- Figure 23. Number of acute care beds per 1,000 population by fiscal year and region/zone
- Figure 24. Number of acute care beds used per 1,000 populations, adjusted for age, gender, and for import / export patients by fiscal year and region/zone
- Figure 25. Average length of stay for patients admitted to city adult hospitals by fiscal year and region/zone (excluding maternal/newborn)
- Figure 26a. Average length of stay for patients admitted to city adult hospitals in Edmonton by fiscal year (excluding maternal/newborn)
- Figure 26b. Average length of stay for patients admitted to city adult hospitals in Calgary by fiscal year (excluding maternal/newborn)
- Figure 27. Per cent of city adult hospital bed days that are used by patients requiring an alternate level of care (ALC) by fiscal year and region/zone
- Figure 28. Long term care, supportive living, residential mental health, hospice and community support beds per 100,000 population aged 65 and older by fiscal year and region/zone
- Figure 29a. Average number of admissions at city adult hospitals by weekday and admission entry group in fiscal year 2010/11 Edmonton



- Figure 29b. Average number of admissions at city adult hospitals by weekday and admission entry group in fiscal year 2010/11 Calgary
- Figure 30. Average difference in the daily number of admissions/discharges at city adult hospitals by day of week and region/zone in fiscal year 2010/11
- Figure 31. Patient files uncovered as a result of a review of physician billings from June to September 2000
- Figure 32. Patient files uncovered as a result of a review of billings from March to June 2000
- Figure 33a. Age-standardized incidence rates (ASIRs) of lung/bronchus cancer (Statistics Canada)
- Figure 33b. Age-standardized mortality rates (ASMRs) of lung/bronchus cancer (Statistics Canada)
- Figure 34a. Age-standardized incidence rates (ASIRs) of lung/bronchus cancer for Calgary and Edmonton
- Figure 34b. Age-standardized mortality rates (ASMRs) of lung/bronchus cancer for Calgary and Edmonton



LIST OF TABLES

- Table 1.Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale (CTAS) recommended maximum waiting times for an ED
patient to be assessed by a physician
- Table 2. Characteristics of the groups of patients
- Table 3a.Median [and 80th percentile] times (in minutes) for various ED patient 'services' for the ED-
MD identified patients
- Table 3b.
 Median [and 80th percentile] times (in minutes) for various ED patient 'services' for the RT identified patients
- Table 4.Median [and 80th percentile] time (in minutes) for patients to receive an initial diagnosticimaging study, lab test and EKG following an MD assessment
- Table 5.Median [and 80th percentile] time (in minutes) for patients with time-sensitive conditions to
gain access to an ED bed, be assessed by a physician and to receive an effective treatment or
diagnostic test
- Table 6.Median [and 80th percentile] time (in minutes) for patients suffering with pain to receive an
analgesic from the time they were seen at triage or by an ED physician
- Table 7a. Average length of stay in 2008/2009 fiscal year for patients with common medical conditions
- Table 7b. Average length of stay in 2010/2011 fiscal year for patients with common medical conditions
- Table 8. Number of patients with different diagnoses on a surgical 'wait list'



ACRONYMS

Advanced Ambulatory Care Centre
Alberta Aids to Daily Living
Ambulatory Care Classification System
Alberta Health Services
Alberta Health and Wellness
Alternate Level of Care
Average Length of Stay
Alberta Medical Association
Alberta Public Agencies Governance Act
Age-standardized Incidence Rate
Age-standardized Mortality Rate
Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health
Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians
Canadian Medical Education Directions for Specialist
Cross Cancer Institute
Community Care Services
Clinical Decision Unit
Chief Executive Officer
Capital Health
Canadian Institute for Health Information
Canadian Medical Association
Case Mix Groups
Chief Medical Officer
Canadian Medical Protective Association
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
Clinical Practice Guidelines
Computerized Physician Order Entry
Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation
College of Physicians and Surgeons of Alberta
Computerized Tomography
Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale
Discharge Abstract Data
Diagnostic Imaging
Emergency Department
Emergency Department Information Systems
Electronic Health Record
Emergency Inpatient
Electrocardiogram
Expedited Management of Lung Cancer



EMS	Emergency Medical Services
ESSC	Emergency Services and Systems Capacity
FCP\OCP	Full-capacity/ Over-capacity Protocols
FMC	Foothills Medical Centre
GIM	General Internal Medicine
GN	Grey Nuns Community Hospital
GP	General Practitioner
HBR	Harvard Business Review
HPA	Health Professions Act
HQCA	Health Quality Council of Alberta
HR	Human Resources
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
LOS	Length of Stay
MAU	Medical Admission Unit
Meditech	Medical Information Technology Incorporated
MD	Medical Doctor
Mis	Misericordia Community Hospital
MLA	Member of the Legislative Assembly
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
NACRS	National Ambulatory Care Reporting System
NENA	National Emergency Nurse Affiliation
NHS	National Health Service
NICU	Neonatal Intensive Care Unit
NP	Nurse Practitioners
NSCLA	Non-small Cell Lung Cancer
OR	Operation Room
ORIS	Operation Room Information System
OU	Observation Unit
PA	Physician Advocacy
PAAL	Practitioner Advocacy Working Group
PACS	Picture Archiving and Communication System
PDD	Persons with Developmental Disabilities
PET	Positron Emission Tomography
PLC	Peter Lougheed Centre
PPEC	Provincial Physician Executive Committee
PRA	Prairie Research Association
QA	Quality Assurance
QAC	Quality Assurance Committee
QAR	Quality Assurance Review
RAH	Royal Alexandra Hospital
RAZ	Rapid Assessment Zones
RCPSC	Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada



REDIS	Regional Emergency Department Information System
RGH	Rockyview General Hospital
RHA	Regional Health Authorities
RHAA	Regional Health Authorities Act
RT	Review Team
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
STARS	Shock Trauma Air Rescue Society
TBCC	Tom Baker Cancer Centre
TLP	Triage Liaison Physicians
TV	Television
U of C	University of Calgary
UAH	University of Alberta Hospital
UBC	University of British Columbia
UK	United Kingdom
WCB	Worker's Compensation Board



REFERENCES

¹ Calgary Herald. "Albertans continue to suffer ... substandard emergency care." October 22, 2010. http://www2.canada.com/calgaryherald/news/story.html?id=afbf176b-f1e0-4cab-a015-d3c517db4ee0 (accessed 13 February 2012).

² Minister of Justice and Attorney General, Alberta. "In the matter of a public inquiry into the death of Vincenzo Dominic Motta pursuant to the Fatalities Inquiry Act." Calgary, Alberta, April 14, 2003.

³ Health Quality Council of Alberta. "Review of emergency and urgent care services in the Calgary Health Region." 2007.

http://www.hqca.ca/assets/pdf/HQCA_CHR_ED_Review_Report_FINAL_VERSION.pdf (accessed February 12, 2012).

⁴ GD, Velianoff. "Overcrowding and diversion in the emergency department: the health care safety net unravels." *Nurs Clin North Am*, 2002: 37:59-66.

⁵ Rowe B, Bond K, Ospina M, et all. "Frequency, determinants, and impacts of overcrowding in emergency departments in Canada: A national survey of emergency department directors [Technology Report no. 67.3]." *Ottawa: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health.* 2006. http://cadth.ca/media/pdf/320c_Overcrowding_tr_e_no-appendices.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁶ "Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians and the National emergency Nurses Affiliation." *Emergency Department Overcrowding - Position Statement 2000.* http://caep.ca/resources/position-statements-and-guidelines/ed-overcrowding-%E2%80%93-2000 (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁷ "Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians and the National Emergency Nurses Affiliation." *Emergency Department Overcrowding - Position Statement 2003*. http://caep.ca/resources/position-statements-and-guidelines/ed-overcrowding-2003 (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁸ "Australasian College for Emergency Medicine." *Access Block and Overcrowding in Emergency Departments*. West Melbourne, Australia 2004. http://www.acem.org.au/media/access_block1.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁹ Richarson SK, Ardagh M, Gee P. "Emergency department overcrowding: the emergency department cardiac analogy model (EDCAM)." *Accid Emer Nurs*, 2005: 13:18-23.

¹⁰ New Zealand Health technology Assessment. Emergency Department Attendance. A Critical Appraisal of the Key Literature. NZHTA Report 8, November 1998. Christchurch, New Zealand: The Clearing House for Health Outcomes and Health Technology Assessment. http://www.otago.ac.nz/christchurch/otago014026.pdf.

¹¹ Ardagh M, Richardson S. "Emergency department overcrowding - can we fix it?" *NZ Med J*, 2004: 117:U774.



¹² Cooke, MW. "Reforming the UK emergency care system." *Emerg Med J*, 2003: 20:113-4.

¹³ "Department of Health." *Reforming Emergency Care. First Steps to a New Approach.* London, UK: 2001.

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_400 8702 (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹⁴ Shih FY, Ma MH, Chen SC, et al. "ED overcrowding in Taiwan: Facts and strategies." *Am J Emerg Med*, 1999: 17:198-202.

¹⁵ Miro O, Antonio MT, Jimenez S, et al. "Decreased health care quality associated with emergency department overcrowding." *Eur J Emerg Med*, 1999: 6:105-7.

¹⁶ "Emergency care task force: Report to the Honourable David Chomiak, Minister of Health, Province of Manitoba, July 28, 2004. Winnipeg, Manitoba." 2004. Available from: http://www.wrha.mb.ca/healthinfo/news/files/ECTF_July2004.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹⁷ "Report of the Physician Hospital Care Committee. Improving Access to Emergency Care: Addressing System Issues. Ontario." 2006. Available from:

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/english/public/pub/ministry_reports/improving_access/improving_access.pd f (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹⁸ "Hospital Emergency Department and Ambulance Effectiveness Working Group. Improving access to emergency services: A system commitment. Ontario." 2005. Available from:

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/english/public/pub/ministry_reports/emerg_dept_05/emerg_dept_05.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹⁹ "Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians. Position Statement on Emergency Department Overcrowding." 2009.

http://caep.ca/sites/default/files/caep/files/edoc_position_statement_board_approved_june_2009_gl.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

²⁰ "British Columbia Medical Association. Emergency Department Overcrowding. Policy Statement 2011." https://www.bcma.org/files/JULY2011_Emergency_Dept_Overcrowding.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

²¹ Beveridge R, Clarke B, Janes L, et al. "Implementation Guidelines for the Canadian Emergency Department Triage & Acuity Scale (CTAS). Canada." 1998.

http://caep.ca/sites/default/files/caep/files/ctased16.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

²² Beveridge R. "CAEP issues. The Canadian triage and acuity scale: A new and critical element in health care reform. Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians." *J Emerg Med*, 1998: 16:507-11.

²³ Murray M, Bullard M, Grafstein E. "Revisions to the Canadian emergency department triage and acuity scale implementation guidelines." *Can J Emerg Med*, 2004: 6:421-7.



²⁴ Bullard M, Unger B, Spence J, Grafstein E. and the CTAS national working group. "Revisions to the Canadian emergency department triage and acuity scale adult guideline." *Can J Emerg Med*, 2008: 10:136-42.

²⁵ "CIHI. Understanding Emergency Department Wait Times. Who is Using Emergency Departments and How Long Are They Waiting? Ottawa, Ontario: Canadian Instituture for Health Information." 2005. http://secure.cihi.ca/cihiweb/products/Wait times e.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

²⁶ Watt D, Wertzler W, Brannan G. "Patient expectations of emergency department care: Phase I -- a focus group study." *Can J Emerg Med*, 2005: 7:12-16.

²⁷ Cooke T, Watt D, Wertzler W, et al. "Patient expectations of emergency department care: Phase II - a cross sectional survey." *Can J Emerg Med*, 2006: 8:148-57.

²⁸ "Health Quality Council of Alberta. Satisfaction with Health Care Services. A Survey of Albertans 2003. Calgary, Alberta." http://www.hqca.ca./index.php?id=72 (accessed February 13, 2012).

²⁹ "Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians and the National emergency Nurses Affiliation. Joint position statement on Emergency Department overcrowding." *CJEM*, 2001: 3:82-84.

³⁰ Ospina MB, Bond K, Schull M, Innes G, Blitz S, Friesen C, Rowe BH. "Measuring overcrowding in emergency departments: a call for standardization [Technology report no 67.1] Ottawa: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health." 2006.

http://www.cadth.ca/media/pdf/320a_overcrowding_tr_e_no-appendices.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

³¹ Asplin BR, Magid DJ, Rhodes KV, et al. "A conceptual model of emergency department crowding." *Ann Emerg Med*, 2003: 42:173-180.

³² Goldratt, E. *The Goal*. Third ed. Great Barrington, MA: The North River Press, 1984.

³³ Goldratt, E. *Theory of Constraints*. Great Barrington, MA: The North River Press Publishing Corporation, 1990.

³⁴ Wright J, King R. *We all Fall Down: Goldratt's Theory of Constraints for Healthcare Systems*. Great Barrington, MA: The North River Press Publishing Corporation, 2006.

³⁵ McManus ML, Long MC, Cooper A. Litvak E. "Queing theory accurately models the need for critical care resources." *Anesthesiology*, 2004: 100:1271-1276.

³⁶ Lucas CE, Buechter KJ, coscia RL, et al. "Mathematical modeling to define optimum operating room staffing needs for trauma centers." *J Am Coll Surg*, 2001: 192:559-565.

³⁷ Noon CE, Hankins CT, Cote MJ, Lieb M. "Understanding the impact of variation in the delivery of healthcare services / practitioner application." *Journal of Healthcare Management*. 2003;48:82. http://proquest.umi.com/pqdweb?did=322712051&Fmt=7&clientId=65345&RQT=309&VName=PQD.



³⁸ Proudlove N, Brown C. "Winter planning, seasonal cycles." *Health Serv J*, 2002: 112:24-25.

³⁹ Connelly LG, Bair AE. "Discrete event simulation of emergency department activitiy: A platform for system-level operations research." *Acad Emerg Med*, 2004: 11:1177-85.

⁴⁰ Lattimer V, Brailsford S, Turnbull J, et al. "Reviewing emergency care systemsI: Insights from system dynamics modeling." *Emerg Med J*, 2004: 21:685-91.

⁴¹ MacIntosh-Murray A, Baker GR. "Improving Patient Flow in the Former Chinook Health Region." *The Change Foundation, Centre for Healthcare Quality Improvement.* Toronto: Accessed from: GR Baker (personal communication), October 2010.

⁴² Henheffer, T. "Lethbridge Flourishes, Alberta Fails. Macleans Magazine. February 25, 2010." http://www2.macleans.ca/2010/02/25/lethbridge-flourishes-alberta-fails/#more-110435 (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁴³Baxter P, Jack S. "Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and implementation for novice researchers." *The Qualitative Report.* 2008; 13:544-59. http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR13-4/baxter.pdf (accessed February 13 2012).

⁴⁴ Baker, GR. "The contribution of case study research to knowledge of how to improve quality of care." *BMJ Qual Saf.* 2001; (Suppl 1): i30-5.

http://qualitysafety.bmj.com/content/20/Suppl_1/i30.full.pdf?sid=ccbf912c-de9b-41d8-8168-12c146887826 (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁴⁵ Baker GR, et al. "High Performing Healthcare Systems: Delivering Quality by Design. Longwoods Publishing. Toronto." 2008. http://www.longwoods.com/publications/books/571 (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁴⁶ "OECD. Towards High-Performing Health Systems: Summary Report. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. Paris." 2004. http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/7/58/31785551.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁴⁷ "Alberta Health Services Annual Report." 2010-2011;

http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/Publications/ahs-pub-annual-rpt-2010-2011.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁴⁸ "CIHI. Bulletin: Highlights of 2009-2010 Inpatient Hospitalizations and Emergency Department Visits. Canadian Institute for Health Information." 2011.

http://secure.cihi.ca/cihiweb/products/quickstats_dad_nacrs_2009_10_highlight_en.pdf.

⁴⁹ Schull MJ, Slaughter G, Redelmeier DA. "Urban emergency department overcrowding: Defining the problem and eliminating misconceptions." *Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 2002: 4:76-83.

⁵⁰ Proudlove NC, Boaden R. "Using operational information and information systems to improve inpatient flow in hospitals." *J Health Organ Manag*, 2005: 19:466-477.



⁵¹ Black S, Proudlove N. "Hospital bed utilisation in the NHS and Kaiser Permanente: Bed management in the NHS can be improved easily." *BMJ*, 2004: 328:582-3.

⁵² Proudlove NC, Gordon K, Boaden R. "Can good bed management solve the overcrowding in accident and emergency departments?" *Emerg Med J*, 2003: 20:149-155.

⁵³ Bagust A, Place M, Posnett JW. "Dynamics of bed use in accomodating emergency admissions: Stochastic simulation model." *BMJ*, 199: 319:155-158.

⁵⁴ Shanks D. "Emergency Wait Times: A Systems Approach. Western Emergency Department Over Crowding Conference." Edmonton, May 7, 2011.

⁵⁵ "Alberta Health Services. Public Board Meeting. Minutes, Octover 15, 2010." www.albertahealthservices.ca/board/ahs-brd-2010-10-15-minutes.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁵⁶ "AHW RHA Efficiency Review. Chinook Health. Governance and Accountability Overview. Final Report June 18, 2007." http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/RHA-Efficiency-Review-2007-Chinook.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁵⁷ Bond K, O. M. *Interventions to reduce overcrowding in emergency departments*. [Technology report no 67.4]. Ottawa: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health; 2006.

⁵⁸ "CHSRF. Myth: Emergency room overcrowding is caused by non-urgent cases. Mythbusters. Canadian Health Services Research Foundation." 2009. http://www.chsrf.ca/Libraries/Mythbusters/Myth-Emergency-Rm-Overcrowding-EN.sflb.ashx (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁵⁹ "Sherman R. Wait times for cancer treatment. Alberta Hansard. Province of Alberta. The 27th Legislature, Fourth Sessions. Monday afternoon, February 28, 2011. Issue 4." http://www.assembly.ab.ca/Documents/isysquery/a60a6f1c-8414-40e2-8358-84909b30fd3c/1/doc/. (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁶⁰ "Canadian Cancer Society, Statistics Canada, Public Health Agency of Canada. Canadian Cancer Statistics." 2011. http://www.cancer.ca/Alberta-

NWT/About%20cancer/Cancer%20statistics.aspx?sc_lang=en (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁶¹ "Canadian Cancer Society. Alberta/NWT Cancer Statistics." http://www.cancer.ca/Alberta-NWT/About%20cancer/Cancer%20statistics/AB-Alberta%20statistics.aspx (accessed February 13 2012).

⁶² Molina JR, Yang P, Cassivi SD, Schild SE, Adjei AA. "Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: Epidemiology, Risk Factos, Treatment, and Survivorship." *Mayo Clin Proc*, 2008: 83:583-94.

⁶³Janne PA, Freidlin B, Saxman S, Johnson DH, Livingston RB, Shepherd FA, Johnson BE. "Twenty-five years of clinical research for patients with limited-stage small cell lung carcinoma in North America." *Cancer*, 2002: 95:1528-38.



⁶⁴ Groome PA, Bolejack V, Crowley JJ, et al. "The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: validation of the proposals for revision of the T, N, and M descriptors and consequent stage groupings in the forthcoming (seventh) edition of the TNM classification of malignant tumours." *J Thorac Oncol*, 2007: 2(8):694-705.

⁶⁵ Mulder, DS. "Educating Tomorrow's Cardiac and Thoracic Surgeons in Canada: An Evolving Process." 1996. http://www.medicine.mcgill.ca/mjm/v02n01/specialty.html (accessed Feburary 13, 2012).

⁶⁶ Ludwig C, Stoelben E, Olschewski M, Hasse J. "Comparison of morbidity, 30-day mortality, and long-term survival after pneumonectomy and sleeve lobectomy for non-smal cell lung carcinoma." *Ann Thorac Surg*, 2005: 79:968-73.

⁶⁷ Flores RM, Park BJ, Dycoco J, Aronova A, Hirth Y, Rizk NP, Bains M, Downey RJ, Rusch VW. "Lobectomoy by video-assisted thoracic surgery (VATS) versus thoracotomy for lung cancer." *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*, 2009: 138:11-18.

⁶⁸ "Province of Alberta. The Alberta Evidence Act." November 1, 2010.
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/documents/Acts/A18.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁶⁹ "Cancer Surveillance: 2008 Report on Cancer Statistics in Alberta. Edmonton: Surveillance and Health Status Assessment." *Alberta Health Services*. 2010. http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/poph/hi-poph-surv-cancer-lung-2008.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁷⁰ "Alberta Health Services. Program to deliver faster treatment for lung cancer patients. News Release. Alberta Health Services. ." December 16, 2011.

⁷¹ Eng Hock M, Ornato JP, Cosby C, Franck T. "Should the Emergency Department be society's health saftey net?" *J Public Health Policy*, 2005: 26:269-81.

⁷² Bohmer, RMJ. "The four habits of high-value healthcare organizations." *N Engl J Med*, 2001: 365:2045-7.

⁷³ Dillman, DA. "Mail and telephone surveys: the total design method. New York: John Wiley & Sons." 1978.

⁷⁴ "Alberta Hansard. Wednesday, April 27, 2011. Issue 29a."
http://www.assembly.ab.ca/ISYS/LADDAR_files/docs/hansards/han/legislature_27/session_4/20110427_
1330 01 han.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁷⁵ Earnest MA, Wong SL, Federico SG. "Physician Advocacy: What is it and how do we do it? ." *Academic Medicine*, 2010: 85(1):63-67.

⁷⁶ Hurley, KF. "Advocacy and activism in emergency medicine." Can J Emerg Med, 2007: 9(4):282-7.

⁷⁷ "The CanMEDS 2005 physician competency framework. Better standards. Better physicians. Better car. Ottawa: The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada." 2005. http://rcpsc.medical.org/canmeds/CanMEDS2005/CanMEDS2005 e.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).



⁷⁸ Huddle, Thomas S. "Do Medical professionalism and Medical Education Involve Commitments to Political Advocacy?" *Academic Medicine*, 2011: 86(9):1065.

⁷⁹ Westrum, RA. "Typology of Organizational Cultures. Quality and Safety in Health Care." 2004: 13(Suppl II):ii22-ii27.

⁸⁰ Daft RL, Armstrong, A. "Organization Theory and Design. Toronto: Nelson Education (2009)." 336.

⁸¹ Reason, J. Managing the Risks of Organization Accidents. Ashgate Publishing, 1997.

⁸² Deming, WE. Out of the Crisis. MIT Press, 1982.

⁸³ Bibb, S. "Trust: An Organization's Most Valuable Commodity." http://sallybibb.com/SBD/wp-content/uploads/2012/01/Trust-an-organisations-most-valuable-commodity-SB.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁸⁴ Galford R, Siebold Drapeau A. "The Enemies of Trust." *Harvard Business Review*, 2003: http://hbr.org/2003/02/the-enemies-of-trust/ar/pr.

⁸⁵ Firth-Cozens, J. "Organization Trust: The Keystone to Patient Safety. ." *Qual Saf Health Care*, 2004: 13:56-61.

⁸⁶ Dharamsi S, Ho S, Spadafora SM, Woollard R. "The physician as health advocate: translating the quest for social responsibility into medical education and practice." *Academic Medicine*, 2011: 86:1108-1113.

⁸⁷ Bergman, A. "Using politics to improve the health of children." *Health Matrix: Journal of Law-Medicine*, 1994: 4(1):31-9.

⁸⁸ Sharma N, Zwicker K, Ghali W, 2011, *Advocacy and Intimidation: A Comprehensive Review*, Ward of the 21st Century (W21C) and Institute for Public Health, and Faculty of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB

⁸⁹ "Changing Physician-Hospital Relationships: Managing the medico-legal implications of change." *Canadian Medical Protective Association*. https://www.cmpa-

acpm.ca/cmpapd04/docs/about_cmpa/pdf/com_2011_changing_physician-e.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁹⁰ "When a physician feels intimidated." *Canadian Medical Protective Association*. December 2002. Revised June 2008. https://www.cmpa-

acpm.ca/cmpapd04/docs/resource_files/infosheets/2002/com_is0232-e.cfm (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁹¹ Saltman, D. *Report Card on Cancer in Canada, 2010-11. Walking the Tightrope: Physician Advocacy and Institutional Fidelity.*

http://www.canceradvocacy.ca/reportcard/2011/Walking%20the%20Tightrope%20Physician%20Advoca cy%20and%20Institutional%20Fidelity.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).



⁹² Felblinger, DM. "Bullying, Incivility, and Disruptive Behaviors in the Healthcare Setting: Identification, Impact, and Intervention. Frontiers of Health Services Management:." Summer 2009: 25(4):13-23.

⁹³ Namie, G. "Workplace Bullying: Escalated Incivility." *Ivey Business Journal*, Nov/Dec 2003;1-7: <u>http://www.workplacebullying.org/multi/pdf/N-N-2003A.pdf</u>.

⁹⁴ Marshall P, Robson R. "Preventing and Managing Conflict: Vital Pieces in the Patient Safety Puzzle." *Healthcare Quarterly (Special Issue)*, 2005: 8:39-44.

⁹⁵ "Alberta Medical Association/Canadian Medical Association, Joint Submission to Health Quality Council of Alberta." *Review of the Quality of Care and Safety of Patients Requiring Access to Emergency Department Care and Cancer Surgery and the Role and Process of Physician Advocacy*. November 2011. http://www.albertadoctors.org/PresLetter/amacma_submission_hqca (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁹⁶ "Regional Health Authorities Act." http://www.qp.alberta.ca/documents/Acts/A31P5.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁹⁷ "Alberta Public Agencies Governance Act (APAGA)." <u>http://www.qp.alberta.ca/documents/Acts/A31P5.pdf</u>.

⁹⁸ "Public Agencies Governance Framework." February 2008.
 http://www.treasuryboard.alberta.ca/docs/AGS/GovernanceFrameworkwebversion.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

⁹⁹ "Province of Alberta. Hospital Act." November 1, 2010.

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/documents/Acts/H12.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹⁰⁰ "AHS Mandate and Roles document." http://www.treasuryboard.alberta.ca/docs/AGS/AHSMRD.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹⁰¹ "Alberta Health Services Medical Staff Bylaws." February 28, 2011.

¹⁰² "Alberta Health Services Medical Staff Rules." February 28, 2011.

¹⁰³ "Employment Contract, Alberta Health Services." April 2011.

http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/board/ahs-brd-ceo-eagle-contract.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹⁰⁴ "Alberta Health Services." *AHS Board and Alberta Health and Wellness release mandate and roles document*. December 2, 2010. http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/3233.asp (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹⁰⁵McCrank N, Hohol L, Tupper A. "At a Crossroads: The Report of the Board Governance Review Task Force." 2007. http://alberta.ca/home/documents/At_a_Crossroads_-_screen.pdf. p. 22.



¹⁰⁶ "Report of the Minister's Advisory Committee on Health: A Foundation for Alberta's Health System." 2010. http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/MACH-Final-Report-2010-01-20.pdf (page 9) (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹⁰⁷ "Alberta Health and Wellness. Minister and Department."

http://www.health.alberta.ca/about/ministry.html (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹⁰⁸ "Alberta Health Services, Senior Leadership Position Description, Vice-President Clinical."

¹⁰⁹ "Alberta Health Services Medical Administrative Services Agreement template." July 19, 2011.

¹¹⁰ "Alberta Health Services, Communication (Internal and External) Policy." April 27, 2010.

¹¹¹ "College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta. Registrar's Report: Physician Advocacy, Accountability and Engagement." September 2007. http://www.cpsa.ab.ca/Libraries/Res_Messenger/M137.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹¹² "College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta." *About Us* http://www.cpsa.ab.ca (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹¹³ "Alberta Medical Association." http://www.albertadoctors.org (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹¹⁴ "Alberta Health Services."

http://www.hphconferences.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Proceedings_Turku/Plenary/Plen3_Toporowski.pd f (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹¹⁵ "Alberta Health Services." *Zone Map.* http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/ahs-map-ahs-zones.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹¹⁶ "Alberta Health and Wellness." www.health.alberta.ca/about/health-funding.html (accessed February 13, 2011).

¹¹⁷ "Alberta Health Services." *Alberta Health Services moves toward one provincial health system to increase patient access and enhance care.* July 8, 2008. http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/rls/ne-rls-2008-07-08-ahs-reorganization.pdf (accessed February 13, 2012).

¹¹⁸ "Alberta Health Services Provincial Physician Executive Committee (PPEC) Supporting Practitioner Advocacy Working Group. Backgrounder and Draft Work Plan." January 2012.

¹¹⁹ "Alberta Health Services Workforce Survey (Physician segment)."

http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/lf-hp-engagement-survey-physician.swf (accessed February 13, 2012).



210, 811 – 14 Street NW Calgary Alberta Canada T2N 2A4 T: 403.297.8162 F: 403.297.8258 E: info@hqca.ca www.hqca.ca